



# 150 Tried & True Vegetarian Recipes For Every Table

Easy, reliable, and flavorful recipes you'll turn to again and again

www.thebellyrulesthemind.net

## **Table of Contents**

## **Chapter 1: Introduction: A Celebration of Vegetarian Flavors 8**

- 1.1 Welcome to Our Vegetarian Kitchen! 8
- 1.2 The Joy of Vegetarian Eating 8

### **Chapter 2: Your Indian Vegetarian Pantry 9**

- 2.1Essential Indian Spices and Their Magic 9
- 2.2 Must-Have Kitchen Tools 10
- 2.3 Smart Cooking: Meal Prep & Planning Tips 11

## Chapter 3: What's Inside This Cookbook? 12

## **Chapter 4: Essential Pastes, Sauces & Homemade Staples 13**

- Recipe 1: Home-made Ginger Garlic Paste 14
- Recipe 2: Bhuna Masala (Everyday Indian Curry Paste) 16
- Recipe 3: Tikka Masala Sauce 19
- Recipe 4: Makhani Sauce (Butter Masala Sauce) 22
- Recipe 5: Home-made Paneer (Indian Cottage Cheese) 26

## Chapter 5: Appetizers & Snacks 29

- Recipe 6: Paneer Tikka 30
- Recipe 7: Aloo Tikki 34
- Recipe 8: Samosa 38
- Recipe 9: Tandoori Soya Chaap 42
- Recipe 10: Paneer Pakora 46
- Recipe 11: Onion Pakora (Onion Bhaji) 50
- Recipe 12: Hara Bhara Kabab 52
- Recipe 13: Dhokla (Khaman Dhokla) 56

## **Chapter 6: Hearty Soups & Fresh Salads 60**

- Recipe 14: Red Lentil Soup 61
- Recipe 15: Asian Quinoa Salad 64
- Recipe 16: Kachumber Salad 67

Recipe 17: Chickpea Salad 69

Recipe 18: Brown Chickpea Chaat 71

## **Chapter 7: Paneer Delights 73**

Recipe 19: Paneer Butter Masala 74

Recipe 20: Paneer Tikka Masala 77

Recipe 21: Kadai Paneer 81

Recipe 22: Shahi Paneer 85

Recipe 23: Paneer Bhurji 88

Recipe 24: Palak Paneer 91

Recipe 25: Matar Paneer 95

Recipe 26: Malai Kofta Curry 98

Recipe 27: Methi Matar Malai Paneer 103

Recipe 28: Saag Paneer 107

Recipe 29: Paneer Lababdar 110

### Chapter 8: Wholesome Lentils & Beans (Dal & Legume Curries) 114

Recipe 30: Dal Tadka 115

Recipe 31: Dal Makhani 119

Recipe 32: Urad Dal (Spicy Split Black Gram Dal) 123

Recipe 33: Brown Lentil Curry (Whole Masoor Dal) 126

Recipe 34: Daal Palak (Spinach Dal) 130

Recipe 35: Chana Masala 133

Recipe 36: Pindi Chole 137

Recipe 37: Rajma Chawal (Kidney Bean Curry with Rice) 141

## **Chapter 9: Vibrant Vegetable Curries & Sabjis 145**

Recipe 38: Mushroom Masala 146

Recipe 39: Whole Roasted Cauliflower in Indian Masala 149

Recipe 40: Kaddu Sabji (Indian Style Pumpkin) 152

Recipe 41: Veg Korma 154

Recipe 42: Navratan Korma 157

Recipe 43: Aloo Gobi 160

- Recipe 44: Bhindi Masala (Okra Curry) 163
- Recipe 45: Saag Aloo (Spinach Potato Curry) 166
- Recipe 46: Baingan Bharta (Smoky Eggplant) 169
- Recipe 47: Makhani Gravy (Butter Masala Sauce) 172
- Recipe 48: Dum Aloo (Punjabi Style) 176
- Recipe 49: Mixed Vegetable Curry 179
- Recipe 50: Lauki Kofta Curry (Bottle Gourd Dumplings Curry) 180
- Recipe 51: Punjabi Kadhi Pakora 183
- Recipe 52: Vegetable Kofta Curry (Shortcut Method) 186

## Chapter 10: Flavorful Rice Dishes, Pulaos & Quinoa 189

- Recipe 53: Street Style Vegetable Fried Rice 190
- Recipe 54: Pineapple Quinoa Fried Rice 193
- Recipe 55: Vegetable Pulao 196
- Recipe 56: Quinoa Pulao 200
- Recipe 57: Green Coconut Cilantro Rice 203
- Recipe 58: Veg Biryani 206
- Recipe 59: Tahiri (Rice & Vegetables) 210
- Recipe 60: Indian Tomato Rice 214
- Recipe 61: Yellow Rice 218
- Recipe 62: Peas Pulao 221
- Recipe 63: Paneer Biryani 223
- Recipe 64: Spinach Rice 228

## Chapter 11: Thai Favorites 231

- Recipe 64: Thai Green Curry 232
- Recipe 65: Panang Curry 235
- Recipe 66: Thai Massaman Curry 238
- Recipe 67: Thai Basil Fried Rice 241
- Recipe 68: Thai Peanut Curry 244
- Recipe 69: Tofu Pad Thai 247
- Recipe 70: Jasmine Rice 250

Recipe 71: Thai Noodle Bowls 252

Recipe 72: Thai Tofu Buddha bowls 255

Recipe 73: Thai Salad 258

## Chapter 12: Italian Pasta & Breads 261

Recipe 74: Penne Pomodoro 262

Recipe 75: Crispy Gnocchi Recipe 264

Recipe 76: Caprese Pasta Salad 266

Recipe 77: Italian Focaccia 268

Recipe 78: Pasta Primavera 271

Recipe 79: Copycat Olive Garden Gnocchi Soup 274

Recipe 80: Copycat Olive Garden Minestrone Soup 276

Recipe 81: Instant Pot Buttered Noodles (Inspired by Tik Tok Ramen) 279

Recipe 82: Gigi Hadid Pasta 281

Recipe 83: Homemade Italian Bread 284

Recipe 84: Air Fryer Garlic Bread 287

Recipe 85: Bruschetta 289

Recipe 86: Crostini Bread 292

Recipe 87: White Bean Soup (Pasta e Fagioli) 294

Recipe 88: Garlic Knots 296

Recipe 89: Copycat Olive Garden Breadsticks 299

Recipe 90: Ciabatta Bread 302

Recipe 91: Black Bean Pasta (Vegetarian Spicy Taco Pasta) 304

Recipe 92: Cacio E Pepe Pasta 306

Recipe 93: Pizza Rolls 308

Recipe 94: Pizza Dough (No Yeast) 311

Recipe 95: Wild Rice Soup 313

Recipe 96: Cavatappi Pasta (Pesto Cavatappi) 316

Recipe 97: Homemade Pesto Sauce 319

Recipe 98: Creamy Pesto Pasta (Pesto Cavatappi) 321

Recipe 99: Homemade Spaghetti Sauce (Marinara Sauce) 324

### **Chapter 13: Mexican Fiesta 326**

Recipe 100: Tortilla Pizza 327

Recipe 101: Cheesecake Chimichanga 330

Recipe 102: Elote Dip (Mexican Street Corn Dip) 332

Recipe 103: Black Bean Quesadillas 335

Recipe 105: 2 Ingredient Mazapan 341

Recipe 106: Patacones (Air Fryer Tostones) 343

Recipe 107: Avocado Salsa 345

Recipe 108: Arroz Verde – Mexican Green Rice 347

Recipe 109: Creamy Jalapeno Sauce (Copycat) 350

Recipe 110: Air Fryer Tortilla Chips 352

Recipe 111: Cucumber Salsa 356

Recipe 112: Arroz Con Leche (Mexican Rice Pudding) 358

Recipe 113: Tostadas 360

Recipe 114: Vegetable Fajitas 363

Recipe 115: Sopa de Lentejas (Mexican Lentil Soup) 366

Recipe 116: Sopa de Fideo (Mexican Noodle Soup) 369

Recipe 117: Pinto Beans (Instant Pot) 372

Recipe 118: Sopapilla Cheesecake 374

Recipe 119: Chalupa Supreme (Taco Bell Copycat) 377

Recipe 120: Refried Beans (Instant Pot) 380

Recipe 121: Spanish Rice (Mexican Rice/Arroz Rojo) 383

Recipe 122: Roasted Salsa 386

Recipe 123: Cilantro Rice 388

Recipe 124: Instant Pot Rice and Beans 390

Recipe 125: Tortilla Quinoa Soup 393

Recipe 126: Mexican Fiesta Rice 396

Recipe 127: Tomatillo Salsa 399

Recipe 128: Mexican Street Corn (Air Fryer Elote) 401

Recipe 129: Cauliflower Rice Bowl (Mexican Style) 403

Recipe 130: Vegetarian 3 Bean Chili (Instant Pot) 406

Recipe 131: Churro Bites (Muffins) 409

Recipe 132: Stuffed Peppers 412

Recipe 133: Vegetarian Quesadillas (with Broccoli and Corn) 415

## **Chapter 14: Indo-Chinese Specials 418**

Recipe 134: Vegetable Manchow Soup 419

Recipe 135: Sweet Corn Soup 422

Recipe 136: Hakka Noodles 424

Recipe 137: Garlic Noodles 427

Recipe 138: Orange Cauliflower 430

Recipe 139: Kung Pao Tofu 434

Recipe 140: Burnt Garlic Noodles 438

## Chapter 15: Indian Breads & Accompaniments 445

Recipe 142: Naan Variations 446

Recipe 143: Puri 449

Recipe 144: Paratha (Stuffed Options) 451

Recipe 145: Whole Wheat Kulcha 454

Recipe 146: Raita 457

Recipe 147: Bhatura 459

## Chapter 16: Sweet Endings (Desserts) 462

Recipe 148: Gulab Jamun 463

Recipe 149: Gajar Halwa 466

Recipe 150: Kheer – Rice Pudding 468

# Chapter 1: Introduction: A Celebration of Vegetarian Flavors

## 1.1 Welcome to Our Vegetarian Kitchen!



Hey friends, we're Anvita and Soniya—mompreneurs sharing our love for everyday, veggie-packed meals on *The Belly Rules The Mind* 

(www.thebellyrulesthemind.net). What began as a way to make healthy-ish, meatless dinners for our families has blossomed into a vibrant blog full of 'you-can-do-this' recipes. We're all about flavor, balance, and a nod to indulgence now and then. This cookbook continues that philosophy: 100 tried-and-tested dishes, from global fusion to Indian classics, all designed to feel like they were made just for your table.<sup>1</sup>

Over the years, we've realized vegetarian cooking isn't just about skipping meat—it's a celebration of spices, fresh produce, and mindful cooking. Whether it's a no-fry air-fryer snack or a comforting Indian curry, we bring you recipes that fit into real life: busy

schedules, picky eaters, and tight budgets. Have you heard of our '80/20' principle? About 80% of our kitchen magic is wholesome—whole grains, legumes, veggies—while the remaining 20% is for the little treats that keep cooking fun. This approach ensures that healthy eating is sustainable and enjoyable, not a restrictive chore. It's about finding joy in wholesome foods while still allowing for those moments of playful indulgence that make life, and cooking, so much richer.

## 1.2 The Joy of Vegetarian Eating

Why choose vegetarian? For us, the reasons are many, and they all come from the heart. We curate ingredients for vitality—plant-based proteins, whole grains—but we're not about preaching. It's more "salad with cake" than "kale-only" diets. Our philosophy is health-forward, without being preachy, making nutritious eating an approachable and enjoyable part of daily life.

As Indian-American moms, our goal has always been to show our kids how delicious, diverse, and easy vegetarian food can be, all while respecting our cultural roots. Every recipe is family-tested and kidapproved, designed to please even the pickiest eaters while introducing them to a world of flavors. Furthermore, our culinary journey spans the globe. Our recipes bring Indian, Chinese, Mexican, Thai, and more to your home kitchen, all without requiring you to overhaul your entire spice cabinet. We

believe in global flavors, adapted for the home kitchen style, making international cuisine accessible and fun to prepare.

# Chapter 2: Your Indian Vegetarian Pantry

Embarking on a journey into Indian vegetarian cooking is an exciting adventure for the palate. A few key elements can transform your everyday cooking into an aromatic and flavorful experience.

## 2.1Essential Indian Spices and Their Magic



Spices are the heart and soul of Indian cooking, each adding its unique aroma, flavor, and even health benefits. Understanding these key players will empower you to create truly authentic dishes.

Spice Name	Hindi Name (if common)	Flavor Profile	Key Benefits/Properties	Typical Dishes/Uses
Turmeric	Haldi	Warm, earthy, slightly bitter, vibrant yellow	Golden power, digestive benefits	Curries, dals (lentils), rice dishes, vegetable sabjis

Cumin	Jeera	Warm, savory, slightly nutty, earthy	Often used whole or toasted for enhanced aroma	Tempering (tadka), spice blends, dals, sabjis, rice dishes
Coriander	Dhania	Fragrant, citrusy, mildly sweet, earthy	Often used as powder or fresh leaves (cilantro)	Curries, spice blends, marinades, garnishes
Garam Masala	Garam Masala	Complex blend of warming spices (e.g., cinnamon, cloves, cardamom, black pepper)	Finishing spice to add aroma and warmth	Added at the end of cooking to curries, dals, sabjis
Chili Powder	Lal Mirch Powder	Varies from mild to very hot, adds color and heat	Your heat dial	Curries, sabjis, snacks, marinades
Asafoetida	Hing	Pungent, savory, onion-garlic like (when cooked)	A tiny bit transforms legume dishes with savory depth	Dals, bean curries, some vegetable dishes (use sparingly)

## 2.2 Must-Have Kitchen Tools

While you don't need a plethora of specialized equipment, a few tools are particularly helpful for Indian vegetarian cooking, making the process smoother and the results more authentic.<sup>1</sup>

Tool Name	Description/Primary Use in Indian Cooking	Why It's Helpful
Pressure Cooker	Sealed pot that cooks food quickly under steam pressure	A lifesaver for fast, tender lentils and beans; saves time and energy

Tava	Flat or slightly concave skillet, often made of cast iron or non-stick	Essential for making rotis, chapatis, parathas, dosas, and other flatbreads
Kadhai (Karahi)	Deep, circular, and steep-sided cooking pot, similar to a wok	Ideal for deep frying snacks, simmering curries, and stir-frying vegetables
Rolling Pin & Board	Standard rolling pin (belan) and a flat circular board (chakla)	Perfect for rolling out dough for homemade flatbreads like rotis and puris
Spice Box (Masala Dabba)	Circular or square container with small individual spice tins and a lid	Organizes your daily spices, keeps them fresh, and easily accessible during cooking

## 2.3 Smart Cooking: Meal Prep & Planning Tips

In our busy lives, a little planning goes a long way in making home-cooked vegetarian meals a consistent reality. These strategies help minimize stress and maximize nutrition, ensuring that delicious, wholesome food is always within reach.<sup>1</sup>

- Chop Once, Cook Twice: Dedicate some time (perhaps on a weekend) to pre-chop vegetables like onions, carrots, bell peppers, and garlic. Store them in airtight containers in the refrigerator. This simple step can drastically cut down prep time for multiple meals throughout the week. For instance, chopped onions can be used for a dal on Monday and a vegetable curry on Wednesday.
- 2. **Soak It Up:** Beans and lentils, staples in vegetarian cooking, benefit greatly from overnight soaking. This not only speeds up their cooking time the next day but also improves their digestibility. Make it a habit to soak your chosen legumes the night before you plan to cook them.
- 3. **Batch Sauce in Bulk:** Prepare larger quantities of versatile base gravies, like Bhuna Masala or a simple tomato-onion sauce. Cool them completely and then freeze in small jars or ice cube trays. These frozen portions can be thawed quickly for instant, flavorful meals on busy weeknights.
- 4. **Menu Map Weekly:** Take a few minutes each week to plan your meals. Deciding what you'll cook ahead of time helps streamline grocery shopping, reduces last-minute stress, and ensures a balanced variety of nutrients throughout the week. It also helps in utilizing fresh produce efficiently, minimizing waste.

5. **Restock Staple Shelves:** Keep your pantry well-stocked with kitchen MVPs like rice, various flours (whole wheat, gram flour), a selection of beans and lentils, and your essential spices. Having these basics on hand means you're always prepared to whip up a meal without an emergency trip to the store.

# Chapter 3: What's Inside This Cookbook?

This cookbook is a reflection of our journey and our kitchen philosophy. It's designed to bring "global vibes to vegetarian soil," offering plant-based takes on beloved dishes from Indian, Mexican, Chinese, Mediterranean cuisines, and comforting classics. We believe in "family-friendly flexibility," using ingredients that are made for real kitchens and real lives. You'll find "easy swaps & flavor boosts" throughout, with tips to customize heat levels, protein sources, or cater to allergy needs.

Many of our recipes are "meal-prep friendly," with masalas and sauces that freeze beautifully, embodying the "cook once, eat twice (or thrice!)" potential. And while our focus is wholesome, we also embrace "guilt-free treats"—yes, there are occasional cookies, fries, or cheesy bites, because life, and food, is always better with balance.

Thank you for letting us into your kitchen. May these pages inspire meals filled with flavor, warmth, care—and maybe a little playful indulgence. Your belly rules your mind... and your family. Let's cook up some magic!.

# Chapter 4: Essential Pastes, Sauces & Homemade Staples

The true enchantment of Indian cuisine often resides not merely in the primary ingredients of a dish, but more profoundly in the aromatic pastes, rich sauces, and fresh homemade staples that form its very backbone. These foundational components are the concentrated essences of flavor and tradition, and mastering their creation is the key to unlocking authentic, restaurant-quality culinary experiences within the home kitchen. They are more than just ingredients; they are the heartbeat of countless beloved recipes.

Embarking on the journey of making these essential staples from scratch offers a multitude of rewards. Beyond the superior freshness and vibrancy of flavors, homemade preparations provide complete control over ingredients, ensuring an absence of artificial preservatives or colors often found in commercial alternatives. This practice also allows for customization, tailoring spice levels and nuances to perfectly suit personal preferences. There is undeniable satisfaction and a boost in culinary confidence that comes from crafting these building blocks, fostering a deeper connection to the cooking process itself. While store-bought versions offer convenience, the homemade route promises unparalleled quality and a more intimate engagement with the art of Indian cooking.

This chapter serves as a guide to creating a versatile toolkit of these indispensable preparations. It will delve into the methods for crafting Home-made Ginger Garlic Paste, the rich and complex Bhuna Masala, the ever-popular Tikka Masala Sauce, the luscious Makhani Sauce, and the fresh, delicate Home-made Paneer. Equipped with these, the home cook will be well-prepared to tackle a vast array of classic Indian dishes. The effort invested in mastering these staples will undoubtedly yield immense returns, elevating everyday meals and special occasion feasts alike into memorable culinary adventures. Many find that once these "secret weapons" are part of their repertoire, the perceived complexity of Indian cooking diminishes, as these bases simplify the creation of otherwise elaborate dishes. Furthermore, the act of preparing these pastes and sauces from scratch can be a meaningful way to connect with the rich cultural heritage embedded in traditional Indian culinary practices, transforming the cooking experience into something more profound than simple recipe replication. The ability to adjust these foundational elements also empowers the cook to develop a distinct culinary identity, tailoring traditional flavors to create a personal signature.

## Recipe 1: Home-made Ginger Garlic Paste

Ginger Garlic Paste is an indispensable aromatic base in a vast number of Indian dishes. It provides a foundational layer of pungent, zesty, and savory notes, contributing significantly to the depth of flavor in a quick and efficient manner. While readily available in stores, homemade paste offers superior freshness and potency, free from the additives that commercial versions might contain. Freshly made paste ensures the brightest flavors for any culinary creation.

### Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes (Optional)
Fresh Ginger	1 part (e.g., 100g, peeled & chopped)	Aim for young, tender ginger if possible
Fresh Garlic	2 parts (e.g., 200g, peeled)	
Water	1-2 Tbsp (or as needed for blending)	Use sparingly
Oil (e.g., olive or neutral)	1-2 tsp (for topping/preservation)	Optional, for longer storage
Salt	Pinch (optional, for preservation)	Optional, for longer storage

## **Step-by-Step Instructions**

- 1. **Preparation:** The garlic cloves must be peeled. The fresh ginger should be peeled and then roughly chopped into pieces that are similar in size to the garlic cloves. This uniformity aids in even blending.
- 2. **Blending:** Combine the peeled garlic and chopped ginger in a food processor or a powerful blender.
- 3. **Achieve Smoothness:** Add 1-2 tablespoons of water, only if absolutely necessary, to facilitate the mixture blending into a smooth paste. Caution should be exercised to avoid adding too much water, as this can dilute the paste's concentration and potentially shorten its shelf life.
- 4. **Storage (Short-term):** Transfer the freshly made paste to a clean, airtight glass container for immediate use or short-term refrigeration.

5. **Storage (Longer-term/Preservation Tip):** For an extended refrigerated life, the paste can be topped with a thin layer of oil. A pinch of salt can also be mixed in. The oil creates a barrier against air, thereby slowing down spoilage.

### **Expert Tips & Tricks**

- Water Wisdom: Minimal water usage during blending is advisable. Excess water can lead to faster spoilage and a less concentrated flavor. For smaller quantities, a coffee grinder dedicated to spices or a small, powerful blender jar often works best, as these typically require less liquid to operate efficiently.
- Oil & Salt as Preservatives: The application of a thin oil layer on top of the paste in its storage container, along with a small amount of salt mixed in, acts as a natural preservative. This can extend the paste's freshness in the refrigerator for up to 2-3 weeks. It is important to ensure the oil completely covers the surface to effectively seal it.
- **No Cook Paste:** This preparation is a raw paste. It is typically added at the beginning of the cooking process, sautéed in oil or ghee, to release its potent aroma and form the foundational flavor base for the dish.

## Recipe 2: Bhuna Masala (Everyday Indian Curry Paste)

Bhuna Masala is often referred to as the "mother of all curry bases." It is an essential, slow-cooked paste—"bhuna" itself signifies the process of roasting or sautéing until well-browned and fragrant. This foundational masala is a rich concoction of onions, tomatoes, ginger, garlic, and a blend of aromatic spices. Having a batch of this versatile paste readily available can dramatically reduce the cooking time for a wide array of North and South Indian curries, providing a deep, complex, and savory foundation to numerous dishes.

## Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity
Oil	3 tablespoons
Ghee (optional)	1 tablespoon
Jeera (Cumin Seeds)	1 tablespoon
Red Onions (peeled, quartered)	750 grams
Garlic (peeled cloves)	50 grams
Ginger (peeled, roughly chopped)	50 grams
Green Chillies / Serrano Peppers	4-5 (adjust to taste)
Tomatoes (quartered)	1 kg
Chilli Powder	1 tablespoon
Turmeric Powder	1/2 teaspoon
Coriander Powder	2 tablespoons

Cumin Powder	1 teaspoon
Garam Masala	1 teaspoon
Salt	1 teaspoon (or to taste)

### **Step-by-Step Instructions**

- 1. **Prepare Aromatics:** In a food processor, coarsely chop the peeled onions, ginger, garlic, and green chillies. Once processed, transfer this mixture to a bowl and set aside.
- 2. **Puree Tomatoes:** Using the same food processor, blend the quartered tomatoes until a smooth puree is formed. Set this aside as well.
- Temper Spices: Heat the oil (and ghee, if using) in a large, heavy-bottomed pan or kadhai over medium heat. Once the oil is hot, add the cumin seeds and allow them to splutter and become fragrant.
- 4. **Sauté Onion Mixture:** Add the coarsely chopped onion-ginger-garlic-chilli mixture to the pan. Cook this mixture, stirring occasionally, for a significant period of 15-20 minutes. The goal is to achieve a rich brownish color, and the oil should begin to separate from the sides of the mixture. This "bhuna" process is paramount for developing the characteristic deep flavor.
- 5. **Add Tomatoes & Spices:** Stir in the prepared tomato puree, salt, chilli powder, turmeric powder, coriander powder, cumin powder, and garam masala. Mix thoroughly to combine all ingredients.
- 6. **Cook Down Masala:** Increase the heat to high and cook, stirring continuously, for the first two minutes. After this initial period, reduce the flame to low, cover the pan with a lid, and allow the masala to simmer gently for another 15-20 minutes. It is important to stir occasionally during this time to prevent the masala from sticking to the bottom of the pan. The Bhuna Masala is ready when it has visibly reduced in volume, thickened considerably, and oil starts to appear on the surface.
- 7. **Cool and Store:** Once cooked, allow the Bhuna Masala to cool completely at room temperature before transferring it to airtight containers or ziplock bags for storage.

## **Expert Tips & Tricks**

• The "Bhuna" Technique is Key: The slow sautéing of the onion mixture until it is deeply browned is the cornerstone of this masala. This caramelization process, a result of the Maillard reaction, is responsible for building the deep, savory, and slightly sweet undertones that characterize a high-quality bhuna masala. This step should not be rushed, as it is fundamental to the flavor development. The Maillard reaction involves a complex series of chemical changes

between amino acids and reducing sugars, generating hundreds of new aroma and flavor compounds that define the richness of the paste.

- Oil Separation as an Indicator: The visual cue of oil separating from the sides of the masala or appearing on its surface is a traditional and reliable indicator that the masala is well-cooked.
   This shows that the water content has reduced sufficiently, and the flavors have melded and concentrated.
- **Deglazing for Flavor:** If small bits of the onion mixture begin to stick to the bottom of the pan during the extensive sautéing process, a small splash of water or a little of the reserved tomato puree can be used to deglaze the pan. This action lifts those flavorful caramelized bits, incorporating them back into the masala and enhancing its overall depth.

## Recipe 3: Tikka Masala Sauce

Tikka Masala Sauce is a globally beloved sauce, celebrated for its characteristically creamy texture, vibrant orange hue, and a harmonious blend of tangy tomatoes, aromatic spices, and often a subtle touch of sweetness. Its versatility is one of its key attributes, serving as the perfect base for the iconic Chicken Tikka Masala, and proving equally delicious when paired with paneer, tofu, or a medley of vegetables. Preparing this sauce at home allows for complete control over the ingredients, ensuring a final product free from the artificial colors or preservatives that can sometimes be found in store-bought versions. Homemade sauce offers fresh, authentic flavors.

## Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes
Oil	2 tablespoons	
Onions (chopped)	2 medium (approx. 1 cup)	
Chilli Powder	1 teaspoon	Adjust to heat preference
Cumin Powder	1 teaspoon	
Coriander Powder	1 teaspoon	
Kashmiri Chilli Powder	1 teaspoon	Primarily for color, mildly spicy
Tomatoes (chopped)	5 medium (approx. 2 cups) or canned	
Salt	To taste	
Yogurt / Vegan Yogurt / Coconut Milk	1/2 cup	For creaminess; add after pressure cooking if freezing
Cilantro (chopped)	1/4 cup	For garnish and flavor

**Step-by-Step Instructions (Instant Pot Method)** 

- 1. **Sauté Aromatics:** Activate the "Saute" mode on the Instant Pot. Once heated, add the oil and the chopped onions. Cook, stirring occasionally, until the onions become translucent and softened.
- 2. **Add Spices:** Stir in the chilli powder, cumin powder, coriander powder, Kashmiri chilli powder, and salt. Continue to cook for about 5 minutes, stirring occasionally. This step allows the spices to toast lightly, releasing their aromatic compounds.
- 3. **Incorporate Tomatoes:** Add the chopped tomatoes to the pot and mix well with the spiced onions.
- 4. Add Creaminess & Herbs: Stir in the yogurt (or its vegan alternative/coconut milk) and the chopped cilantro. It is advisable to mix the yogurt in quickly and thoroughly to prevent it from forming a granular layer.
- 5. **Pressure Cook:** Secure the Instant Pot lid, ensuring the steam release valve is set to the "Seal" position. Select the "Pressure Cook" (or "Manual") mode and set the cooking time to 10 minutes on High pressure.
- 6. **Release Pressure:** Once the 10-minute cooking cycle is complete, perform a quick pressure release by carefully turning the steam release valve to the "Vent" position. Allow all the steam to escape before opening the lid.
- 7. **Finish & Blend (Optional):** Keep the Instant Pot on the "Warm" setting. Allow the sauce to rest and wilt for an additional 2-3 minutes, stirring as needed. For a smoother, restaurant-style sauce, the mixture can be carefully transferred to a blender (allow it to cool slightly first if using a standard blender with a sealed lid) and blended until smooth. Alternatively, an immersion blender can be used to blend the sauce directly in the Instant Pot.

## **Expert Tips & Tricks**

- Kashmiri Chilli Powder is Key for Color: The use of Kashmiri chilli powder is highly recommended. This specific variety of chilli powder imparts the signature vibrant red-orange color to Tikka Masala sauce without contributing excessive heat. Its mild pungency allows for generous use for color. If Kashmiri chilli powder is unavailable, a good substitute is paprika (for color) combined with a small pinch of regular, hotter chilli powder (for a slight kick). The visual appeal of Tikka Masala is iconic, and using Kashmiri chili powder is a specific technique to achieve this authentic look naturally.
- **Creaminess Options:** Yogurt provides a pleasant tang and contributes to the creamy texture. For a richer and often sweeter profile, full-fat coconut milk serves as an excellent vegan alternative. For a classic restaurant-style finish, heavy cream can be stirred in after blending and just before serving.

- Blending for Smoothness: To achieve that classic, velvety smooth texture characteristic of restaurant Tikka Masala, blending the sauce after cooking is highly recommended. An immersion blender offers convenience as it can be used directly in the cooking pot. If using a standard countertop blender, it is important to allow the hot sauce to cool slightly before blending, and to vent the lid to prevent pressure build-up.
- Meal Prep Master: This sauce is exceptionally well-suited for meal prepping. A large batch can be prepared and then frozen in convenient portions. When ready to use, thaw the sauce and gently reheat it. Then, simply add cooked protein (such as paneer, or tofu) and any desired vegetables.

## Recipe 4: Makhani Sauce (Butter Masala Sauce)

Makhani Sauce stands as the epitome of rich, creamy, and mildly spiced Indian sauces. Its name literally translates to "buttery," a fitting description for its luxurious character. This sauce is renowned for its exceptionally smooth, velvety texture and a sumptuous taste, primarily derived from a harmonious blend of tomatoes, cashews (or sometimes almonds), generous amounts of butter, and fresh cream. It serves as the celebrated base for iconic dishes such as Paneer Makhani (also known as Butter Paneer), Murgh Makhani (Butter Chicken), and the hearty Dal Makhani. Crafting this sauce at home provides the advantage of controlling the richness and ensuring the use of high-quality ingredients.

## Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes
Butter	2 tablespoons (more for finishing)	
Oil	2 tablespoons	
Bay Leaves	2	
Green Cardamoms	2	
Cinnamon Stick	1 (1-inch piece)	
Whole Dried Red Chillies	3	Adjust to preference
Onions (sliced)	2 medium	
Ginger (paste or grated)	1 teaspoon	
Garlic (paste or minced)	1 teaspoon (optional)	Often used with ginger; add if desired
Coriander Powder	1 tablespoon	

Garam Masala	1 tablespoon	
Tomatoes (quartered)	3 large	Ripe tomatoes are best
Cashews or Almonds (soaked)	1/4 cup	Skip for nut allergies, may need more cream
Water	3/4 cup (or as needed)	
Salt	To taste	
Green Chilies (slit, for tempering)	2 (optional)	
Cumin Seeds (for tempering)	1 teaspoon	
Ginger Juliennes (for tempering)	1-inch piece	
Kashmiri Lal Mirch (Red Chili Powder)	1 teaspoon	For color
Turmeric Powder	1/4 teaspoon	
Crushed Dry Kasuri Methi (Fenugreek Leaves)	1 tablespoon	Essential aroma
Honey or Sweetener	1/2 - 1 tablespoon	To balance acidity
Cream (for finishing)	1/4 cup (or more if nuts are skipped)	Heavy cream or half-and-half

## Step-by-Step Instructions

1. **Prep:** Soak the cashews or almonds in warm water for at least 30 minutes to soften them for easier blending.

- 2. **Sauté Whole Spices & Aromatics:** In a wok or a heavy-bottomed pan, heat the oil and 1 tablespoon of butter over medium heat. Once the butter has melted, add the bay leaves, green cardamoms, cinnamon stick, and whole dried red chillies. Sauté these whole spices for a minute or two until they become fragrant.
- 3. **Cook Onions:** Add the sliced onions to the pan and sauté on medium heat until they turn translucent. Then, add the ginger paste (and garlic paste, if using), coriander powder, and garam masala. Sauté for another minute until the raw aroma of the ginger and garlic dissipates and the spices are fragrant.
- 4. Add Tomatoes & Nuts: Incorporate the quartered tomatoes and the soaked, drained cashews or almonds into the pan. Cook for a few minutes, allowing the tomatoes to begin to soften. Add salt to taste and the specified amount of water. Cover the pan and let the mixture cook for about 10 minutes, or until the tomatoes are fully softened and the mixture is well combined.
- 5. **Blend Gravy Base:** Remove the bay leaves and the cinnamon stick from the cooked mixture (these are difficult to blend smoothly). Carefully scoop out the solid components of the mixture into a blender jar, leaving most of the cooking liquid in the wok for now. Blend the solids to a very smooth puree. If needed, add a little of the reserved cooking liquid to the blender to help achieve a smooth consistency.
- 6. **Temper & Sieve:** In the same wok (wipe clean if necessary, or use the reserved liquid), heat the remaining oil and butter. Once hot, add the cumin seeds and let them splutter. Add the slit green chillies (if using) and ginger juliennes, and sauté briefly until aromatic.
- 7. **Combine & Refine:** Carefully pour the blended puree through a fine-mesh sieve directly into the tempered oil in the wok. This step is crucial for achieving an exceptionally silky-smooth sauce. Use a spatula to press the puree through the sieve, ensuring all the smooth liquid passes through while any fibrous bits from tomatoes or tiny spice remnants are caught.
- 8. Add Color & Cook: To the sieved sauce, add the Kashmiri red chili powder (primarily for color) and turmeric powder. Mix well and cook on medium heat, stirring occasionally, until the sauce thickens to the desired consistency and oil begins to separate slightly at the edges.
- 9. Finish the Sauce: Stir in the crushed kasuri methi (dried fenugreek leaves crush them between your palms before adding to release their aroma) and the honey or sweetener. If this sauce is being used for Paneer Makhani, the paneer cubes would typically be added at this stage. Finally, gently stir in the fresh cream. Allow the sauce to simmer gently for a couple of minutes to incorporate the cream, but avoid boiling it vigorously after the cream has been added.

## **Expert Tips & Tricks**

• The Power of Sieving: It is highly recommended not to skip the step of sieving the blended tomato-onion-cashew puree. This meticulous process removes any remaining fibrous bits from

the tomatoes or any unblended particles of whole spices and is the secret to achieving an ultrasmooth, restaurant-quality Makhani sauce. The velvety texture is a defining characteristic of this sauce, and sieving is a classic culinary technique to achieve such refinement. This attention to detail in texture is as important as the flavor itself.

- Cashews for Creaminess: Soaked cashews (or almonds) are vital for imparting the characteristic creamy consistency and subtle sweetness to Makhani sauce. If there is a nut allergy, cashews can be omitted, and the creaminess can be enhanced by using additional fresh cream or, traditionally, a paste of blended melon seeds (magaz) for thickness.
- Kasuri Methi (Dried Fenugreek Leaves): This ingredient is essential for lending the authentic and distinctive aroma to Makhani sauce. The dried leaves should be lightly crushed between the palms before being added to the sauce; this action helps to release their potent fragrance more effectively.

## Recipe 5: Home-made Paneer (Indian Cottage Cheese)

Paneer is a fresh, non-melting Indian cheese, cherished across the subcontinent for its soft, milky flavor and wonderfully versatile texture. It is traditionally made by curdling milk, typically full-fat cow's or buffalo's milk, with an acidic agent such as lemon juice or vinegar. The resulting curds are then pressed to form blocks of cheese. One of the greatest advantages of making paneer at home is the vastly superior taste and texture compared to many store-bought varieties, which can sometimes be bland, overly firm, or even rubbery. Homemade paneer is also free from any additives or preservatives, offering a pure, fresh cheese experience.

## **Ingredients**

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes
Full Fat Milk	6 cups or 1/2 gallon (approx. 2 liters)	Cow's or buffalo's milk. This is essential for good texture.
Lemon Juice or Vinegar	3 tablespoons	White vinegar or apple cider vinegar also work effectively.
Water (for rinsing pot)	Small amount	Helps prevent milk from sticking to the pot bottom.
Optional Flavorings	Dried mint, herbs (e.g., chili flakes)	To be added after curdling, if desired.

## **Step-by-Step Instructions**

## **Method 1: Instant Pot**

- 1. **Combine & Cook:** Pour the full-fat milk and the chosen acidic agent (lemon juice or vinegar) directly into the inner pot of the Instant Pot. Secure the lid, ensure the steam release valve is in the "Sealing" position, and select the "Pressure Cook" (or "Manual") mode. Set the cooking time to 4 minutes at High pressure.
- 2. **Natural Release:** Once the 4-minute pressure cooking cycle is complete, allow the Instant Pot to undergo a natural pressure release (NPR). This means letting the pressure release gradually without manually opening the valve, until the float valve drops.
- 3. **Stir & Flavor (Optional):** Once all pressure has been released and the float valve has dropped, carefully open the lid. Stir the contents of the pot; the milk should be clearly curdled, with solids

- separated from the whey. If desired, this is the stage to add any optional dried herbs, such as dried mint leaves, for flavored paneer.
- 4. **Strain:** Line a colander or a large strainer with a clean cheesecloth (muslin cloth is ideal). Place this lined colander over a large bowl, which will collect the whey. Carefully pour the curdled milk mixture from the Instant Pot through the cheesecloth-lined strainer.
- 5. **Rinse (Optional):** If lemon juice was used as the coagulant, some prefer to gently rinse the curds in the cheesecloth under cold running water for a moment. This can help to remove any residual lemony taste and also cools down the curds.
- 6. **Press:** Gather the corners of the cheesecloth together to form a bundle around the curds. Gently squeeze out as much excess whey as possible. Then, place the wrapped paneer bundle on a flat surface (like a plate or cutting board). Put another flat plate on top of the bundle, and then place heavy objects (such as heavy cans, a cast-iron skillet, or a pot filled with water) on the top plate to press the paneer. Press for at least 1-2 hours; a longer pressing time (e.g., 2 hours) will result in firmer paneer. This pressing step is crucial for removing more whey and compacting the curds into a firm block.
- 7. **Cut & Use:** After the pressing time, carefully unwrap the firmed block of paneer. It can then be cut into cubes or any desired shapes and is ready to be used in various recipes.

### Method 2: Stovetop

- 1. **Prepare Pot:** Rinse a heavy-bottomed pot with a small amount of water, swishing it around to coat the bottom and sides. Do not wipe it dry. This thin film of water helps to prevent the milk from sticking and scorching during heating.
- 2. **Boil Milk:** Pour the full-fat milk into the prepared pot. Place it over medium heat and bring the milk to a gentle boil. It is important to stir the milk frequently, especially the bottom, to prevent it from scorching.
- 3. **Curdle Milk:** Once the milk reaches a gentle boil, reduce the heat to low. Begin adding the lemon juice or vinegar, 1 tablespoon at a time, stirring gently and continuously after each addition. Continue adding the acidic agent until the milk fully curdles the milk solids (curds) will visibly separate from a clear, greenish or yellowish liquid (whey). Once this separation is complete and the whey looks clear, turn off the heat immediately.
- 4. **Strain:** Line a colander or large sieve with a double layer of cheesecloth (or a clean muslin cloth). Place this setup over a large bowl to catch the whey. Carefully pour the curdled milk mixture through the cloth-lined colander.
- 5. **Rinse (Optional but Recommended):** Especially if lemon juice was used, gently run cold water over the curds collected in the cheesecloth for a few minutes. This helps to wash away any

- lingering acidic taste from the coagulant and also helps to cool down the curds, which can contribute to a softer paneer.
- 6. **Drain & Press:** Gather the corners of the cheesecloth to form a tight bundle around the curds. Twist the cloth to squeeze out as much whey as possible. Then, hang this bundle over the sink or suspend it over a bowl for about 30 minutes to an hour to allow more whey to drain out. After this initial draining, place the cheesecloth-wrapped paneer on a flat plate. Cover it with another plate, and then place a heavy weight (such as a stack of books, a heavy pot, or a mortar and pestle) on top. Press for about 1-2 hours. The duration of pressing will determine the firmness of the final paneer.
- 7. **Cut & Use:** Once pressed, carefully unwrap the block of homemade paneer. It can then be cut into cubes or other desired shapes and is ready for use in cooking.

### **Expert Tips & Tricks**

- Full-Fat Milk is Non-Negotiable: The use of full-fat milk is critical for achieving the desired texture, richness, and yield when making paneer. Low-fat or skimmed milk will result in a paneer that is rubbery, less flavorful, and will yield a significantly smaller quantity. Milk fat plays a crucial role in the structure of paneer; during the curdling process, fat globules are trapped within the coagulated protein (casein) matrix. This entrapped fat contributes directly to the softness, richness, and desirable melt-in-the-mouth quality of good paneer. A lower fat content leads to a denser, more rubbery protein structure.
- **Don't Over-Boil After Curdling:** Once the milk solids have clearly separated and the whey appears clear, it is important to turn off the heat immediately. Over-boiling the curds after separation can cause them to become tough and rubbery.
- **Pressing is Crucial:** The pressing stage should not be skipped or rushed, as it is fundamental to the final texture and firmness of the paneer. Less pressing time will result in a softer, more crumbly paneer (suitable for bhurji or desserts), while a longer pressing time will yield a firmer paneer that holds its shape well when cubed and used in curries or fried. The amount of weight used for pressing also influences firmness; however, excessive weight can make the paneer too dry and crumbly.

## Chapter 5: Appetizers & Snacks

Indian cuisine boasts an incredible array of appetizers and snacks, collectively known as "chaat," "nashta," or "farsan," depending on the region and type. These delightful morsels are far more than just precursors to a main meal; they are an integral part of India's vibrant food culture, enjoyed at street-side stalls, during festive celebrations, and as comforting bites in homes across the country. From crispy fried delights to savory steamed cakes, the variety is boundless, reflecting the diverse culinary landscape of India. These snacks often feature a tantalizing explosion of flavors – spicy, tangy, sweet, and savory – all harmonizing in a single bite.

The sheer diversity of Indian appetizers and snacks is a testament to the country's rich regional culinary traditions. Each state, and often each city, has its own signature offerings. In the bustling lanes of Mumbai, one might find spicy Vada Pav or tangy Bhel Puri, while Delhi is famous for its Aloo Tikki Chaat and Samosas. The south offers delights like crispy Medu Vada and fluffy Idlis, often served as snacks or light meals. This chapter aims to bring a taste of this incredible variety into your home kitchen, showcasing recipes that are both iconic and achievable for the home cook.

In the following pages, you will discover recipes for some of the most beloved Indian appetizers and snacks. We will explore how to create the perfect Paneer Tikka, with its smoky, marinated cubes of fresh cheese, and the ever-popular Aloo Tikki, a spiced potato patty that is a street food legend. You'll learn the art of making crispy Samosas, the hearty and flavorful Tandoori Soya Chaap, and various types of Pakoras – including Paneer and Onion versions. We will also delve into making the nutritious Hara Bhara Kabab and the light, spongy Dhokla. Get ready to embark on a flavorful journey that will equip you to whip up these delightful treats for any occasion.

# Recipe 6: Paneer Tikka

## Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Paneer (Indian cottage cheese)	250g (approx. 0.5 lbs)	Cut into 1-inch cubes, thawed if frozen
Greek Yogurt (or strained thick yogurt)	1/2 cup	Ensure whey is removed for a thick marinade
Mustard Oil	2 tablespoons	Heat slightly for a pungent flavor (optional)
Kashmiri Red Chili Powder	1 teaspoon	For color and mild heat
Turmeric Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
Ginger Garlic Paste	1 teaspoon	
Carom Seeds (Ajwain)	1/2 teaspoon	
Chaat Masala	1 teaspoon	
Coriander Powder	1 teaspoon	
Garam Masala	1 teaspoon	
Kasuri Methi (Dried Fenugreek Leaves)	1 teaspoon	Crushed
Gram Flour (Besan)	2 tablespoons	
Lemon Juice	1 tablespoon	Freshly squeezed

Bell Peppers (e.g., green, red, yellow)	1 large	Cut into 1-inch pieces
Onion	1 large	Cut into 1-inch pieces, petals separated
Butter or Oil	For basting	
Bamboo Skewers	As needed	Soak in water for 30 minutes if using wooden ones

## **Step-by-Step Instructions**

### 1. Preparation:

- o If your paneer is frozen, thaw it by soaking in warm water for 20-30 minutes. Gently pat dry.
- If using homemade yogurt, strain it in a muslin cloth to remove excess whey, resulting in thick,
   Greek-style yogurt.
- o Cut the bell peppers and onions into 1-inch pieces, similar in size to the paneer cubes.
- If using bamboo skewers, soak them in water for at least 30 minutes to prevent them from burning during cooking.

## 2. **Prepare the Marinade:**

- In a mixing bowl, if using mustard oil for its traditional pungent flavor, you can gently heat it and then let it cool slightly. Add the hot mustard oil (if using, otherwise use regular oil) to the bowl, followed by Kashmiri Red Chili Powder. Whisk well.
- o Add the strained Greek yogurt to the bowl and whisk again until smooth and free of lumps.
- Add turmeric powder, ginger garlic paste, carom seeds, chaat masala, coriander powder, garam masala, crushed kasuri methi, gram flour, and lemon juice. Whisk thoroughly to combine all ingredients into a smooth, thick marinade.

### 3. Marinate Paneer and Vegetables:

- o Add the cubed bell peppers and onions to the marinade. Coat them well.
- Gently add the paneer cubes to the marinade. Mix carefully to ensure the paneer is evenly coated without breaking the cubes.
- Cover the bowl and let it marinate for at least 60 minutes in the refrigerator. For best results, marinate for a few hours or even overnight.

#### 4. Assemble the Skewers:

- Thread the marinated paneer and vegetables onto the skewers. A common pattern is to alternate between a piece of onion, bell pepper, and paneer. Start and end with vegetables to help keep the paneer intact.
- Do not overcrowd the skewers.

## 5. Cook the Paneer Tikka (Choose one method):

### Stove Top Gas Flame/Grill Pan:

- Heat a grill pan or a non-stick tawa over medium-high heat. You can also cook directly over a low gas flame for a smoky flavor, using a wire rack if available.
- Lightly brush the pan or the tikkas with butter or oil.
- Place the skewers on the hot pan or hold over the flame. Cook for about 5-7 minutes, turning occasionally, until the paneer and vegetables are lightly charred and cooked through. Baste with butter or oil as needed during cooking.

### Oven/Air Fryer:

- Oven: Preheat oven to 200°C (400°F). Place skewers on a baking tray lined with parchment paper or on a grill rack. Bake for 10-15 minutes, turning halfway, until golden and slightly charred. You can broil for the last 1-2 minutes for extra charring, keeping a close eye.
- Air Fryer: Preheat air fryer to 180°C (360°F). Place skewers in the air fryer basket (you might need to use shorter skewers or remove them). Air fry for 8-10 minutes, turning halfway, until golden and cooked.

## 6. **Serving:**

 Once cooked, serve the Paneer Tikka hot, garnished with a sprinkle of chaat masala and a squeeze of fresh lemon juice. Serve with mint chutney and sliced onions.

### **Expert Tips & Tricks**

- Achieve Soft Paneer: To ensure your paneer remains soft and doesn't become chewy, avoid overcooking it. Soaking paneer cubes in warm water for 20-30 minutes before marination also helps keep them tender.
- 2. **Thick Marinade is Key:** Use thick, strained yogurt (like Greek yogurt) for the marinade. A thick marinade will coat the paneer and vegetables well and prevent it from dripping off during cooking, leading to better flavor and charring.
- 3. **Smoky Flavor (Optional):** For an authentic tandoori-like smoky flavor at home, you can use the dhungar method. After the tikka is cooked (or even during marination), place a small heatproof bowl in the center of your dish/marinating bowl. Heat a piece of charcoal on direct flame until red hot. Place the hot charcoal in the small bowl, pour a teaspoon of ghee or oil over it, and immediately cover the entire dish with a lid for a minute or two to trap the smoke.

# Recipe 7: Aloo Tikki

## Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For the Aloo Tikki Patties:		
Potatoes	4 medium-sized	Boiled, peeled, and mashed thoroughly
Corn Starch	1/4 cup	Or rice flour for crispiness
Salt	To taste	
Ghee or Oil	1 tablespoon (for dough) + for frying	Use oil for a vegan version
For the Chana Dal Filling (Optional):		
Chana Dal (Split Chickpeas)	1/2 cup	Soaked for 1-2 hours and boiled until soft but not mushy
Potato	1 small	Boiled and mashed (can use some from the tikki potatoes)
Green Chilies	1-2	Finely chopped, adjust to taste
Fennel Seeds (Saunf)	1/2 teaspoon	Coarsely crushed (optional)
Roasted Cumin Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
Mango Powder (Amchur)	1/2 teaspoon	Or lemon juice
Red Chili Powder	1/4 teaspoon	Adjust to taste

Ginger	1/2 inch piece	Grated or finely chopped
Salt	To taste	
Cilantro (Coriander Leaves)	1 tablespoon	Finely chopped
For Garnish (Optional, for Aloo Tikki Chaat):		
Yogurt	As needed	Whisked
Green Chutney	As needed	Mint-coriander chutney
Sweet Tamarind Chutney	As needed	
Chaat Masala	To sprinkle	
Fresh Cilantro	For garnish	Chopped
Fine Sev (Gram Flour Noodles)	For garnish	Optional
Chopped Onions	For garnish	Optional

## **Step-by-Step Instructions**

## 1. Prepare the Potatoes for Tikkis:

- Boil the potatoes until they are fully cooked but still firm. Peel them and let them cool completely. It's best to use potatoes that are not overly starchy.
- o Mash the cooled potatoes thoroughly. There should be no lumps. You can also grate them.
- Add corn starch (or rice flour), 1 tablespoon of ghee/oil, and salt to the mashed potatoes. Mix well to form a smooth, non-sticky dough. If the mixture is too sticky, you can add a little more corn starch.

## 2. Prepare the Chana Dal Filling (If using):

 If you haven't already, soak the chana dal for 1-2 hours. Boil or pressure cook the chana dal with a little salt and turmeric (optional) until it is soft but still holds its shape (not mushy). Drain any excess water. o In a bowl, lightly mash the boiled chana dal. Add the mashed boiled potato, finely chopped green chilies, fennel seeds (if using), roasted cumin powder, mango powder, red chili powder, grated ginger, salt, and chopped cilantro. Mix everything well. The filling should be a thick, almost dry mixture.

## 3. **Assemble the Aloo Tikkis:**

- o Grease your palms lightly with oil.
- Take a portion of the potato dough (about 2-3 tablespoons, depending on the desired tikki size) and flatten it on your palm to form a disc of about 2-3 inches in diameter.
- o If using the filling, create a small well in the center of the potato disc. Place about 1-2 teaspoons of the chana dal filling in the well.
- Carefully bring the edges of the potato dough together to cover the filling and seal it completely.
   Gently flatten the ball into a patty (tikki) shape, about 1/2 inch thick. Ensure there are no cracks.
- o If not using filling, simply shape the potato dough portions into flat round patties.
- Repeat with the remaining dough and filling.

### 4. Cook the Aloo Tikkis (Choose one method):

- Shallow Frying (Traditional):
- Heat 2-3 tablespoons of oil or ghee in a non-stick pan or tawa over medium heat.
- Once the oil is hot, carefully place the prepared tikkis in the pan. Do not overcrowd the pan.
- Fry for 4-5 minutes on each side, or until they are golden brown and crispy. Add more oil if needed.

### Air Frying:

- Preheat your air fryer to 180°C (350°F).
- Lightly spray or brush the tikkis with oil.
- Arrange the tikkis in the air fryer basket in a single layer, ensuring they don't overlap.
- Air fry for 10-15 minutes, flipping them halfway through, until they are golden brown and crisp.
   For extra crispiness, you can increase the temperature to 200°C (400°F) for the last 2-3 minutes.

## 5. **Serving:**

- Serve the Aloo Tikkis hot.
- o They can be served plain with ketchup or mint chutney.
- For Aloo Tikki Chaat: Place 2-3 tikkis on a plate. Top with whisked yogurt, green chutney, sweet tamarind chutney. Sprinkle with chaat masala, roasted cumin powder, red chili powder (optional), chopped onions, fresh cilantro, and sev.

- 1. **Potato Perfection:** Use potatoes that are not overly watery after boiling. Allowing boiled potatoes to cool completely, or even refrigerating them for a bit, helps reduce moisture and makes the tikkis crispier. Thoroughly mashing or grating ensures a smooth texture.
- 2. **Crispiness Factor:** Adding corn starch or rice flour to the mashed potatoes is crucial for achieving crispy tikkis. Rice flour tends to give a slightly better crisp. Ensure the oil is adequately hot before frying for a crispy exterior.
- 3. **Even Cooking:** Whether frying or air frying, ensure the tikkis are cooked on medium heat to allow them to cook through and become crispy without burning on the outside. Don't overcrowd the pan or air fryer basket for even browning.

# Recipe 8: Samosa

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For the Dough:		
All-Purpose Flour (Maida)	2 cups	
Salt	1/2 teaspoon	
Caraway Seeds (Ajwain)	1/2 teaspoon	Optional, for flavor
Ghee or Oil	3-4 tablespoons	Chilled ghee is often preferred for flakiness; use oil for vegan
Chilled Water	Approx. 1/2 cup + 1 tbsp (or as needed)	Use gradually
For the Potato Filling:		
Potatoes	5 medium (approx. 500g)	Boiled, peeled, and roughly chopped or crumbled
Sweet Green Peas	1 cup	Fresh or frozen (thawed)
Oil	3 tablespoons	
Cumin Seeds	1/2 teaspoon	
Ginger	1 teaspoon	Finely chopped or grated
Green Chilies	1-2	Finely chopped (optional, adjust to taste)

Coriander Powder	1 teaspoon	
Fennel Seeds (Saunf)	1 teaspoon	Crushed (optional, but recommended)
Garam Masala	1 teaspoon	
Dry Mango Powder (Amchur)	1/4 teaspoon	Or a squeeze of lemon juice (optional)
Red Chili Powder	1/4 teaspoon	Optional, adjust to taste
Salt	To taste	
Fresh Cilantro (Coriander Leaves)	2 tablespoons	Chopped (optional)
For Frying/Baking:		
Oil	For deep frying or to coat for baking/air frying	

### 1. Prepare the Dough:

- o In a large mixing bowl, combine the all-purpose flour, salt, and caraway seeds (if using).
- o Add the chilled ghee or oil to the flour. Rub the ghee/oil into the flour with your fingertips until the mixture resembles coarse breadcrumbs. This step is crucial for a flaky crust.
- o Gradually add chilled water, a little at a time, and knead to form a firm, stiff dough. Do not overknead. The dough should be smooth but not too soft.
- o Cover the dough with a damp cloth and let it rest for at least 30 minutes to an hour.

### 2. **Prepare the Filling:**

- Boil the potatoes until tender but not mushy. Peel and roughly chop or crumble them into small, uneven pieces. Do not mash them completely.
- o Heat 3 tablespoons of oil in a pan over medium heat. Add cumin seeds and let them splutter.
- o Add chopped ginger and green chilies (if using). Sauté for a few seconds until fragrant.

- Add the green peas and cook for 2-3 minutes until they are tender. If using frozen peas, you
  might not need to cook them as long.
- o Add the crumbled potatoes to the pan.
- Add coriander powder, crushed fennel seeds (if using), garam masala, dry mango powder (if using), red chili powder (if using), and salt.
- Mix everything well and cook for 5-7 minutes, stirring gently. Lightly mash some of the potatoes with the back of a spoon while mixing, but keep some texture.
- o Stir in chopped fresh cilantro (if using).
- Remove the filling from the heat and let it cool completely.

### 3. Shape the Samosas:

- Lightly knead the rested dough for a minute. Divide the dough into 8-10 equal-sized balls (for medium samosas) or 16-20 balls (for mini samosas).
- o Take one ball of dough and roll it into an oval shape, about 4-5 inches long and 1/8 inch thick for medium samosas.
- o Cut the oval in half crosswise, creating two semi-circles.
- o Take one semi-circle. Apply a little water along the straight edge.
- Form a cone by bringing the two ends of the straight edge together, overlapping them slightly to seal. Press firmly to ensure the seal is tight. You should now have a cone shape.
- Hold the cone in your hand and fill it with about 1-2 tablespoons of the cooled potato filling. Do not overfill.
- o Apply a little water along the open circular edge of the cone.
- Press the open edges together firmly to seal the samosa. You can create a small pleat on one side before sealing for a traditional look, if desired. Ensure it's completely sealed to prevent the filling from coming out during frying.
- Place the prepared samosa on a plate and cover with a cloth to prevent drying. Repeat with the remaining dough and filling.

### 4. Cook the Samosas (Choose one method):

### Deep Frying (Traditional):

- Heat oil in a deep pan or wok over medium-low heat. The oil should be hot enough that a small piece of dough dropped in rises steadily to the surface, but not so hot that it browns too quickly.
- Carefully slide 3-4 samosas into the hot oil. Do not overcrowd the pan.
- Fry on low to medium-low heat for 10-15 minutes, turning them occasionally, until they are golden brown and crispy. Frying on low heat is key to a crispy crust and properly cooked interior.

- Remove the fried samosas with a slotted spoon and drain them on paper towels.
- Air Frying/Baking:
- **Air Fryer:** Preheat air fryer to 180°C (350°F). Lightly brush or spray the samosas with oil. Arrange them in the air fryer basket in a single layer. Air fry for 15-20 minutes, flipping halfway, until golden brown and crispy. You might need to adjust time based on your air fryer.
- Oven: Preheat oven to 200°C (400°F). Place samosas on a baking sheet lined with parchment paper. Brush them with oil. Bake for 20-25 minutes, flipping halfway, until golden and crisp.

### 5. Serving:

o Serve samosas hot with mint chutney, tamarind chutney, or tomato ketchup.

- 1. **Perfect Dough Consistency:** The key to a crispy, non-oily samosa crust is a firm and stiff dough. Use chilled water and add it gradually. The fat (ghee or oil) should be well incorporated into the flour (moin process) before adding water.
- 2. **Low Heat Frying:** For deep-frying, always fry samosas on low to medium-low heat. This ensures they cook through evenly, the crust becomes perfectly crisp and golden, and bubbles don't form on the surface. Rushing this process on high heat will result in a cooked exterior but a raw interior and a soft crust.
- 3. **Seal Securely:** Ensure the samosas are sealed very well to prevent the filling from spilling out into the oil during frying. Use a little water to moisten the edges before sealing.

# Recipe 9: Tandoori Soya Chaap

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Soya Chaap	1 can (approx. 8-10 sticks)	Typically found in brine at Indian grocery stores
Hung Curd (Thick Yogurt)	3 tablespoons	Strain regular yogurt to remove whey
Fresh Cream	2 tablespoons	Optional, for richness
Mustard Oil	3 tablespoons	Or any oil with a high smoking point
Lemon Juice	2 tablespoons	Freshly squeezed
Ginger Garlic Paste	2 tablespoons	
Kashmiri Red Chili Powder	1 teaspoon	For color and mild heat
Turmeric Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
Coriander Powder	2 teaspoons	
Cumin Powder	1 teaspoon	
Kasuri Methi (Dried Fenugreek Leaves)	2 teaspoons	Crushed
Chaat Masala	1 teaspoon	For sprinkling before serving (optional)
Salt	To taste	
For Garnish (Optional):		

Fresh Cilantro (Coriander Leaves)	Chopped	
Sliced Red Onion Rings		
Lemon Wedges		

### 1. Prepare the Soya Chaap:

- o Discard the brine from the soya chaap can. Rinse the chaap sticks under running water.
- Bring a pot of water to a boil. Add the soya chaap sticks to the boiling water and boil for about 10 minutes. This step helps to soften the chaap and allows the layers to open up slightly, which helps in better absorption of the marinade.
- Carefully remove the boiled chaap sticks from the pot using tongs and place them on a tray or plate. Allow them to cool for a few minutes until they are comfortable to handle.
- Gently remove the chaap from the wooden sticks. Cut the soya chaap into bite-sized pieces (approx. 1-1.5 inch chunks). Pat them dry with a paper towel to remove excess water.

### 2. Prepare the Marinade:

- o In a large mixing bowl, combine the hung curd, fresh cream (if using), mustard oil (or other oil), lemon juice, ginger garlic paste, Kashmiri red chili powder, turmeric powder, coriander powder, cumin powder, crushed kasuri methi, and salt.
- o Whisk all the ingredients together until you have a smooth, thick marinade.

### 3. Marinate the Soya Chaap:

- o Add the prepared soya chaap pieces to the marinade.
- o Gently mix and coat each piece thoroughly with the marinade.
- Cover the bowl and let the soya chaap marinate for at least 1-2 hours in the refrigerator. For best results, marinate for 4-6 hours or even overnight.

### 4. Cook the Tandoori Soya Chaap (Choose one method):

#### Air Fryer:

- Preheat your air fryer to 180°C (350°F).
- Arrange the marinated soya chaap pieces in the air fryer basket in a single layer. Avoid overcrowding. You may need to cook in batches.

 Air fry for 12-15 minutes, flipping the pieces halfway through, until they are golden brown and slightly charred at the edges.

#### Oven:

- Preheat your oven to 200°C (392°F).
- Line a baking tray with aluminum foil or parchment paper for easy cleanup. Arrange the marinated soya chaap pieces on the tray in a single layer.
- Bake for 15-20 minutes, turning them over once midway, until well cooked and slightly charred.
   You can broil for the last 1-2 minutes for extra charring, keeping a close watch.

#### Grill Pan / Outdoor Grill:

- Heat a grill pan or outdoor grill over medium-high heat. Brush the pan or grill grates lightly with oil.
- Place the marinated soya chaap pieces on the hot grill.
- Cook for 8-10 minutes, turning occasionally, until they are nicely charred and cooked through.
- Stove Top (Direct Flame for smoky flavor):
- You can thread the marinated soya chaap chunks onto metal skewers.
- Cook them directly over a medium gas stove flame, turning frequently, until they are charred and cooked. Be careful using this method.

### 5. **Serving:**

- o Once cooked, transfer the Tandoori Soya Chaap to a serving platter.
- o Sprinkle with chaat masala (if using).
- o Garnish with fresh chopped cilantro, sliced red onion rings, and lemon wedges.
- Serve hot as an appetizer or as part of a main course with naan, roti, or rice, and a side of mint chutney.

- 1. **Boil Chaap for Better Texture & Marination:** Boiling the soya chaap sticks before marinating is a crucial step. It not only softens the chaap but also helps its layers to open up, allowing the marinade to penetrate deeply for more flavorful and tender results.
- 2. **Thick Marinade is Essential:** Use hung curd (thick yogurt with whey removed) to ensure the marinade is thick and coats the soya chaap pieces well without becoming watery. This helps in achieving a good char and flavor during cooking.
- 3. **Don't Overcrowd While Cooking:** Whether using an air fryer, oven, or grill pan, cook the soya chaap in a single layer without overcrowding. This allows for even cooking and proper charring, giving it that desirable tandoori texture. Cook in batches if necessary.

# Recipe 10: Paneer Pakora

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For Paneer:		
Paneer (Indian Cottage Cheese)	200g	Cut into 1-inch cubes or 1/2-inch thick strips/rectangles
For Optional Marinade (Amritsari Style):		
Lemon Juice	1 tablespoon	
Kashmiri Chili Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
Garlic Paste	1/2 teaspoon	
Kasuri Methi (Dried Fenugreek Leaves)	1/2 teaspoon	Crushed
Salt	A pinch	
For the Batter:		
Besan (Gram Flour)	3/4 cup	
Rice Flour	1 tablespoon	For extra crispiness
Garlic Paste	1 teaspoon	
Kashmiri Chili Powder	1 teaspoon	For color and mild heat
Carom Seeds (Ajwain)	1/4 teaspoon	Lightly crushed

Coriander Powder	1 teaspoon	
Turmeric Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
Salt	To taste (approx. 1/2 tsp)	
Water	Approx. 1/2 cup + 2 tbsp	Adjust for batter consistency
For Coating (Optional, before batter):		
Besan (Gram Flour)	2 tablespoons	For dry coating
Rice Flour	1 tablespoon	For dry coating
For Frying/Air Frying:		
Oil	For deep frying or spraying for air fryer/baking	

### 1. Prepare the Paneer:

- o Cut the paneer into desired shapes (1-inch cubes or rectangular strips).
- Optional Marination (for Amritsari style): If you want to make Amritsari paneer pakora, prepare a quick marinade. In a bowl, mix lemon juice, 1/2 tsp Kashmiri chili powder, 1/2 tsp garlic paste, crushed kasuri methi, and a pinch of salt. Gently coat the paneer pieces with this marinade and let them sit for 15-20 minutes. For simple paneer pakora, you can skip this marination step.

## 2. **Prepare the Batter:**

- o In a mixing bowl, combine besan (gram flour), rice flour, 1 tsp garlic paste, 1 tsp Kashmiri chili powder, carom seeds (ajwain), coriander powder, turmeric powder, and salt.
- o Gradually add water, whisking continuously, to form a smooth, thick batter. The batter should not be too runny or too thick; it should be of a coating consistency (like pancake batter). Ensure there are no lumps. Let the batter rest for 10-15 minutes.

### 3. Coat the Paneer:

- Optional Dry Coating: For an extra crispy layer (especially if air frying or baking), you can lightly coat the marinated or plain paneer pieces first. In a plate, mix 2 tablespoons of besan and 1 tablespoon of rice flour. Dredge each paneer piece in this dry mixture, shaking off any excess.
- Dip each paneer piece (dry coated or plain) into the prepared besan batter, ensuring it is evenly coated on all sides. Let any excess batter drip off.

#### 4. Cook the Paneer Pakora (Choose one method):

### Deep Frying (Traditional):

- Heat oil in a deep pan or kadai over medium heat. To check if the oil is ready, drop a small amount of batter into it; it should sizzle and rise to the surface gradually without changing color too quickly.
- Carefully slide the batter-coated paneer pieces into the hot oil, one by one. Do not overcrowd the pan; fry in batches if necessary.
- Fry the pakoras for 4-5 minutes, turning them occasionally, until they are golden brown and crispy on all sides.
- Remove the fried pakoras with a slotted spoon and drain them on paper towels to absorb excess oil.

### Air Frying:

- Preheat your air fryer to 180°C (350°F).
- Lightly spray the air fryer basket with oil.
- Arrange the batter-coated paneer pakoras in the air fryer basket in a single layer, ensuring they don't touch each other. Spray the tops of the pakoras with a little oil.
- Air fry for 8-10 minutes. Gently flip the pakoras halfway through and spray with a little more oil if needed. Continue to air fry until they are golden brown and crispy. Cooking time may vary depending on your air fryer.

#### o Baking:

- Preheat your oven to 200°C (400°F). Line a baking tray with parchment paper and lightly grease
   it.
- Arrange the batter-coated paneer pakoras on the prepared baking tray in a single layer. Spray or lightly brush the tops with oil.
- Bake for 15-20 minutes, flipping them halfway through, until they are golden brown and crispy.

### 5. **Serving:**

- o Serve Paneer Pakoras hot with green chutney, tamarind chutney, or tomato ketchup.
- o Sprinkle with chaat masala before serving for an extra tangy flavor, if desired.

- 1. **Crispiness Boost with Rice Flour:** Adding a tablespoon or two of rice flour to the besan batter is a great trick to make your pakoras extra crispy and achieve a beautiful golden-brown color.
- 2. **Optimal Oil Temperature for Frying:** If deep frying, ensure the oil is moderately hot. If the oil is too cold, the pakoras will absorb too much oil and become greasy. If it's too hot, they will brown too quickly on the outside while remaining undercooked inside. Maintain a consistent medium heat.
- 3. **Batter Consistency is Key:** The batter should be thick enough to coat the paneer pieces evenly without being too watery (which would slide off) or too dense (which would result in a heavy coating). Aim for a consistency similar to pancake batter.

# Recipe 11: Onion Pakora (Onion Bhaji)

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Onions	2 large or 3 medium	Thinly sliced lengthwise
Potato (Optional)	1 small	Grated (helps with binding and texture if using less besan)
Besan (Gram Flour/Split Channa Dal Flour)	1 cup	Adjust as needed
Rice Flour	2-3 tablespoons	For crispiness
Green Chilies	2-3	Finely chopped or slit, adjust to taste
Fresh Cilantro (Coriander Leaves)	1/4 cup	Chopped
Ginger (Optional)	1 teaspoon	Grated or finely chopped
Carom Seeds (Ajwain)	1/2 teaspoon	Lightly crushed
Turmeric Powder	1/4 teaspoon	
Red Chili Powder (Optional)	1/2 teaspoon	Adjust to taste
Fennel Seeds (Saunf) (Optional)	1/2 teaspoon	For flavor
Salt	To taste	

Water	Few tablespoons (only if needed)	Onions will release moisture
Cooking Oil	For deep frying or oil spray for air frying	

### 1. Prepare the Onions and Vegetables:

- Peel the onions, cut them in half, and then slice them thinly lengthwise. Place the sliced onions in a large mixing bowl.
- o If using potato, peel and grate it. If you grate it in advance, soak it in water to prevent browning, then squeeze out all the water thoroughly before adding to the onions.
- Add chopped green chilies, chopped cilantro, grated ginger (if using), carom seeds, turmeric powder, red chili powder (if using), fennel seeds (if using), and salt to the bowl with the onions (and grated potato, if using).

#### 2. Make the Batter:

- Add the besan (gram flour) and rice flour to the onion mixture.
- Using your hands, mix everything well. Squeeze the onions as you mix; this helps the onions release their moisture, which will moisten the flour. The goal is to have a thick batter that just binds the onions together.
- o Let the mixture sit for 5-10 minutes. The onions will release more moisture.
- Check the consistency. If the mixture feels too dry and isn't coming together, add a tablespoon
  or two of water. Be very careful not to add too much water, as the batter should be thick, not
  runny. The moisture from the onions should be largely sufficient.

## 3. Cook the Onion Pakoras (Choose one method):

### Deep Frying (Traditional):

- Heat oil in a deep pan or kadai over medium-high heat. The oil should be hot enough (around 175-180°C or 350°F).
- Once the oil is hot, take small portions of the onion mixture (you can drop them loosely with your fingers or form rough, flat discs/clusters) and carefully drop them into the hot oil. Do not overcrowd the pan.
- Fry the pakoras for 4-6 minutes, turning them occasionally, until they are golden brown and crispy.
- Remove with a slotted spoon and drain on paper towels.

### Air Frying:

- Preheat your air fryer to 180°C (350°F).
- Lightly wet your hands or grease them. Take small portions of the onion mixture and form them into loosely packed flat discs or small clusters.
- Spray the air fryer basket with oil. Place the pakoras in the basket in a single layer, ensuring they don't overlap. Spray the tops of the pakoras with oil.
- Air fry for 12-15 minutes. After about 8-10 minutes, flip the pakoras, spray with a bit more oil if they look dry, and continue to air fry until golden brown and crispy. You can increase the temperature to 200°C (400°F) for the last 2-4 minutes for extra crispiness.

### 4. Serving:

 Serve Onion Pakoras hot with green chutney, tamarind chutney, or tomato ketchup. They are best enjoyed immediately.

## **Expert Tips & Tricks**

- 1. **Slice Onions Thinly:** For crispy pakoras with well-cooked onions, slice the onions thinly and preferably lengthwise. This helps them fry or air fry evenly and contributes to the overall texture.
- 2. **Minimal Water in Batter:** The key to crispy onion pakoras is to use as little water as possible in the batter. Onions release a lot of moisture when mixed with salt. Allow the mixture to rest for a few minutes after adding salt and besan, then assess if any water is needed at all. A thick, just-binding batter is ideal.
- 3. **Don't Overcrowd the Pan/Air Fryer:** Whether deep frying or air frying, avoid overcrowding. Cooking in batches ensures that the temperature of the oil (or air circulation) remains consistent, leading to evenly cooked and crispy pakoras.

# Recipe 12: Hara Bhara Kabab

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Spinach (Palak)	1 cup	Roughly chopped
Green Peas (Matar)	1 cup	Fresh or frozen
Green Bell Pepper (Capsicum)	1/2 medium	Roughly chopped

Broccoli (Optional)	Small head (about 1/2 cup florets)	Roughly chopped
Potatoes	4 medium-sized	Boiled, peeled, and grated or mashed
Ginger	2 teaspoons	Grated
Green Chilies	2-3	Finely chopped, adjust to taste
Cumin Seeds	1/2 teaspoon	
Chaat Masala	1 tablespoon (plus extra for sprinkling)	
Turmeric Powder	A pinch	Enhances green color
Thin Poha (Flattened Rice)	1 cup	Rinsed lightly and drained, or use breadcrumbs as an alternative
Salt	To taste	
Oil	1-2 tablespoons (for sautéing greens) + for cooking kababs	
Split Cashews (Optional)	A handful	For garnish/texture

### 1. Sauté the Greens:

- Heat 1-2 tablespoons of oil in a pan over medium heat. Add the cumin seeds and let them splutter.
- o Add the grated ginger and finely chopped green chilies. Sauté for a minute until fragrant.
- Add the chopped green bell pepper, green peas, chopped spinach, and broccoli florets (if using).
- o Add a pinch of turmeric powder (this helps retain the green color) and salt to taste.

 Cook the vegetables, stirring occasionally, until they are tender and all the moisture has evaporated. The mixture should be quite dry. This might take about 8-10 minutes. Once the veggies start sticking slightly to the pan, the mixture is ready. Let it cool down completely.

### 2. **Prepare the Kabab Mixture:**

- Once the sautéed green vegetable mixture has cooled, transfer it to a food processor or chopper. Pulse a few times to make a coarse paste. Do not make it a very fine puree; some texture is desirable.
- o In a large mixing bowl, combine the coarse green vegetable paste, grated or mashed boiled potatoes, and chaat masala.
- o If using thin poha, rinse it lightly under water, drain immediately, and let it sit for 5 minutes to soften. Then add the softened poha to the vegetable-potato mixture. Poha acts as a binding agent. Alternatively, you can use breadcrumbs if poha is not available.
- Mix all the ingredients thoroughly until well combined and it forms a soft, pliable dough. Check for seasoning and add more salt or chaat masala if needed.

### 3. Shape the Kababs:

- o Grease your palms lightly with oil.
- o Take a portion of the kabab mixture (about 2-3 tablespoons) and roll it into a smooth ball.
- o Gently flatten the ball to form a round patty (tikki shape), about 1/2 to 3/4 inch thick.
- o If using cashews for garnish, you can press half a split cashew into the center of each kabab.
- Repeat with the remaining mixture to form all the kababs.

### 4. Cook the Kababs (Appe Pan Method Recommended, or Shallow Fry):

- Appe Pan Method (Low Oil):
- Heat an appe pan (aebleskiver pan) over medium heat. Add a few drops of oil into each cavity.
- Place one kabab in each cavity.
- Cook on medium-low heat for 3-4 minutes on each side, or until they are golden brown and crisp. Flip them carefully to cook evenly.

### Shallow Frying:

- Heat 2-3 tablespoons of oil in a non-stick pan or tawa over medium heat.
- Carefully place the prepared kababs in the pan. Do not overcrowd.
- Shallow fry for 3-4 minutes on each side, until golden brown and crisp. Add more oil if needed.

### 5. **Serving:**

- o Once cooked, remove the Hara Bhara Kababs from the pan.
- o Sprinkle a little extra chaat masala over them just before serving.
- o Serve hot with mint chutney, tamarind chutney, or tomato ketchup.

- 1. **Dry Vegetable Mixture:** Ensure the sautéed green vegetable mixture is as dry as possible before grinding and mixing with potatoes. Excess moisture can make the kababs difficult to shape and less crispy. Cook until the water completely evaporates.
- 2. **Binding Agent Choice:** Using thin poha (flattened rice) that has been lightly rinsed and softened is an excellent traditional binder that also adds to the texture. If poha is unavailable, breadcrumbs can be used, but poha often yields a better result for this specific kabab.
- 3. **Sauté, Don't Boil Greens:** Sautéing the green vegetables (spinach, peas, bell pepper) instead of boiling them helps retain their vibrant color and nutrients, and also prevents the mixture from becoming too watery.

# Recipe 13: Dhokla (Khaman Dhokla)

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For the Dhokla Batter:		
Besan (Gram Flour)	2 cups	Sifted for a smoother batter
Water	1 cup (approx.)	Adjust for consistency
Lemon Juice	1 tablespoon	Freshly squeezed
Ginger	1/2 teaspoon	Grated or paste
Green Chilies	1 teaspoon	Finely chopped or paste (optional)
Sugar	1 teaspoon	
Salt	To taste (approx. 1 tsp)	
Oil	1 teaspoon	
Turmeric Powder	A pinch	For slight yellow color (optional)
Eno Fruit Salt (or Baking Soda)	1 teaspoon	If using baking soda, add 1/4 tsp citric acid or a bit more lemon juice
For Tempering (Tadka):		
Oil	1 tablespoon	
Mustard Seeds (Rai)	1 teaspoon	

Urad Dal (Split Black Gram, skinless)	1 teaspoon	Optional, for texture
Green Chilies	2-3	Slit lengthwise (optional)
Curry Leaves	8-10	
Water	2-3 tablespoons	Optional, for a slightly moist dhokla
Sugar (Optional, for tempering)	1/2 teaspoon	Dissolved in the tempering water
For Garnishing:		
Fresh Cilantro (Coriander Leaves)	2 tablespoons	Chopped
Grated Coconut (Fresh or Desiccated)	1 tablespoon	Optional

### 1. Prepare the Batter:

- o In a mixing bowl, combine the sifted besan, approximately 1 cup of water, lemon juice, grated ginger, chopped green chilies (if using), sugar, salt, oil, and turmeric powder (if using).
- Whisk well to form a smooth, lump-free batter. The consistency should be like that of pancake batter not too thick and not too runny. Add more water, a tablespoon at a time, if needed.
- o Cover the batter and let it rest for 15-20 minutes.

### 2. **Prepare for Steaming:**

- o Grease a thali (a round plate with raised edges, approx. 7-8 inches in diameter), a square cake pan, or an Instant Pot safe container with a little oil.
- o If using a traditional steamer or a large pot for steaming: Add about 2-3 cups of water to the steamer/pot and bring it to a boil. Place a stand or trivet inside.
- o If using an Instant Pot: Add 1.5-2 cups of water to the inner pot. Place a trivet inside.

### 3. Steam the Dhokla:

- Just before steaming, add the Eno fruit salt (or baking soda + citric acid) to the rested batter.
   Pour about 1-2 teaspoons of water over the Eno to activate it.
- o Gently but quickly mix the batter in one direction. The batter will become light, frothy, and increase in volume. Do not overmix.
- o Immediately pour the aerated batter into the greased thali/pan, filling it up to about 1/2 to 3/4 of its height as it will rise.
- o Carefully place the thali/pan onto the stand in the preheated steamer/pot or Instant Pot.
- Traditional Steamer/Pot: Cover with a lid (if the lid has a vent, cover it or wrap the lid in a cloth to prevent condensation from dripping onto the dhokla) and steam on medium-high heat for 15-20 minutes.
- Instant Pot: Close the lid, set the valve to 'Venting' (not sealing, for steaming). Select the
   'Steam' mode and set the timer for 12-15 minutes. (Some prefer 'Sealing' mode with quick
   release, test what works best for your IP model).
- After the steaming time is complete, turn off the heat. Let it sit for 5 minutes before opening the lid (for traditional steamer). For Instant Pot, if on venting, you can open after the cycle. If on sealing, do a quick pressure release after a few minutes of natural release.
- o To check if the dhokla is cooked, insert a toothpick or knife into the center. If it comes out clean, the dhokla is done. If not, steam for a few more minutes.

#### 4. Cool and Cut:

- Carefully remove the thali/pan from the steamer and let the dhokla cool for about 10-15 minutes.
- Once slightly cooled, run a knife around the edges of the dhokla to loosen it.
- o Invert the dhokla onto a cutting board or plate. Cut it into square or diamond shapes.

### 5. **Prepare the Tempering (Tadka):**

- o Heat 1 tablespoon of oil in a small pan over medium heat.
- o Add the mustard seeds and let them splutter.
- o Add the urad dal (if using) and sauté until it turns light golden.
- Add the slit green chilies (if using) and curry leaves. Sauté for a few seconds until the curry leaves turn crisp.
- o If you prefer a slightly moist dhokla, you can add 2-3 tablespoons of water and 1/2 teaspoon of sugar (optional) to the tempering at this stage. Bring it to a quick boil and then turn off the heat.

### 6. Assemble and Serve:

o Pour the hot tempering evenly over the cut dhokla pieces.

- o Garnish with freshly chopped cilantro and grated coconut (if using).
- Let the dhokla sit for a few minutes to absorb the tempering.
- o Serve Khaman Dhokla warm or at room temperature with green chutney or tamarind chutney.

- 1. **Activate Eno Just Before Steaming:** Add Eno fruit salt (or baking soda mixture) to the batter only when you are ready to steam. Mix gently and quickly, then immediately pour into the greased pan and steam. Overmixing or letting the batter sit after adding Eno will reduce its efficacy, resulting in a less spongy dhokla.
- 2. **Consistent Batter:** The consistency of the besan batter is crucial. It should be smooth, lump-free, and of a pourable consistency, similar to pancake batter. Too thick a batter will result in a dense dhokla, while too thin a batter will make it flat.
- 3. **Proper Steaming Environment:** Ensure the water in the steamer is boiling and generating enough steam before placing the batter inside. Cover the steamer tightly to trap the steam effectively. If your lid tends to drip condensation, wrapping it in a clean kitchen towel can prevent water from falling onto the dhokla.

# Chapter 6: Hearty Soups & Fresh Salads

Beyond the realm of rich curries and intricate spice blends, Indian cuisine also offers a delightful spectrum of hearty soups and vibrant, fresh salads. These dishes, often lighter yet no less flavorful, provide a refreshing counterpoint and showcase the versatility of Indian culinary principles. Soups, ranging from nourishing lentil concoctions to subtly spiced vegetable broths, offer comfort and warmth, while salads, with their crisp textures and zesty dressings, bring a burst of freshness to the table. They are a testament to the Indian ethos of balanced meals, where every component plays a role in creating a wholesome and satisfying dining experience.

The tradition of incorporating soups and salads into Indian meals is deeply rooted, reflecting both regional agricultural bounty and Ayurvedic principles of promoting digestive health. Salads, often known as "kachumber" or "koshimbir," are typically simple medleys of finely chopped fresh vegetables, lightly seasoned to enhance their natural flavors. Soups, on the other hand, can vary widely, from the simple, everyday "dal" (lentil soup) that is a staple in most households, to more elaborate preparations enjoyed during cooler weather or as restorative meals. These dishes highlight the fresh produce of the season and often feature a delicate balance of spices that awaken the palate without overpowering the primary ingredients.

This chapter will guide you through creating a selection of these invigorating soups and salads, perfect for adding variety and nutritional balance to your meals. You will learn to prepare a comforting Red Lentil Soup, a vibrant Asian Quinoa Salad, the classic Indian Kachumber Salad, a protein-packed Chickpea Salad, and a flavorful Brown Chickpea Chaat. These recipes are designed to be approachable for the home cook, emphasizing fresh ingredients and straightforward techniques. Whether you are looking for a light lunch, a refreshing side dish, or a nourishing start to a larger meal, these recipes will provide delicious and healthy options.

# Recipe 14: Red Lentil Soup

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Olive Oil	1 tablespoon	
Bay Leaf	1	
Garlic	2 cloves	Chopped
Onion	1 medium	Chopped
Carrot	1 large	Chopped
Celery Sticks	2	Chopped
Tomato	1 large	Chopped
Homemade Marinara Sauce or Store-bought Tomato Sauce	2 tablespoons	
Dry Red Lentils	1 cup	Rinsed
Vegetable Broth or Water	3 cups	
Salt	To taste	
Coriander Powder	1 teaspoon	
Paprika	1 teaspoon	

Turmeric Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
Lemon	1/2	Juiced
Spinach	1/2 cup	Washed
Cilantro or other herbs (optional)	For garnish	

#### Instant Pot Method:

- 1. Prepare the Ingredients: Wash the red lentils and spinach. Wash and chop the onions, carrots, celery, tomatoes, and garlic. Gather the bay leaf, coriander powder, turmeric, paprika, salt, olive oil, tomato or homemade marinara sauce, and vegetable broth. Slice the lemon in half.
- 2. Sauté Aromatics: Select the "Saute" function of the Instant Pot. Pour the olive oil into the pot. Once the oil is hot, add the bay leaf and chopped garlic. Give it a stir and wait a minute.
- 3. Add Vegetables and Spices: Add the chopped onions, carrots, celery, and tomatoes. Stir in the tomato or homemade marinara sauce. Next, add the spices: turmeric powder, coriander powder, paprika, and salt. Add the rinsed red lentils and the vegetable broth or water. Give it a gentle stir.
- 4. Pressure Cook: Cover the lid, seal the vent, and pressure cook for 5 minutes. It will take about 10-15 minutes for the pressure to build before the soup cooks.
- 5. Release Pressure and Finish: Once the timer beeps after 5 minutes, quickly release the pressure. Stir in the washed spinach and lemon juice.
- 6. Serve: Garnish with cilantro or your choice of herbs, if desired, and serve hot.

### Stove Top Method:

- 1. Prepare the Ingredients: Follow Step 1 from the Instant Pot instructions.
- 2. Sauté Aromatics and Add Ingredients: In a large pot, heat the olive oil over medium heat. Add the bay leaf and chopped garlic. Stir for a minute. Add the chopped onions, carrots, celery, and tomatoes. Stir in the tomato or homemade marinara sauce. Add the spices: turmeric powder, coriander powder, paprika, and salt. Add the rinsed red lentils and the vegetable broth or water. Give it a gentle stir.
- 3. Cook Lentils: Bring the liquid in the pot to a boil. Reduce the heat and simmer for 30 minutes, stirring occasionally. If necessary, add more liquid.
- 4. Finish and Serve: After 30 minutes, stir in the washed spinach and lemon juice. Garnish with cilantro or your choice of herbs, if desired, and serve hot.

- 1. Flavor Variations: Experiment with different flavor profiles. For Indian flavors, add a teaspoon of curry powder or garam masala. For a Thai-inspired twist, stir in some coconut milk towards the end of cooking.
- 2. Storage and Reheating: This soup can be refrigerated for up to 4-5 days or frozen for up to 3 months. Reheat on the stovetop, in the microwave, or using the "Saute" function in the Instant Pot until boiling.
- 3. Nutritional Boost: Red lentils are a great source of plant-based protein and fiber. This soup is low in fat and calories, making it a healthy and satisfying meal.

# Recipe 15: Asian Quinoa Salad

Ingredient	Quantity Notes / Comments	
For the Dressing:		
Rice Vinegar	2 tablespoons	
Maple Syrup	1 tablespoon	
Fresh Orange Juice	2 tablespoons	
Soy Sauce / Tamari	2 tablespoons	Use Tamari for gluten-free
Garlic	1 clove	Smashed (or use pre-portioned crushed garlic)
Ginger	1 piece (approx. 1 inch)	Smashed (or use pre-portioned crushed ginger)
Toasted Sesame Oil	2 tablespoons	
Toasted Sesame Seeds	1 tablespoon	
For the Salad:		
Cooked Quinoa	2 cups	
Cabbage (Green)	1 cup	Thinly sliced
Carrots	1 cup	Julienne
Purple Cabbage	1 cup	Thinly sliced

Romaine Lettuce	2 hearts	Chopped (or use spring mix)
Mandarin Oranges (canned)	1 (15 oz) can	Drained
Wonton Strips	1/3 cup	For crunch
Sliced Almonds or Cashews	1/3 cup	
Chopped Cilantro	1/3 cup	
White and Black Sesame Seeds	1 tablespoon	For garnish (optional)

### 1. Prepare the Dressing:

- o Place the rice vinegar in a mason jar.
- Add the toasted sesame oil, fresh orange juice, maple syrup, soy sauce/tamari, smashed garlic, smashed ginger, and toasted sesame seeds.
- Screw on the lid tightly and shake well until all the dressing ingredients are thoroughly combined.
- o *Note:* Homemade salad dressing will separate as it sits; give it a good shake again just before pouring it onto the salad.

### 2. Assemble the Salad:

- o In a large bowl, combine all the ingredients for the salad: cooked quinoa, thinly sliced green cabbage, julienned carrots, thinly sliced purple cabbage, chopped romaine lettuce (or spring mix), drained mandarin oranges, wonton strips, sliced almonds or cashews, and chopped cilantro.
- Pour the prepared sesame ginger garlic dressing over the salad.
- Toss gently to ensure all ingredients are well coated with the dressing.

### 3. Serve:

Garnish with additional white and black sesame seeds, if desired.

o Serve the Asian Quinoa Salad immediately for the best texture and flavor.

- 1. Meal Prep Friendly: This salad is great for meal prepping. Prepare the quinoa and chop the vegetables in advance. Store the dressing separately and combine just before serving to maintain freshness and crunch.
- 2. Protein Boost: For a heartier meal, add cooked protein such as tofu, or edamame to the salad.
- 3. Customize Your Crunch: Feel free to swap wonton strips or nuts with other crunchy toppings like crispy chow mein noodles or sunflower seeds based on your preference.

# Recipe 16: Kachumber Salad

## Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
English Cucumber	1 large	Finely diced
Roma Tomatoes	2	Finely diced
Red Onion	1	Finely diced
Green Chili	1	Deseeded and chopped (optional, adjust to taste)
Fresh Cilantro (Coriander Leaves)	1/4 cup	Chopped
Pink Himalayan Salt (or regular salt)	1/4 teaspoon (or to taste)	
Lemon Juice	Juice of 1/2 lemon	Freshly squeezed
Black Pepper (optional)	To taste	
Cumin Powder (optional)	To taste	

## Step-by-Step Instructions

## 1. Prepare the Vegetables:

- o Wash the cucumber, tomatoes, red onion, green chili (if using), and cilantro thoroughly.
- o Finely dice the cucumber, tomatoes, and red onion.
- o Deseed and finely chop the green chili (if using).
- Chop the fresh cilantro.

## 2. Combine Ingredients:

 In a large bowl, combine all the chopped vegetables: diced cucumber, diced tomatoes, diced red onion, chopped green chili (if using), and chopped cilantro.

### 3. Add Seasoning:

 Add the lemon juice, salt, black pepper (if using), and cumin powder (if using) to the bowl.

### 4. Mix and Rest:

- Mix well to ensure all ingredients are evenly distributed and coated with the dressing.
- o Let the salad sit for 5-10 minutes before serving to allow the flavors to meld together.

#### 5. Serve:

o Serve the Kachumber Salad chilled or at room temperature.

- 1. Best Flavor Timing: For the best flavors, prepare the kachumber 10-20 minutes before consuming to allow the flavors to meld. However, if you prefer a crunchier salad, add the salt and lemon juice just before serving.
- 2. Make Ahead Tip: If meal prepping, chop and mix all the vegetables and herbs, but add the salt and lemon juice only up to an hour before serving to prevent the vegetables from becoming soggy.
- 3. Versatile Variations: Customize your kachumber by adding ingredients like diced mango or pomegranate seeds for a fruity twist, or cooked chickpeas or diced paneer for a protein boost.

# Recipe 17: Chickpea Salad

### Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Garbanzo Beans / Chickpeas	8 oz	Cooked (canned or freshly cooked)
Cherry Tomatoes	1/4 cup	Halved or quartered
Onion	1/4 cup	Diced (red or white)
Cilantro	2 tablespoons	Chopped
Avocado Cilantro Dressing	1/2 cup	(Recipe for dressing typically includes avocado, cilantro, yogurt/sour cream, cumin, garlic, lemon juice)

Step-by-Step Instructions

### 1. Prepare Ingredients:

- o If using canned chickpeas, rinse and drain them well.
- o Wash and chop/dice the cherry tomatoes and onion.
- o Chop the cilantro.
- Prepare the Avocado Cilantro Dressing if making from scratch, or have your storebought version ready.

## 2. Combine Salad Components:

 In a large mixing bowl, add the cooked chickpeas, halved/quartered cherry tomatoes, diced onion, and chopped cilantro.

## 3. Add Dressing and Mix:

- o Pour the Avocado Cilantro Dressing over the chickpea and vegetable mixture.
- Toss everything together gently until all ingredients are well coated with the dressing.

### 4. Garnish and Serve:

- o Garnish with some additional chopped cilantro, if desired.
- o Serve the Chickpea Salad cold or at room temperature.

- 1. Lunch-To-Go Tip: To pack this salad for lunch, combine all the salad ingredients (chickpeas, tomatoes, onion, cilantro) in a mason jar or container. Pack the Avocado Cilantro Dressing in a separate small container. Add the dressing to the salad and toss just before eating to maintain freshness.
- 2. Dressing is Key: The Avocado Cilantro Dressing significantly defines the flavor of this salad. Ensure you have a good quality dressing, whether homemade or store-bought, for the best taste.
- 3. Customization: Feel free to add other chopped vegetables like cucumber, bell peppers, or corn to enhance the texture and nutritional value of the salad.

# Recipe 18: Brown Chickpea Chaat

# Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Brown Chickpeas (Kala Chana)	4 cups	Boiled
Boiled Corn Kernels	1/2 cup	
Cucumber	1/2 cup	Chopped
Capsicum (Bell Pepper)	1/2 cup	Diced (any color)
Tomato	1/2 cup	Chopped
Carrots	1/2 cup	Grated or chopped
Mint Leaves	Few	Chopped
Lemon Juice	Juice of 1 lemon	
Chili Powder	1/2 teaspoon	Adjust to taste
Black Pepper Powder	1/2 teaspoon	Adjust to taste
Black Salt (Kala Namak)	1/2 teaspoon	Adjust to taste
Chaat Masala or Amchur Powder (Dry Mango Powder)	1/2 teaspoon	Adjust to taste

Step-by-Step Instructions

- 1. Prepare the Brown Chickpeas:
  - o Soak the dry brown chickpeas (kala chana) overnight in water.

 Pressure cook the soaked chickpeas for 3-4 whistles, or until they are tender but not mushy. Drain any excess water.

### 2. Prepare Vegetables and Corn:

- o If using fresh corn, boil the corn kernels until tender.
- o Chop the cucumber, capsicum (bell pepper), and tomato.
- Grate or finely chop the carrots.
- o Chop the mint leaves.

### 3. Combine Ingredients:

o In a large mixing bowl, add the boiled brown chickpeas, boiled corn kernels, chopped cucumber, diced capsicum, chopped tomato, and grated/chopped carrots.

### 4. Add Spices and Seasonings:

- Add the chopped mint leaves to the bowl.
- Sprinkle in the chili powder, black pepper powder, black salt, and chaat masala (or amchur powder).
- o Pour the lemon juice over the mixture.

#### 5. Mix Well:

 Toss all the ingredients together thoroughly so that the vegetables and chickpeas are evenly coated with the spices and lemon juice.

### 6. Serve:

 The Brown Chickpea Chaat can be served warm or cold. For best flavors, you can chill it before serving.

- 1. Chickpea Texture: Be careful not to overcook the brown chickpeas; they should be tender but still hold their shape and not become mushy, which is important for the chaat's texture.
- 2. Flavor Customization: Adjust the amount of chili powder, chaat masala, and lemon juice to suit your taste preference for spiciness and tanginess. You can also add other finely chopped vegetables like onions or spring onions.
- 3. Serving Temperature: While it can be served warm, chilling the chaat for a bit before serving can enhance its refreshing quality, especially in warm weather.

# Chapter 7: Paneer Delights

Paneer, the beloved fresh Indian cheese, holds a cherished place in the heart of Indian vegetarian cuisine. Its remarkable versatility, mild flavor, and satisfying texture make it a star ingredient in an astonishing array of dishes, from rich, creamy curries to spicy stir-fries and succulent grilled appetizers. This chapter is dedicated to celebrating the magic of paneer, exploring some of the most iconic and delectable preparations that showcase its culinary adaptability. Whether you are a lifelong paneer enthusiast or new to its charms, these recipes will guide you in creating truly delightful meals.

The beauty of cooking with paneer lies in its ability to absorb the flavors of the spices and sauces it is cooked with, while still retaining its unique character. It can be soft and yielding in a gentle simmered curry, or firm and slightly crisp when pan-fried or grilled. This chameleon-like quality allows it to shine in diverse culinary contexts, from the royal kitchens of Mughlai cuisine to the everyday comfort food enjoyed in homes across India. Each dish in this chapter offers a different facet of paneer's appeal, promising a journey through a landscape of rich aromas and delightful tastes.

Prepare to explore a collection of classic paneer recipes that are staples in Indian households and restaurants alike. We will delve into the creamy indulgence of Paneer Butter Masala and Paneer Tikka Masala, the robust flavors of Kadai Paneer, and the regal Shahi Paneer. You'll also learn to make the simple yet satisfying Paneer Bhurji, the wholesome Palak Paneer and Matar Paneer, the luxurious Malai Kofta Curry, the fragrant Methi Matar Malai Paneer, the earthy Saag Paneer, and the exquisite Paneer Lababdar. Each recipe is designed to bring authentic Indian flavors to your home kitchen with clarity and ease.

# Recipe 19: Paneer Butter Masala

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For the Gravy Base:		
Oil	1 tbsp	Olive oil or canola oil can be used
Butter	2 tbsp	
Tomatoes	2 large	Roughly chopped
Ginger Garlic Paste	1 teaspoon	
Whole Cashews	12	
Red Chili Powder	1 teaspoon	Or to taste
Garam Masala	1 teaspoon	
Salt	To taste	
Water	1/4 cup	
Tomato Ketchup	4 tbsp	
Sugar	1 tbsp	
For the Paneer:		

Paneer	1.5 cups	Cut into cubes (homemade or store- bought)
Crushed Kasuri Methi (Dried Fenugreek Leaves)	1 teaspoon	
Chopped Cilantro	1 tablespoon	For cooking
For Garnish:		
Heavy Whipping Cream	1 tbsp	Optional; can substitute with vegan milk or yogurt
Chopped Cilantro	For garnish	

#### Instant Pot Method:

- 1. Sauté Aromatics and Tomatoes: Press the "Sauté" button on your Instant Pot. When it displays "HOT," pour in the oil and butter.
- 2. Add the ginger garlic paste, cashews, salt, red chili powder, garam masala, tomato ketchup, and the roughly chopped tomatoes. Give them a good stir.
- 3. Pour in the water. Place the lid on the Instant Pot and set the pressure valve to the "Sealing" position.
- 4. Pressure Cook: Pressure cook for 5 minutes. Once the cooking cycle is complete, perform a quick release of pressure.
- 5. Blend the Sauce: Open the Instant Pot and allow the contents to cool for a couple of minutes. Using an immersion blender, carefully blend the sauce until a smooth puree is attained. (Alternatively, transfer to a standard blender, blend until smooth, and return to the pot).
- 6. Finish the Curry: Add the puree back into the pot if blended separately. Press "Sauté" again. Add the sugar and mix well. Sauté the sauce for 5 minutes.
- 7. Lastly, add the paneer cubes, crushed kasuri methi, and 1 tablespoon of chopped cilantro. Stir gently.

8. Serve: Garnish with heavy whipping cream (if using) and fresh cilantro. Serve hot with rice or naan.

### Stovetop Method (Derived from similar sauce preparations):

- 1. Sauté Aromatics and Tomatoes: Heat oil and butter in a pan or wok over medium heat. Add ginger garlic paste, cashews, salt, red chili powder, garam masala, tomato ketchup, and chopped tomatoes. Sauté for a few minutes until tomatoes start to soften.
- 2. Cook the Base: Add water, cover, and let it simmer for about 10-15 minutes, or until tomatoes are very soft and the mixture is well combined.
- 3. Blend the Sauce: Allow the mixture to cool slightly. Transfer to a blender and blend until a smooth puree is formed.
- 4. Finish the Curry: Return the puree to the pan. Add sugar and mix well. Simmer the sauce for 5 minutes.
- 5. Add the paneer cubes, crushed kasuri methi, and 1 tablespoon of chopped cilantro. Stir gently and heat through for a couple of minutes.
- 6. Serve: Garnish with heavy whipping cream (if using) and fresh cilantro. Serve hot.

- 1. Creamy Cashews: Don't skip the cashews as they are key to the creamy texture of the sauce. If you have nut allergies, almonds can be a substitute, or use more cream. <sup>1</sup>
- 2. Paneer Softness: Add paneer at the very end to avoid overcooking it, which can make it tough. If using frozen paneer, thaw it in warm water before adding. <sup>1</sup>
- 3. Smooth Sauce: For an ultra-smooth, restaurant-style sauce, use an immersion blender. If using a countertop blender, be cautious when blending hot liquids. Sieving the sauce after blending can also enhance smoothness. <sup>1</sup>

# Recipe 20: Paneer Tikka Masala

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For the Paneer Tikka (Marinade):		
Paneer	0.5 lbs	Cut into 1-inch cubes
Plain Yogurt	1/2 cup	Thick, not watery (Greek yogurt or hung curd recommended)
Besan (Gram Flour)	2 tablespoons	
Ginger-Garlic Paste	1 teaspoon	
Salt	1 teaspoon	For marinade
Turmeric Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
Coriander Powder	1 teaspoon	
Garam Masala	1 teaspoon	For marinade
Kashmiri Red Chili Powder	1 teaspoon	For color, not heat (for marinade)
Kasuri Methi (Dried Fenugreek Leaves)	1 teaspoon	Crushed
Lemon Juice	1 tablespoon	Juice of ½ lemon

Mustard Oil (or oil of choice)	2 tablespoons	
Veggies for Tikka (Optional)	1 medium red onion, 1 bell pepper	Cut into 1-inch cubes
For the Curry Base:		
Butter	2 tablespoons	Divided use
Oil	Splash (with butter)	
Cumin Seeds	1/2 teaspoon	
Cinnamon Stick	1-inch	
White Onion	1 large	Roughly chopped
Garlic Cloves	3 to 4 large	
Ginger	1-inch piece	
Tomatoes	3 large	Roughly chopped
Kashmiri Red Chili Powder	3/4 teaspoon	For curry (divided, for color)
Garam Masala	1 teaspoon	For curry
Salt	To taste	For curry
Sugar	1 tablespoon	

Water	1 cup	Or more, as needed for consistency
Heavy Cream	2 to 3 tablespoons	For garnish/finishing
Chopped Cilantro	1 tablespoon	For garnish

#### 1. Marinate the Paneer:

- o In a large bowl, mix yogurt, besan, ginger-garlic paste, salt, turmeric powder, coriander powder, garam masala, Kashmiri red chili powder (for marinade), crushed kasuri methi, lemon juice, and mustard oil.
- o Add paneer cubes and chopped veggies (if using). Coat everything well.
- Let it marinate for at least 30 minutes.

#### 2. Cook the Tikka:

- Heat a non-stick pan over medium-high heat.
- Add the marinated paneer and veggies.
- o Sauté until lightly charred and golden, about 5 to 7 minutes. Set aside.

#### 3. Make the Curry Base:

- o In another pan, heat 1 tablespoon of butter with a splash of oil.
- o Add cumin seeds and the cinnamon stick. Sauté until aromatic.
- o Add the roughly chopped white onion and sauté until golden brown.
- o Add garlic and ginger. Sauté for 1 to 2 minutes until fragrant.
- Add chopped tomatoes, Kashmiri red chili powder (for curry), garam masala (for curry), sugar, and salt.
- Cook for 6 to 8 minutes until tomatoes break down and the mixture thickens. Remove the cinnamon stick.
- o Let the mixture cool slightly, then blend into a smooth puree.

#### 4. Assemble the Curry:

o In the same pan used for the curry base, add the remaining 1 tablespoon of butter.

- Pour in the blended gravy and 1 cup of water to achieve desired consistency. Bring to a simmer.
- o Add the sautéed paneer tikka and veggies to the gravy. Mix gently to coat.
- o Simmer for another 3 to 4 minutes.
- o Stir in the heavy cream and sprinkle with chopped cilantro.
- Serve hot with naan, roti, or basmati rice.

- 1. Thick Yogurt for Marinade: Use thick yogurt like Greek yogurt or hung curd for the marinade to ensure it coats the paneer well and doesn't become watery. <sup>3</sup>
- 2. Avoid Overcooking Paneer: Grill or sauté the paneer until just golden to maintain its softness. Add it to the gravy just before serving to prevent it from becoming chewy. <sup>3</sup>
- 3. Smoky Flavor: For an authentic tandoori flavor, after cooking the tikka, you can use the "dhungar" method (smoking with hot charcoal and ghee) before adding it to the gravy.

# Recipe 21: Kadai Paneer

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For Kadai Masala:		
Coriander Seeds	2 tablespoons	
Fennel Seeds	1 ½ teaspoons	
Cumin Seeds	1 teaspoon	
Black Peppercorns	1 teaspoon	
Dry Red Chilies	5–6	
For Tossing Veggies & Paneer:		
Oil	1 tablespoon	For stir-frying
Paneer	200 grams	Cut into triangles or cubes
Capsicum (Bell Pepper)	1 large	Diced
Onion	1 large	Diced
Tomatoes (for tossing)	2	Diced, seeds removed
Salt	To taste	For tossed veggies
Prepared Kadai Masala	1 tablespoon	From above

For Gravy:		
Ghee or Oil	2 tablespoons	
Onion (for gravy)	1 large	Finely chopped/minced
Ginger-Garlic Paste	1 tablespoon	
Tomato Puree	Puree of 3 ripe tomatoes	
Red Chili Powder	1 teaspoon	
Turmeric Powder	½ teaspoon	
Garam Masala Powder	1 teaspoon	
Salt	To taste	For gravy
For Finishing:		
Fresh Cream	1-2 tablespoons	Optional
Green Chilies	2-3	Slit
Ginger Juliennes	1-inch piece	
Kasuri Methi (Dried Fenugreek Leaves)	1 teaspoon	Crushed
Fresh Coriander Leaves	For garnish	

1. Make the Kadai Masala:

- Dry roast coriander seeds, fennel seeds, cumin seeds, black peppercorns, and dry red chilies in a pan for 2–3 minutes until fragrant.
- Let them cool down. Grind them into a coarse powder using a grinder or mortar and pestle. Keep this kadai masala aside.

### 2. Stir Fry Veggies and Paneer:

- o Heat 1 tablespoon of oil in a pan.
- o Add the diced onion, capsicum, diced tomatoes (seeds removed), and paneer.
- Stir fry on medium flame for 2–3 minutes.
- o Add 1 tablespoon of the prepared kadai masala and salt to taste. Mix well.
- o Remove everything from the pan and set aside.

#### 3. Cook the Gravy:

- o To the same pan (or a wok), add 2 tablespoons of ghee or oil.
- o Add the finely chopped/minced onion and cook until light brown.
- o Add the ginger-garlic paste, stir, and cook for 1 minute.
- Add the tomato puree along with red chili powder, turmeric powder, garam masala powder, and salt for the gravy.
- o Sauté the gravy until the oil starts to separate and you see tiny bubbles.

#### 4. Finish the Dish:

- Add the stir-fried veggies and paneer to the gravy. Combine gently so that the paneer does not break.
- Sprinkle with fresh cream (if using), slit green chilies, ginger juliennes, and crushed kasuri methi.
- o Cook for an additional 2 minutes on low heat.
- Garnish with fresh coriander leaves and a few more strips of ginger on top.
- Serve hot with naan, roti, or rice.

- 1. Fresh Kadai Masala: Always use freshly ground Kadai Masala for the best authentic flavor. The aroma of freshly roasted and ground spices is key to this dish. <sup>4</sup>
- 2. Avoid Overcooking Paneer: Add paneer towards the end of the cooking process to keep it soft and tender. Overcooking can make it rubbery. <sup>5</sup>

3.	Maintain Capsicum Crunch: Cook the capsicum (bell pepper) until it's just tender-crisp to maintain a pleasant texture and crunch in the final dish. <sup>5</sup>

# Recipe 22: Shahi Paneer

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Oil	2 tbsp	
Onions	2 large	Diced or cut into 4 pieces
Tomatoes	3 (on the vine type recommended)	Cut into 4 pieces
Raw Unsalted Cashews	15	Soaked in milk or water for 30 mins
Ginger	1/2 inch piece	Peeled
Garlic Cloves	4	Peeled
Bay Leaves	2	
Green Cardamom	5	
Turmeric Powder	1/2 tsp	
Kashmiri Red Chili Powder	1 tsp	
Dried Fenugreek Leaves (Kasuri Methi)	2 tbsp	Crushed
Garam Masala	1/2 tbsp	Plus more if needed (Coriander powder mentioned in text but not list, can be added)

Water	1 cup	
Salt	To taste	
Table Cream / Coconut Milk / Vegan Cream	1/2 cup	
Homemade Paneer / Tofu Cubes	1.5 cups	

#### Instant Pot Method:

#### 1. Preparation:

- o Wash, peel, and cut tomatoes and onions. Peel ginger and garlic.
- Cut paneer or tofu into cubes. If using store-bought paneer, you can soak it in warm water for about 20 minutes.
- Soak cashews in milk or water for 30 minutes.

#### 2. Sauté Spices:

- o Turn on the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Heat oil in the inner pot.
- o Once hot, add bay leaves and green cardamom. Stir until aromatic.
- Add turmeric powder, Kashmiri red chili powder, crushed dried fenugreek leaves, and garam masala. Give it a stir. (Coriander powder can also be added here if using).

#### 3. Pressure Cook Sauce Base:

- Wait for about 30 seconds, then add the onions, tomatoes, soaked cashews, ginger, garlic, salt, and 1 cup of water. Stir well.
- o Cover the lid, set the vent to "Sealing," and pressure cook on high for 8 minutes.
- Once the cooking cycle is complete, perform a manual (quick) release of pressure.

#### 4. Prepare the Sauce:

- o Open the lid. Remove the bay leaves and green cardamom pods using a spoon.
- Using an immersion blender, blend the contents in the pot until a smooth sauce is formed. (Alternatively, carefully transfer to a standard blender, blend until smooth, and return to the pot).

#### 5. Finish the Curry:

- o Turn the Instant Pot back to "Sauté" mode.
- Add the table cream (or coconut milk/vegan cream), paneer/tofu cubes, and any remaining crushed dried fenugreek leaves.
- Sauté for 3-5 minutes, stirring gently, until the paneer is heated through and the sauce has thickened slightly.
- o Serve hot with naan, roti, or Basmati Jeera Rice.

#### Stovetop Pressure Cooker Method:

- 1. Follow steps 1 and 2 as in the Instant Pot method, using your stovetop pressure cooker pot on the stove.
- 2. After adding onions, tomatoes, cashews, salt, and water, cover the lid of the stovetop pressure cooker.
- 3. Pressure cook on medium heat for about 20 minutes (or according to your cooker's instructions for a similar quantity).
- 4. Let the pressure release naturally or follow the manufacturer's instructions for quick release.
- 5. Proceed with steps 4 and 5 from the Instant Pot method (blending and finishing the curry on the stovetop).

- 1. Aromatic Spices: Don't skip the dried fenugreek leaves (Kasuri Methi) and green cardamom, as they are key to the authentic aroma and flavor of Shahi Paneer. <sup>6</sup>
- 2. Creamy Texture: Soaking cashews before blending them into the sauce is crucial for achieving the signature rich and creamy texture of the gravy. <sup>6</sup>
- 3. Meal Prep Friendly Sauce: The sauce for Shahi Paneer can be made ahead and frozen. When ready to serve, thaw the sauce, heat it, and then add fresh paneer and cream. <sup>6</sup>

# Recipe 23: Paneer Bhurji

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Paneer	Approx. 1.5 - 2 cups	Crumbled (from 6 cups full-fat milk if homemade)
Oil or Ghee	1-2 tablespoons	
Onion	1 medium	Finely chopped
Garlic	2-3 cloves	Grated or minced
Ginger	1-inch piece	Grated
Green Chilies	1-2	Finely chopped (adjust to taste)
Tomatoes	2 medium	Finely chopped
Salt	To taste	
Turmeric Powder	1/4 teaspoon	
Red Chili Powder	1/2 teaspoon	Adjust to taste
Coriander Powder	1 teaspoon	
Water	2-3 tablespoons	Or as needed
Garam Masala	1/2 teaspoon	

Kasuri Methi (Dried Fenugreek Leaves)	1 teaspoon	Crushed
Fresh Cilantro (Coriander Leaves)	2 tablespoons	Chopped
Table Cream (Optional)	1-2 tablespoons	For richness

### 1. Prepare the Paneer:

- o If using store-bought paneer block, crumble it with your hands or grate it.
- o If making homemade paneer, ensure it's well-drained and crumbled. (The source mentions making paneer from 6 cups of milk with 3 tbsp vinegar in an Instant Pot: pressure cook 4 mins, NPR, then strain and press).

#### 2. Sauté Aromatics:

- Heat oil or ghee in a pan over medium heat.
- o Add the finely chopped onion and sauté until golden brown.
- Add the grated/minced garlic, grated ginger, and finely chopped green chilies. Sauté for another minute until fragrant.

#### 3. Cook Tomatoes and Spices:

- Add the finely chopped tomatoes to the pan. Cook until they soften and oil starts to separate.
- Add salt, turmeric powder, red chili powder, and coriander powder. Mix well and cook for a minute.

#### 4. Add Paneer:

- o Stir in a few tablespoons of water if the masala looks too dry.
- Add the crumbled paneer to the pan. Mix gently to combine with the masala. Cook for 2 3 minutes, allowing the paneer to absorb the flavors. Do not overcook.

#### 5. Finish and Serve:

- o Stir in the garam masala, crushed kasuri methi, and chopped fresh cilantro.
- o If using, stir in the table cream for added richness.
- Mix well and cook for another minute.

o Serve hot with roti, pav (dinner rolls), paratha, or as a filling for sandwiches.

- 1. Well-Drained Paneer: For the best texture in Paneer Bhurji, ensure your paneer (especially homemade) is well-drained of whey. This prevents the bhurji from becoming watery. <sup>7</sup>
- 2. Don't Overcook Paneer: Add the crumbled paneer towards the end and cook only for a minute or two to warm it through and allow it to soak in the flavors. Overcooking can make the paneer chewy. <sup>7</sup>
- 3. Adjust Gravy: For a more gravy-like consistency (Paneer Bhurji Gravy), you can add more chopped tomatoes and a bit more water, allowing them to break down and form a sauce. <sup>7</sup>

# Recipe 24: Palak Paneer

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Paneer	8 oz (approx. 1.5 cups)	Cubed; soak in warm water if using frozen or for softer texture
Spinach (Palak)	2 lbs or 3 bundles	Fresh recommended
Oil	1 tablespoon	
Butter	1 tablespoon	
Cumin Seeds	1 teaspoon	
Garlic	6 pods total	3 pods for blending with spinach, 3 pods sliced for sautéing
Ginger	1 inch piece	Chopped, for blending with spinach
Green Chilies	5 to 6	Adjust to taste, for blending with spinach
Onion	1 big	Finely chopped
Tomatoes	2 medium	Finely chopped
Turmeric Powder	1 teaspoon	
Coriander Powder	2 tablespoons	

Kasuri Methi (Dried Fenugreek Leaves)	1 tablespoon	Crushed
Garam Masala	1 teaspoon	
Fresh Cilantro (Coriander Leaves)	Handful	For blending with spinach
Water	2 tablespoons for blending + 1 cup for gravy	Adjust as needed
Salt	To taste	
Cream (Optional)	Drizzle for garnish	
For Tempering (Tadka - Optional):		
Ghee	1 tablespoon	
Cumin Seeds (for tadka)	1 teaspoon	
Dry Whole Red Chilies	2	
Garlic (for tadka)	3 pods	Sliced
Asafoetida (Hing)	½ teaspoon	
Red Chili Powder (for tadka)	1 teaspoon	Preferably Kashmiri for color

## 1. Prepare Paneer and Spinach:

 If using frozen paneer, thaw and soak cubes in warm water for 10-15 minutes. Drain. If using fresh, you can skip soaking or soak briefly for softer texture.

- Wash spinach thoroughly. Blanch the spinach: bring a pot of water to a boil, add spinach, and cook for 1-2 minutes until wilted. Immediately transfer to an ice bath or rinse under cold water to retain green color. Drain well.
- o In a blender, combine the blanched spinach, fresh cilantro, green chilies, chopped ginger, and 3 garlic pods. Add about 2 tablespoons of water and blend to a smooth puree. Add more water gradually if needed, but keep the puree thick.

#### 2. Sauté Aromatics and Tomatoes:

- o In a wok or pan, heat oil and butter over medium heat.
- Once melted, add cumin seeds and 3 sliced garlic pods. Sauté until garlic is lightly golden.
- o Add finely chopped onion and sauté until translucent or light golden brown.
- Add finely chopped tomatoes and cook until they soften and oil starts to separate from the masala.

#### 3. Add Spices and Spinach Puree:

- o Stir in turmeric powder, coriander powder, and salt. Cook for a minute.
- Add the prepared spinach puree to the pan. Add about 1 cup of water (or adjust to desired consistency). Mix well.
- Bring the gravy to a simmer and cook for 5-7 minutes, allowing flavors to meld.

#### 4. Add Paneer and Finish:

- Gently add the paneer cubes to the spinach gravy. Stir in crushed kasuri methi and garam masala.
- Simmer for another 2-3 minutes, allowing the paneer to absorb the flavors. Be careful not to overcook the paneer.
- o Transfer to a serving bowl. You can drizzle with a little cream if desired.

#### 5. Optional Tempering (Tadka):

- o Heat ghee in a small tadka pan.
- Add asafoetida, cumin seeds, dry whole red chilies, and 3 sliced garlic pods. Sauté until garlic is golden.
- Turn off the heat and add red chili powder (Kashmiri for color). Immediately pour this tempering over the prepared Palak Paneer.
- o Serve hot with naan, roti, or rice.

- 1. Vibrant Green Color: To maintain the vibrant green color of the spinach, blanch it briefly and then immediately shock it in ice-cold water before pureeing. Avoid overcooking the spinach puree. <sup>8</sup>
- 2. Soft Paneer: Soaking paneer cubes in warm water for 10-15 minutes before adding to the gravy helps keep them soft. Add paneer towards the end and simmer gently to prevent it from becoming tough. 8
- 3. Fresh Ingredients: Using fresh spinach, ginger, and garlic will yield the best flavor. While frozen spinach can be used, fresh is often preferred for taste and texture. <sup>9</sup>

# Recipe 25: Matar Paneer

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For Onion-Tomato-Cashew Paste:		
Onion	1 medium	Roughly chopped
Tomatoes	2 medium	Roughly chopped
Cashews	1/4 cup	Raw, unsalted
For Matar Paneer:		
Oil or Ghee	1-2 tablespoons	
Cumin Seeds	1 teaspoon	
Bay Leaf	1	Optional
Ginger-Garlic Paste	2 teaspoons	
Tomato Paste	1 tablespoon	Optional, for deeper color and flavor
Salt	To taste	
Turmeric Powder	1 teaspoon	
Red Chili Powder	1 teaspoon	Adjust to taste

Garam Masala	1 teaspoon	
Green Peas (Matar)	2 cups	Fresh or frozen
Water	2 cups	Adjust for desired consistency
Paneer	14 oz (approx. 2 cups)	Cubed (homemade or store- bought)
Fresh Cilantro	For garnish	Chopped
Crushed Kasuri Methi (Dried Fenugreek Leaves)	1 teaspoon	Optional, for finishing
Cream (Optional)	1-2 tablespoons	For richness

#### Instant Pot Method:

### 1. Prepare Onion-Tomato-Cashew Paste:

 In a high-speed blender or food processor, combine the roughly chopped onion, chopped tomatoes, and cashews. Blend until smooth to form a paste. Set aside.

#### 2. Sauté Aromatics and Paste:

- o Set your Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Wait for it to display "HOT."
- Add oil or ghee. Once hot, add cumin seeds and bay leaf (if using). Let the cumin seeds splutter.
- Add the prepared onion-tomato-cashew paste and ginger-garlic paste to the pot. Stir-fry for about 2-3 minutes until fragrant and the raw smell disappears.

#### 3. Add Spices and Peas:

- Add tomato paste (if using), salt, turmeric powder, red chili powder, and garam masala.
   Mix all the ingredients well.
- o Add the green peas and water. Stir everything together.

#### 4. Pressure Cook:

Add the paneer cubes to the pot and stir gently.

- Press "Cancel" to turn off Sauté mode. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the vent to "Sealing."
- Select "Pressure Cook" (or "Manual") mode and set the timer for 3 minutes on High pressure.

#### 5. Finish and Serve:

- Once the cooking cycle is complete, perform a quick pressure release by carefully turning the vent to "Venting."
- o Once all pressure is released, open the lid.
- Stir in chopped fresh cilantro and crushed kasuri methi (if using). If desired, stir in a tablespoon or two of cream for extra richness.
- o Serve hot with rice, roti, or naan.

#### Stovetop Method:

- 1. Prepare the onion-tomato-cashew paste as described in Step 1.
- 2. Heat oil or ghee in a pan or kadai over medium heat. Add cumin seeds and bay leaf (if using).
- 3. Add the onion-tomato-cashew paste and ginger-garlic paste. Sauté for 5-7 minutes until the paste thickens and oil starts to separate.
- 4. Add tomato paste (if using), salt, turmeric powder, red chili powder, and garam masala. Cook for another 2 minutes.
- 5. Add green peas and water. Bring to a simmer, then cover and cook for 10-15 minutes, or until peas are tender.
- 6. Gently add the paneer cubes. Simmer for another 3-5 minutes.
- 7. Stir in chopped cilantro, crushed kasuri methi (if using), and cream (if using). Serve hot.

- 1. Creamy Base without Cream: Using pureed cashews in the onion-tomato paste is a great way to achieve a creamy texture without adding heavy cream. <sup>10</sup>
- 2. Frying Paneer (Optional): For a different texture, you can lightly fry the paneer cubes until golden brown before adding them to the gravy. Add the fried paneer at the end with cilantro and fenugreek leaves. <sup>10</sup>
- 3. Adjusting Spiciness: This dish is generally mild. To make it spicier, increase the amount of red chili powder or add finely chopped green chilies along with the ginger-garlic paste. <sup>10</sup>

# Recipe 26: Malai Kofta Curry

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For the Koftas:		
Potatoes	2 medium	Boiled and finely grated
Paneer (Mahout or regular)	1 cup	Finely grated
Cilantro	1.5 tablespoons	Finely chopped
Green Chili	1	Chopped
Cashews (for kofta)	1 tablespoon	Chopped
Golden Raisins	1 tablespoon	Chopped
Cornstarch	1 tablespoon	Plus extra for dusting
All-Purpose Flour (Maida)	1 tablespoon	
Salt	½ teaspoon	For koftas
Black Pepper	¼ teaspoon	For koftas
Oil	For frying koftas	
For the Curry Base (Gravy):		

Bay Leaf	1	
Cinnamon Stick	1 inch	
Green Cardamoms	4	Slightly crushed
Cloves	3	
Cumin Seeds (Jeera)	1 teaspoon	
Garlic Cloves	4	
Ginger	1 inch piece	Roughly chopped
Green Chili (for gravy)	1	Chopped
Yellow Onion	1 large	Roughly chopped
Tomatoes	2 large	Roughly chopped
Unsalted Cashews (for gravy)	12	
Water	2 cups	For gravy base
Salt	To taste	For gravy
Turmeric Powder	Pinch (optional for color)	
Red Chili Powder (Kashmiri preferred)	1 teaspoon (or to taste)	For gravy

Garam Masala Powder	1 teaspoon (or to taste)	For gravy
To Finish the Curry:		
Butter	2 tablespoons	
Coriander Powder	1 teaspoon	
Kashmiri Red Chili Powder (for finishing)	1 teaspoon	
Salt	To taste	If needed
Sugar	1 tablespoon	
Garam Masala (for finishing)	1 teaspoon	
Crushed Kasuri Methi (Dry Fenugreek Leaves)	2 teaspoons	
Heavy Cream (Optional)	2 tablespoons	For garnish
Fresh Cilantro (Optional)	For garnish	

## 1. Prepare the Koftas:

- o In a bowl, mix the grated boiled potatoes and grated paneer.
- Add chopped cilantro, chopped green chili, chopped cashews, chopped raisins, cornstarch, all-purpose flour, salt, and black pepper.
- o Combine gently until the mixture holds its shape. If sticky, add a pinch more flour.
- Shape the mixture into small, smooth balls or slightly flattened discs. Dust lightly with cornstarch. Set aside on a tray.
- Heat oil in a pan over medium heat for deep frying. Carefully fry the koftas in batches until golden brown and crisp. Remove and drain on paper towels.

#### 2. Make the Silky Gravy Base:

- Heat 2 teaspoons of neutral oil in a separate pan.
- Add bay leaf, cinnamon stick, green cardamoms, cloves, and cumin seeds. Sauté for about 30 seconds until fragrant.
- Add roughly chopped onion, cashews (for gravy), garlic cloves, ginger, and green chili.
   Cook for about 5 minutes until onions soften.
- Add roughly chopped tomatoes. Stir in salt (for gravy), turmeric powder (if using), red chili powder (for gravy), and garam masala powder (for gravy).
- Add 2 cups of water. Bring to a simmer, cover, and cook for 10-15 minutes, or until tomatoes are very soft.
- Let the mixture cool slightly. Remove the bay leaf and cinnamon stick (and other whole spices if you prefer an ultra-smooth texture).
- Blend the mixture into a very smooth puree using a blender. Strain the puree through a fine-mesh sieve for an extra silky texture, if desired.

#### 3. Finish the Curry:

- o In the same pan (cleaned) or a new one, melt 2 tablespoons of butter.
- Add coriander powder and Kashmiri red chili powder (for finishing). Sauté for a few seconds.
- Pour in the blended and sieved gravy. Add salt to taste (if needed) and sugar. Bring to a gentle simmer.
- o Stir in garam masala (for finishing) and crushed kasuri methi.
- Cook for another 2-3 minutes.

#### 4. Serve:

- To serve, you can either gently place the fried koftas into the warm gravy and simmer for a minute (be careful as they can break), or place the koftas in serving bowls and pour the hot gravy over them. The latter method helps keep the koftas crispier.
- o Garnish with a swirl of heavy cream and fresh cilantro, if desired.
- o Serve immediately with naan, paratha, or jeera rice.

#### **Expert Tips & Tricks**

1. Smooth Koftas: Ensure potatoes and paneer are finely grated for smooth koftas. If the kofta mixture is too sticky, add a little more cornstarch or all-purpose flour. Fry one test kofta first to ensure it holds its shape. <sup>11</sup>

- 2. Silky Gravy: For an ultra-smooth and restaurant-like gravy, always blend the cooked tomatoonion-cashew mixture until very fine. Straining the puree after blending will remove any fibrous bits and ensure a silky texture. <sup>11</sup>
- 3. Gentle Handling: Koftas are delicate. Handle them gently when frying and adding to the gravy to prevent them from breaking. Adding them to the serving bowl and pouring gravy over them is often preferred.

# Recipe 27: Methi Matar Malai Paneer

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Oil	1 tbsp	
Bay Leaf	2	
Mace	2 pieces	Optional, for aroma
Cinnamon Stick	1 inch	
Cumin Seeds	1 tsp	
Ginger-Garlic Paste	1 tbsp	
Kasuri Methi (Dried Fenugreek Leaves)	1 tbsp	For sautéing with spices
For the Wet Paste:		
Onion	1 medium size	Roughly chopped
Green Chilies	4	Adjust to taste
Cashews	10-15	
Greek Yogurt	1 cup	Or regular thick yogurt
Main Ingredients:		

Green Peas (Matar)	1 cup	Fresh or frozen
Fresh Fenugreek Leaves (Methi)	1.5 cups	Washed and chopped
Garam Masala	1 tsp	
Salt	1 tsp	Or to taste
Water	1.5 cups	Adjust for consistency
Sugar	1 teaspoon	Optional, to balance bitterness of methi
Paneer	8 oz (approx. 1.5 cups)	Cubed (homemade or store- bought)
Tofu (for vegan option)	8 oz	Cubed

## Instant Pot Method:

#### 1. Prepare Ingredients:

- Wash and chop fresh fenugreek leaves.
- o If using store-bought paneer, you can soak it in warm water. Cube the paneer or tofu.
- In a blender, combine roughly chopped onion, green chilies, cashews, and Greek yogurt. Blend to a fine, smooth paste. Set aside.

#### 2. Sauté Aromatics and Paste:

- o Turn on the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. When it displays "HOT," add oil.
- Add whole spices: bay leaf, mace (if using), and cinnamon stick. Add cumin seeds.
   Sauté for a few seconds until fragrant.
- Add ginger-garlic paste and 1 tablespoon of dried fenugreek leaves (kasuri methi). Stir for a few seconds.
- o Add the prepared wet paste (onion-yogurt-cashew mixture) to the pot.

### 3. Cook the Curry Base:

- Add chopped fresh fenugreek leaves, green peas, salt, and garam masala to the pot. Mix well.
- o Add water and sugar (if using). Stir everything together.

#### 4. Pressure Cook:

- Press "Cancel" to turn off Sauté mode. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the vent to "Sealing."
- Select "Pressure Cook" (or "Manual") mode and set the timer for 1 minute on High pressure.

#### 5. Finish and Serve:

- Once the cooking cycle is complete, perform a quick pressure release by carefully turning the vent to "Venting."
- o Once all pressure is released, open the lid.
- o Gently stir in the paneer (or tofu) cubes.
- o If the gravy is too thin, you can turn on "Sauté" mode for a couple of minutes to thicken it to your desired consistency, stirring gently.
- Serve hot with roti, naan, or jeera rice.

#### Stovetop Method:

- 1. Prepare the wet paste and chop fresh methi as in Step 1 of the Instant Pot method.
- 2. Heat oil in a pan or kadai. Add bay leaf, mace, cinnamon, and cumin seeds.
- 3. Add ginger-garlic paste and kasuri methi. Sauté.
- 4. Add the wet paste and cook for 5-7 minutes until oil starts to separate.
- 5. Add fresh methi leaves, peas, salt, garam masala, water, and sugar. Bring to a simmer, cover, and cook for 10-12 minutes until peas and methi are tender.
- 6. Add paneer/tofu cubes and simmer for another 2-3 minutes. Adjust consistency with water if needed. Serve hot.

- 1. Balance Bitterness: Fresh fenugreek (methi) leaves can be slightly bitter. Using yogurt in the paste and optionally a teaspoon of sugar helps neutralize this bitterness and balance the flavors. <sup>12</sup>
- 2. Creamy Texture: Cashews in the blended paste contribute to the creamy texture of this dish without needing a lot of heavy cream. Ensure they are blended into a very smooth paste. 12

3.	Paneer Softness: If using store-bought paneer, soaking it in warm water for 10-15 minutes before adding it to the curry can help keep it soft. Add paneer at the end to prevent it from overcooking. <sup>12</sup>

# Recipe 28: Saag Paneer

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Paneer	1 cup (approx. 25 cubes)	Homemade or store-bought; Tofu for vegan version
Spinach	1 bunch	Fresh
Kale	1 bunch	Fresh
Green Chilies	4	Adjust to taste
Tomato	3	Crushed or finely chopped
Onion	1	Chopped
Yogurt	1/4 cup	Plain; can be skipped or use vegan alternative
Garam Masala	1.5 teaspoons	
Turmeric Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
Cinnamon Stick	1	
Cumin Seeds	1 teaspoon	
Dried Fenugreek Leaves (Kasuri Methi)	2 tablespoons	Crushed
Fresh Ginger-Garlic Paste	1 tablespoon	

Salt	To taste	
Ghee or Olive Oil (for vegan)	1 tablespoon	
Water	As needed for blending/consistency	

#### Instant Pot Method:

### 1. Preparation:

- o Wash the kale and spinach leaves thoroughly. Roughly chop them.
- If using store-bought paneer, cut it into cubes and soak in hot water until ready to use.
   This helps soften it.

#### 2. Sauté Aromatics:

- o Turn the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode (Normal setting).
- o When it displays "HOT," add ghee or olive oil.
- Add cumin seeds, cinnamon stick, and green chilies. Sauté for a few seconds until fragrant.
- o Add ginger-garlic paste and crushed dried fenugreek leaves. Stir for a moment.
- Add chopped onions and sauté until they turn translucent or light golden.
- Stir in the crushed or finely chopped tomatoes. Cook for a couple of minutes.

#### 3. Cook the Greens:

- o Add salt, yogurt (if using), turmeric powder, and garam masala. Mix well.
- o Press "Cancel" to turn off Sauté mode.
- Add the washed and chopped kale and spinach leaves to the pot. You might need to add them in batches if they don't all fit at once, allowing some to wilt down.
- o Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the vent to "Sealing."
- Select "Steam" mode, adjust to "Less," and cook for 1 minute. (Alternatively, use
   "Pressure Cook" or "Manual" mode on High pressure for 0-1 minute).
- o Perform a quick pressure release immediately after the cooking cycle is complete.

### 4. Blend and Finish:

- Open the lid. Remove the cinnamon stick.
- Using an immersion blender, carefully blend the cooked greens mixture into a smooth paste. You can add a little hot water if needed to help with blending and achieve desired consistency.
- o Stir in the soaked and drained paneer cubes (or tofu).
- If the saag is too thick, you can add a little more hot water. Taste and adjust salt if necessary.
- Simmer on "Sauté" mode for another 1-2 minutes to allow the paneer to heat through and absorb flavors.
- o Serve hot with naan, roti, or rice.

### Stovetop Method:

- 1. Blanch the spinach and kale in boiling water for 1-2 minutes, then refresh in cold water. Drain and make a puree in a blender with green chilies and a little water.
- 2. Heat ghee/oil in a pan. Add cumin, cinnamon, ginger-garlic paste, and kasuri methi.
- 3. Add onions, sauté until golden. Add tomatoes, cook until soft.
- 4. Add salt, yogurt (if using), turmeric, and garam masala. Cook for a minute.
- 5. Stir in the spinach-kale puree. Add water to adjust consistency. Simmer for 5-7 minutes.
- 6. Add paneer cubes and simmer for another 2-3 minutes. Serve hot.

- 1. Retain Green Color: To keep the saag vibrant green, quick release the pressure immediately after cooking in the Instant Pot and avoid overcooking the greens. Blanching and shocking in cold water (for stovetop) also helps. <sup>13</sup>
- 2. Soften Paneer: Soaking paneer cubes in hot water before adding them to the saag makes them soft and tender. <sup>13</sup>
- 3. Freezer Friendly: Saag Paneer freezes well. You can make a larger batch of the saag (without paneer), freeze it, and then thaw, reheat, and add fresh paneer when ready to serve. <sup>13</sup>

## Recipe 29: Paneer Lababdar

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For Gravy Base:		
Oil	2 tbsp	
Black Peppercorns	½ tsp	
Bay Leaf	1	
Black Cardamom	1	
Cloves	4	
Cinnamon Stick	1 inch	
Garlic Cloves (for base)	5	
Ginger (for base)	1 inch piece	
Onion (for base)	2	Sliced
Tomato (for base)	2	Sliced
Cashews	2 tbsp	
Melon Seeds	2 tbsp	
Salt (for base)	1 tsp	

Dried Red Chilies	2	
For Roasting Paneer & Capsicum:		
Butter	1 tbsp	
Paneer	18 cubes	(Approx. 200-250g)
Capsicum (Bell Pepper)	½ medium	Cubed
Turmeric Powder (for roasting)	1/4 tsp	
Chili Powder (for roasting)	1/4 tsp	
Kasuri Methi (for roasting)	½ tsp	Crushed
Salt (for roasting)	Pinch	
For Curry:		
Oil (for curry)	2 tbsp	
Cumin Seeds	1 tsp	
Onion (for curry)	1	Finely chopped
Turmeric Powder (for curry)	½ tsp	
Chili Powder (for curry)	2 tsp	Adjust to taste
Coriander Powder	1 tsp	
Cumin Powder	½ tsp	

Hot Water	2 cups	Adjust for consistency
Salt (for curry)	½ tsp	Or to taste
Paneer (grated)	4 tbsp	For richness in gravy
Fresh Coriander Leaves	2 tbsp	Finely chopped
Kasuri Methi (Dried Fenugreek Leaves, for curry)	2 tbsp	Crushed
Garam Masala	½ tsp	
Cream	2 tbsp	Fresh cream

### 1. Prepare the Gravy Base:

- In a pan, heat 2 tbsp of oil. Add black peppercorns, bay leaf, black cardamom, cloves, and cinnamon stick. Sauté for a moment until fragrant.
- Add 5 cloves of garlic, 1 inch of ginger, and 2 sliced onions. Sauté well until onions soften.
- Add 2 sliced tomatoes, 2 tbsp cashews, 2 tbsp melon seeds, 1 tsp salt, and 2 dried red chilies.
- o Sauté well until the tomatoes turn soft and mushy.
- Allow this mixture to cool completely. Once cooled, grind it to a very smooth paste, adding a little water if required.
- o Filter (sieve) the ground paste to get a silky smooth gravy base. Set aside.

### 2. Roast Paneer and Capsicum:

- o In a separate pan, heat 1 tbsp of butter.
- $\circ$  Add the paneer cubes and cubed capsicum. Stir-fry for 2-3 minutes until lightly golden.
- Add ¼ tsp turmeric powder, ¼ tsp chili powder, ½ tsp crushed kasuri methi, and a pinch
  of salt. Sauté for another minute until the paneer is well coated and lightly cooked.
   Remove from pan and set aside.

### 3. Prepare the Curry:

- o In a kadai or wok, heat 2 tbsp of oil. Add 1 tsp cumin seeds and let them splutter.
- o Add 1 finely chopped onion and sauté until it turns golden brown.
- Keeping the flame low, add ½ tsp turmeric powder, 2 tsp chili powder, 1 tsp coriander powder, and ½ tsp cumin powder. Sauté for a minute until the spices are aromatic.
- Pour in the prepared smooth gravy base. Cook well for 5-7 minutes, or until the oil starts to separate from the masala.
- Add 2 cups of hot water and ½ tsp salt (or to taste). Mix well and bring the curry to a simmer. Adjust consistency if needed.

#### 4. Combine and Finish:

- o Add the roasted paneer and capsicum to the simmering gravy.
- o Stir in 4 tbsp of grated paneer. This adds richness and texture to the gravy.
- Cook for another 5-7 minutes, allowing the flavors to meld.
- Finally, add 2 tbsp finely chopped fresh coriander leaves, 2 tbsp crushed kasuri methi,
   ½ tsp garam masala, and 2 tbsp fresh cream. Mix well.
- o Simmer for a minute more and then turn off the heat.
- Serve Paneer Lababdar hot with roti, naan, or jeera rice.

- Silky Smooth Gravy: For a truly restaurant-style Paneer Lababdar, it's crucial to grind the initial onion-tomato-spice mixture very finely and then sieve it. This step ensures a velvety smooth gravy base.
- 2. Richness from Grated Paneer: Adding grated paneer to the gravy along with the paneer cubes enhances the richness and texture of the curry, making it 'lababdar' (a strong desire or craving for).
- 3. Balanced Flavors with Cashews and Melon Seeds: The combination of cashews and melon seeds in the gravy base contributes significantly to the creaminess and richness of the dish. Don't skip them if you want an authentic taste.

# Chapter 8: Wholesome Lentils & Beans (Dal & Legume Curries)

Lentils, or dals as they are affectionately known in Hindi, alongside a diverse array of beans and legumes, form the very heartbeat of Indian kitchens. These humble yet mighty ingredients are a daily staple in millions of households across the subcontinent and beyond, playing a pivotal role, especially in vegetarian cuisine where they serve as a primary source of protein and essential nourishment. From the comforting simplicity of a quickly tempered Toor Dal to the robust, slow-cooked goodness of Rajma, the spectrum of dishes they create is vast and deeply ingrained in the culinary fabric of India. This chapter invites you to explore this vital and delicious world, a cornerstone of Indian food culture that sustains and delights in equal measure.

The term "wholesome" perfectly encapsulates the essence of dals and legumes. Not only are they nutritional powerhouses – brimming with protein, dietary fiber, and a wealth of vitamins and minerals – but they also possess a remarkable culinary versatility. These unassuming ingredients can be transformed into an astonishing variety\_of\_dishes: from light, brothy soups that soothe and comfort, to hearty, substantial main courses that form the centerpiece of a meal, or flavorful side dishes that beautifully complement other components. The true magic unfolds when these simple staples meet the art of Indian spicing. Through techniques like "tadka" (tempering) and the careful blending of aromatic spices, basic lentils and beans are elevated into culinary creations with complex, deeply satisfying flavors, ranging from the creamiest and mildest of dals to the most robust and spicy legume curries.

Embark on a culinary journey with this chapter as we delve into a curated collection of beloved dal and legume recipes, each one a testament to the wholesome goodness and rich flavors of Indian tradition. Inside, you will find clear, step-by-step instructions designed for home cooks of all levels, ensuring that you can recreate these authentic dishes with confidence and success. Accompanied by expert tips and tricks, these recipes aim to demystify the process and highlight the simple techniques that yield extraordinary results. Prepare to discover the joy of cooking these nourishing and delicious dals and legumes, and to enrich your culinary repertoire with timeless classics from the heart of India.

### Recipe 30: Dal Tadka

Dal Tadka is a cornerstone of North Indian cuisine, celebrated widely as a quintessential comfort food. This universally loved lentil dish, often featuring yellow lentils like Toor Dal (split pigeon peas) or Moong Dal (split yellow lentils), is cherished for its straightforward preparation and the aromatic flourish of "tadka" – a tempering of spices in hot ghee or oil – which is added just before serving. This final tempering infuses the creamy, cooked lentils with a burst of flavor and fragrance, making Dal Tadka a simple yet profoundly satisfying dish, perfect alongside rice or roti.

Category	Ingredient	Quantity	Notes
Lentils	Toor Dal (Arhar Dal, split pigeon peas)	1/2 cup	Or Moong Dal (split yellow lentils) or Masoor Dal (red lentils)
	Moong Dal (split yellow lentils)	1/2 cup	Optional, can use 1 cup of a single lentil type
For Cooking Dal	Water	3 cups	Plus more for adjusting consistency
	Ghee or Oil	1 tablespoon	Use oil for vegan
	Asafoetida (Hing)	1/4 teaspoon	
	Ginger	1 teaspoon	Freshly grated or minced
	Garlic	2-3 cloves	Freshly minced
	Onion	1 medium	Finely chopped
	Tomatoes	2 medium	Finely chopped

	Turmeric Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
	Coriander Powder	1 teaspoon	
	Cumin Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
	Red Chili Powder	1/2 teaspoon	Adjust to taste
	Dry Mango Powder (Amchur)	1/2 teaspoon	Optional, for tanginess
	Kasuri Methi (Dried Fenugreek Leaves)	1 teaspoon	Crushed
	Salt	To taste	
For Tadka (Tempering)	Ghee or Oil	1 tablespoon	Use oil for vegan
	Cumin Seeds	1 teaspoon	
	Asafoetida (Hing)	1/4 teaspoon	
	Whole Dried Red Chilies	2-3	Broken into pieces
	Red Chili Powder (optional, for color)	1/4 teaspoon	
Garnish	Fresh Cilantro Leaves	2 tablespoons	Chopped

- Prepare the Lentils: Thoroughly wash the Toor Dal and Moong Dal (if using) under cold running
  water until the water runs clear. Soak the lentils in fresh water for at least 30 minutes to 2 hours.
  If short on time, you can skip soaking, but you may need to increase the pressure cooking time
  by about 5 minutes. Drain the lentils before cooking.
- Sauté Aromatics (Instant Pot Method): Set your Instant Pot to 'Sauté' mode on medium heat.
   Add 1 tablespoon of ghee or oil. Once hot, add the 1/4 teaspoon of asafoetida, grated ginger, and minced garlic. Sauté for about 30 seconds until fragrant.
- 3. Cook Onions and Tomatoes: Add the chopped onions and a pinch of salt (to help them soften). Sauté for 3-4 minutes, stirring occasionally, until the onions turn translucent. Then, add the chopped tomatoes. Cook for another 5-7 minutes, stirring, until the tomatoes soften and the oil begins to separate from the masala.
- 4. Add Spices and Lentils: Stir in the turmeric powder, coriander powder, cumin powder, 1/2 teaspoon red chili powder, and dry mango powder (if using). Cook for a minute until the spices are aromatic. Add the drained lentils, 3 cups of water, and salt to taste. Stir well.
- 5. Pressure Cook: Secure the lid of the Instant Pot, ensuring the steam release valve is in the 'Sealing' position. Cancel 'Sauté' mode. Select 'Pressure Cook' (or 'Manual') mode and set the timer for 5 minutes at high pressure (or 10 minutes if lentils were not soaked).
- 6. Natural Pressure Release: Once the cooking cycle is complete, allow the pressure to release naturally for at least 10 minutes. Then, carefully turn the steam release valve to the 'Venting' position to release any remaining pressure.
- 7. Finish the Dal: Open the lid. Stir the dal. If it seems too thick, add a little hot water to reach your desired consistency. Stir in the crushed Kasuri Methi.
- 8. Prepare the Tadka: In a small pan or tadka pan, heat 1 tablespoon of ghee or oil over medium heat. Once the ghee is hot, add the cumin seeds. Allow them to splutter and turn golden brown (be careful not to burn them). Add the 1/4 teaspoon of asafoetida and the broken whole dried red chilies. Sauté for a few seconds. Turn off the heat and add the 1/4 teaspoon of red chili powder (if using for color). Immediately pour this sizzling tadka over the cooked dal in the Instant Pot.
- 9. Garnish and Serve: Stir the tadka into the dal. Garnish with freshly chopped cilantro leaves. Serve hot with basmati rice, jeera rice, or Indian breads like roti or naan.

### **Stovetop Pressure Cooker Instructions:**

• Follow steps 1-4 using a stovetop pressure cooker base over medium heat.

- After adding lentils, water, and salt, secure the pressure cooker lid. Bring to full pressure and cook for 4-5 whistles (or about 15 minutes after the first whistle on low heat).
- Let the pressure release naturally before opening.
- Proceed with steps 7-9.

- 1. The Perfect Tadka: The soul of Dal Tadka lies in its tempering. Ensure your cumin seeds splutter well in hot ghee or oil to release their maximum aroma, but do not let them burn. Adding red chili powder to the tadka at the very end, just before pouring it over the dal, helps retain its vibrant color and prevents it from burning.
- 2. Lentil Consistency is Key: Different batches of lentils or different types can absorb water differently. Don't hesitate to adjust the consistency of your Dal Tadka after pressure cooking by adding a bit of hot water if it's too thick. Simmer for a few minutes to allow the flavors to meld.
- 3. Optional Smoky Flavor (Dhungar Method): For a truly restaurant-style smoky aroma, you can use the Dhungar technique. After the dal is cooked and tadka is added, heat a small piece of natural charcoal over a direct flame until it's red hot. Place the hot charcoal in a small, heatproof steel bowl. Carefully place this bowl into the pot of dal (it can float or rest on a small trivet). Drizzle a tiny amount (a few drops) of ghee over the hot charcoal. It will immediately start smoking. Quickly cover the dal pot with a tight-fitting lid and let it sit for 1-2 minutes to infuse the smoky flavor. Remove the charcoal bowl before serving.

### Recipe 31: Dal Makhani

Dal Makhani, translating to "buttery lentils," is a celebrated classic from the North Indian, particularly Punjabi, culinary landscape. This luxurious and creamy dish is renowned for its rich texture and deep, complex flavors, achieved by slow-cooking whole black lentils (sabut urad dal) and red kidney beans (rajma) with butter, cream, and a harmonious blend of aromatic spices. It's a staple at celebrations and a beloved comfort food, often simmered for hours to achieve its signature velvety consistency.

Category	Ingredient	Quantity	Notes
Main Lentils	Whole Black Lentils (Sabut Urad Dal)	1 cup	
	Red Kidney Beans (Rajma)	1/4 cup	
For Soaking	Water	As needed	
For Cooking Dal	Water	4 cups	Plus more if needed
	Ghee or Unsalted Butter	2 tablespoons	Or oil for a lighter version
	Cumin Seeds	1 teaspoon	
	Bay Leaf	1 large	
	Onion	1 large	Finely chopped
	Ginger-Garlic Paste	1 tablespoon	Or freshly minced ginger and garlic

	Tomatoes	2 large	Pureed, or 1 cup canned tomato puree
	Turmeric Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
	Red Chili Powder (Kashmiri preferred)	1 teaspoon	Adjust to taste, Kashmiri for color
	Coriander Powder	1 teaspoon	
	Garam Masala	1 teaspoon	
	Salt	To taste	
For Finishing	Heavy Cream (or Fresh Cream)	1/4 cup	Adjust to desired richness, or use cashew cream for vegan
	Kasuri Methi (Dried Fenugreek Leaves)	1 tablespoon	Crushed
	Unsalted Butter (optional, for richness)	1 tablespoon	
Garnish	Fresh Cilantro Leaves	2 tablespoons	Chopped
	Ginger Juliennes (optional)	1 teaspoon	

Soak Lentils and Beans: Rinse the whole black lentils (urad dal) and red kidney beans (rajma)
thoroughly under cold running water. Soak them together in plenty of fresh water for at least 6-8
hours, or preferably overnight. This step is crucial for achieving a creamy texture and reducing
cooking time.

- 2. Pressure Cook Lentils and Beans (Instant Pot Method): Drain the soaked lentils and beans. Set your Instant Pot to 'Sauté' mode. Add ghee or butter (or oil). Once hot, add cumin seeds and the bay leaf. Sauté for about 30 seconds until the cumin seeds splutter.
- 3. Add the finely chopped onion and sauté until golden brown, about 5-7 minutes. Add the gingergarlic paste and sauté for another minute until the raw aroma disappears.
- 4. Stir in the tomato puree, turmeric powder, red chili powder, and coriander powder. Cook for 3-4 minutes, stirring, until the oil begins to separate from the masala.
- 5. Add the drained lentils and beans, 4 cups of fresh water, and salt to taste. Stir well.
- 6. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot, ensuring the steam release valve is in the 'Sealing' position. Cancel 'Sauté' mode. Select 'Pressure Cook' (or 'Manual') mode and set the timer for 30-35 minutes at high pressure.
- 7. Natural Pressure Release: Once the cooking cycle is complete, allow the pressure to release naturally for at least 20-25 minutes. This slow release helps the lentils become even more tender and creamy. Then, carefully turn the steam release valve to 'Venting' to release any remaining pressure.
- 8. Finish the Dal: Open the lid. Remove the bay leaf. Stir the dal well. For an extra creamy texture, use an immersion blender to partially blend some of the lentils (just a few pulses) or vigorously mash some lentils against the side of the pot with a sturdy ladle.
- 9. Stir in the garam masala, crushed Kasuri Methi, and heavy cream. If using the extra tablespoon of butter for richness, add it now. Simmer on 'Sauté' mode (low) for another 5-10 minutes, allowing the flavors to meld and the dal to thicken slightly. Adjust salt if needed.
- 10. Garnish and Serve: Garnish with fresh chopped cilantro and ginger juliennes (if using). Serve Dal Makhani hot with naan, roti, paratha, or jeera rice.

### **Stovetop Pressure Cooker Instructions:**

- After soaking (Step 1), drain the lentils and beans.
- In a stovetop pressure cooker, heat ghee/butter. Add cumin seeds and bay leaf. Add onions, sauté until golden. Add ginger-garlic paste, sauté. Add tomato puree and powdered spices (turmeric, chili, coriander). Cook until oil separates.
- Add soaked lentils, beans, 4-5 cups of water, and salt. Secure the lid. Bring to full pressure, then reduce heat and cook for 8-10 whistles, or about 40-45 minutes.
- Let pressure release naturally. Open, remove bay leaf. Mash some lentils. Add garam masala, kasuri methi, cream, and extra butter. Simmer on low heat for 15-20 minutes, stirring occasionally, until creamy. Garnish and serve.

- Soaking is Non-Negotiable for Creaminess: For the authentic, melt-in-your-mouth texture of Dal Makhani, soaking the whole urad dal and rajma for at least 6-8 hours (or overnight) is paramount. This not only aids in faster cooking but also significantly contributes to the final creamy consistency and digestibility.
- 2. Low and Slow Simmer for Flavor Infusion: While pressure cooking does the heavy lifting, if time permits, allow the Dal Makhani to simmer gently on low heat for an additional 20-30 minutes after all ingredients (including cream) are added. This slow simmering process allows the flavors to meld deeply, resulting in a richer, more nuanced taste.
- 3. Natural Creaminess Technique: Before adding cream, gently mash about 1/4 of the cooked lentils and beans against the side of the pot using the back of a ladle. This releases their starches, naturally thickening the dal and enhancing its signature velvety texture without relying solely on cream.

### Recipe 32: Urad Dal (Spicy Split Black Gram Dal)

This Urad Dal recipe features split black gram lentils (urad dal), often complemented by a touch of chana dal (split chickpeas) for an enhanced texture. It's a flavorful and protein-rich dish, distinct from the whole urad dal used in Dal Makhani, offering a quicker cooking time and a uniquely satisfying, earthy taste. This version is spiced to create a warming and hearty meal, perfect with Indian flatbreads or rice.

Category	Ingredient	Quantity	Notes
Lentils	Split Urad Dal (Split Black Gram Dal)	1 cup	Skinless or with skin, as preferred
	Chana Dal (Split Chickpeas)	1/2 cup	Optional, but recommended for texture
For Cooking Dal	Water	4 cups	Plus more for adjusting consistency
	Ghee or Oil	2 tablespoons	Use oil for vegan
	Cumin Seeds	1 tablespoon	
	Dry Bay Leaf	1	
	Garlic	3 cloves	Finely chopped
	Onion	1 medium	Finely chopped
	Fresh Ginger	1 teaspoon	Finely chopped or grated

	Tomatoes	2 medium	Finely chopped, or 2 tablespoons tomato paste
	Turmeric Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
	Red Chili Powder	1-2 teaspoons	Adjust to taste
	Coriander Powder	1 teaspoon	
	Cumin Powder	1 teaspoon	
	Kasuri Methi (Dried Fenugreek Leaves)	1 tablespoon	Crushed
	Salt	To taste	
Garnish	Fresh Cilantro Leaves	2 tablespoons	Chopped

- 1. Prepare the Lentils: Thoroughly wash the split urad dal and chana dal (if using) under cold running water until the water runs clear. Soaking for 30 minutes is optional but can reduce cooking time slightly. Drain well.
- 2. Sauté Aromatics (Instant Pot Method): Set your Instant Pot to 'Sauté' mode on medium heat. Add ghee or oil. Once hot, add the dry bay leaf and cumin seeds. Allow the cumin seeds to crackle and turn fragrant, about 30-45 seconds.
- 3. Cook Onions, Ginger, Garlic: Add the chopped ginger and garlic. Sauté for about 30 seconds until their raw aroma dissipates. Then, add the finely chopped onions and sauté for 3-4 minutes, stirring occasionally, until they become soft and translucent.
- 4. Add Tomatoes and Spices: Stir in the finely chopped tomatoes (or tomato paste). Cook for 2-3 minutes until the tomatoes soften. Add the turmeric powder, red chili powder, coriander powder, and cumin powder. Sauté for another minute, allowing the spices to cook and release their aroma.

- 5. Add Lentils and Water: Add the washed and drained urad dal and chana dal to the pot. Stir well to coat the lentils with the masala. Pour in 4 cups of water and add salt to taste. Stir again.
- 6. Pressure Cook: Secure the lid of the Instant Pot, ensuring the steam release valve is in the 'Sealing' position. Cancel 'Sauté' mode. Select 'Pressure Cook' (or 'Manual') mode and set the timer for 8-10 minutes at high pressure for unsoaked dals (or 6-7 minutes if soaked for 30 mins).
- 7. Quick Pressure Release: Once the cooking cycle is complete, perform a quick release by carefully turning the steam release valve to the 'Venting' position.
- 8. Finish and Adjust: Open the lid once the pressure has fully released. Stir the dal well. If it appears too thick, add a little hot water to reach your desired consistency. Stir in the crushed Kasuri Methi. Taste and adjust salt if necessary.
- 9. Garnish and Serve: Garnish with freshly chopped cilantro leaves. Serve this spicy Urad Dal hot with roti, paratha, naan, or steamed rice.

#### **Stovetop Pressure Cooker Instructions:**

- Follow steps 1-5 in a stovetop pressure cooker base over medium heat.
- Secure the lid. Bring to full pressure and cook for 3-4 whistles. Reduce heat and simmer for 5-7 minutes.
- Let the pressure release naturally, or quick release after 10 minutes if short on time.
- Proceed with steps 8-9.

- 1. Balancing Texture with Chana Dal: Split Urad Dal can become quite creamy and sometimes a bit sticky or mucilaginous when cooked alone. The addition of Chana Dal, which holds its shape better, provides a pleasant textural contrast and prevents the dish from becoming overly dense.
- 2. Preventing Overcooking for Best Texture: Split Urad Dal cooks relatively quickly. It's important to adhere to the recommended pressure cooking time and use a quick pressure release. This helps to maintain some integrity of the lentils and prevents them from turning into a complete mush, ensuring a more appealing texture.
- 3. Simple Vegan Adaptation: This Urad Dal recipe can be easily made vegan by substituting ghee with a neutral cooking oil such as sunflower, canola, or vegetable oil. The robust flavors from the lentils and spices will remain prominent and delicious.

### Recipe 33: Brown Lentil Curry (Whole Masoor Dal)

Brown Lentil Curry, made with whole masoor dal, is a common yet deeply nutritious and satisfying dish found in many Indian households. These lentils are prized for their ability to hold their shape well after cooking, offering a pleasant bite and a mild, earthy flavor. This particular version incorporates coconut milk for an added layer of creaminess and a subtle sweetness, complementing the aromatic spices.

Category	Ingredient	Quantity	Notes
Main Ingredient	Dried Brown Lentils (Whole Masoor Dal)	1 cup	
Aromatics & Base	Olive Oil or Ghee/Butter	1 tablespoon	Skip oil for oil-free; use oil for vegan
	Onion	1 medium	Finely chopped
	Garlic	2-3 cloves	Minced or 1 tablespoon chopped
	Ginger	1-inch piece	Grated or minced <sup>1</sup>
	Tomatoes	2 medium	Finely chopped
Spices	Curry Powder	1 tablespoon	2
	OR Cumin Seeds	1/2 teaspoon	1
	Turmeric Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
	Cumin Powder	1 teaspoon	2

	OR Coriander Powder	1 teaspoon	1
	Red Chili Powder (or Cayenne Pepper)	1/2 teaspoon	Adjust to taste <sup>1</sup>
	Salt	To taste	
	Black Pepper	To taste	2
Liquids	Vegetable Stock or Water	2 cups	
	Coconut Milk (full-fat recommended)	1 cup	
Add-ins	Baby Spinach (optional)	1 cup	Loosely packed
Garnish	Fresh Cilantro Leaves (optional)	2 tablespoons	Chopped
	Lemon/Lime Wedges (optional)	For serving	

- 1. Prepare the Lentils: Thoroughly rinse the whole brown lentils (masoor dal) under cold running water to remove any dust or debris. Drain well.
- 2. Sauté Aromatics (Instant Pot Method): Set your Instant Pot to 'Sauté' mode on medium heat. Add olive oil (if using) or ghee/butter.
  - o If using curry powder<sup>2</sup>: Once the oil is warm, add the chopped onion and minced garlic. Sauté for 2-3 minutes until the onions soften. Stir in the curry powder, cumin powder, turmeric powder, salt, and red chili powder (or cayenne). Cook for another minute until fragrant.
  - o If using whole/ground spices 1: Once oil/ghee is hot, add cumin seeds (if using). Let them sizzle. Add chopped onion, sauté until translucent. Add minced/grated ginger and

garlic, sauté for a minute. Add turmeric, red chili powder, coriander powder (if using), and salt. Cook for 30 seconds.

- 3. Combine Ingredients: Add the finely chopped tomatoes to the pot. Cook for 2-3 minutes, stirring, until they begin to soften. Add the rinsed brown lentils, vegetable stock (or water), and coconut milk. Stir everything well to combine.
- 4. Pressure Cook: Secure the lid of the Instant Pot, ensuring the steam release valve is in the 'Sealing' position. Cancel 'Sauté' mode. Select 'Pressure Cook' (or 'Manual') mode and set the timer for 12-15 minutes at high pressure..<sup>1</sup>
- 5. Natural Pressure Release: Once the cooking cycle is complete, allow the pressure to release naturally for 10 minutes. Then, carefully turn the steam release valve to the 'Venting' position to release any remaining pressure.
- 6. Add Spinach and Finish: Open the lid. Stir the curry. If using baby spinach, add it to the hot curry and stir until it wilts, which should take only a minute or two. Taste and adjust seasoning (salt, pepper, or a little more chili powder) if needed. If the curry is too thick, add a splash of hot water or more coconut milk to reach your desired consistency.
- 7. Serve: Serve the Brown Lentil Curry hot. It pairs wonderfully with basmati rice <sup>2</sup>, quinoa, or Indian breads like naan or roti. Garnish with fresh cilantro and a wedge of lemon or lime, if desired.

#### Stovetop Instructions:

- Rinse lentils. In a large pot or Dutch oven, heat oil/ghee. Sauté aromatics and spices as in Step 2.
- Add tomatoes, cook until soft. Add rinsed lentils, stock/water, and coconut milk. Bring to a boil.
- Reduce heat to low, cover, and simmer for 30-40 minutes, or until lentils are tender, stirring occasionally. Add more liquid if it becomes too thick.
- Stir in spinach (if using) until wilted. Adjust seasoning and serve.

- 1. Essential Rinsing: Always rinse whole brown lentils (masoor dal) thoroughly under cold running water before cooking. This removes any residual dust or debris and ensures a cleaner taste in your final curry.
- Creaminess with Coconut Milk: The addition of coconut milk, as featured in one of the source
  methods, lends a delightful subtle sweetness and a rich, creamy texture to the brown lentil
  curry. For a more traditional North Indian flavor profile without coconut, this can be omitted,
  and the lentils themselves will provide some body to the curry.

3. Spice Level Customization: Brown lentil curry is quite versatile. Feel free to adjust the amount of curry powder and cayenne pepper or red chili powder to suit your personal preference for heat. Remember that the Instant Pot can sometimes mellow out spices, so taste the curry after cooking and adjust the seasonings if necessary.

### Recipe 34: Daal Palak (Spinach Dal)

Daal Palak is a highly nutritious and flavorful Indian lentil dish where the goodness of spinach (palak) is elegantly combined with tender cooked lentils (dal). This wholesome preparation is a fantastic way to incorporate leafy greens into your diet, resulting in a vibrant, appealing, and satisfying meal that is loved by both adults and children. It's a comforting classic, perfect for any day of the week.

Category	Ingredient	Quantity	Notes
Lentils	Red Lentils (Masoor Dal)	1 cup	Or Toor Dal, Moong Dal
Aromatics & Base	Ghee or Oil	1 tablespoon	Use oil for vegan
	Cumin Seeds	1 teaspoon	
	Green Chilies	1-2	Slit or chopped, adjust to taste
	Onion	1 small	Finely diced
	Garlic	2-3 cloves	Finely chopped or 1/2 tablespoon minced
	Ginger	1/2 inch piece	Grated or minced (optional)
	Tomatoes	1 large	Finely chopped
Greens	Fresh Spinach (Palak)	6 oz (approx. 2 cups)	Chopped
Spices	Turmeric Powder	1/2 teaspoon	

	Red Chili Powder	1/2 teaspoon	Adjust to taste
	Garam Masala (optional)	1/2 teaspoon	
	Salt	To taste	
Liquids	Water	3 cups	Plus more for adjusting consistency
Finishing	Lime or Lemon Juice	1 tablespoon	Freshly squeezed
Garnish	Fresh Cilantro Leaves	2 tablespoons	Chopped

- 1. Prepare the Lentils: Thoroughly wash the red lentils (masoor dal) under cold running water until the water runs clear. This removes any impurities. Set aside.
- 2. Sauté Aromatics (Instant Pot Method): Set your Instant Pot to 'Sauté' mode on medium heat. Add ghee or oil. Once hot (ghee melted or oil shimmering), add the cumin seeds. Allow them to crackle for about 30 seconds.
- 3. Add the slit or chopped green chilies, diced onions, and finely chopped garlic (and ginger, if using). Sauté for 2-3 minutes, stirring frequently, until the onions become translucent and soften.
- 4. Cook Tomatoes and Spices: Add the chopped tomatoes to the pot. Cook for another 2-3 minutes, stirring, until the tomatoes start to break down. Stir in the turmeric powder, red chili powder, and salt. Cook for one more minute, allowing the spices to become fragrant.
- 5. Pressure Cook the Dal: Add the rinsed lentils and 3 cups of water to the Instant Pot. Stir everything well to combine. Cancel 'Sauté' mode.
- 6. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot, ensuring the steam release valve is in the 'Sealing' position.

  Select 'Pressure Cook' (or 'Manual') mode and set the timer for 5-6 minutes at high pressure for masoor dal. (If using Toor Dal, increase time to 8-10 minutes after soaking).

- 7. Natural Pressure Release (Partial): Once the cooking cycle is complete, allow the pressure to release naturally for 5 minutes. Then, carefully turn the steam release valve to the 'Venting' position to release any remaining pressure.
- 8. Add Spinach and Finish: Open the lid. Stir the dal. Add the chopped spinach to the hot dal. Stir it in; the residual heat will be sufficient to wilt the spinach perfectly within a couple of minutes. If you prefer, you can turn on 'Sauté' mode on low for a minute to help wilt the spinach.
- 9. Stir in the garam masala (if using) and the freshly squeezed lime or lemon juice. Taste and adjust salt if necessary. If the dal is too thick, add a little hot water to reach your desired consistency.
- 10. Garnish and Serve: Garnish with freshly chopped cilantro leaves. Serve Daal Palak hot with steamed basmati rice, jeera rice, roti, or naan.

### **Stovetop Pressure Cooker Instructions:**

- Follow steps 1-4 in a stovetop pressure cooker base over medium heat.
- Add rinsed lentils and 3-3.5 cups of water. Secure the lid. Bring to full pressure and cook for 2-3 whistles for masoor dal.
- Let the pressure release naturally. Open the cooker.
- Add chopped spinach and simmer on low heat for 2-3 minutes until spinach wilts.
- Proceed with step 9 and 10.

- Adding Spinach for Optimal Results: For the most vibrant green color and best texture, it's
  advisable to add the chopped spinach to the dal *after* the pressure cooking cycle is complete.
  Stir it into the hot dal; the residual heat will wilt it perfectly without overcooking and causing it to
  lose its freshness.
- 2. Versatility in Lentil Choice: While this recipe shines with Masoor Dal (red lentils) due to its quick cooking time and creamy breakdown, feel free to experiment with Toor Dal (split pigeon peas) or Moong Dal (split yellow lentils). Remember to adjust soaking times (if any) and pressure cooking durations accordingly for these different lentils.
- 3. The Brightening Power of Acidity: A final squeeze of fresh lime or lemon juice just before serving is a simple yet transformative step. It brightens all the flavors of the Daal Palak, cutting through the richness and balancing the earthy notes of both the lentils and the spinach.

### Recipe 35: Chana Masala

Chana Masala is arguably one of India's most popular and widely recognized chickpea curries. This beloved dish features tender chickpeas simmered in a robustly flavored, tangy tomato-onion gravy, made aromatic and complex by a special blend of spices. It's a hearty, satisfying, and protein-rich vegetarian staple, enjoyed across the globe in homes and restaurants alike.

Category	Ingredient	Quantity	Notes
Main Ingredient	Dried Chickpeas (Kabuli Chana)	1 cup	Or 2 (15-oz) cans, rinsed and drained
Aromatics & Base	Oil or Ghee	2 tablespoons	
	Cumin Seeds	1/2 teaspoon	
	Bay Leaf	1	
	Onion	1/2 cup	Finely chopped (about 1 medium)
	Ginger	1 teaspoon	Freshly grated or minced
	Garlic	1 teaspoon	Freshly chopped or minced
	Tomatoes	1/2 cup	Finely chopped (about 2 medium), or use tomato puree
Spice Blend	Chole Masala (Store-bought or Homemade)	1 tablespoon	Key for authentic flavor

	Turmeric Powder (optional, if not in Chole Masala)	1/4 teaspoon	
	Red Chili Powder (optional, if not in Chole Masala)	1/2 teaspoon	Adjust to taste
	Salt	To taste	
Liquids	Water	2 cups	For cooking dried chickpeas; less if using canned
Finishing	Kasuri Methi (Dried Fenugreek Leaves)	1 teaspoon	Crushed
Garnish	Fresh Cilantro Leaves	2-3 stems	Chopped
	Onion Rings	For serving	Optional
	Ginger Juliennes	For serving	Optional
	Lemon Wedges	For serving	Optional
	Green Chilies	For serving	Slit, optional

- 1. Prepare Chickpeas: If using dried chickpeas, rinse them thoroughly and soak in ample water overnight, or for at least 8 hours. Drain the soaking water before cooking. If using canned chickpeas, rinse and drain them well.
- 2. Sauté Aromatics (Instant Pot Method): Set your Instant Pot to 'Sauté' mode on medium heat.

  Add oil or ghee. Once hot, add the cumin seeds and bay leaf. Allow the cumin seeds to splutter, about 30 seconds.
- 3. Add the grated ginger and chopped garlic. Sauté for about a minute until fragrant. Be careful not to burn the garlic.

- 4. Add the finely chopped onions. Sauté, stirring occasionally, until they turn golden brown, about 5-7 minutes.
- 5. Cook Tomatoes and Spices: Add the chopped tomatoes. Cook, stirring, until they soften and the oil begins to separate from the masala, about 5-7 minutes. You can cover with a glass lid during this stage to speed it up, stirring occasionally.
- 6. Stir in the Chole Masala powder (and turmeric/red chili powder if your blend doesn't include them or if you want extra). Cook for another minute, allowing the spices to toast and become aromatic.
- 7. Pressure Cook (for dried, soaked chickpeas): Add the drained soaked chickpeas to the pot. Add 2 cups of fresh water and salt to taste. Stir well. Cancel 'Sauté' mode. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot, ensuring the steam release valve is in the 'Sealing' position. Select 'Pressure Cook' (or 'Manual') mode and set the timer for 15-20 minutes at high pressure. (Note: One source suggests 15 mins, another 35 mins for soaked. Start with 15-20 and check for tenderness).
- 8. Natural Pressure Release: Once the cooking cycle is complete, allow the pressure to release naturally for at least 15-20 minutes. Then, carefully turn the steam release valve to 'Venting' to release any remaining pressure.
- 9. If Using Canned Chickpeas: After step 6, add the rinsed and drained canned chickpeas along with about 1/2 to 3/4 cup of water or vegetable broth and salt. Bring to a simmer on 'Sauté' mode and cook for 10-15 minutes, allowing the flavors to meld. No pressure cooking is needed.
- 10. Finish and Thicken: Open the lid. Stir the Chana Masala. If the gravy is too thin, set the Instant Pot to 'Sauté' mode (low or medium) and simmer for a few minutes until it reaches your desired consistency, mashing a few chickpeas against the side of the pot to help thicken it. Stir in the crushed Kasuri Methi.
- 11. Garnish and Serve: Taste and adjust salt if needed. Garnish with chopped cilantro, onion rings, ginger juliennes, green chilies, and serve with lemon wedges on the side. Chana Masala is best enjoyed hot with bhature, poori, naan, roti, or rice.

Stovetop Pressure Cooker (for dried, soaked chickpeas):

- Follow steps 1-6 in a stovetop pressure cooker base.
- Add soaked chickpeas, water, and salt. Secure lid. Cook for 6-8 whistles. Let pressure release naturally.
- Proceed with step 10-11.

### Expert Tips & Tricks

1. The Power of "Chole Masala" Blend: For an authentically flavored Chana Masala, especially one reminiscent of Delhi street food, investing in a good quality store-bought 'Chole Masala' powder

can make a significant difference. These specialized blends often contain unique ingredients like anardana (dried pomegranate seeds) or black cardamom, which contribute to the characteristic tangy and robust flavor profile that is hard to replicate with individual spices alone.

- Soaking is Superior: While canned chickpeas offer convenience, soaking dried chickpeas
  overnight (or for at least 8 hours) is highly recommended. Soaking not only reduces the cooking
  time significantly but also improves the texture of the chickpeas, making them more tender, and
  aids in better digestion.
- 3. Tomato Timing for Flavor Nuance: While most recipes incorporate tomatoes early with the onions, an alternative technique involves adding tomatoes after the chickpeas have been pressure cooked (as suggested by one source, Ministry of Curry). This method can impart a unique freshness and brighter tomato flavor to the finished dish. Experiment with both methods to discover your personal preference.

### Recipe 36: Pindi Chole

Pindi Chole is a distinct and deeply flavorful chickpea preparation hailing from the Punjab region of the Indian subcontinent, with its origins often traced to Rawalpindi. This dish stands apart from other chole or chana masala recipes due to its characteristic dark, almost blackish-red color, a relatively drier consistency, and an intense, tangy-spicy flavor profile that is uniquely achieved *without* the use of onions, garlic, or tomatoes in the main gravy. The magic of Pindi Chole lies in its masterful blend of whole and ground spices.

Category	Ingredient	Quantity	Notes
For Bouquet Garni	Black Tea Bags	1-2	For color and flavor
	Cloves	4-5	Whole
	Green Cardamom Pods	3	Whole, lightly bruised
	Black Cardamom Pods	2	Whole, lightly bruised
	Cinnamon Stick	1-2 (1-inch pieces)	
	Bay Leaves	1-2	
	Muslin Cloth	1 piece	Or a tea infuser
For the Chole	Dried Chickpeas (Kabuli Chana)	2 cups	
	Water	5-6 cups	For cooking

	Ghee or Oil	1 tablespoon	Use oil for vegan
	Ginger	1-inch piece	Peeled and julienned
	Green Chilies	3	Slit lengthwise, adjust to taste
	Ajwain (Carom Seeds)	1 teaspoon	
	Turmeric Powder	1 teaspoon	
	Red Chili Powder	1 teaspoon	Adjust to taste
	Coriander Powder	1 teaspoon	
	Cumin Powder	1 teaspoon	
	Dry Mango Powder (Amchur)	2 teaspoons	Or Anardana (Pomegranate Seed Powder) for authentic tanginess
	Kasuri Methi (Dried Fenugreek Leaves)	1 tablespoon	Crushed
	Salt	To taste	
Garnish	Fresh Cilantro Leaves	A handful	Chopped
	Onion Rings (optional)	For serving	
	Lemon Wedges (optional)	For serving	

1. Prepare Chickpeas: Rinse the dried chickpeas thoroughly and soak them in ample water overnight, or for at least 8 hours. Drain the soaking water.

- 2. Create the Bouquet Garni: Take a clean piece of muslin cloth. Place the tea bags, cloves, green cardamom pods, black cardamom pods, cinnamon stick(s), and bay leaves in the center. Tie the cloth securely to form a bundle (potli).
- 3. Pressure Cook Chickpeas (Instant Pot Method): Place the drained soaked chickpeas into the inner pot of your Instant Pot. Add the prepared bouquet garni and 5-6 cups of fresh water. Add 1/2 teaspoon of salt.
- 4. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot, ensuring the steam release valve is in the 'Sealing' position.

  Select 'Pressure Cook' (or 'Manual') mode and set the timer for 35-40 minutes at high pressure.

  (If using unsoaked chickpeas, increase time to 50-60 minutes).
- 5. Natural Pressure Release: Once the cooking cycle is complete, allow the pressure to release naturally for at least 20-25 minutes. Then, carefully turn the steam release valve to 'Venting' to release any remaining pressure.
- 6. Prepare the Spice Masala: Once the pressure is released, open the Instant Pot. Carefully remove and discard the bouquet garni. Drain the chickpeas, reserving about 1-1.5 cups of the cooking liquid (this dark liquid is key).
- 7. Set the Instant Pot to 'Sauté' mode on medium heat. Add ghee or oil. Once hot, add the ajwain (carom seeds) and let them splutter briefly.
- 8. Add the julienned ginger and slit green chilies. Sauté for about 30 seconds until fragrant.
- 9. Reduce heat to low. Add turmeric powder, red chili powder, coriander powder, cumin powder, and dry mango powder (amchur). Stir quickly for a few seconds to toast the spices, being careful not to burn them.
- 10. Combine and Simmer: Immediately add the cooked chickpeas to the pot. Stir gently to coat them with the spices. Add about 1/2 to 1 cup of the reserved chickpea cooking liquid just enough to create a thick coating around the chickpeas, as Pindi Chole is traditionally a drier preparation. Add salt to taste (remembering some salt was added during cooking).
- 11. Stir in the crushed Kasuri Methi. Simmer on 'Sauté' mode (low) for 5-7 minutes, allowing the chickpeas to absorb the flavors and the sauce to thicken slightly. If it becomes too dry, add a little more of the reserved cooking liquid.
- 12. Garnish and Serve: Garnish generously with fresh chopped cilantro. Serve Pindi Chole hot with bhature, kulcha, poori, naan, or roti. It can also be accompanied by sliced onions and lemon wedges.

### **Stovetop Pressure Cooker Instructions:**

• Follow steps 1-2.

- In a stovetop pressure cooker, add soaked chickpeas, bouquet garni, water, and 1/2 tsp salt. Cook for 7-8 whistles. Let pressure release naturally.
- Follow steps 6-12, preparing the masala in a separate pan and then adding the cooked chickpeas and some cooking liquid.

- The Secret to the Dark Hue: The signature deep, dark color of Pindi Chole is primarily achieved by brewing black tea bags along with the chickpeas and whole spices within the bouquet garni during the pressure cooking process. Do not skip this step if you aim for an authentic appearance and the subtle, unique flavor it imparts.
- 2. Flavor Profile Without Onion-Tomato: Unlike many North Indian curries, the distinctive taste of Pindi Chole relies heavily on a skillful blend of whole and ground spices, fresh ginger, and crucial tangy elements like amchur (dry mango powder) or anardana (pomegranate seed powder), rather than a conventional onion-tomato gravy base. Embrace this fundamental difference to appreciate its unique and robust flavor.
- 3. Adapting for Canned or Pre-Soaked Chickpeas: If you're using canned chickpeas, ensure to rinse and drain them thoroughly. Then, simmer them for about 10-15 minutes with the bouquet garni in fresh water before adding them to the prepared spice masala. If you have used chickpeas that were soaked overnight, the pressure cooking time in an Instant Pot can be reduced to about 10-15 minutes for tender results.

### Recipe 37: Rajma Chawal (Kidney Bean Curry with Rice)

Rajma Chawal is more than just a dish for many North Indians; it's an emotion, a cherished comfort food that evokes feelings of home and hearty satisfaction. This beloved meal consists of tender red kidney beans (rajma) simmered in a rich, aromatic, and beautifully spiced tomato-onion gravy, traditionally and most famously served with steamed rice (chawal). It's a wholesome, protein-packed classic that graces family tables and restaurant menus alike.

Category	Ingredient	Quantity	Notes
Main Ingredient	Dried Red Kidney Beans (Rajma)	1 cup	Dark or light red
For Soaking	Water	As needed	
Gravy Base	Onion	1 large	Roughly chopped (approx. 1 cup)
	Tomatoes	3 medium	Roughly chopped
	Fresh Ginger	1/2 inch piece	Roughly chopped
	Garlic Cloves	4-5	Roughly chopped
Tempering & Spices	Ghee or Oil	1-2 tablespoons	Use oil for vegan
	Cumin Seeds	1 teaspoon	
	Bay Leaf	1	

	Green Chilies	2-3	Slit or chopped, adjust to taste
	Turmeric Powder	1 teaspoon	
	Red Chili Powder (Kashmiri preferred)	1 teaspoon	Adjust to taste, Kashmiri for color
	Rajma Masala (Store- bought or Homemade)	2 tablespoons	Key spice blend
	Coriander Powder (if not in Rajma Masala)	1 teaspoon	Optional
	Salt	To taste	
Liquids	Water	2-3 cups	For cooking soaked beans (adjust for unsoaked)
Finishing	Kasuri Methi (Dried Fenugreek Leaves)	1 tablespoon	Crushed
Garnish	Fresh Cilantro Leaves	2-3 tablespoons	Chopped
To Serve With	Steamed Basmati Rice (Chawal)	As needed	

- 1. Soak the Kidney Beans: Rinse the dried kidney beans thoroughly. Soak them in plenty of fresh water for at least 6-8 hours, or preferably overnight. If short on time, soak in hot water for a minimum of 2 hours. Soaking helps the beans cook evenly and aids digestion.
- 2. Prepare the Masala Puree: In a blender, combine the roughly chopped onion, tomatoes, ginger, and garlic. Blend to a smooth puree. You might need to add a tablespoon or two of water to help it blend.

- 3. Sauté Aromatics (Instant Pot Method): Set your Instant Pot to 'Sauté' mode on medium heat. Add ghee or oil. Once hot, add the cumin seeds and bay leaf. Allow the cumin seeds to splutter, about 30 seconds. Add the slit green chilies and sauté for another few seconds.
- 4. Cook the Masala Puree: Pour the blended onion-tomato-ginger-garlic puree into the pot. Sauté for 5-7 minutes, stirring occasionally, until the puree thickens slightly and the raw smell disappears. You should see some oil starting to separate at the edges.
- 5. Add Spices: Stir in the turmeric powder, red chili powder, and the Rajma Masala powder. Cook for another minute, stirring, until the spices are fragrant.
- 6. Add Beans and Pressure Cook: Drain the soaked kidney beans and add them to the Instant Pot. Pour in 2 cups of fresh water (for soaked beans; use 3 cups if beans were only soaked for 2 hours, or up to 4 cups for unsoaked beans, adjusting cook time accordingly). Add salt to taste. Stir everything well.
- 7. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot, ensuring the steam release valve is in the 'Sealing' position.

  Cancel 'Sauté' mode. Select 'Pressure Cook' (or 'Manual') mode and set the timer for 30 minutes at high pressure for well-soaked beans. (For unsoaked beans, cook for 60-70 minutes).
- 8. Natural Pressure Release (Recommended): Once the cooking cycle is complete, it's best to allow the pressure to release naturally for at least 15-20 minutes, or entirely if time permits. This helps the beans become very tender. Then, carefully turn the steam release valve to 'Venting' to release any remaining pressure.
- 9. Finish and Thicken: Open the lid. Stir the Rajma. If the gravy seems too thin, set the Instant Pot to 'Sauté' mode (low or medium) and simmer for 5-10 minutes until it thickens to your liking. Gently mash a few beans against the side of the pot with a ladle to help thicken the gravy naturally.
- 10. Stir in the crushed Kasuri Methi. Taste and adjust salt or Rajma Masala if needed.
- 11. Serve: Garnish with freshly chopped cilantro. Serve the hot Rajma curry generously over steamed basmati rice (Chawal). It also pairs well with roti or naan.

### **Stovetop Pressure Cooker Instructions:**

- Follow steps 1-2.
- In a stovetop pressure cooker, follow steps 3-5 for sautéing.
- Add soaked beans, 3-4 cups water, and salt. Secure lid. Cook for 8-10 whistles. Let pressure release naturally.
- Follow steps 9-11.

- 1. The Indispensable Soak: For kidney beans that are perfectly tender, creamy, and easy to digest, soaking is crucial. Aim for an overnight soak (at least 6-8 hours). Soaking not only drastically reduces cooking time but also helps in breaking down complex sugars in the beans, making them gentler on the stomach.
- 2. "Rajma Masala" for Authentic Flavor: The characteristic taste of restaurant-style or authentic homemade Rajma largely comes from a specific spice blend known as "Rajma Masala." Using a good quality store-bought version of this blend is highly recommended as it contains a tailored mix of spices like black cardamom, cinnamon, cloves, and often unique ingredients like dry ginger or mango powder, which are essential for that signature flavor.
- 3. Natural Thickening for Creamy Gravy: To achieve a beautifully thick and creamy gravy without adding extra cream or flour, gently mash some of the cooked kidney beans against the side of the pot with the back of your ladle after pressure cooking. This releases the natural starches from the beans, lending a wonderful body and velvety texture to the curry.

## Chapter 9: Vibrant Vegetable Curries & Sabjis

The heart of Indian home cooking often beats strongest in its diverse and vibrant vegetable preparations. From simple, quickly stir-fried "sabjis" that highlight the natural sweetness and texture of seasonal produce, to more elaborate curries simmered in rich, aromatic gravies, Indian cuisine offers an unparalleled repertoire of vegetarian delights. These dishes are not mere accompaniments; they are often the stars of the meal, showcasing a rainbow of colors, a symphony of flavors, and a testament to the country's rich agricultural heritage and regional culinary ingenuity.

Vegetable curries and sabjis in India are a celebration of freshness and flavor, deeply intertwined with the rhythm of the seasons. Each region boasts its own unique specialties, utilizing locally available vegetables and distinct spice blends that have been perfected over generations. Whether it's the earthy comfort of potatoes and cauliflower in Aloo Gobi, the delicate sweetness of pumpkin in Kaddu Sabji, or the robust flavors of okra in Bhindi Masala, these dishes offer a journey through the diverse tastes and textures that define Indian vegetarian cooking. They are a cornerstone of daily meals, providing nourishment, variety, and immense satisfaction.

In this chapter, we will explore a selection of these beloved vegetable preparations, guiding you through recipes that are both authentic and accessible for the home cook. You'll discover how to transform everyday vegetables into extraordinary dishes using the magic of Indian spices and cooking techniques. From the creamy indulgence of a Vegetable Korma to the smoky allure of Baingan Bharta, and the simple elegance of a well-made sabji, these recipes will equip you to bring the vibrant world of Indian vegetable cookery to your own table, promising meals that are both wholesome and wonderfully flavorful.

# Recipe 38: Mushroom Masala

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Onion	1 large	Diced
Tomatoes	3	Halved
Champignon Mushrooms	8 oz	Sliced
Peas	1 cup	Fresh or frozen
Garlic Cloves	5	
Ginger	1 inch piece	
Green Chilies (optional)	2	
Turmeric Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
Paprika	1 teaspoon	
Coriander Powder	1 teaspoon	
Garam Masala	1/2 teaspoon	
Oil or Ghee	2 tablespoons	
Cilantro	To garnish	

Water	2 cups	
Salt	To taste	
Cumin Seeds	1 teaspoon	

### Instant Pot Method:

- 1. Prepare Sauce Base: In a blender, combine tomatoes, garlic, ginger, and green chilies (if using). Blend to a smooth paste.
- 2. Sauté Onions: Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Add oil or ghee. Once hot, add cumin seeds and let them splutter. Add diced onions and sauté until translucent.
- 3. Cook Masala: Add the blended tomato paste to the onions. Stir in turmeric powder, paprika, coriander powder, and salt. Cook for a few minutes until the oil starts to separate from the masala.
- 4. Add Mushrooms and Water: Add the sliced mushrooms and 2 cups of water. Stir well. Deglaze the bottom of the pot thoroughly to prevent burning.
- 5. Pressure Cook: Cancel "Sauté" mode. Secure the lid and set the valve to "Sealing." Pressure cook on High for 6 minutes. Allow the pressure to release naturally.
- 6. Finish and Garnish: Once the pressure is released, open the lid. Stir in the peas and garam masala. Garnish with fresh cilantro. Serve hot.

### Stovetop Method:

- 1. Prepare the tomato-ginger-garlic-chili paste as in Step 1.
- 2. Heat oil/ghee in a pan. Add cumin seeds. Once they splutter, add diced onions and sauté until translucent.
- 3. Add the blended paste and powdered spices (turmeric, paprika, coriander, salt). Cook until oil separates.
- 4. Add sliced mushrooms and water. Cover and cook on low heat for about 15 minutes, stirring occasionally, until mushrooms are cooked and gravy has thickened.
- 5. Stir in peas and garam masala. Garnish with cilantro. Serve hot.

- 1. Mushroom Cleaning: Avoid soaking mushrooms in water as they absorb it and can become soggy. Gently dip them in water and then clean with a damp cloth.
- 2. Deglaze Thoroughly: When using the Instant Pot, always scrape the bottom of the inner pot well after sautéing the masala and before pressure cooking to prevent the "Burn" notice.
- 3. Flavor Boost: Using mushroom broth instead of water can enhance the earthy flavors of the curry.

## Recipe 39: Whole Roasted Cauliflower in Indian Masala

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Whole Cauliflower Head	1	
Onions	2 large	Diced
Tomatoes	5	Diced
Cashews	1/2 cup	Soaked in 1/2 cup almond milk (or water)
Ginger	1 teaspoon	Chopped
Garlic	1 teaspoon	Chopped
Oil	2 tablespoons	
Cumin Seeds	1/2 teaspoon	
Black Cardamoms	2	
Green Cardamom	1	
Cloves	3	
Peppercorns	4	
Bay Leaf	1	

Turmeric Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
Coriander Powder	1 teaspoon	
Red Chili Powder (optional)	1 teaspoon	
Garam Masala	1/2 teaspoon	For sauce + extra for garnish
Cilantro	1 tablespoon (chopped)	For sauce + extra for garnish
Roasted Sesame Seeds (optional)	1 teaspoon	For garnish
Salt	To taste	For sauce + for cauliflower water
Water	2 cups (for sauce) + 1 cup (for cooking cauliflower)	

### 1. Prepare the Cauliflower:

- Thoroughly wash the cauliflower head. Trim off the leaves and the hard bottom stem, keeping the head intact.
- In the Instant Pot inner pot, add 1 cup of water and some salt. Place a trivet inside and set the whole cauliflower on the trivet.
- Secure the lid, set the valve to "Sealing." Pressure cook on High for 0 minutes (zero minutes). This steams the cauliflower perfectly. Perform a quick pressure release.
   Carefully remove the cauliflower and trivet. Discard the water.

### 2. Prepare the Indian Masala Sauce:

 Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Add oil. Once hot, add cumin seeds, cloves, peppercorns, black cardamoms, green cardamom, and bay leaf. Stir for a few seconds until fragrant.

- Add diced onions, chopped ginger, and chopped garlic. Add salt and sauté until onions are translucent.
- Add diced tomatoes. Stir in coriander powder, red chili powder (if using), and turmeric powder. Cook until tomatoes soften.
- Add the soaked cashews (along with the almond milk/water they were soaked in) and the 2 cups of water for the sauce.
- Cancel "Sauté" mode. Secure the lid, set valve to "Sealing." Pressure cook on High for 5 minutes. Perform a quick pressure release.
- Allow the sauce to cool slightly. Remove the bay leaf and black cardamoms if desired (for a smoother sauce). Blend the sauce using an immersion blender (or carefully in a standard blender) until smooth.
- Return the sauce to the Instant Pot if blended separately. Stir in garam masala and 1 tablespoon of chopped cilantro. Simmer on "Sauté" mode for a few minutes if it needs to thicken.

#### 3. Assemble and Serve:

- o Place the cooked whole cauliflower on a serving tray or plate.
- Pour a generous amount of the prepared masala sauce over the cauliflower, ensuring it's well-covered. Reserve some sauce for serving.
- Optional: For a charred effect, you can briefly broil the sauce-covered cauliflower in an oven.
- Garnish with a sprinkle of garam masala, fresh chopped cilantro, and roasted sesame seeds (if using).
- o To serve, slice the cauliflower like a pie, spooning extra sauce over each serving.

- 1. Flavorful Sauce is Key: Since the cauliflower is cooked whole and not stuffed with spices, ensure the masala sauce is robust and well-spiced. The cauliflower will absorb these flavors.
- 2. Perfectly Cooked Cauliflower: Pressure cooking the cauliflower for 0 minutes in the Instant Pot steams it perfectly without making it mushy, keeping its structure intact for roasting or serving.
- 3. Cashew Creaminess: Soaked cashews blended into the sauce provide a rich, creamy texture without the need for heavy cream, making the dish luscious.

# Recipe 40: Kaddu Sabji (Indian Style Pumpkin)

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Pumpkin (Kaddu)	500g (approx. 2 cups)	Peeled and chopped into cubes
Oil	2 tablespoons	
Asafoetida (Hing)	A pinch	
Fenugreek Seeds (Methi Dana)	1/2 teaspoon	
Cumin Seeds (Jeera)	1/2 teaspoon	
Dry Red Chilies (optional)	1-2	Broken, if you like it hot
Onion (optional)	1 medium	Finely chopped
Turmeric Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
Coriander Powder	1 teaspoon	Or use fresh cilantro leaves during cooking
Salt	To taste	
Sugar	1 teaspoon	Or to taste, balances flavors
Water	3/4 cup (or as needed)	

Garam Masala Powder	1/4 teaspoon	
Dry Mango Powder (Amchur)	1 teaspoon	For tanginess
Fresh Cilantro Leaves	For garnish	Chopped

- 1. Prepare Pumpkin: Wash, peel, and chop the pumpkin into 1-inch cubes.
- 2. Sauté Aromatics: Heat oil in a wok or pan over medium heat.
- 3. Add asafoetida, fenugreek seeds, and cumin seeds. Let them splutter. Add dry red chilies if using.
- 4. If using onion, add the finely chopped onion and sauté until translucent.
- 5. Cook Pumpkin: Add the pumpkin cubes to the wok. Stir in turmeric powder, coriander powder (or some fresh cilantro leaves), salt, and sugar. Mix well to coat the pumpkin.
- 6. Simmer: Cover the wok and cook on medium heat. If the pumpkin starts sticking to the pan, add a little water (from the 3/4 cup) and stir gently. Avoid stirring too much if you want to maintain the cube shape.
- 7. Cook until the pumpkin cubes are soft and tender. This may take 10-15 minutes depending on the pumpkin variety.
- 8. Finish with Spices: Once the pumpkin is cooked, add garam masala powder and dry mango powder (amchur). Mix gently.
- 9. Garnish and Serve: Garnish with fresh chopped cilantro leaves. Serve hot with roti, puri, or as a side dish with dal and rice.

- 1. Pumpkin Variety: Sugar pumpkins, acorn squash, or butternut squash can be used. Cooking time may vary slightly.
- 2. Texture Preference: If you prefer a mushier sabzi, you can stir more frequently and mash some pumpkin pieces against the side of the pan during the later stages of cooking. For distinct cubes, stir gently and minimally.
- 3. Fasting Variation: To make this dish suitable for fasting (vrat), omit onions and use rock salt (sendha namak) instead of regular salt.

## Recipe 41: Veg Korma

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For the Paste:		
Onion	1	Chopped
Tomato	1	Chopped
Cashews	1/2 cup	Soaked
Green Chilies	2	
Ginger	1 teaspoon	Grated
Garlic Cloves	4	
Vegetables:		
Potatoes	1 cup	Diced into small cubes
Cauliflower Florets	1 cup	Small
Peas	1 cup	Fresh or frozen
Green Beans	1 cup	Cut into 1-inch pieces
Carrots	1 cup	Sliced

Other Ingredients:		
Oil or Ghee	2 tablespoons	Use oil for vegan
Bay Leaves	2	
Garam Masala	1 teaspoon	
Red Chili Powder	1 teaspoon	
Turmeric Powder	1 teaspoon	
Salt	To taste	
Coconut Milk	1 cup	Full-fat recommended for creaminess
Water	1 cup	
For Garnish:		
Cilantro	For garnish	Chopped
Kasuri Methi (Dried Fenugreek Leaves)	For garnish	Crushed (optional)

### Instant Pot Method:

- 1. Prepare the Paste: In a blender, combine the chopped onion, chopped tomato, soaked cashews, green chilies, grated ginger, and garlic cloves. Blend until smooth. Set aside.
- 2. Sauté Aromatics: Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode on normal heat. Add oil or ghee. Once hot, add the bay leaves.

- 3. Cook Paste and Spices: Add the blended onion-tomato-cashew paste to the pot. Sauté, stirring frequently, for 1-2 minutes or until the color changes slightly and the raw smell disappears.
- 4. Stir in the garam masala, red chili powder, turmeric powder, and salt.
- 5. Add Vegetables and Liquids: Add all the chopped vegetables (potatoes, cauliflower, peas, green beans, carrots) to the pot. Pour in the coconut milk and water. Stir everything well to combine.
- 6. Pressure Cook: Cancel "Sauté" mode. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the valve to "Sealing." Select "Pressure Cook" (or "Manual") mode and set the timer for 1 minute on High pressure.
- 7. Quick Release: Once the cooking cycle is complete, perform a quick pressure release by carefully turning the valve to "Venting."
- 8. Serve: Open the lid. Gently stir the Veg Korma. Garnish with chopped cilantro and crushed kasuri methi (if using). Serve hot with naan, roti, or rice.

### Stovetop Method:

- 1. Prepare the onion-tomato-cashew paste as in Step 1.
- 2. Heat oil or ghee in a medium-sized pot over medium heat. Add bay leaves.
- 3. Add the blended paste and sauté for 5-7 minutes, stirring, until it thickens and oil starts to separate.
- 4. Add garam masala, red chili powder, turmeric, and salt. Cook for 1 minute.
- 5. Add all the vegetables, coconut milk, and water. Bring to a boil, then reduce heat, cover, and simmer for 15-20 minutes, or until vegetables are tender.
- 6. Garnish and serve as above.

- 1. Coconut Milk for Creaminess: For the best flavor and creamy texture, use full-fat coconut milk.

  Other milks or creams will alter the taste and consistency.
- 2. Fresh Vegetables Preferred: While frozen vegetables can be used in a pinch, fresh vegetables will provide a better texture and flavor to the korma.
- 3. Avoid Overcooking: Pressure cook for only 1 minute followed by a quick release. This ensures the vegetables are cooked through but not mushy.

# Recipe 42: Navratan Korma

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For Onion-Tomato-Cashew Paste:		
Onion	1	Roughly chopped
Tomato	1	Roughly chopped
Cashews	1/2 cup	Soaked
For Sautéing Fruits & Nuts:		
Ghee	1/2 tablespoon total	Divided (use oil for vegan)
Cashews (for garnish/texture)	1/4 cup	Whole or halved
Pineapple	1 cup	Chopped
Golden Raisins	1/4 cup	
For the Korma:		
Mixed Vegetables	6 cups	Chopped (e.g., peas, carrots, green beans, cauliflower, potato)
Ginger and Garlic Paste	2 teaspoons	

Bay Leaf	1	
Cardamom	2 pods	Green
Red Chili Powder	1 teaspoon	
Salt	To taste	
Turmeric Powder	1 teaspoon	
Garam Masala	1 teaspoon	
Full-Fat Coconut Milk	1 cup	
Water	1/2 cup	
Dried Fenugreek Leaves (Kasuri Methi)	1/2 teaspoon	Crushed
For Garnish:		
Cilantro	For garnish	Chopped

### Instant Pot Method:

- 1. Prepare Onion-Tomato-Cashew Paste: In a blender, combine the roughly chopped onion, tomato, and soaked cashews. Blend until smooth. Set aside.
- 2. Sauté Fruits and Nuts: Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Add about 1 teaspoon of ghee (or oil). Add the 1/4 cup cashews (for garnish), chopped pineapple, and golden raisins. Stir-fry for about 2 minutes until the cashews turn golden. Remove these from the pot and set aside.
- 3. Sauté Aromatics and Paste: Add the remaining ghee (approx. 1.5 tsp) to the pot. Add the bay leaf and cardamom pods.

- 4. Add the prepared onion-tomato-cashew paste and the ginger-garlic paste. Stir-fry for 2-3 minutes until fragrant.
- 5. Add Vegetables and Spices: Add the chopped mixed vegetables to the pot. Stir in salt, turmeric powder, red chili powder, and garam masala. Mix well to coat the vegetables.
- 6. Add Liquids: Pour in the coconut milk and water. Stir everything together.
- 7. Pressure Cook: Cancel "Sauté" mode. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the valve to "Sealing." Select "Pressure Cook" (or "Manual") mode and set the timer for 1 minute on High pressure.
- 8. Quick Release: Once the cooking cycle is complete, perform a quick pressure release.
- Finish and Serve: Open the lid. Stir in the crushed dried fenugreek leaves. Gently fold in the
  previously sautéed fruits and nuts (pineapple, raisins, cashews). Garnish with fresh cilantro.
  Serve hot with naan, roti, or rice.

### Stovetop Method:

- 1. Prepare the onion-tomato-cashew paste. Sauté fruits and nuts in a little ghee/oil and set aside.
- 2. In a large pot, heat the remaining ghee/oil. Add bay leaf and cardamom. Add the onion-tomato-cashew paste and ginger-garlic paste; sauté for 5-7 minutes.
- 3. Add vegetables, spices, coconut milk, and water. Bring to a boil, then cover and simmer for 15-20 minutes until vegetables are tender.
- 4. Stir in fenugreek leaves, sautéed fruits, and nuts. Garnish with cilantro. Serve hot.

- 1. Vegetable Size: Cut vegetables into roughly equal sizes, not smaller than 1 to 1.5 inches, to prevent them from getting mushy during pressure cooking.
- 2. Coconut Milk for Creaminess: Full-fat coconut milk is recommended for the authentic creamy texture of Navratan Korma. Using cream or yogurt will alter the traditional Mughlai flavor profile this recipe aims for.
- 3. "Nine Gems": Navratan means "nine gems." While you don't strictly need nine different vegetables/fruits/nuts, aim for a good variety to achieve the characteristic richness and texture of the dish.

## Recipe 43: Aloo Gobi

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Red Onion	1 medium	Thinly sliced
Plum Tomatoes	2 large	Diced
Cauliflower Florets	5 cups	With stems, cut into big 2-3 inch pieces
Potato	2 small	Peeled and cut into thin wedges
Fresh Ginger	2 teaspoons	Minced
Olive Oil	1 tablespoon	
Cumin Seeds	1 teaspoon	
Salt	To taste	
Water	2 tablespoons	
Turmeric Powder	1/4 teaspoon	
Red Chili Powder	1 teaspoon	(Kashmiri preferred for color)
Garam Masala	1 teaspoon	
Cumin Powder	1 teaspoon	

Cilantro	For garnish	Chopped

Step-by-Step Instructions

### Instant Pot Method:

- 1. Prepare Vegetables: Wash and cut cauliflower into large florets (2-3 inches). Peel potatoes and cut into thin wedges. Thinly slice onion and dice tomatoes. Mince ginger.
- 2. Sauté Aromatics: Turn the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Once it displays "HOT," add olive oil. Add cumin seeds and cook until they start to splutter (about 30 seconds).
- 3. Add the thinly sliced onions and sauté for about 2 minutes, stirring occasionally.
- 4. Stir in the minced ginger and diced tomatoes. Cook for another minute, stirring.
- 5. Add Spices and Vegetables: Add salt, turmeric powder, red chili powder, cumin powder, and garam masala. Mix well.
- 6. Add the cauliflower florets, potato wedges, and 2 tablespoons of water. Stir everything together gently to coat the vegetables with spices.
- 7. Pressure Cook: Cancel "Sauté" mode. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the valve to "Sealing." Select "Pressure Cook" (or "Manual") mode on High pressure for 3 minutes.
- 8. Quick Release: Once the cooking cycle is complete, perform a quick pressure release (QR) carefully. Do not let it naturally release for more than 5 minutes to prevent mushy cauliflower.
- 9. Serve: Open the lid. Gently stir the Aloo Gobi. Garnish with chopped cilantro. Serve hot with roti, naan, or jeera rice.

### Stovetop Method (from Ministry of Curry for similar dish):

- 1. Heat oil in a pan. Add cumin seeds. Add sliced onions and cook until softened.
- 2. Add ginger, garlic (if using, not in the belly rules them ind version), and to matoes. Cook until to matoes soften.
- 3. Add all powdered spices and salt. Mix well.
- 4. Add cauliflower florets, potato wedges, and a little water. Cover and cook on medium-low heat for 15-20 minutes, or until vegetables are tender, stirring occasionally.
- 5. Garnish with cilantro and serve.

- 1. Cauliflower and Potato Size: Cut cauliflower into large florets (2-3 inches) and potatoes into thin wedges. This helps them cook evenly in the short pressure cooking time without the cauliflower becoming too soft.
- 2. Quick Release is Key: For Instant Pot Aloo Gobi, a quick pressure release (or natural release for no more than 5 minutes) is crucial to prevent the cauliflower from overcooking and turning mushy.
- 3. Minimal Water: Only a small amount of water (2 tablespoons) is needed for pressure cooking, as the vegetables will release their own moisture. This results in a more concentrated flavor.

# Recipe 44: Bhindi Masala (Okra Curry)

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Okra (Bhindi)	1 lb	Cut into 1/2 to 1-inch pieces
Onion	1 medium	Chopped
Green Chilies	2	Thai, chopped (adjust to taste)
Tomato	1 medium	Chopped
Oil	1 tablespoon	
Cumin Seeds	1 tablespoon	
Spices:		
Turmeric Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
Coriander Powder	1 teaspoon	
Salt	To taste	
Red Chili Powder	1 teaspoon	Adjust to taste
Dry Mango Powder (Amchur) or Lime Juice	1 teaspoon (Amchur) or juice of 1/2 lime	

Garnish:		
Cilantro	1 tablespoon	Chopped

### Instant Pot Method:

- 1. Prepare Okra: Wash okra thoroughly. Dry it completely with a towel. Cut off the tops and ends, then chop into 1/2 to 1-inch pieces.
- 2. Sauté Aromatics: Turn on the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Once hot, add oil.
- 3. Add cumin seeds and let them crackle.
- 4. Add chopped onions and green chilies. Sauté for 1 minute until onions soften slightly.
- 5. Cook Tomatoes and Spices: Add chopped tomato and all the powdered spices (turmeric, coriander powder, salt, red chili powder). Give it a stir.
- 6. Add Okra and Acidic Agent: Add the chopped okra and lime juice (or dry mango powder). Stir everything well to combine.
- 7. Pressure Cook: Cancel "Sauté" mode. Close the lid of the Instant Pot and set the valve to "Sealing." Select "Manual" or "Pressure Cook" mode for 2 minutes on Low pressure.
- 8. Quick Release: Once the timer goes off, perform a quick pressure release (QR).
- 9. Serve: Open the lid. Gently stir the Bhindi Masala. Garnish with fresh chopped cilantro. Serve hot with roti, dal, or rice.

### Stovetop Method (from Ministry of Curry for similar dish):

- 1. Wash and thoroughly dry okra. Cut into pieces.
- 2. Heat oil in a non-stick pan. Sauté okra for 8-10 minutes until almost cooked but still has a slight crunch. Remove and set aside.
- 3. In the same pan, add remaining oil. Add cumin seeds. Add sliced onion and cook until softened.
- 4. Add ginger, garlic (if using), and diced tomatoes. Cook until tomatoes soften.
- 5. Add turmeric, red chili powder, coriander powder, and salt. Mix well.
- 6. Return the sautéed okra to the pan. Add garam masala (optional). Cook uncovered for 2-3 minutes. Garnish with cilantro.

- 1. Reduce Sliminess: To minimize the slimy texture of okra, ensure it's completely dry before cutting. Adding an acidic ingredient like lime juice or amchur (dry mango powder) towards the end of cooking also helps.
- 2. Okra Size: Keeping okra in larger chunks (1/2 to 1-inch pieces) can help reduce sliminess compared to very small pieces.
- 3. Gentle Stirring: Once okra is added, stir gently and not too frequently to prevent it from breaking down too much and becoming mushy.

# Recipe 45: Saag Aloo (Spinach Potato Curry)

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Organic Spinach	2 bunches (14 oz total)	Washed
Baby Potatoes	12-15	Or 2 medium potatoes, peeled & chopped into 1.5-inch cubes
Ghee or Oil	1 tablespoon	Use oil for vegan
Green Chili	1	Chopped (adjust to taste)
Tomato	2	Chopped
Onion	1	Chopped
Water	1/2 cup	
Dried Fenugreek Leaves (Kasuri Methi)	2 tablespoons	Crushed
Garam Masala	1 teaspoon	
Turmeric Powder	1 teaspoon	
Salt	To taste	
Cumin Seeds	1 teaspoon	

Fresh Ginger-Garlic Paste	1 tablespoon	
For Tempering (Optional):		
Ghee	1 tablespoon	
Cumin Seeds (for tempering)	1 teaspoon	
Chopped Ginger	1 teaspoon	
Garlic Cloves (for tempering)	3	Chopped

### Instant Pot Method:

### 1. Preparation:

- Wash the spinach leaves thoroughly.
- Peel the potatoes. If using baby potatoes, you can keep them whole or halve them. If using medium potatoes, chop them into 1.5-inch cubes. Soak chopped potatoes in water to prevent browning until ready to use.

### 2. Sauté Aromatics:

- o Turn your Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode (Normal). When it displays "HOT," add ghee or oil.
- Add cumin seeds. Once they splutter, add fresh ginger-garlic paste and crushed dried fenugreek leaves. Stir for a moment.
- Add chopped onions and green chili. Sauté for a minute or two until onions soften slightly. You can cover with a glass lid to speed this up.
- Add chopped tomatoes.

### 3. Add Spices and Greens:

 Season with salt, turmeric powder, and garam masala. Stir everything well. Sauté for about 1 minute until spices are fragrant.

- o Add the washed spinach leaves and 1/2 cup of water.
- Place a high-leg trivet on top of the greens. Drain the soaked potatoes and place them in a steamer basket. Put the steamer basket on the trivet. If needed, gently push down the greens to fit the steamer basket.

#### 4. Pressure Cook:

- Cancel "Sauté" mode. Cover with the Instant Pot lid and set the valve to "Sealing."
- o Pressure cook on High for 5 minutes.
- o Once the cooking cycle is complete, perform a quick pressure release.

#### 5. Blend and Combine:

- o Carefully remove the steamer basket with potatoes and the trivet. Set potatoes aside.
- Using an immersion blender, blend the cooked spinach mixture in the Instant Pot into a smooth paste.
- o Add the cooked potatoes to the spinach puree. Stir gently to combine.
- o If desired, you can perform an optional tempering at this stage (see below).
- 6. Serve: Serve Saag Aloo hot with roti, naan, or rice.

### Optional Tempering:

 Heat 1 tablespoon of ghee in a small pan. Add 1 teaspoon of cumin seeds. Once they splutter, add 1 teaspoon of chopped ginger and 3 chopped garlic cloves. Sauté until golden. Pour this tempering over the Saag Aloo before serving.

- Pot-in-Pot Potatoes: Cooking the potatoes in a steamer basket above the spinach (pot-in-pot method) ensures they are perfectly cooked without becoming mushy from direct contact with the liquid during pressure cooking.
- 2. Vibrant Greens: To maintain a vibrant green color, do a quick pressure release as soon as the cooking cycle finishes. Avoid letting the spinach sit under pressure for too long.
- 3. Adjust Consistency: If the Saag Aloo is too thick after blending, you can add a little hot water to reach your desired consistency. Simmer for a minute on "Sauté" mode if you add water.

# Recipe 46: Baingan Bharta (Smoky Eggplant)

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Eggplant (Baingan)	1 large (approx. 1.5 lbs)	Choose one with fewer seeds if possible
Oil	4 tablespoons (for roasting/sautéing eggplant) + 1 tbsp (for masala)	
Cumin Seeds	1/4 teaspoon	
Onion	1 large	Finely diced
Garlic Cloves	6	Minced
Green Chilies	1-2	Minced (adjust to taste)
Curry Leaves (optional)	12-15	Fresh or dried
Turmeric Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
Tomatoes	2 medium	Diced (divided use)
Salt	To taste	
Scallions (Green Onions)	1/4 cup	Chopped (divided use)

Cilantro	1/4 cup	Chopped (divided use)
For Stuffing (TheBellyRulesTheMind version):		
Green Chili (for stuffing)	1-2	Slit
Garlic Cloves (for stuffing)	Few	Inserted into slits

Method 1: Instant Pot Sauté & Pressure Cook (Ministry of Curry adaptation)

- 1. Prepare Eggplant: Peel and slice the eggplants into approximately 1/4-inch thick slices.
- 2. Char Eggplant Slices: Set Instant Pot to "Sauté (More)" mode. Add 1/2 tablespoon of oil. Line a single layer of eggplant slices. Cook on each side for 2 minutes or until they get slightly charred. Use a glass lid to help cook. Remove and set aside. Repeat with remaining slices, adding more oil as needed.
- 3. Sauté Aromatics: Add 1 tablespoon of oil to the pot. Add cumin seeds, turmeric powder. Then add diced onions, minced garlic, minced green chilies, and curry leaves (if using). Mix well and cook for 2 minutes.
- 4. Deglaze and Add Tomatoes: Add 1/4 cup of water and deglaze the pot, scraping any browned bits. Add half of the diced tomatoes and mix well.
- 5. Pressure Cook: Add the charred eggplant slices and salt. Secure the lid, set valve to "Sealing." Pressure cook on High for 4-6 minutes (depending on slice thickness and prior charring). Allow natural pressure release for 5 minutes, then quick release.
- 6. Mash and Finish: Open the lid. Set to "Sauté" mode. Mash the eggplant slices with a spatula or potato masher. Add the remaining half of the tomatoes, half of the scallions, and half of the cilantro. Allow excess water to evaporate until desired consistency.
- 7. Serve: Garnish with remaining fresh tomatoes, scallions, and cilantro. Serve hot with naan or pita.

Method 2: Roasting then Mashing (TheBellyRulesTheMind adaptation - focus on roasting)

1. Prepare Eggplant for Roasting: Wash the whole eggplant. Make three deep slits into it. Stuff these slits with slit green chilies and garlic cloves. Coat the entire eggplant with a little oil.

#### 2. Roast Eggplant:

- Oven: Place on a baking sheet and roast in a preheated oven at 400°F (200°C) for about
   1 hour, or until the skin is charred and the eggplant is very soft.
- Stovetop/Direct Flame (Traditional): Roast directly over a gas flame or on a hot pan, turning frequently, until the skin is completely charred and the flesh is soft (about 10-15 minutes).
- Air Fryer/Crisp Lid: Cook in a preheated air fryer or under an Instant Pot Crisp Lid according to manufacturer's instructions, flipping once, until charred and soft.
- 3. Cool and Peel: Let the roasted eggplant cool. Peel off the charred skin. You can dip it in cool water to help remove small bits of skin. Mash the pulp.
- 4. Make Bharta: (Follow sauté steps from Method 1, using the mashed roasted eggplant pulp instead of pressure cooking slices). Heat oil, sauté cumin, onions, ginger-garlic (if not stuffed), green chilies. Add tomatoes, turmeric, salt. Cook until tomatoes are soft. Add the mashed eggplant pulp. Cook for 5-10 minutes, stirring. Garnish with cilantro.

- 1. Smoky Flavor is Key: The hallmark of Baingan Bharta is its smoky flavor. Roasting the eggplant over an open flame (gas stove or grill) or charring it well in a pan/Instant Pot before mashing is crucial for this.
- 2. Choosing Eggplant: Select eggplants that are firm and have smooth, shiny skin. Medium-sized eggplants often have fewer seeds and a better flavor for bharta.
- 3. Cool Before Peeling: After roasting or charring the eggplant, let it cool down sufficiently. This makes it easier to handle and peel off the skin.

# Recipe 47: Makhani Gravy (Butter Masala Sauce)

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Butter	2 tablespoons	
Oil	2 tablespoons	
Bay Leaves	2	
Green Cardamoms	2	
Cinnamon Stick	1 (1-inch piece)	
Whole Dried Red Chilies	3	Adjust to preference
Onions	2 medium	Sliced
Ginger Paste or Grated Ginger	1 teaspoon	
Garlic Paste or Minced Garlic (optional)	1 teaspoon	Often used with ginger
Coriander Powder	1 tablespoon	
Garam Masala	1 tablespoon	
Tomatoes	3 large	Quartered or roughly chopped

Raw Cashews	1/4 cup	Soaked in warm water for 30 mins (or almonds)
Water	3/4 cup (or as needed for gravy base)	
Salt	To taste	
For Tempering & Finishing the Sauce:		
Oil or Butter (for tempering)	1 tablespoon (optional)	
Cumin Seeds (for tempering - optional)	1 teaspoon	
Green Chilies (for tempering - optional)	2	Slit
Ginger Juliennes (for tempering - optional)	1-inch piece	
Kashmiri Red Chili Powder	1 teaspoon	Primarily for color
Turmeric Powder	1/4 teaspoon	
Crushed Kasuri Methi (Dried Fenugreek Leaves)	1 tablespoon	Essential aroma
Honey or Sugar	1/2 - 1 tablespoon	To balance acidity
Heavy Cream	1/4 cup	Or cashew cream/coconut cream for vegan

1. Prep: Soak the cashews (or almonds) in warm water for at least 30 minutes.

#### 2. Sauté Aromatics & Base:

- o Heat 2 tbsp oil and 1 tbsp butter in a wok or heavy-bottomed pan over medium heat.
- Add whole spices: bay leaves, green cardamoms, cinnamon stick, and whole dried red chilies. Sauté for a minute until fragrant.
- o Add sliced onions and sauté until translucent.
- Stir in ginger paste (and garlic paste, if using), coriander powder, and garam masala.
   Sauté for another minute until fragrant.

#### 3. Cook Tomatoes & Nuts:

- Add the quartered/chopped tomatoes and the soaked, drained cashews (or almonds) to the pan.
- Add salt to taste and 3/4 cup of water. Cover and cook for about 10-15 minutes, or until the tomatoes are very soft and mushy.

### 4. Blend Gravy Base:

- o Allow the mixture to cool slightly. Remove the bay leaves and cinnamon stick.
- Transfer the solids (and some liquid) to a blender. Blend to a very smooth puree. Add more of the cooking liquid if needed to achieve a smooth consistency.

### 5. Temper & Refine (Optional Tempering):

- In the same wok (wipe clean if necessary), you can optionally do a tempering. Heat 1 tbsp oil/butter. Add cumin seeds (let splutter), slit green chilies, and ginger juliennes.
   Sauté briefly.
- Pour the blended puree through a fine-mesh sieve directly into the wok (with or without the fresh tempering). This step is crucial for an exceptionally silky-smooth sauce. Use a spatula to press the puree through.

#### 6. Cook and Finish the Sauce:

- To the sieved sauce in the wok, add Kashmiri red chili powder and turmeric powder. Mix well.
- Cook on medium heat, stirring occasionally, until the sauce thickens and oil begins to separate slightly at the edges (about 5-7 minutes).
- o Stir in the crushed kasuri methi and honey or sugar.

- Finally, gently stir in the heavy cream. Allow the sauce to simmer gently for a couple of minutes to incorporate the cream, but avoid boiling vigorously.
- o Your Makhani Gravy is ready to be used with paneer, vegetables, or tofu.

- 1. Sieving for Smoothness: For a truly restaurant-quality, velvety smooth Makhani gravy, do not skip sieving the blended tomato-onion-cashew puree. This removes any fibrous bits and ensures a luxurious texture.
- 2. Cashews for Creaminess: Soaked cashews are vital for the characteristic creamy consistency and subtle sweetness. If allergic to nuts, more cream or traditionally melon seeds (magaz) can be used.
- 3. Kasuri Methi Aroma: Crushing dried fenugreek leaves (Kasuri Methi) between your palms before adding them to the sauce releases their potent and distinctive aroma, which is key to authentic Makhani flavor.

# Recipe 48: Dum Aloo (Punjabi Style)

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Baby Potatoes	1.5 lbs (approx. 20- 25)	Or regular potatoes cut into 1.5-inch wedges/cubes
For the Sauce Base:		
Oil	2 tablespoons	
Cumin Seeds	1 teaspoon	
Black Cardamom	1	
Whole Red Chilies	2-3	Dried
Onions	2 medium	Chopped
Tomato Puree	1 cup	Or 3-4 fresh tomatoes, pureed
Ginger-Garlic Paste	1 tablespoon	From pureeing fresh ginger & garlic with tomatoes
Fennel Seeds	1 teaspoon	Coarsely ground
Turmeric Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
Kashmiri Red Chili Powder	1 teaspoon	For color and mild heat

Coriander Powder	1 teaspoon	
Garam Masala	1 teaspoon	
Salt	To taste	
Water	1 cup	Or as needed
Kasuri Methi (Dried Fenugreek Leaves)	1 tablespoon	Crushed
Table Cream (Optional)	2-3 tablespoons	For finishing
Fresh Cilantro	For garnish	Chopped

### Instant Pot Method:

- Prepare Potatoes: Wash and peel the baby potatoes. If using larger potatoes, peel and cut them
  into 1.5-inch pieces. You can prick the baby potatoes with a fork a few times if desired
  (traditional step, helps absorb masala).
- 2. Prepare Aromatics for Sauce: Chop onions. Puree fresh tomatoes along with ginger and garlic to make a paste, or have tomato puree and separate ginger-garlic paste ready. Coarsely grind fennel seeds.
- 3. Sauté Spices and Onions: Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Add oil. Once hot, add cumin seeds, black cardamom, and whole red chilies. Sauté for a few seconds until fragrant.
- 4. Add chopped onions and sauté until they turn light golden brown.
- 5. Cook Masala: Add the tomato-ginger-garlic puree (or tomato puree and ginger-garlic paste). Stir in turmeric powder, Kashmiri red chili powder, coriander powder, ground fennel seeds, and salt. Cook for 3-5 minutes, stirring, until the masala thickens and oil starts to separate.
- 6. Add Potatoes and Pressure Cook: Add the prepared potatoes to the pot. Add 1 cup of water (or enough to just cover the potatoes). Mix well.
- 7. Cancel "Sauté" mode. Secure the lid and set the valve to "Sealing." Pressure cook on High for 5-8 minutes (5 for baby potatoes, up to 8 for larger chunks, adjust based on potato size and type).

- 8. Natural Pressure Release (Partial): Once the cooking cycle is complete, allow pressure to release naturally for 5-10 minutes, then perform a quick release.
- 9. Finish and Serve: Open the lid. Stir in garam masala and crushed kasuri methi. If using, stir in table cream. If the gravy is too thin, you can simmer it on "Sauté" mode for a few minutes to thicken. Garnish with fresh cilantro. Serve hot with naan, roti, or rice.

### Stovetop Method (Derived from Ministry of Curry for similar dish):

- 1. Prepare potatoes and aromatics as above.
- 2. Heat oil in a heavy-bottomed pan. Add whole spices. Add onions and sauté until golden.
- 3. Add tomato-ginger-garlic puree and powdered spices. Cook until oil separates.
- 4. Add potatoes and water. Bring to a boil, then cover and simmer for 20-25 minutes, or until potatoes are tender.
- 5. Finish with garam masala, kasuri methi, and optional cream. Garnish and serve.

- 1. Potato Choice: Baby potatoes are traditional and absorb flavors well. If using larger potatoes, ensure they are cut into uniform 1.5-inch pieces for even cooking.
- 2. Fennel Seed Flavor: Coarsely ground fennel seeds are a key ingredient in Punjabi Dum Aloo, lending a unique sweet and aromatic note to the dish. Don't skip it for authentic flavor.
- 3. Creamy Gravy: The gravy gets its richness from the tomato-onion base. Adding a touch of cream at the end enhances this, but it can be omitted or substituted with cashew paste for a vegan version (adjusting other ingredients accordingly).

### Recipe 49: Mixed Vegetable Curry

The specific recipe for a generic "Mixed Vegetable Curry" distinct from "Veg Korma" (Recipe 41) or "Navratan Korma" (Recipe 42) was not explicitly found under this exact name in the primary provided source (thebellyrulesthemind.net).

Indian cuisine features a vast array of mixed vegetable preparations. "Veg Korma" often implies a creamy, mildly spiced curry, typically with a nut or yogurt/coconut milk base. "Navratan Korma" is a richer, more elaborate version, often containing nine different "gems" (vegetables, fruits, nuts, and paneer) in a luxurious creamy sauce.

If you are looking for a simpler, everyday mixed vegetable stir-fry or a basic tomato-onion based curry, many recipes can be adapted. For instance:

- A simple "Sabji" can be made by tempering spices like cumin and mustard seeds, sautéing
  onions, ginger, garlic, and tomatoes, then adding mixed chopped vegetables (like carrots, peas,
  beans, potatoes, cauliflower) with basic spices (turmeric, chili powder, coriander powder) and
  cooking until tender.
- The base gravy from "Kadai Paneer" (Recipe 21, replacing paneer with mixed vegetables) or a simplified "Bhuna Masala" (Recipe 2) could also serve as a foundation for a mixed vegetable curry.

To provide a distinct recipe here as requested, please specify if you have a particular style of "Mixed Vegetable Curry" in mind (e.g., dry stir-fry, simple tomato-based gravy, specific regional style not already covered). Otherwise, you can refer to the "Veg Korma" recipe for a creamy mixed vegetable curry or adapt other basic curry recipes by substituting the main protein/vegetable with a mix of your choice.

## Recipe 50: Lauki Kofta Curry (Bottle Gourd Dumplings Curry)

Ingredients for Lauki Koftas (Bottle Gourd Dumplings)

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Lauki (Bottle Gourd/Squash/Calabash)	1.5 cups	Grated
Besan (Chickpea Flour)	5 tablespoons	Adjust as needed for binding
Rice Flour	2 tablespoons	For crispness
Turmeric Powder	1/4 teaspoon	
Ginger Garlic Paste	1/2 teaspoon	
Onion	2 tablespoons	Finely chopped
Green Chili (optional)	1	Finely chopped
Salt	To taste	
Oil	2 tablespoons (for Appe pan)	Or more for shallow/deep frying

Step-by-Step Instructions for Lauki Koftas (using Appe Pan)

- 1. Prepare Lauki: Wash, peel, and grate the lauki (bottle gourd). Squeeze out excess water from the grated lauki using your hands or by pressing it in a sieve. Reserve the water; it can be used to cook a curry or stew.
- 2. Make Kofta Mixture: In a large mixing bowl, combine the grated and squeezed lauki, chickpea flour (besan), rice flour, turmeric powder, ginger garlic paste, finely chopped onion, finely chopped green chili (if using), and salt.

- 3. Mix well to form a dough-like mixture. If the mixture is too watery and doesn't hold shape, add a little more chickpea flour, one tablespoon at a time. Do not let this mixture sit for too long, as lauki will continue to release water.
- 4. Shape Koftas: Grease your palms lightly. Take small portions of the mixture and shape them into evenly sized balls that will fit into the cavities of an appe pan (aebleskiver pan).

#### 5. Cook Koftas in Appe Pan:

- o Heat an appe pan over medium heat. Add a few drops of oil into each cavity.
- o Once the pan is hot, place one lauki kofta ball into each cavity.
- Cook on low to medium heat, turning the koftas consistently with a skewer or spoon, so they cook evenly on all sides until golden brown and crisp. This may take 5-7 minutes per batch.
- 6. Serving Koftas: The lauki koftas can be served as is with green chutney or your favorite dipping sauce.

## For Lauki Kofta Curry (Gravy):

The provided source focuses on the preparation of the Lauki Koftas themselves and mentions, "the best way to enjoy them is to dunk them in your curry." It does not detail a specific curry recipe to accompany these koftas.

You can prepare a separate curry gravy to serve with these Lauki Koftas. A common choice would be a simple tomato-onion based gravy, similar to those used for other kofta dishes or vegetable curries. You could adapt:

- The gravy base from Bhuna Masala (Recipe 2).
- A simplified version of the Makhani Gravy (Recipe 47), perhaps less creamy.
- A basic tomato-onion sauce by sautéing cumin seeds, onions, ginger-garlic paste, then adding tomato puree, turmeric, chili powder, coriander powder, salt, and simmering until thickened.
   Add water for desired consistency. Gently add the prepared lauki koftas to the simmering gravy and cook for a few minutes before serving.

## Expert Tips & Tricks for Koftas

- 1. Squeeze Lauki Well: It's crucial to squeeze out as much water as possible from the grated lauki. Excess moisture will require more besan, potentially making the koftas dense.
- 2. Binding Consistency: The kofta mixture should be just firm enough to hold its shape. If it's too loose, add a bit more besan. If too dry, a sprinkle of the reserved lauki water can help.

3.	Even Cooking in Appe Pan: Cook koftas on low to medium heat in the appe pan and turn them
	frequently to ensure they cook through evenly and get a uniform golden-brown color without burning.

# Recipe 51: Punjabi Kadhi Pakora

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Yogurt / Curd	2 cups	Use fresh, thick yogurt. For a tangier taste, use sour yogurt or let it ferment for a few hours.
Besan (Gram Flour)	1/2 cup	Also known as chickpea flour.
Water	7 cups	
Oil	2 tbsp	Any neutral cooking oil.
Hing (Asafoetida)	1/4 tsp	An essential spice for its unique savory flavor.
Crushed Coriander Seeds	1 tsp	Provides a fresh, citrusy aroma when crushed.
Fenugreek Seeds (Methi Dana)	1/4 tsp	Use sparingly; adds a characteristic, slightly bitter complexity.
Onion	1 medium	Finely chopped.
Ginger-Garlic Paste	1 tsp	
Green Chilies	2-3	Slit or chopped, adjust to your spice preference.
Turmeric Powder	1 tsp	For color and earthy flavor.
Red Chili Powder	1/2 tsp	Adjust to your heat preference.
Coriander Powder	1 tsp	
Salt	To taste	
Ghee	2 tbsp	For the final tempering (tadka).
Dry Red Chilies	2	For the final tempering (tadka).
Red Chili Powder (for Tadka)	1 tsp	For color and heat in the final tempering.
Cilantro Leaves	A handful	Finely chopped, for the final tempering.
Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Besan (Gram Flour)	1 cup	The primary binding agent.
Onion	1 medium	Thinly sliced.
Green Chilies	2	Thinly sliced.
Carom Seeds (Ajwain)	1/4 tsp	Adds a pungent flavor and aids digestion.
Cilantro Leaves	1 tsp	Chopped.
Salt	To taste	
Water	3-4 tbsp	Add gradually as needed to form a dense batter.
Oil	For Frying	

#### 1. Prepare Yogurt Mix for Kadhi:

- o In a large bowl, whisk the yogurt until smooth.
- Gradually add 1/2 cup of besan (gram flour) and whisk continuously to avoid lumps, forming a smooth paste.
- Slowly add 4-5 cups of water, whisking constantly, to create a thin, lump-free mixture.
   Set aside.

#### 2. Make Kadhi:

- Heat oil or ghee in a deep pot or kadai over medium heat.
- Add asafoetida, cumin seeds, fenugreek seeds, and crushed coriander seeds. Let them splutter and become fragrant.
- o Add chopped onions and cook until slightly transparent or light golden.
- Add ginger-garlic paste and green chilies. Sauté for about a minute until the raw smell disappears.
- Add turmeric powder, coriander powder, and red chili powder. Cook for 30 seconds, stirring.
- Slowly pour in the prepared yogurt-besan mixture, stirring continuously to prevent curdling.
- o Bring the kadhi to a boil, still stirring constantly. Once it boils, add salt to taste.
- Reduce the heat to low, cover the pot partially (leaving a small gap for steam to escape), and let the kadhi simmer for at least 20-25 minutes, or until it thickens slightly and the raw taste of besan is gone. Stir occasionally to prevent sticking. If it becomes too thick, add a little hot water.
- o If using, stir in crushed kasuri methi in the last 5 minutes of simmering.

#### 3. Make Pakoras:

- While the kadhi is simmering, prepare the pakoras. In a mixing bowl, combine 1 cup besan, sliced onions, chopped green chilies (if using), carom seeds, chopped cilantro, red chili powder, and salt.
- Gradually add about 3-4 tablespoons of water (or as needed) to make a thick batter that coats the onions well. Do not make it too runny.
- $\circ\quad$  Heat oil for deep frying in a separate pan or kadai over medium heat.

- Once the oil is hot, drop small spoonfuls of the pakora batter into the oil. Fry in batches until the pakoras are golden brown and crisp.
- Remove the fried pakoras with a slotted spoon and drain them on paper towels.

#### 4. Combine Kadhi and Pakoras:

 Once the kadhi has simmered and thickened, gently add the fried pakoras to it. Simmer for another 2-3 minutes to allow the pakoras to absorb some of the kadhi.

## 5. Prepare Final Tempering (Tadka):

- o Heat 1 tablespoon of ghee in a small tadka pan.
- o Add whole dry red chilies. Once they darken slightly, turn off the heat.
- Add 1/4 teaspoon of red chili powder (Kashmiri for color) and chopped cilantro to the hot ghee. Be careful as chili powder can burn quickly.
- o Immediately pour this tempering over the Punjabi Kadhi Pakora.
- 6. Serve: Serve hot with steamed rice, jeera rice, or roti.

- Smooth Kadhi Batter: To prevent lumps in your kadhi, whisk the besan thoroughly with a small amount of yogurt first to make a smooth paste, then gradually incorporate the rest of the yogurt and water.
- 2. Continuous Stirring: When adding the yogurt-besan mixture to the hot pot, stir continuously until it comes to a boil. This is crucial to prevent the yogurt from curdling.
- 3. Simmer for Flavor: Allow the kadhi to simmer on low heat for a good 20-25 minutes. This slow cooking develops the flavors and ensures the raw taste of besan is completely gone.

# Recipe 52: Vegetable Kofta Curry (Shortcut Method)

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For the Curry Sauce:		
Ghee or Oil	1 tablespoon	Use oil for vegan
Onion	1 medium	Finely chopped
Ginger Paste	1 teaspoon	
Garlic Paste	1 teaspoon	
Turmeric Powder	1/4 teaspoon	
Red Chili Powder (Kashmiri preferred)	1/2 - 1 teaspoon	Adjust to taste
Tomatoes	3 plum	Pureed (or 1 cup canned tomato puree)
Coconut Milk (watery part first, then cream)	1 can	Refrigerate can to separate cream and water
Salt	To taste	
Tomato Paste	2 tablespoons	
Garam Masala	1 teaspoon	Or to taste

Kasuri Methi (Dried Fenugreek Leaves)	2 tablespoons	Crushed
Sugar	2 teaspoons	
For the Koftas:		
Frozen Vegetable Balls/Meatballs	24	(e.g., IKEA GRÖNSAKSBULLAR, Trader Joe's veggie balls, or similar)
Garnish:		
Cilantro	1/4 cup	Chopped

#### Instant Pot Method:

- Prepare Coconut Milk: If using canned coconut milk, refrigerate the can for a few hours or freeze
  for about 20 minutes. This helps the thick cream separate from the watery liquid. Scoop out the
  thick cream and set it aside. Use the watery part first in the recipe.
- 2. Sauté Aromatics: Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté (More)" mode. Add ghee or oil.
- 3. Add finely chopped onion and salt. Cook, stirring occasionally, until onions are soft and translucent (about 2 minutes). Cover with a glass lid to speed up the process if desired.
- 4. Add ginger paste and garlic paste. Sauté for another minute until fragrant.
- 5. Cook Masala: Add turmeric powder and red chili powder. Mix well.
- 6. Stir in the pureed tomatoes and the watery part of the coconut milk. Mix well, scraping the bottom of the pot.
- Pressure Cook Sauce: Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the valve to "Sealing." Cancel
  "Sauté" mode. Select "Pressure Cook" (or "Manual") mode and cook on High pressure for 4
  minutes.
- 8. Quick Release and Blend: Once the cooking cycle is complete, perform a quick pressure release. Open the lid. Allow the sauce to cool for a couple of minutes.
- 9. Using an immersion blender, carefully blend the sauce in the pot until smooth.

- 10. Finish Curry and Add Koftas: Turn the Instant Pot back to "Sauté" mode. Stir in tomato paste, garam masala, crushed kasuri methi, and sugar.
- 11. Add the frozen vegetable balls (koftas) to the sauce. Cook on Sauté mode for about 5 minutes, or until the koftas are heated through, stirring gently.
- 12. Stir in the reserved thick coconut cream (or heavy cream/cashew cream if not using coconut milk). Gently mix everything together.
- 13. Serve: Garnish with chopped cilantro. Serve hot with rice, naan, or paratha.

#### Stovetop Method:

- 1. Heat ghee/oil in a heavy-bottomed pot. Add onions and salt; cook until soft (6-8 mins). Add ginger-garlic paste, sauté.
- 2. Add turmeric, red chili powder. Stir in pureed tomatoes and watery coconut milk. Cook covered for 10-12 minutes on medium heat.
- 3. Blend sauce until smooth. Return to pot.
- 4. Stir in tomato paste, garam masala, kasuri methi, sugar. Add frozen vegetable balls. Cook covered on medium-low for 5-7 minutes until heated through.
- 5. Stir in thick coconut cream. Garnish and serve.

- Shortcut Koftas: This recipe utilizes store-bought frozen vegetable meatballs (like IKEA's GRÖNSAKSBULLAR or similar brands) as a quick alternative to making koftas from scratch, saving significant prep time.
- 2. Creamy Coconut Milk: Refrigerating the can of coconut milk allows the thick cream to separate from the watery liquid. Using the watery part for cooking the sauce base and stirring in the thick cream at the end results in a richer, creamier curry.
- 3. Balancing Flavors: The sugar helps to balance the tanginess of the tomatoes and the richness of the coconut milk/cream, while kasuri methi adds a unique, slightly bitter, and aromatic finish.

# Chapter 10: Flavorful Rice Dishes, Pulaos & Quinoa

Rice, in its myriad forms, is more than just a staple in the Indian subcontinent; it's a canvas for culinary artistry, a symbol of festivity, and a source of daily sustenance for millions. From the fluffy, fragrant grains that accompany everyday dals and curries to the elaborate, spice-laden biryanis and pulaos that grace celebratory tables, rice dishes hold a place of profound importance. In recent times, the ancient grain quinoa has also found its way into these traditional formats, offering a nutritious and versatile alternative that beautifully adapts to Indian flavors.

The art of preparing rice in Indian cuisine is a delicate balance of technique and spicing. Achieving perfectly cooked, separate grains, each infused with the aroma of whole spices like cardamom, cloves, and cinnamon, is a skill honed in kitchens across the land. Regional variations abound, with each part of India offering its unique take on rice preparations – from the coconut-infused rice dishes of the South to the saffron-tinged pulsos of the North. This chapter explores the techniques to bring these diverse and flavorful experiences to your home.

Within these pages, you will embark on a journey through a delightful spectrum of rice and quinoa dishes. We will explore the vibrant Street Style Vegetable Fried Rice, the tropical Pineapple Quinoa Fried Rice, and the classic Vegetable Pulao. You'll learn to create a wholesome Quinoa Pulao, aromatic Coconut Rice, and the ever-popular Veg Biryani. We also delve into regional specialties like Tahiri and Indian Tomato Rice, alongside comforting staples such as Yellow Rice, Peas Pulao, rich Paneer Biryani, and nutritious Spinach Rice, all designed to bring authentic and exciting flavors to your dining table.

# Recipe 53: Street Style Vegetable Fried Rice

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Cooked Basmati Rice (or Basmati Sella/Sona Masoori)	2 cups	Cold and refrigerated (preferably day-old)
Oil	2 tablespoons	Sesame or any neutral oil preferred
Garlic Cloves	2-3	Finely chopped
Ginger	1-inch piece	Finely chopped
Green Chilies	2-3	Slit or finely chopped
Spring Onion Whites	1/4 cup	Chopped
Carrots	1/4 cup	Diced or julienned
Bell Peppers (mixed colors)	1/4 cup	Diced or thinly sliced
Green Beans	1/4 cup	Diced
Cabbage (optional)	1/4 cup	Shredded
Soy Sauce	2 tablespoons	Low sodium if possible
White Vinegar or Rice Vinegar	1 tablespoon	

Green Chili Sauce	1 tablespoon	Adjust to taste
Black Pepper	To taste	Freshly ground
Spring Onion Greens	For garnish	Chopped
Lemon Juice (optional)	A bit for garnish	
Salt	1/2 teaspoon (for boiling rice)	
Oil (for boiling rice)	1 tablespoon	

## 1. Cook and Cool Rice (if not using leftovers):

- o Boil water with 1/2 teaspoon salt and 1 tablespoon oil. Add rice.
- o Cook until 80% done (al-dente).
- Strain, rinse under cold water, drain well, and refrigerate for at least 6 hours (or preferably overnight) before stir-frying.

# 2. Prepare Vegetables:

- Chop all vegetables (carrots, bell peppers, green beans, cabbage) to about the size of a pea, or julienne them.
- o Finely chop garlic, ginger, spring onion whites, and green chilies.

#### 3. Stir-fry:

- o Heat your wok until very hot. Add 2 tablespoons of oil and swirl it around.
- Add finely chopped garlic, ginger, green chilies, and the chopped spring onion whites.
   Fry for a few seconds until aromatic.
- Add the carrots and cook on high heat for about a minute. Then add bell peppers, green beans, and cabbage (if using). Stir-fry everything for 2-3 minutes. The vegetables should remain crunchy.

- Add soy sauce and allow it to caramelize for a couple of minutes. Then add vinegar, green chili sauce, and black pepper. Mix well.
- Gently add the cold, cooked rice to the wok. Mix gently but thoroughly, ensuring each grain is coated with the sauce and mixed with the vegetables.
- Finish by topping with fresh spring onion greens and a bit of lemon juice if desired. Serve hot.

- 1. Use Cold, Day-Old Rice: For the best texture in fried rice, always use rice that has been cooked and thoroughly chilled, preferably day-old. This prevents the rice from becoming mushy.
- 2. High Heat and Quick Cooking: Authentic street-style fried rice is cooked quickly over high heat. This keeps the vegetables crunchy and gives the dish a characteristic smoky flavor (wok hei).
- 3. Prep All Ingredients Before Starting: Indo-Chinese cooking is fast-paced. Have all your vegetables chopped and sauces measured out before you begin heating the wok.

# Recipe 54: Pineapple Quinoa Fried Rice

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Quinoa	1 cup	Uncooked
Water or Vegetable Stock	1 cup	For cooking quinoa
Green Peas	1/2 cup	Frozen
Bell Peppers (any color)	1/2 cup	Chopped
Onion	1/2 cup	Chopped
Fresh Pineapple	1 cup	Chopped
Green Onions	1/2 cup	Chopped
Carrots	1/2 cup	Chopped
Cabbage	1/2 cup	Chopped
Corn	1/4 cup	Frozen or fresh
Garlic Cloves	2	Chopped finely
Ginger	1/2 teaspoon	Chopped finely
Coconut Aminos or Soy Sauce	1-1/2 teaspoon	Gluten-free soy sauce if needed

Vinegar	1 teaspoon	
Sesame Oil or Olive Oil	2 teaspoons	
Roasted Cashews or Peanuts (optional)	Handful	For garnish
Salt	To taste	
Black Pepper	To taste	
Red Hot Chili Flakes (optional)	For garnish	For a kick of heat

#### Instant Pot Method:

- 1. Rinse Quinoa: Rinse the quinoa thoroughly under cold water.
- 2. Sauté Aromatics and Veggies: Set the Instant Pot to "SAUTE" mode. When it displays "HOT," add oil. Add finely chopped ginger and garlic, and sauté for a moment.
- 3. Add all the chopped vegetables (bell peppers, onion, carrots, cabbage, corn, green peas) and give it a stir.
- 4. Cook Quinoa: Add the rinsed quinoa, chopped pineapple, soy sauce (or coconut aminos), vinegar, salt, and black pepper to taste. Add 1 cup of water or vegetable stock. Stir everything together.
- 5. Close the Instant Pot lid and set the pressure valve to "Sealing." Pressure cook on High for 1 minute.
- 6. Natural Release: Once the cooking is complete, allow the pressure to release naturally for 10 minutes. After 10 minutes, perform a quick release of any remaining pressure.
- 7. Finish and Serve: Open the lid carefully. Sprinkle with chopped green onions and roasted cashews or peanuts (if using). Add red hot chili flakes or Sriracha for a kick of heat, if desired. Serve hot or warm.

## Stovetop Method:

1. Cook Quinoa: Boil 2 cups of water. Add 1 cup of rinsed quinoa, stir, and cover. Cook on low heat for 10-15 minutes or until all water has been absorbed and quinoa is fluffy.

- 2. Sauté Veggies: In a skillet or wok, heat oil over medium-high heat. Add chopped garlic and ginger, sauté for a minute.
- 3. Add the chopped vegetables (bell peppers, onion, carrots, cabbage, corn, green peas) and cook for 2-3 minutes until slightly tender-crisp.
- 4. Combine: Add the cooked quinoa and pineapple chunks to the skillet. Stir in soy sauce (or coconut aminos), vinegar, salt, and black pepper. Stir until everything is combined and heated through.
- 5. Serve: Sprinkle with green onions and roasted cashews/peanuts (if using). Serve hot.

- 1. Use Fresh Pineapple: Fresh pineapple provides the best flavor and texture for this dish compared to canned.
- 2. Customize Veggies: This recipe is very versatile. Feel free to use any leftover vegetables you have on hand. Ensure they are chopped to a similar size for even cooking.
- 3. Nut-Free Option: If you have nut allergies, simply omit the roasted cashews or peanuts. The dish will still be delicious.

# Recipe 55: Vegetable Pulao

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For Rice:		
Ghee	1 tablespoon	Use oil for vegan
Long-Grain Basmati Rice	1 cup	Rinsed and drained
Water	2 cups	For cooking rice (stovetop) / 1 cup (Instant Pot)
Kosher Salt	1 teaspoon	For rice
Shah Jeera (Caraway Seeds)	1 teaspoon	Or regular cumin seeds
Indian Bay Leaf	1	
Cloves	6	Whole
Black Peppercorns	12	Whole
Green Cardamom Pods	3	Whole
For Vegetables:		
Ghee	4 tablespoons	Divided (use oil for vegan)
Yellow Onion	1 medium	Thinly sliced

Cashews (optional)	Handful	For frying
Cauliflower	2 cups	Cut into 1-inch florets
Carrots	2	Cut into 2-inch x ¼ inch thin strips
Green Beans	1 cup	Diagonally cut into 1-inch pieces
Frozen Green Peas	1/2 cup	
Frozen Corn	1/2 cup	
Kosher Salt	2 teaspoons	For vegetables
Garam Masala	1/2 teaspoon	Fresh homemade recommended

Stovetop Method (as per Ministry of Curry - Mom's Veg Pulao):

## 1. Cook the Rice:

- o Rinse 1 cup of basmati rice 2-3 times and drain all water.
- In a medium pan, heat 1 tablespoon of ghee. Add shah jeera (or cumin seeds), bay leaf, cloves, peppercorns, and green cardamom pods. Sauté for a minute on medium heat until fragrant.
- o Add the drained rice, 2 cups of water, and 1 teaspoon of kosher salt. Give a quick stir.
- Bring to a full boil on medium-high heat. Once boiling, lower the heat, cover the pan, and cook for 10 minutes.
- Turn off the heat and remove the lid, allowing the rice to cool down as you cook the vegetables.

# 2. Prepare the Vegetables:

 In a separate medium frying pan, heat 1 tablespoon of ghee. Add cashews (if using) and fry until lightly browned. Remove cashews, keeping excess ghee in the pan, and set aside.

- Add the thinly sliced onions to the same pan and cook until translucent and lightly golden. Remove onions and set aside.
- Add 1/2 tablespoon of ghee to the pan. Add cauliflower florets and cook until tender (about 5 minutes). Remove and set aside, keeping excess ghee in the pan.
- Add green beans and carrots to the pan. Fry for 5 minutes until tender, adding more ghee if needed.
- o Add frozen peas and corn. Cook for 2 minutes or until fully heated through.
- Add the reserved cooked cauliflower, 2 teaspoons of kosher salt, and 1/2 teaspoon of garam masala. Mix well.

#### 3. Combine and Serve:

- o Add the cooked rice to a large bowl and allow it to cool down slightly.
- Add the cooked vegetable mixture to the bowl with the rice. Mix lightly with a silicone spatula.
- Return the mixed pulao to the pot used for cooking rice. Garnish with the fried cashews (if used) and reserved fried onions.
- Cook covered on low heat for 5-10 minutes, or until the pulao is heated through. Serve hot.

Instant Pot Method (Derived from Ministry of Curry for Veg Pulao):

- 1. Rinse 1 cup of basmati rice.
- 2. Set Instant Pot to "Sauté". Add 1-2 tablespoons ghee/oil. Add whole spices (shah jeera, bay leaf, cloves, peppercorns, cardamom). Sauté for 30 seconds.
- 3. Add sliced onions and cook until translucent.
- 4. Add all chopped vegetables (cauliflower, carrots, green beans, peas, corn). Stir well.
- 5. Turn off "Sauté" mode. Add the drained rice, 1 teaspoon salt, 1/2 teaspoon garam masala, and 1 cup of water. Stir gently, ensuring most rice is under water.
- 6. Close lid, set valve to "Sealing." Pressure cook on Low for 5 minutes, followed by a quick release.
- 7. Garnish with fried cashews/onions (prepared separately) and fresh cilantro. Fluff gently and serve.

- 1. Cool Rice Before Mixing: Allowing the cooked rice to cool slightly before mixing with the vegetables helps prevent the grains from breaking and becoming mushy.
- 2. Sauté Vegetables Separately: For the stovetop method, sautéing the vegetables individually or in small batches ensures they are cooked perfectly and retain their texture and color.
- 3. Use Fresh Garam Masala: Using fresh, preferably homemade, garam masala significantly enhances the aroma and flavor of the pulao.

# Recipe 56: Quinoa Pulao

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Quinoa	1 cup	Rinsed
Low Sodium Vegetable Broth or Water	1 cup	For Instant Pot (2.5 cups for stovetop)
Green Chilies	2-3	Adjust to taste
Oil	1 tablespoon	
Ginger & Garlic Paste	1/2 tablespoon	
Bay Leaf	1	
Onion	1/2 medium	Chopped
Cumin Seeds	1 teaspoon	
Green Peas	1/2 cup	Fresh or frozen
Green Beans	1/2 cup	Chopped
Carrots	1/2 cup	Chopped
Cauliflower Florets	1/2 cup	Small

Lemon Juice	1 tablespoon	Freshly squeezed
Red Chili Powder	1 teaspoon	
Turmeric Powder	1 teaspoon	
Cumin Powder	1 teaspoon	
Garam Masala	1/2 teaspoon	
Salt	To taste	
Cilantro	For garnish	Chopped

#### Instant Pot Method:

- 1. Prepare Ingredients: Rinse the quinoa thoroughly under cold water. Chop all vegetables.
- 2. Sauté Aromatics: Press the "Sauté" button on the Instant Pot. Once it displays "HOT," add the oil.
- 3. Add the bay leaf and cumin seeds. Let them splutter.
- 4. Add the chopped onion, ginger & garlic paste, and green chilies (if using). Stir and sauté until onions are translucent.
- 5. Add Vegetables and Spices: Add the chopped vegetables (green peas, green beans, carrots, cauliflower).
- 6. Stir in the spices: red chili powder, turmeric powder, cumin powder, garam masala, and salt to taste. Mix well to coat the vegetables.
- 7. Cook Quinoa: Add the rinsed quinoa and 1 cup of vegetable broth or water. Stir everything together.
- 8. Cancel "Sauté" mode. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the pressure valve to "Sealing."
- 9. Press the "Manual" or "Pressure Cook" button and cook on High pressure for 1 minute.
- 10. Natural Release: Let the pressure release naturally for 10 minutes. After 10 minutes, perform a quick pressure release of any remaining pressure.

11. Finish and Serve: Open the Instant Pot. Add the lemon juice and garnish with chopped cilantro. Fluff gently with a fork. Serve hot or warm with yogurt or raita.

## Stovetop Method:

- 1. Rinse Quinoa: Rinse quinoa thoroughly.
- 2. Sauté: Heat oil in a pot over medium-high heat. Add bay leaf and cumin seeds. Once cumin seeds splutter, add chopped onion, ginger-garlic paste, and green chilies. Sauté until onions are translucent.
- Add Vegetables and Spices: Add chopped vegetables (peas, green beans, carrots, cauliflower)
  and spices (red chili powder, turmeric, cumin powder, garam masala, salt). Sauté for a couple
  of minutes, stirring occasionally.
- 4. Cook Quinoa: Add the rinsed quinoa to the pot. You can let some of the quinoa get a little toasted by stirring for a minute.
- 5. Add 2.5 cups of water or vegetable broth. Bring to a boil.
- 6. Simmer: Reduce the heat to low, cover the pot partially (to let some steam escape), and simmer for 20 minutes, or until the quinoa is tender and the water has been absorbed.
- 7. Finish: Remove from heat. Add lemon juice and chopped cilantro. Fluff with a fork and serve.

- 1. Rinse Quinoa Well: Always rinse quinoa thoroughly before cooking to remove its natural coating called saponin, which can impart a bitter taste.
- 2. Versatile Veggie Mix: This recipe is highly adaptable. Use any combination of your favorite vegetables. Ensure they are chopped to a similar size for even cooking.
- 3. Don't Skip Lemon Juice: The final squeeze of lemon juice brightens up all the flavors of the pulao and adds a refreshing tang.

# Recipe 57: Green Coconut Cilantro Rice

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For Green Coconut Cilantro Masala Paste:		
Cilantro	1 cup	Fresh
Coconut	1 cup	Shredded or fresh coconut meat
Garlic Cloves	8-10	
Green Chilies (optional)	3	Adjust to taste
For Tempering and Rice:		
Coconut Oil / Ghee (clarified butter)	4 tablespoons	
Cumin Seeds	1 teaspoon	
Black Cardamoms	3	Whole
Cloves	5	Whole
Bay Leaves	3	
Cinnamon Sticks	3	1-inch pieces

Onions	1 cup	Diced
Rice (Basmati recommended)	1 cup	Rinsed
Water	1.5 cups	For Instant Pot (adjust for stovetop if needed)
Salt	To taste	

# 1. Prepare Green Coconut Cilantro Masala Paste:

- o In a blender, combine fresh cilantro, shredded coconut (or coconut meat), garlic cloves, and green chilies (if using).
- Blend to a smooth paste. You may need to add a tablespoon or two of water to help it blend. Set aside.

## 2. Temper Spices (Instant Pot Method):

- Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. When it displays "HOT," add coconut oil or ghee.
- Once hot, add cumin seeds, black cardamoms, cloves, bay leaves, and cinnamon sticks. Sauté for about 30 seconds until fragrant.

#### 3. Sauté Onions and Masala Paste:

- o Add the diced onions to the pot. Sauté until they change color or turn translucent.
- Add the prepared green coconut cilantro masala paste. Sauté, stirring frequently, until the oil starts to separate from the masala (approximately 5-8 minutes).

## 4. Toast and Cook Rice:

- Add the rinsed rice to the pot. Gently toast the rice with the masala for a minute or two, stirring carefully.
- o Add 1.5 cups of water and salt to taste. Stir well.
- Thoroughly deglaze the bottom of the pot to prevent any food particles from sticking, which can cause a "Burn" notice.
- Cancel "Sauté" mode. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the pressure valve to "Sealing."

o Pressure cook on High for 6 minutes.

#### 5. Natural Release and Serve:

- o Once the cooking cycle is complete, allow the pressure to release naturally.
- o Open the lid carefully. Fluff the coconut rice gently with a fork.
- o Serve hot as a side dish or a main course with yogurt or raita.

## Stovetop Method:

- 1. Prepare the green coconut cilantro masala paste as in Step 1.
- 2. Heat coconut oil or ghee in a heavy-bottomed pot or pan. Add whole spices (cumin seeds, cardamoms, cloves, bay leaves, cinnamon) and sauté until fragrant.
- 3. Add diced onions and sauté until translucent. Add the masala paste and cook until oil separates.
- 4. Add rinsed rice and toast for a minute. Add 1.5 to 2 cups of water (adjust based on rice type) and salt.
- 5. Bring to a boil, then reduce heat to low, cover the pot, and simmer for 15-20 minutes, or until rice is cooked and water is absorbed.
- 6. Let it rest for 5 minutes, then fluff with a fork and serve.

- Fresh vs. Desiccated Coconut: While desiccated coconut can be used, using fresh coconut
  meat (or frozen fresh shredded coconut, easily found in Asian grocery stores) will yield a deeper,
  more authentic coconut flavor.
- 2. Toasting Rice: Gently toasting the rice in the masala before adding water enhances its nutty flavor and helps keep the grains separate.
- 3. Deglaze for Instant Pot: When using the Instant Pot, always deglaze the bottom of the inner pot thoroughly after sautéing and before pressure cooking to prevent the "Burn" error.

# Recipe 58: Veg Biryani

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Basmati Rice	1 cup	Soaked for 10 minutes, then rinsed and drained
Ghee (or Vegan Olive/Coconut Oil)	1 tablespoon	
Whole Spices:		
Cardamom Pods	2-3	
Cloves	3	Whole
Star Anise	2	Optional
Масе	1 piece	Optional
Bay Leaf	2	
Cinnamon Stick	1	1-inch piece
Cumin Seeds	1 teaspoon	
Vegetables & Aromatics:		
Onion	1 medium	Sliced

Ginger & Garlic Paste	1 tablespoon	
Carrots	1 cup	Diced
Peas	1 cup	Fresh or frozen
Green Beans	1/2 cup	Chopped
Gold Potatoes	1	Diced
Powdered Spices:		
Salt	To taste	
Red Chili Powder	1 teaspoon	Adjust to taste
Garam Masala	1 teaspoon	
Ground Cumin (Cumin Powder)	1/2 teaspoon	
Turmeric Powder	1/4 teaspoon	
Liquids & Herbs:		
Water	1 cup	For Instant Pot
Cilantro Leaves	Handful	Chopped
Mint Leaves	Handful	Chopped

Garnish (Optional):		
Roasted Cashews	Handful	
Dried Cranberries	Handful	
Dried Apricots	Handful	

#### Instant Pot Method:

1. Prepare Rice: Soak basmati rice in cold water for 10 minutes. Drain, rinse well, and set aside.

## 2. Sauté Aromatics and Whole Spices:

- o Press the "Sauté" button on the Instant Pot. Add ghee (or oil).
- When hot, add all the whole spices (cardamom pods, cloves, star anise, mace, bay leaf, cinnamon stick, cumin seeds) and cashews (if using for garnish and toasting now). Stir for a few seconds until fragrant.

## 3. Sauté Onions and Vegetables:

- o Add the sliced onions and sauté until they turn translucent or light golden.
- o Add the ginger & garlic paste and stir well for about 30 seconds.
- Add all the chopped vegetables (carrots, peas, green beans, potatoes). Stir-fry for a few minutes.

## 4. Add Spices, Rice, and Liquids:

- o Add salt, red chili powder, turmeric powder, garam masala, and ground cumin. Mix well.
- o Add chopped cilantro and mint leaves.
- o Add the soaked and drained rice, dried cranberries, and dried apricots (if using).
- Pour in 1 cup of water and stir everything gently to combine. Ensure most of the rice is submerged.

# 5. Pressure Cook:

Cancel "Sauté" mode. Close the lid of the Instant Pot and set the pressure valve to "Sealing."

Cook on High pressure for 5 minutes.

#### 6. Natural Release and Serve:

- Once the cooking cycle is complete, allow the pressure to release naturally for 5-10 minutes, then perform a quick release of any remaining pressure.
- o Open the lid carefully. Fluff the biryani gently with a fork.
- Garnish with more fresh cilantro, mint, and reserved toasted cashews if desired. Serve hot with raita or yogurt.

## Stovetop Method (General Adaptation):

- 1. Soak rice for 30 minutes. Drain.
- 2. Heat ghee/oil in a heavy-bottomed pot. Add whole spices and sauté.
- 3. Add onions, sauté until golden. Add ginger-garlic paste, sauté.
- 4. Add vegetables and powdered spices. Cook for 5-7 minutes.
- 5. Add soaked rice, chopped herbs, and about 1.5-2 cups of water (or as per rice package for stovetop). Add salt.
- 6. Bring to a boil, then reduce heat to low, cover tightly, and cook for 15-20 minutes or until rice is cooked and water is absorbed.
- 7. Let stand for 5-10 minutes, then fluff and serve garnished.

- 1. Quality of Rice: Use good quality, aged Basmati rice for the best aroma, flavor, and fluffy texture in your biryani. Soaking the rice is also important.
- Vegetable Variety: Feel free to use a mix of your favorite vegetables. Ensure they are cut to a
  relatively uniform size for even cooking. Popular additions include cauliflower, bell peppers,
  and sweet corn.
- 3. Layering (Optional for Richer Flavor): For a more traditional approach, you can cook the vegetable masala separately and then layer it with partially cooked rice before a final "dum" cooking (slow steaming). However, the one-pot Instant Pot method is quicker and still yields delicious results.

# Recipe 59: Tahiri (Rice & Vegetables)

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Ghee / Oil	3/4 cup	Use oil for vegan
Whole Spices:		
Bay Leaves	2	
Cinnamon Stick	1	1-inch piece
Star Anise	1	
Cloves	5-6	
Green Cardamom	6	
Black Cardamom	2	
Cumin Seeds	1 teaspoon	
Aromatics & Vegetables:		
Onions	2	Sliced
Ginger Garlic Paste	2 tablespoons	
Potatoes	3 medium	Cubed into 1-inch squares

Cauliflower Florets	1.5 cups	
Green Chilies	2-4	Slit, adjust to taste
Tomatoes	2	Sliced
Peas	1 cup	Fresh or frozen
Spice Powders & Yogurt:		
Whisked Yogurt	1 cup	Use vegan yogurt for vegan
Coriander Powder	1.5 tablespoons	
Red Chili Powder	1 teaspoon	Adjust to taste
Cumin Powder	1 teaspoon	
Turmeric Powder	1 teaspoon	
Rice & Liquid:		
Rice (Basmati recommended)	3 cups	Washed until water runs clear, then soaked in 5 cups water
Water for Soaking/Cooking	5 cups	The water rice is soaked in will be used
Salt	To taste	
Garnish:		

Garam Masala	1 teaspoon	
Cilantro	For garnish	Chopped

1. Prepare Rice: Wash the rice thoroughly until the water runs clear. Soak the rice in 5 cups of fresh water. This soaking water will be used for cooking.

#### 2. Sauté Whole Spices and Onions:

- Warm up ghee or oil in a large, heavy-bottomed pot over medium heat.
- Add all the whole spices: cumin seeds, bay leaves, cinnamon stick, star anise, cloves, green cardamom, and black cardamom. Cook until they are fragrant (about 30 seconds to a minute).
- o Add the sliced onions and cook until they turn translucent, but not browned.
- o Add the ginger garlic paste and cook for another minute until fragrant.

## 3. Cook Vegetables and Spiced Yogurt:

- Add the cubed potatoes and cauliflower florets to the pot. Mix well. Cover and cook for about 5 minutes to soften them slightly.
- In a separate bowl, mix the whisked yogurt with coriander powder, red chili powder, cumin powder, and turmeric powder.
- Add this spiced yogurt mixture to the pot. Cook on medium heat, stirring continuously, until the mixture comes to a bubble.
- o Add the slit green chilies, sliced tomatoes, and salt. Mix well.

#### 4. Add Rice and Cook:

- Add the green peas.
- Add the soaked rice along with its 5 cups of soaking water to the pot. Stir gently to combine all ingredients.
- Bring the mixture to a boil over medium heat.
- Once boiling, cover the pot tightly, reduce the heat to low or medium-low, and cook for about 20 minutes, or until the rice is fluffy and all the water has been absorbed. Do not lift the lid during this time.

#### 5. Rest and Serve:

- Once cooked, turn off the heat and let the Tahiri sit, covered, for at least 5-10 minutes.
   This allows the flavors to meld and the rice to finish steaming.
- o Garnish with a sprinkle of garam masala and fresh chopped cilantro.
- o Serve hot with raita, plain yogurt (especially sweetened yogurt), or a side salad.

- 1. Soaking Rice: Soaking the rice is important for achieving fluffy, well-cooked grains. Using the soaking water for cooking also helps retain some nutrients.
- 2. Yogurt Incorporation: When adding the spiced yogurt to the hot pot, stir continuously to prevent it from curdling and ensure a smooth gravy base.
- 3. Gentle Mixing: Once the rice is added, avoid stirring too much as it can break the grains and make the Tahiri mushy. A gentle stir to combine is sufficient.

# Recipe 60: Indian Tomato Rice

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For Tempering:		
Oil	2 tablespoons	Sunflower oil recommended
Curry Leaves	8-10	Fresh
Urad Dal (Split Black Gram, skinless)	1 teaspoon	
Chana Dal (Split Chickpeas)	1 teaspoon	
Green Chilies	2-3	Slit
Dry Red Chilies	1-2	Broken
Mustard Seeds	1 teaspoon	
Aromatics & Base:		
Onions	1 medium	Sliced
Tomatoes	3-4 large	Red ripe, chopped
Spices:		

Turmeric Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
Kashmiri Red Chili Powder	1 teaspoon	For color, adjust to taste
Salt	To taste	
Rice:		
Cooked Rice	3 cups	Preferably long-grain Basmati, leftover rice works well
Water (for cooking rice from scratch)	1.5 cups per 1 cup of rice (Instant Pot) / 2 cups per 1 cup rice (stovetop)	
Optional Ingredients for Tempering/Flavor:		
Fennel Seeds	1/2 teaspoon	
Whole Spices (Cloves, Peppercorns, Bay Leaf)	Few	As per preference
Cashews	Handful	
Ginger-Garlic Paste	1 teaspoon	
Garam Masala	1/2 teaspoon	
Asafoetida (Hing)	A pinch	
Garnish:		

Fresh Cilantro Leaves	For garnish	Chopped

## Using Leftover Cooked Rice (Stovetop):

- 1. Prepare Rice: If using leftover refrigerated rice, sprinkle it with a little water and microwave for about 1 minute to warm and loosen the grains. Fluff gently.
- 2. Tempering: Heat oil in a wok or a wide pan over medium heat.
- 3. Once the oil is hot, add mustard seeds. When they begin to splutter, add curry leaves, urad dal, chana dal, slit green chilies, and broken dry red chilies.
- 4. If using optional whole spices like fennel seeds, cloves, peppercorns, bay leaf, or cashews, add them now and roast for a minute until fragrant and cashews are lightly golden. Add asafoetida (if using).
- 5. Sauté Onions and Tomatoes: Add the sliced onions and sauté until they start to change color or turn translucent.
- 6. If using ginger-garlic paste, add it now and sauté for a minute until the raw smell disappears.
- 7. Add turmeric powder, Kashmiri red chili powder, salt, and garam masala (if using). Roast for about 30 seconds to a minute.
- 8. Add the chopped tomatoes. Mix well and sauté for a couple of minutes, or until the tomatoes soften and form a chunky sauce. You can cover with a lid for a couple of minutes to help them cook down.
- 9. Combine with Rice: Add the cooked rice to the tomato-onion masala. Mix gently but thoroughly, ensuring the rice is well coated with the masala.
- 10. Cook for another 2-3 minutes, stirring gently, until the rice is heated through.
- 11. Garnish and Serve: Garnish with fresh chopped cilantro leaves. Serve hot with raita, yogurt, or papad.

#### Making Rice from Scratch (Instant Pot):

- Rinse and Soak Rice: Rinse 1 cup of Basmati rice until water runs clear. Soak for 20-30 minutes.
   Drain.
- 2. Tempering and Sauté: Set Instant Pot to "Sauté" (normal heat). Add oil. Once hot, add tempering ingredients (mustard seeds, curry leaves, dals, chilies, optional whole spices/cashews, asafoetida).
- 3. Add sliced onions, sauté until translucent. Add ginger-garlic paste (if using).

- 4. Add powdered spices (turmeric, chili powder, salt, optional garam masala). Sauté for 30 seconds.
- 5. Add chopped tomatoes and cook until they form a chunky sauce.
- 6. Pressure Cook: Add the soaked and drained rice and 1.5 cups of water. Stir gently.
- 7. Cancel "Sauté." Secure lid, set valve to "Sealing." Pressure cook on High for 4-5 minutes.
- 8. Allow natural pressure release for 5-10 minutes, then quick release.
- 9. Fluff gently, garnish with cilantro, and serve.

- 1. Use Ripe Tomatoes: For the best tangy flavor and good color, use red, ripe tomatoes.
- 2. Rinse and Soak Rice: If making rice from scratch, rinsing it well removes excess starch, and soaking helps the grains cook up long and fluffy without breaking.
- 3. Gentle Mixing: When combining the cooked rice with the tomato masala, mix gently to avoid mashing the rice grains.

# Recipe 61: Yellow Rice

## Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Long Grain White Rice	1 cup	Basmati or Jasmine recommended
Vegetable Stock or Water	1 cup (for IP) / ~1.5-2 cups (stovetop)	Stock adds more flavor
Olive Oil	1 tablespoon	Or other light-tasting oil
Onion Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
Garlic Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
Turmeric Powder	1/2 teaspoon	Key for yellow color and flavor
Salt	To taste	
Black Pepper Powder	1/4 teaspoon	Or to taste
Bay Leaf	1	
Fresh Cilantro or Parsley (optional)	For garnish	Chopped

Step-by-Step Instructions

## Instant Pot Method:

1. Rinse Rice: Rinse the long-grain white rice several times under cold water until the water runs relatively clear. This removes excess starch and helps prevent sticky rice. Drain well.

- 2. Sauté Rice (Optional Toasting): Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Once it displays "HOT," add the olive oil.
- Add the rinsed and drained rice to the pot. Sauté for about 2 minutes, stirring frequently, until
  the rice grains begin to turn a light golden color or become fragrant. This step is optional but
  enhances flavor.
- 4. Add Spices and Liquid: Add salt to taste, onion powder, garlic powder, turmeric powder, black pepper powder, and the bay leaf. Stir to combine with the rice.
- 5. Pour in 1 cup of vegetable stock or water. Stir well.
- 6. Pressure Cook: Cancel "Sauté" mode. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the pressure valve to "Sealing."
- 7. Select "Manual" or "Pressure Cook" mode and set the timer for 5 minutes on High pressure.
- 8. Natural Release (Partial): Once the cooking cycle is complete, let the pressure release naturally for 3-5 minutes. Then, perform a quick release of any remaining pressure.
- 9. Serve: Carefully open the lid. Remove the bay leaf. Fluff the yellow rice lightly with a fork. Garnish with chopped fresh cilantro or parsley, if desired. Serve hot as a side dish.

#### Stovetop Method:

- 1. Rinse Rice: Rinse rice as described in Step 1.
- 2. Sauté Rice (Optional): In a medium saucepan with a tight-fitting lid, heat olive oil over medium heat. Add rinsed rice and sauté for 2 minutes, stirring.
- 3. Add Spices and Liquid: Add salt, onion powder, garlic powder, turmeric, black pepper, and bay leaf. Stir.
- 4. Pour in approximately 1.5 to 2 cups of vegetable stock or water (follow package instructions for your specific rice-to-liquid ratio for stovetop).
- 5. Cook: Bring the mixture to a boil. Once boiling, reduce the heat to low, cover the saucepan tightly, and simmer for 15-20 minutes, or until all the liquid is absorbed and the rice is tender. Do not lift the lid during simmering.
- 6. Rest and Serve: Remove from heat and let the rice stand, covered, for 5-10 minutes. Remove bay leaf, fluff with a fork, garnish if desired, and serve.

#### **Expert Tips & Tricks**

1. Rinse Rice Thoroughly: Rinsing the rice removes excess starch, which is key to achieving fluffy, separate grains rather than sticky rice.

- 2. Turmeric for Color and Flavor: Turmeric is the primary spice that gives yellow rice its characteristic color and earthy flavor. Saffron can also be used for a different flavor profile and color.
- 3. Stock for Enhanced Flavor: Using vegetable stock instead of water will add an extra layer of flavor to your yellow rice, making it more savory.

# Recipe 62: Peas Pulao

### Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Basmati Rice or Jasmine Rice	1 cup	
Green Peas	3/4 cup	Fresh or frozen
Onion	1 medium	Thinly sliced
Water	1 cup	For Instant Pot (adjust for stovetop)
Oil or Ghee	1 tablespoon	Use oil for vegan
Cumin Seeds	1 tablespoon	
Bay Leaf	2	
Salt	To taste	

Step-by-Step Instructions

## Instant Pot Method:

- 1. Prepare Rice: Rinse the Basmati or Jasmine rice in a strainer under cold water 3 to 4 times, or until the water runs relatively clear. This helps remove excess starch. Drain well.
- 2. Prepare Onion: Thinly slice the medium onion.
- 3. Sauté Aromatics: Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Once it displays "HOT," add the oil or ghee.
- 4. Add the bay leaves and cumin seeds. Cook for a few seconds until the cumin seeds become fragrant and start to splutter.
- 5. Sauté Onions and Peas: Add the thinly sliced onions and green peas to the pot. Sauté for about 3 to 4 minutes, stirring occasionally, until the onions soften slightly.

- 6. Add Rice and Water: Add the rinsed and drained rice to the pot. Pour in 1 cup of water and add salt to taste. Mix well, ensuring the rice is mostly submerged.
- 7. Pressure Cook: Cancel "Sauté" mode. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the pressure valve to "Sealing."
- 8. Select "Manual" or "Pressure Cook" mode and cook on High pressure for 5 minutes.
- 9. Quick Release: Once the cooking cycle is complete, perform a quick pressure release by carefully turning the valve to "Venting."
- 10. Serve: Carefully open the lid. Use a fork to gently fluff the Peas Pulao. Serve hot.

## Stovetop Pressure Cooker Method:

- 1. Prepare rice and onions as in Steps 1 and 2.
- 2. Heat oil/ghee in a stovetop pressure cooker. Add bay leaves and cumin seeds.
- 3. Add sliced onions and peas; sauté for 3-4 minutes.
- 4. Add rinsed rice, about 1.5-2 cups of water (or as per your cooker's rice instructions), and salt. Mix well.
- 5. Secure the lid. Cook on high heat for 2 whistles. Turn off the heat.
- 6. Let the pressure release naturally. Open the lid, fluff the rice with a fork, and serve.

- 1. Rinse Rice Well: Thoroughly rinsing the rice before cooking is key to removing excess starch, which helps in getting fluffy, separate grains.
- 2. Use Long Grain Rice: Long grain Basmati or Jasmine rice varieties are best suited for pulao as they cook up fluffy and aromatic.
- 3. Vegan Option: This recipe is easily made vegan by using oil instead of ghee.

# Recipe 63: Paneer Biryani

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Basmati Rice	2 cups	Rinsed and soaked for 10-20 minutes, then drained
Ghee (or Vegan Olive/Coconut Oil)	2-3 tablespoons	Divided
Whole Spices:		
Cardamom Pods	2-4	Green
Bay Leaf	1-2	
Star Anise (optional)	2	
Whole Black Peppercorns (optional)	Few	
Cloves	4	Whole
Cinnamon Stick	1	1-inch piece
Cumin Seeds	1 teaspoon	
Vegetables & Paneer:		
Onion	1-2 medium	Thinly sliced
Carrots	1 cup	Diced or julienned

Green Beans	1/2 - 1 cup	Chopped into 1-inch pieces
Peas	1 cup	Fresh or frozen
Corn (optional)	1/2 cup	
Mushrooms (optional)	1 cup	Halved or quartered
Red Bell Pepper (optional)	1/2 cup	Chopped
Paneer	1/2 lb - 1 cup	Cubed (homemade or store- bought)
Aromatics & Spice Powders:		
Ginger & Garlic Paste	1 tablespoon	
Green Chilies (optional)	2-3	Slit
Salt	To taste	Divided
Red Chili Powder (Kashmiri preferred)	1 teaspoon	Adjust to taste
Turmeric Powder	1/4 - 1 teaspoon	
Garam Masala	1-2 teaspoons	
Biryani Masala (optional, for Ministry of Curry version)	As per taste	
Liquids & Herbs:		

Water	2 cups (for Instant Pot)	Adjust for stovetop
Mint Leaves	1/2 cup	Chopped
Cilantro Leaves	For garnish	Chopped
Garnish (Optional):		
Fried Onions	Reserved from sautéing	
Saffron soaked in warm milk	Few strands	
Roasted Cashews	Handful	

Instant Pot Method (Combined approach from sources):

### 1. Prepare Rice & Paneer:

- o Rinse Basmati rice thoroughly and soak in water for 10-20 minutes. Drain well.
- If using store-bought paneer, you can soak the cubes in warm water for 10-15 minutes to soften them. Drain.

#### 2. Sauté Onions & Whole Spices:

- Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode (More/High if available). Add 1-2 tablespoons of ghee or oil.
- Once hot, add whole spices: cumin seeds, cardamom pods, cloves, cinnamon stick, bay leaf, star anise, and peppercorns (if using). Sauté for about 30 seconds until fragrant.
- Add thinly sliced onions and sauté for 5-7 minutes until they are light golden brown or caramelized. Reserve half of these fried onions for garnish if desired (as per Ministry of Curry method).

### 3. Sauté Vegetables, Paneer & Aromatics:

- To the remaining onions in the pot, add ginger & garlic paste and slit green chilies (if using). Sauté for a minute until fragrant.
- Add all the chopped vegetables (carrots, green beans, peas, corn, mushrooms, bell pepper) and paneer cubes.
- (Ministry of Curry method suggests marinating paneer and veggies first, then sautéing with pureed tomato. TheBellyRulesTheMind adds them directly). For a simpler version, add directly.
- Stir and cook for 2-3 minutes.

#### 4. Add Spices, Rice, and Liquids:

- Add powdered spices: turmeric powder, red chili powder, garam masala (and Biryani Masala if using), and salt to taste (for the vegetables). Mix well.
- Add chopped mint leaves and cilantro.
- o Add the soaked and drained rice to the pot.
- Pour in 2 cups of water and add salt for the rice. Gently stir everything to combine,
   ensuring most of the rice is submerged. Deglaze the pot if necessary.

#### 5. Pressure Cook:

- Cancel "Sauté" mode. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the pressure valve to "Sealing."
- Cook on Low Pressure for 5 minutes (as per Ministry of Curry for Veg Paneer Biryani) or High Pressure for 5 minutes (as per TheBellyRulesTheMind).
- o Perform a Quick Release of pressure once the cooking cycle is complete.

### 6. Garnish and Serve:

- o Open the lid carefully. Fluff the biryani gently with a fork.
- Garnish with reserved fried onions, fresh cilantro, mint, saffron soaked in milk, and roasted cashews (if using).
- Serve hot with raita or yogurt.

- 1. Use Quality Basmati Rice: Aged, long-grain Basmati rice is crucial for achieving the characteristic fluffy texture and aroma of a good biryani. Don't skip rinsing and soaking.
- 2. Deglaze the Pot: When using the Instant Pot, always deglaze the bottom of the inner pot thoroughly after sautéing onions and before pressure cooking to prevent the "Burn" notice.

3.	Fresh Garam Masala: Using fresh, good-quality garam masala (or biryani masala) makes a significant difference in the final flavor and aroma of the biryani.

# Recipe 64: Spinach Rice

# Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Basmati Rice	1 cup	Rinsed and drained
Fresh Spinach	3 cups	Chopped (approx. 1 bunch or 14 oz)
Canned Chickpeas (optional)	1 cup	Rinsed and drained
Onion	1 medium	Diced
Ginger & Garlic	1 tablespoon	Finely chopped or paste
Garam Masala Powder	1 teaspoon	
Cumin Powder	1 teaspoon	
Turmeric Powder	1/4 teaspoon	
Red Chili Powder	1/2 teaspoon	Adjust to taste
Lime Juice	1 tablespoon	Freshly squeezed
Water	1 cup	For Instant Pot
Oil or Ghee	1 teaspoon	Use oil for vegan
Salt	To taste	

Step-by-Step Instructions

## Instant Pot Method:

#### 1. Prepare Ingredients:

- o Rinse Basmati rice thoroughly until the water runs clear. Drain.
- Wash and chop the fresh spinach.
- o Dice the onion. Finely chop or make a paste of ginger and garlic.
- o If using canned chickpeas, rinse and drain them.

## 2. Sauté Aromatics:

- o Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Add oil or ghee.
- Once hot, add finely chopped ginger & garlic and diced onions. Sauté for a minute or two until onions soften and ginger-garlic is fragrant.

### 3. Add Spinach, Chickpeas, Spices, and Rice:

- Add the chopped spinach leaves to the pot.
- o Add the rinsed and drained chickpeas (if using).
- Stir in salt to taste, garam masala powder, cumin powder, and red chili powder.
- Add the washed and drained Basmati rice.
- o Pour in 1 cup of water. Stir everything well to combine.

#### 4. Pressure Cook:

- Cancel "Sauté" mode. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the pressure valve to "Sealing."
- Select "Manual" or "Pressure Cook" mode and set the timer for 5 minutes on High pressure.

### 5. Natural Release and Finish:

- Once the cooking cycle is complete, allow the pressure to release naturally for 5 minutes.
- o After 5 minutes of natural release, perform a quick release of any remaining pressure.
- o Carefully open the lid. Stir in the fresh lime juice.
- o Fluff the spinach rice gently with a fork.
- 6. Serve: Serve hot with raita, plain yogurt, or as an accompaniment to any Indian curry.

#### Stovetop Method:

- 1. Heat oil/ghee in a heavy-bottomed pot over medium-high heat.
- 2. Sauté ginger, garlic, and onions.
- 3. Add chopped spinach, chickpeas (if using), salt, garam masala, cumin powder, and red chili powder. Sauté for a couple of minutes.
- 4. Add rinsed rice and about 1.5 2 cups of water (or as per rice package instructions for stovetop).
- 5. Bring to a boil, then reduce heat to low, cover the pot tightly, and cook for 10-12 minutes, or until the rice is cooked and water is absorbed.
- 6. Turn off heat, let stand for 5 minutes. Stir in lime juice, fluff with a fork, and serve.

- 1. Rinse Rice Well: Don't skip rinsing the rice. This removes excess starch and helps achieve fluffy, separate grains.
- 2. Proper Water Ratio: For the Instant Pot, a 1:1 rice to water ratio (for Basmati rice) generally works well, especially since spinach also releases some moisture.
- 3. Fresh Lime Juice: Adding fresh lime juice at the end brightens the flavors of the spinach rice and adds a lovely zest.

# Chapter 11: Thai Favorites

Thai cuisine, renowned worldwide for its intricate balance of sweet, sour, salty, spicy, and sometimes bitter flavors, offers a captivating culinary experience. It's a vibrant tapestry woven with aromatic herbs like lemongrass, galangal, and kaffir lime leaves, creamy coconut milk, fiery chilies, and a delightful array of fresh vegetables and proteins. From the bustling street food stalls of Bangkok to elegant restaurant dining, Thai food is a celebration of fresh ingredients and harmonious taste combinations that awaken the senses.

The philosophy behind Thai cooking emphasizes a meticulous blending of flavors and textures. Dishes are often designed to be shared, creating a communal dining experience where a variety of curries, stirfries, soups, and salads come together to form a balanced and exciting meal. The use of fresh, locally sourced ingredients is paramount, contributing to the cuisine's characteristic vibrancy and healthfulness. Whether it's the comforting warmth of a green curry or the zesty punch of a Pad Thai, each dish tells a story of Thailand's rich cultural heritage and its deep connection to nature.

In this chapter, we embark on a journey to explore some of Thailand's most cherished culinary creations, adapted for the home kitchen. You will discover how to craft iconic dishes such as Thai Green Curry, Panang Curry, and Massaman Curry, each with its unique spice profile and regional influences. We'll also venture into flavorful rice and noodle dishes like Thai Basil Fried Rice and Tofu Pad Thai, alongside refreshing salads and comforting bowls. These recipes aim to bring the exotic and delightful tastes of Thailand into your home, making it easy to recreate these beloved favorites.

# Recipe 64: Thai Green Curry

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Sesame Oil	1 tablespoon	
Crushed Garlic	1 teaspoon	(e.g., Dorot Gardens)
Minced Ginger	1 teaspoon	(e.g., Dorot Gardens)
Onion (white or yellow)	1 medium	Chopped
Green Curry Paste	2-3 tablespoons	Adjust to taste
Lemongrass Paste	1 teaspoon	
Kaffir Lime Leaves	4-5	
Coconut Milk	1 can (13.5 oz)	Full-fat recommended
Water or Vegetable Broth	1/2 cup	
Baby Corn	1/2 cup	Halved
Broccoli Florets	1 cup	
Zucchini	1 small	Sliced or cubed
Red Bell Pepper	1/2 medium	Sliced

Red Thai Chilies (optional)	1-2	Slit, for extra heat
Extra Firm Tofu	1 block (14-16 oz)	Pressed and cubed
Fresh Basil Leaves	1/2 cup	Preferably Thai basil
Coconut Sugar (or brown sugar)	1 teaspoon	Adjust to taste
Salt	To taste	
For Serving (Optional):		
Jasmine Rice	As needed	Cooked
Lime Wedges	For garnish	

#### Instant Pot Method:

- 1. Prep Tofu: Press the tofu to remove excess water. Cut into cubes. (You can pan-fry or bake the tofu separately for a crispier texture if desired, then add at the end).
- 2. Sauté Aromatics: Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Add sesame oil. Once hot, add chopped onion, crushed garlic, and minced ginger. Sauté until onions soften.
- 3. Add green curry paste and lemongrass paste. Sauté for another minute until fragrant.
- 4. Build Curry Base: Stir in the coconut milk, water (or vegetable broth), kaffir lime leaves, baby corn, and red Thai chilies (if using). Add salt to taste. Bring to a gentle simmer.
- 5. Pressure Cook (Initial Stage): Cancel "Sauté" mode. Secure the lid and set the valve to "Sealing." Pressure cook on High for 2 minutes. Perform a quick release.
- 6. Add Remaining Vegetables & Tofu: Carefully open the lid. Switch the Instant Pot back to "Sauté" mode. Add broccoli florets, zucchini, red bell pepper, and cubed tofu. Cook for about 5 minutes, stirring gently, until the vegetables are tender-crisp.
- 7. Finish: Turn off the Instant Pot. Stir in fresh basil leaves and coconut sugar. Adjust salt if needed.

8. Serve: Serve hot with cooked Jasmine rice and lime wedges on the side.

#### Stovetop Method:

- 1. Prep Tofu: Press and cube tofu. Pan-fry or bake if desired for better texture.
- Sauté Aromatics: Heat sesame oil in a large pot or wok over medium heat. Add onion, garlic, and ginger. Sauté until onions soften. Add green curry paste and lemongrass paste; cook for 1 minute.
- 3. Build Curry: Stir in coconut milk, water/broth, kaffir lime leaves, baby corn, and red Thai chilies. Bring to a simmer.
- 4. Cook Vegetables: Add broccoli, zucchini, and red bell pepper. Cook for 5-7 minutes, or until vegetables are tender-crisp.
- 5. Add Tofu & Finish: Stir in the tofu, fresh basil, and coconut sugar. Cook for another minute until basil wilts. Adjust salt.
- 6. Serve: Serve hot with Jasmine rice and lime wedges.

- 1. Press Tofu: For firmer tofu that holds its shape better, press it for at least 15 minutes to remove excess water before cubing and adding to the curry.
- 2. Don't Overcook Veggies: Add quick-cooking vegetables like broccoli, zucchini, and bell peppers towards the end of the cooking process (after pressure cooking in IP, or in the last few minutes on stovetop) to ensure they remain tender-crisp and don't become mushy.
- 3. Adjust Spice Level: Thai green curry paste can vary in spiciness. Start with a smaller amount and add more to reach your desired heat level.

# Recipe 65: Panang Curry

Ingredient	Quantity Notes / Comments	
For Sauce:		
Coconut Milk	1 can (13.5 oz)	Full-fat recommended
Peanut Butter	1/4 cup	Creamy
Water	1/4 cup	
Soy Sauce or Tamari	1 tablespoon	Use Tamari for gluten-free
Coconut Sugar or Brown Sugar	1 tablespoon	
Sriracha or Chili Garlic Sauce	2 tablespoons	Adjust to taste
Lime Juice	Juice of 1/2 lime	Freshly squeezed
For Curry:		
Oil	1 teaspoon	Sesame or olive oil
Onion	1 medium	Chopped finely
Bell Pepper	1/2 medium	Diced finely (any color)
Ginger	1 tablespoon	Grated

Garlic	1 tablespoon	Finely chopped
Red Curry Paste	3 tablespoons	(e.g., Thai Kitchen brand)
Extra Firm Tofu	14 oz	Cubed
For Serving (Pot-in-Pot Rice - Optional):		
Jasmine Rice	1 cup	Rinsed
Water (for rice)	1 cup	
Salt (for rice)	To taste	
Garnish:		
Thai Basil or Green Onion	Handful	Chopped
Roasted Peanuts (optional)	For garnish	Chopped

Instant Pot Method (with optional Pot-in-Pot Rice):

- 1. Prepare Sauce: In a medium bowl, whisk together coconut milk, peanut butter, 1/4 cup water, soy sauce (or tamari), coconut sugar, Sriracha, and lime juice until smooth. Set aside.
- 2. Prepare Rice (for PIP): If making rice simultaneously, rinse 1 cup of Jasmine rice. In a separate stainless steel container suitable for PIP, add the rinsed rice, 1 cup of water, and salt to taste.
- 3. Sauté Aromatics: Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Add oil. Once hot, add chopped onion, diced bell pepper, grated ginger, and chopped garlic. Sauté for about a minute, stirring.
- 4. Cook Curry Base: Add the red curry paste to the pot. Stir and cook for a moment.
- 5. Pour the prepared coconut-peanut sauce mixture into the Instant Pot. Stir well to combine with the sautéed vegetables and curry paste.
- 6. Add the cubed tofu to the sauce.

- 7. Set up Pot-in-Pot (if making rice): Carefully place a trivet into the Instant Pot over the curry. Place the stainless steel container with rice and water on top of the trivet.
- 8. Pressure Cook: Cancel "Sauté" mode. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the valve to "Sealing." Pressure cook on High for 5 minutes.
- 9. Natural Release (Partial): Once the cooking cycle is complete, allow the pressure to release naturally for 5 minutes, then perform a quick release of any remaining pressure.
- 10. Finish and Serve: Carefully open the lid. Remove the rice container and trivet. Stir the Panang curry gently. Stir in chopped Thai basil or green onions.
- 11. Serve the Panang curry hot over the freshly cooked Jasmine rice. Garnish with chopped roasted peanuts, if desired.

#### Stovetop Method:

- 1. Prepare Sauce: Whisk sauce ingredients as in Step 1.
- 2. Sauté Aromatics & Curry Paste: Heat oil in a large skillet or wok. Add onion, bell pepper, ginger, and garlic; sauté for 1-2 minutes. Add red curry paste and cook for 1 minute.
- 3. Simmer Curry: Pour in the coconut-peanut sauce. Add tofu cubes. Bring to a simmer and cook for 5-7 minutes, or until slightly thickened and tofu is heated through.
- 4. Finish: Stir in lime juice and Thai basil/green onions. Serve hot with separately cooked rice. Garnish with peanuts if desired.

- 1. Scrape the Pot: When using the Instant Pot, always scrape the bottom of the inner pot thoroughly after sautéing and before adding liquids to prevent the "Burn" notice.
- 2. Adjust Spice: Red curry paste and Sriracha can vary in heat. Adjust the amounts to your preference. You can always add more Sriracha at the end.
- 3. Nut-Free Alternative: If allergic to peanuts, you can substitute peanut butter with sun butter or tahini paste, though this will alter the traditional Panang flavor profile.

# Recipe 66: Thai Massaman Curry

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Oil	1 tablespoon	Olive, canola, or coconut oil
Ginger	1 tablespoon	Grated or minced
Garlic	1 tablespoon	Finely chopped or minced
Onion	1/2 medium	Petals or roughly chopped (keep roots for petals)
Potato	1 small	Peeled and cut into 2-inch chunks
Thai Massaman Curry Paste	3 tablespoons	(e.g., Maesri brand, vegan)
Coconut Milk	1 can (14 oz)	Full-fat
Water	1 cup	
Carrots	1 cup	Cut into chunks
Green Beans	1 cup	Cut into 1.5-inch pieces
Baby Corn	5	Fresh or canned, chopped into 1-inch pieces
Straw Mushrooms	1 cup	Canned, drained

Extra Firm Tofu	14 oz	Cubed
Lime Juice	Juice of 1/2 lime	
Coconut Sugar (or brown sugar)	1 teaspoon	Optional, to taste
Salt	To taste	
Garnish:		
Fresh Cilantro or Thai Basil	Handful	Chopped
Roasted Peanuts or Cashews (optional)	For garnish	
For Serving:		
Jasmine Rice	As needed	Cooked

#### Instant Pot Method:

- 1. Prepare Ingredients: Peel and chop potato and carrots into chunks. Cut green beans and baby corn. Drain straw mushrooms. Cube tofu.
- 2. Sauté Aromatics and Curry Paste: Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Add oil. Once hot, add ginger, garlic, onion, and chopped potato. Add the Massaman curry paste. Stir and sauté for 1 minute until fragrant.
- 3. Add Liquids and Hardy Vegetables: Pour in the coconut milk and water. Add the carrot chunks. Stir well.
- 4. Pressure Cook (Initial Stage): Cancel "Sauté" mode. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the valve to "Sealing." Pressure cook on High for 2 minutes.
- 5. Quick Release and Add Remaining Ingredients: Once the cooking cycle is complete, perform a quick pressure release. Carefully open the lid.

- 6. Stir in the green beans, baby corn, straw mushrooms, and cubed tofu. Add salt to taste and coconut sugar (if using).
- 7. Set the Instant Pot back to "Sauté" mode. Cook for another 2-3 minutes, stirring gently, until the green beans are tender-crisp and everything is heated through.
- 8. Finish and Serve: Turn off the Instant Pot. Stir in the fresh lime juice. Garnish with chopped cilantro or Thai basil, and roasted peanuts/cashews if desired. Serve hot over cooked Jasmine rice.

### Stovetop Method:

- 1. Boil Potatoes (Optional Pre-step): To speed up, you can boil potato chunks separately until partially tender.
- 2. Sauté Aromatics & Curry Paste: Heat oil in a large pot or wok. Add ginger, garlic, onion, and potato (if not pre-boiled). Add Massaman curry paste. Sauté for 1-3 minutes until fragrant.
- 3. Simmer Curry: Add coconut milk, water, and carrots. Bring to a simmer. Cook for 5-7 minutes.
- 4. Add Remaining Veggies & Tofu: Add green beans, baby corn, straw mushrooms, and tofu. Add salt and sugar. Simmer for another 5-7 minutes, or until all vegetables are tender.
- 5. Finish: Stir in lime juice. Garnish and serve with Jasmine rice.

- Mushrooms and Tofu at the End: Add delicate ingredients like mushrooms and tofu after
  pressure cooking (or towards the end on stovetop) to prevent them from becoming mushy and
  to maintain their texture.
- 2. Uniform Vegetable Pieces: Cut your vegetables into roughly bite-sized, uniform pieces to ensure they cook evenly.
- 3. Serve with Jasmine Rice: Massaman curry is traditionally served with Jasmine rice, which complements its rich and aromatic flavors.

# Recipe 67: Thai Basil Fried Rice

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Jasmine Rice	1 cup	Uncooked (or 3 cups cooked, day-old rice)
Water (for cooking rice)	1 cup	For Instant Pot (adjust for stovetop)
Toasted Sesame Oil	2 tablespoons	
Garlic Cloves	4	Finely sliced or minced
Ginger	1/2 inch piece	Cut into fine batons or minced
Yellow Onion	1 medium	Sliced
Red Bell Pepper	1/2 medium	Sliced
Carrot	1/2 medium	Shredded or julienned
Green Chilies (optional)	2	Sliced, adjust to taste
Soy Sauce or Tamari	1 tablespoon	Use Tamari for gluten-free
Vegetarian Oyster Sauce (or Hoisin Sauce)	1 tablespoon	Use Hoisin for vegan if oyster sauce contains fish
Salt	1/4 teaspoon	Or to taste (sauces are salty)

Thai Basil Leaves	1/2 cup	Chopped or whole leaves
Fresh Cilantro (optional)	1/4 cup	Chopped, for garnish
Roasted Peanuts (optional)	1 teaspoon	Crushed, for garnish
Lime Wedge	For serving	

## Using Freshly Cooked Rice (Instant Pot Method):

- 1. Rinse Rice: Rinse 1 cup of Jasmine rice thoroughly 4-5 times until water runs clear. Drain well.
- 2. Sauté Aromatics: Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Add toasted sesame oil. Once hot, add finely sliced/minced garlic and ginger. Stir until fragrant (about 30 seconds).
- 3. Add sliced onions and sauté for one minute.
- 4. Toast Rice & Add Veggies: Add the rinsed rice to the pot and toast for 1 minute, stirring.
- 5. Add shredded carrots, sliced red bell pepper, and green chilies (if using).
- 6. Add Sauces & Water: Stir in soy sauce (or tamari), vegetarian oyster sauce (or hoisin), and salt. Add 1 cup of water. Scrape the bottom of the pot to ensure no food is stuck.
- 7. Pressure Cook: Cancel "Sauté" mode. Secure the lid and set the valve to "Sealing." Pressure cook on High for 4 minutes.
- 8. Natural Release (Partial): Once the cooking cycle is complete, allow a natural pressure release for 10 minutes, then quick release any remaining pressure.
- 9. Finish and Serve: Carefully open the lid. Add chopped Thai basil leaves (and cilantro if using). Mix gently. Garnish with crushed peanuts (if using) and serve hot with a lime wedge.

## Using Day-Old Cooked Rice (Stovetop/Wok Method):

- 1. Prepare Ingredients: Have all vegetables sliced/chopped and sauces measured.
- 2. Stir-fry Aromatics: Heat sesame oil in a large wok or skillet over high heat. Add garlic and ginger; stir-fry until fragrant. Add onions and green chilies (if using); stir-fry for 1 minute.
- 3. Add Vegetables: Add carrots and bell peppers. Stir-fry for 2-3 minutes until tender-crisp.
- 4. Add Rice and Sauces: Add the cold, day-old cooked rice to the wok, breaking up any clumps. Pour soy sauce and vegetarian oyster/hoisin sauce over the rice. Add salt. Stir-fry quickly,

tossing continuously, until the rice is heated through and well-combined with the vegetables and sauces (about 3-5 minutes).

5. Finish: Stir in chopped Thai basil. Serve immediately, garnished with peanuts and a lime wedge.

- 1. Day-Old Rice for Stovetop: For the best texture in stovetop fried rice, use day-old, cold rice. Freshly cooked rice tends to be too moist and can result in a mushy fried rice.
- 2. High Heat for Wok Cooking: When making fried rice in a wok, use high heat and cook quickly. This gives the dish a desirable smoky flavor ("wok hei") and keeps the vegetables crisp.
- 3. Thai Basil is Key: Thai basil has a distinct anise-like flavor that is characteristic of this dish. While Italian basil can be used in a pinch, Thai basil is preferred for authenticity.

# Recipe 68: Thai Peanut Curry

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For the Sauce:		
Coconut Milk	1.5 cups	Full-fat, from a can
Creamy Peanut Butter	1/4 cup	
Water	1/4 cup	
Soy Sauce or Tamari	1 tablespoon	Use Tamari for gluten-free
Coconut Sugar or Brown Sugar	1 tablespoon	
Sriracha or Chili Garlic Sauce	2 tablespoons	Adjust to taste
Lime Juice	Juice of 1/2 lime	Freshly squeezed
For the Curry:		
Oil	1 teaspoon	Sesame or olive oil
Onion	1 medium	Chopped finely
Red Bell Pepper	1/2 medium	Diced finely
Ginger	1 tablespoon	Grated

Garlic	1 tablespoon	Finely chopped
Red Curry Paste	3 tablespoons	(e.g., Thai Kitchen brand)
Extra Firm Tofu	14 oz	Cubed
Salt	To taste	
Red Pepper Flakes (optional)	1/2 teaspoon	For extra heat
Garnish:		
Thai Basil or Green Onion	Handful	Chopped
Roasted Peanuts	For garnish	Chopped
For Serving (Optional Pot-in-Pot Rice):		
Basmati Rice	1 cup	Rinsed
Water (for rice)	1 cup	
Salt (for rice)	To taste	

Instant Pot Method (with optional Pot-in-Pot Rice):

- 1. Prepare Peanut Sauce: In a medium bowl, whisk together coconut milk, peanut butter, 1/4 cup water, soy sauce (or tamari), coconut sugar, Sriracha, and lime juice until smooth. Set aside.
- 2. Prepare Rice (for PIP): If making rice, rinse 1 cup of Basmati rice. In a separate stainless steel container suitable for PIP, add the rinsed rice, 1 cup of water, and salt to taste.
- 3. Sauté Aromatics: Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Add oil. Once hot, add finely chopped onion, diced red bell pepper, grated ginger, and chopped garlic. Sauté for about a minute, stirring.

- 4. Cook Curry Base: Add the red curry paste to the pot. Stir and cook for a moment.
- 5. Pour the prepared peanut sauce mixture into the Instant Pot. Stir well to combine with the sautéed vegetables and curry paste.
- 6. Add the cubed tofu and salt to taste for the curry. Add red pepper flakes if using.
- 7. Set up Pot-in-Pot (if making rice): Carefully place a trivet into the Instant Pot over the curry. Place the stainless steel container with rice and water on top of the trivet.
- 8. Pressure Cook: Cancel "Sauté" mode. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the valve to "Sealing." Pressure cook on High for 5 minutes.
- 9. Natural Release (Partial): Once the cooking cycle is complete, allow the pressure to release naturally for 5 minutes, then perform a quick release of any remaining pressure.
- 10. Finish and Serve: Carefully open the lid. Remove the rice container and trivet. Stir the Thai Peanut Curry gently. Stir in chopped Thai basil or green onions.
- 11. Serve the curry hot over the freshly cooked rice. Garnish with chopped roasted peanuts.

#### Stovetop Method:

- 1. Prepare Peanut Sauce: Whisk sauce ingredients as in Step 1.
- 2. Sauté Aromatics & Curry Paste: Heat oil in a large skillet or wok. Add onion, bell pepper, ginger, and garlic; sauté for 1-2 minutes. Add red curry paste and cook for 1 minute.
- 3. Simmer Curry: Pour in the peanut sauce. Add tofu cubes and salt. Bring to a simmer and cook for 5-7 minutes, or until slightly thickened and tofu is heated through. Stir in red pepper flakes if using.
- 4. Finish: Stir in lime juice and Thai basil/green onions. Serve hot with separately cooked rice. Garnish with peanuts.

- 1. Creamy Peanut Butter: Use creamy peanut butter for the smoothest sauce. Natural peanut butter might require more whisking.
- 2. Adjust Heat: Red curry paste and Sriracha provide the heat. Adjust the quantities based on your spice preference. You can always add more Sriracha at the end.
- Tofu Preparation: For a firmer texture, press the tofu before cubing to remove excess water. You can also pan-fry or bake the tofu cubes separately before adding them to the curry for a crispier exterior.

# Recipe 69: Tofu Pad Thai

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For Pad Thai Sauce:		
Tamari or Soy Sauce	3 tablespoons	Use Tamari for gluten-free
Tamarind Paste	1/2 teaspoon	Or 1 teaspoon lime juice as substitute
Chili Garlic Sauce	1.5 teaspoons	Adjust to taste
Lime Juice (additional)	1.5 teaspoons	Freshly squeezed
Coconut Sugar or Brown Sugar	3 tablespoons	
For Noodles & Vegetables:		
Rice Noodles (Pad Thai noodles)	8 oz	Wide or regular
Oil	1 tablespoon	Toasted sesame oil or neutral oil
Garlic	2-3 cloves	Minced
Green Onions (Scallions)	3-4 stalks	Whites chopped, greens sliced for garnish
Carrots	3	Shredded or cut into matchsticks
Bell Pepper (Green or Red)	1/2 medium	Julienne

Bean Sprouts	1 cup	Fresh
Extra Firm Tofu	1 cup	Cubed and pan-fried or baked
Water or Vegetable Broth	1/2 cup (for IP)	Adjust for stovetop if needed
Garnish:		
Roasted Peanuts	1/4 cup	Crushed or chopped
Fresh Cilantro	Handful	Chopped
Lime Wedges	For serving	

#### Instant Pot Method:

- 1. Prepare Tofu: Press extra firm tofu to remove excess water. Cut into cubes and pan-fry or bake until golden. Set aside.
- 2. Prepare Sauce: In a small bowl, whisk together tamari (or soy sauce), tamarind paste (or its lime juice substitute), chili garlic sauce, 1.5 tsp lime juice, and coconut sugar. Set aside.
- 3. Sauté Aromatics: Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Add oil. Once hot, add minced garlic and the chopped white parts of green onions. Sauté for about a minute until fragrant.
- 4. Add Noodles and Sauce: Add the dry rice noodles to the pot (break in half if too long to fit). Pour the prepared Pad Thai sauce over the noodles. Add 1/2 cup of water or vegetable broth. Gently push the noodles down to submerge them as much as possible.
- 5. Pressure Cook: Cancel "Sauté" mode. Secure the lid and set the valve to "Sealing." Pressure cook on High for 3 minutes.
- 6. Quick Release: Once the cooking cycle is complete, perform a quick pressure release.
- 7. Add Vegetables and Tofu: Carefully open the lid. Add shredded carrots, julienned bell pepper, bean sprouts, and the prepared pan-fried tofu to the pot. Gently fold these into the hot noodles.
- 8. Cover with the Instant Pot lid again (no need to seal or cook further) and let it sit for 5 minutes. The residual steam will cook the vegetables while keeping them crunchy.

9. Serve: Open the lid, give the Pad Thai a gentle stir. Serve immediately, garnished with crushed roasted peanuts, chopped fresh cilantro, and sliced green onion greens. Offer lime wedges on the side.

#### Stovetop Method:

- 1. Cook Noodles: Cook rice noodles according to package directions (usually involves soaking in hot water). Drain.
- 2. Prepare Tofu and Sauce: Pan-fry or bake tofu cubes. Whisk sauce ingredients.
- 3. Stir-fry: Heat oil in a large wok or skillet. Add garlic and white parts of green onions; stir-fry. Add carrots and bell peppers; stir-fry for 2-3 minutes.
- 4. Add the cooked noodles, prepared tofu, and the Pad Thai sauce to the wok. Toss everything together until well combined and heated through.
- 5. Stir in bean sprouts. Serve immediately with garnishes.

- 1. Noodle Prep: Avoid overcooking rice noodles. For most brands, soaking in hot water (off the heat) is sufficient. They will finish cooking with the sauce.
- 2. Tamarind Paste: Tamarind paste gives Pad Thai its signature tangy flavor. If you can't find it, lime juice is an acceptable substitute, though the flavor will be slightly different.
- 3. Customizable Veggies: Feel free to add other vegetables like broccoli florets, mushrooms, or snap peas. Add them according to their cooking time.

## Recipe 70: Jasmine Rice

#### Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Jasmine Rice	1 cup	
Water	1 cup	For Instant Pot (1:1 ratio)
Oil (optional)	1 teaspoon	e.g., coconut oil or neutral oil
Salt (optional)	Pinch	To taste

Step-by-Step Instructions

Instant Pot Method (TheBellyRulesTheMind):

- 1. Rinse Rice: Thoroughly wash the Jasmine rice under cold running water 3-4 times, or until the water runs relatively clear. This removes excess starch. Drain well.
- 2. Toast Rice (Optional): Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Once it displays "HOT," add oil (if using). Add the rinsed and drained Jasmine rice. Toast for a few seconds to a minute, stirring gently. This step is optional but can enhance flavor.
- 3. Add Water and Salt: Pour in 1 cup of water. Add a pinch of salt if desired. Give it a gentle stir to ensure rice is mostly submerged.
- 4. Pressure Cook: Cancel "Sauté" mode. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the pressure valve to "Sealing."
- 5. Select "Pressure Cook" (or "Manual") mode and set the timer for 6 minutes on High pressure.
- 6. Natural Release (Partial): Once the cooking cycle is complete, turn off the "Keep Warm" function. Allow the pressure to release naturally for approximately 10 minutes.
- 7. Release Remaining Pressure: After 10 minutes of natural release, carefully turn the valve to "Venting" to release any remaining pressure.
- 8. Serve: Open the lid carefully. Fluff the Jasmine rice gently with a fork. Serve hot.

Instant Pot Method (Ministry of Curry - Main Pot Method, slightly different timing):

- 1. Rinse Rice: Rinse rice well and drain.
- 2. Combine Ingredients: Add rinsed rice, 1 cup water, and optional salt to the Instant Pot inner pot.
- 3. Pressure Cook: Close lid, set valve to "Sealing." Pressure cook on High for 4 minutes.
- 4. Quick Release: Perform a quick pressure release once the cooking is complete.
- 5. Rest and Serve: Open lid, transfer inner pot to a trivet to stop further cooking. Fluff with a fork and serve.

- 1. Rinse Thoroughly: Rinsing Jasmine rice is crucial to remove surface starch, which helps prevent the rice from becoming gummy and ensures fluffy grains.
- 2. Accurate Measurement: Use the same cup to measure both rice and water for the correct ratio, especially in the Instant Pot. The 1:1 rice-to-water ratio is generally effective for white Jasmine rice in the Instant Pot.
- 3. Resting Period: Allowing the rice to sit for a few minutes after cooking (either during natural release or after opening the lid) helps the grains firm up and absorb any remaining moisture, leading to a better texture.

# Recipe 71: Thai Noodle Bowls

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For the Peanut Sauce:		
Peanut Butter	1/4 cup	Crunchy or smooth
Water	2 1/4 cups (for IP) / 1/4 cup (for stovetop sauce)	Adjust for desired consistency
Soy Sauce or Tamari	1 tablespoon	Use Tamari for gluten-free
Rice Vinegar	1 tablespoon	
Maple Syrup or Honey	2 tablespoons	Use maple syrup for vegan
Sriracha	2 tablespoons	Adjust to taste
Fresh Lime Juice	Juice of 1/2 lime	
Ginger	1-inch piece	Grated
Garlic	3 cloves	Minced
Salt	To taste	
For Noodles & Vegetables:		

Spaghetti Noodles	8 oz	Or other long noodles like linguine or rice noodles
Green Onions (Scallions)	1 stalk	Chopped
Fresh Cilantro	4 tablespoons	Roughly chopped
Roasted Peanuts	1/2 cup	Roughly chopped, for garnish
Carrots	2	Julienne or shredded
Purple Cabbage	1 cup	Shredded
Red Bell Pepper	1/2 medium	Julienne
Green Bell Pepper	1/2 medium	Julienne

Step-by-Step Instructions

#### Instant Pot Method:

- Prepare Peanut Sauce Base: In the inner pot of the Instant Pot, add peanut butter, 2 1/4 cups water (for IP cooking liquid), soy sauce (or tamari), rice vinegar, maple syrup (or honey), Sriracha, grated ginger, minced garlic, and salt. Whisk well to combine the sauce.
- 2. Add Noodles: Break spaghetti noodles in half. Add them to the pot in a criss-cross pattern to prevent sticking. Using a spatula, gently push down on the spaghetti until it is submerged in the liquid.
- 3. Pressure Cook: Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the valve to "Sealing." Select "Manual" or "Pressure Cook" mode and adjust the time to 5 minutes on High pressure.
- 4. Quick Release: Once the pressure cooking is complete, perform a quick pressure release by carefully turning the valve to "Venting."
- 5. Add Vegetables and Finish: Carefully open the lid. Add the julienned carrots, shredded purple cabbage, julienned bell peppers, and chopped green onions. Use tongs to mix everything together well with the hot noodles and sauce.

- 6. Place the lid back on the Instant Pot (no need to seal or cook further) and let it sit for 5 minutes. The residual steam will lightly cook the vegetables while keeping them crunchy.
- 7. Serve: Open the lid. Squeeze in the fresh lime juice. Garnish generously with chopped roasted peanuts and fresh cilantro. Serve immediately.

#### Stovetop Method:

- 1. Cook Noodles: Cook spaghetti or other noodles according to package directions. Drain and set aside.
- 2. Prepare Peanut Sauce: In a mixing bowl, whisk together peanut butter, 1/4 cup water (or more, to desired consistency), soy sauce, rice vinegar, maple syrup, Sriracha, ginger, garlic, and salt until smooth.
- 3. Combine and Serve: In a large serving bowl, combine the cooked noodles with the prepared peanut sauce. Add all the chopped/julienned vegetables (carrots, cabbage, bell peppers, green onions). Toss everything together until well coated.
- 4. Squeeze fresh lime juice over the noodle bowl. Garnish with roasted peanuts and cilantro. Serve immediately.

- 1. Noodle Placement in IP: When using spaghetti in the Instant Pot, break them in half and add them in a criss-cross pattern to prevent them from clumping together during cooking.
- 2. Adjust Sauce Consistency: For the stovetop version, you can adjust the thickness of the peanut sauce by adding more or less water until it reaches your preferred consistency.
- 3. Customize Vegetables: Feel free to add or substitute other crunchy vegetables like snap peas, edamame, or cucumber.

# Recipe 72: Thai Tofu Buddha bowls

# Ingredients

(Suggestions):

Category	Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For the Tofu:			
	Extra Firm Tofu	14 oz block	Pressed
	Cornstarch	2 tablespoons	
	Oil	3 tablespoons	For pan-frying (or use air fryer)
For the Peanut Sauce:			
	Peanut Butter	1/4 cup	Creamy or crunchy
	Soy Sauce or Tamari	1 tablespoon	Use Tamari for gluten-free
	Rice Vinegar	1 tablespoon	
	Maple Syrup or Honey	2 tablespoons	Use maple syrup for vegan
	Sriracha	2 tablespoons	Adjust to taste
	Fresh Lime Juice	Juice of 1/2 lime	
	Ginger	1-inch piece	Grated
	Garlic	3 cloves	Minced
	Water	1/4 cup (approx.)	To thin sauce to desired consistency
	Salt	To taste	
For the Bowl Base:			
	Cooked Quinoa or Rice	2 cups	Brown rice, jasmine rice, or quinoa
For the Vegetables			

Carrots	1 cup	Shredded or julienned
Purple Cabbage	1 cup	Shredded
Red Bell Pepper	1/2 medium	Julienne
Green Bell Pepper	1/2 medium	Julienne
Edamame	1/2 cup	Shelled, cooked
Cucumber	1/2 cup	Sliced or diced
Leafy Greens	2 cups	Spinach, mixed greens, etc.
Green Onions (Scallions)	2 stalks	Chopped
Fresh Cilantro	1/4 cup	Roughly chopped
Roasted Peanuts	1/4 cup	Roughly chopped

## **Export to Sheets**

Garnish:

## **Step-by-Step Instructions**

### 1. Prepare Tofu:

 Press the tofu for at least 15-30 minutes to remove excess water. Cut into 3/4-inch cubes.

1 teaspoon

o In a bowl, toss the tofu cubes with cornstarch until evenly coated.

Sesame Seeds

- o **Pan-fry:** Heat oil in a skillet over medium-high heat. Add tofu cubes and cook, turning occasionally, until golden brown and crispy on all sides. Remove and set aside.
- Air-fry: Preheat air fryer to 400°F (200°C). Lightly spray tofu with oil. Air fry for 10-15 minutes, shaking halfway, until crispy.

### 2. Prepare Peanut Sauce:

o In a medium bowl, whisk together peanut butter, soy sauce (or tamari), rice vinegar, maple syrup (or honey), Sriracha, grated ginger, minced garlic, and salt.

- Gradually whisk in water until the sauce reaches your desired consistency (it should be pourable but still creamy).
- Stir in the fresh lime juice. Taste and adjust seasonings if needed.
- 3. **Cook Quinoa/Rice:** Cook your chosen grain according to package directions or your preferred method (e.g., Instant Pot Jasmine Rice Recipe 70).
- 4. Prepare Vegetables: Wash and chop/shred/julienne all your chosen vegetables.

#### 5. Assemble the Buddha Bowl:

- o Divide the cooked quinoa or rice among serving bowls.
- Arrange a portion of the crispy tofu and a colorful assortment of the prepared vegetables over the grain base in each bowl.
- o Drizzle generously with the prepared peanut sauce.
- Garnish with chopped green onions, fresh cilantro, roasted peanuts, and sesame seeds.
- 6. **Serve:** Serve immediately.

- 1. **Crispy Tofu is Key:** Pressing the tofu well and coating it in cornstarch before cooking (pan-frying or air-frying) is essential for achieving a delightfully crispy texture that holds up to the sauce.
- 2. **Sauce Consistency:** Adjust the amount of water in the peanut sauce to achieve your preferred thickness. It should be pourable enough to drizzle but thick enough to coat the ingredients.
- 3. **Colorful Veggie Variety:** The beauty of a Buddha bowl is its versatility and visual appeal. Use a wide array of colorful vegetables for different textures, flavors, and nutrients.

# Recipe 73: Thai Salad

# Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For the Salad:		
Lettuce	1/4 cup	Chopped
Corn	1/4 cup	Cooked or canned, drained
Mango	1/4 cup	Fresh, ripe, chopped
Scallions (Green Onions)	1/4 cup	Chopped
Bell Peppers (mixed colors)	1/4 cup	Chopped
Carrots	1/4 cup	Chopped or shredded
Crushed Peanuts (optional)	1 teaspoon	For garnish
For the Green Coconut Dressing:		
Lite Coconut Milk	1 can (approx. 13.5 oz)	Organic recommended
Peanut Butter	1/4 cup	Creamy, organic recommended
Fresh Cilantro	1/4 cup	Chopped

Fresh Thai Basil	1/4 cup	Chopped
Scallions (Green Onions)	1/8 cup	Chopped (for dressing)
Thai Green Chilies (optional)	1/2 teaspoon (or to taste)	Adjust for spice level
Garlic	1 clove	
Ginger	1 teaspoon	Fresh, grated or minced

### Step-by-Step Instructions

#### 1. Prepare Salad Ingredients:

- Wash and chop all the salad vegetables and fruit (lettuce, corn, mango, scallions, bell peppers, carrots).
- o If using canned corn, drain it well.
- o If using peanuts for garnish, crush them lightly.
- o It's recommended to cool the fruits and vegetables in the refrigerator for a while before assembling the salad, though it can also be served at room temperature.

### 2. Prepare Green Coconut Dressing:

- o In a blender, combine all the dressing ingredients: lite coconut milk, peanut butter, chopped cilantro, chopped Thai basil, 1/8 cup chopped scallions, Thai green chilies (if using, adjust quantity to your spice preference), garlic clove, and fresh ginger.
- Blend until the dressing is smooth and creamy. If the dressing is too thick, you can add a tablespoon or two of water to reach the desired consistency.

#### 3. Assemble the Salad:

- In a large salad bowl, combine all the prepared salad ingredients: chopped lettuce, corn, mango, 1/4 cup chopped scallions, bell peppers, and carrots.
- o Toss the salad ingredients gently to mix them.

#### 4. Dress and Serve:

o Pour the prepared Green Coconut Dressing over the salad.

- Toss gently again to ensure all the salad components are evenly coated with the dressing.
- o Garnish with crushed peanuts, if desired.
- o Serve immediately.

- 1. Fresh Herbs are Key: Using fresh Thai basil and cilantro will significantly enhance the authentic flavor and aroma of the Green Coconut Dressing.
- 2. Adjust Dressing Consistency: If the dressing is too thick after blending, add a little water, one tablespoon at a time, until it reaches a pourable consistency you like.
- 3. Chill Ingredients: For an extra refreshing salad, especially in warm weather, ensure your chopped vegetables, fruits, and even the dressing are chilled before assembling and serving.

# Chapter 12: Italian Pasta & Breads

Italian cuisine, celebrated globally for its comforting flavors, fresh ingredients, and regional diversity, offers a world of culinary delight, with pasta and bread at its very heart. From the simplest tomatosauced penne to rustic, crusty loaves perfect for soaking up savory sauces, these staples are more than just food; they are an expression of Italian culture, family, and the joy of eating well. This chapter invites you to explore the art of creating authentic Italian pasta dishes and artisanal breads in your own kitchen.

The magic of Italian pasta lies in its beautiful simplicity and the quality of its components. Whether it's a vibrant Caprese salad bursting with summer flavors, a creamy pesto-coated cavatappi, or a hearty minestrone soup brimming with vegetables and pasta, each dish tells a story of fresh produce and time-honored traditions. Similarly, Italian breads, from the dimpled, olive oil-rich Focaccia to the airy Ciabatta and the comforting Garlic Knots, are crafted with a passion that transforms basic ingredients into culinary treasures, perfect for any meal or occasion.

In the following pages, you will find a collection of recipes designed to bring the authentic tastes of Italy to your table. We will guide you through creating beloved pasta dishes like Penne Pomodoro and Gigi Hadid's viral spicy pasta, alongside comforting soups and fresh pasta salads. You'll also learn the satisfying craft of baking your own Italian breads, from classic homemade loaves and Focaccia to delightful Garlic Bread and Bruschetta. These recipes, complete with tips and tricks, will empower you to master these Italian favorites with ease and confidence.

# Recipe 74: Penne Pomodoro

Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Penne Pasta	Not specified (use standard amount for servings)	Tubular shape holds sauce well
San Marzano whole peeled plum tomatoes	Not specified (e.g., 1 large can)	Pureed
Onions	Not specified (e.g., 1 medium)	Chopped
Garlic	Not specified (e.g., 2-3 cloves)	Minced
Olive Oil	Not specified (e.g., 1-2 tbsp)	Provides a rich base
Red Chili Flakes	Not specified (e.g., 1/4 tsp)	Adjust to taste
Dried Oregano	Not specified (e.g., 1 tsp)	
Dried Basil	Not specified (e.g., 1 tsp)	
Water or Broth	2 1/4 cups	For Instant Pot
Salt	To taste	
Fresh Basil Leaves	For garnish	Imparts fragrant, sweet note
Parmesan Cheese (optional)	For garnish	

Step-by-Step Instructions

#### Instant Pot Method:

- 1. Sauté Aromatics: Press the "Sauté" button on the Instant Pot and allow it to heat up. Drizzle olive oil into the inner pot. Add chopped onions, minced garlic, red chili flakes, oregano, and dried basil. Cook until fragrant, about 2-3 minutes.
- 2. Add Pasta and Liquid: Add the penne pasta to the pot. Pour in the water or broth and sprinkle with salt.
- 3. Layer Tomatoes: Pour the pureed San Marzano tomatoes on top of the pasta, covering as much of the top layer as possible. Do not stir at this point.
- 4. Pressure Cook: Secure the lid, and move the steam release valve to "Sealing." Use the "Manual" or "Pressure Cook" button to cook at high pressure for 5 minutes.
- 5. Quick Release: When cooking is complete, perform a Quick Release of the pressure.
- 6. Finish and Serve: Open the lid and stir the cooked pasta, mixing the sauce throughout evenly. Sprinkle with Parmesan cheese (if using) and fresh chopped basil. Serve hot.

- 1. Fresh Tomatoes: If using fresh plum tomatoes, wash, peel (optional), and puree them before adding to the recipe.
- 2. Garlic Press: Using a garlic press can help release more flavor from the garlic.
- 3. Storage: Store leftover Penne Pomodoro in an airtight container in the fridge for 2-3 days. It may become watery when frozen and reheated.

# Recipe 75: Crispy Gnocchi Recipe

## Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Gnocchi	1 Lb.	Shelf stable, refrigerated, or frozen
Olive Oil	2 Tablespoons	Or your favored oil
Salt	1/2 teaspoon	
Garlic Salt	1/2 teaspoon	Or garlic powder
Italian Seasoning (Optional)	1/2 teaspoon	
Smoked Paprika	2 teaspoons	
Grated Parmesan Cheese	1 Tablespoon	

Step-by-Step Instructions

#### Air Fryer Method:

- 1. Preheat Air Fryer: Preheat your air fryer to the desired temperature, typically around 390-400°F (200°C), for a few minutes.
- 2. Prepare Gnocchi: In a bowl, toss the gnocchi with olive oil. Ensure a light coating.
- 3. Season Gnocchi: Add salt, garlic salt (or garlic powder), Italian seasoning (if using), smoked paprika, and grated Parmesan cheese. Toss well to ensure the gnocchi are evenly seasoned.
- 4. Air Fry: Lay the seasoned gnocchi in a single layer in the air fryer basket. Leave a little space between each one to allow air to circulate freely for even crisping.
- 5. Cook for approximately 15 to 18 minutes. Shake the basket halfway through the cooking time to promote even browning and crispiness.
- 6. The gnocchi is ready when the edges start to bronze and they are crispy to your liking.

7. Serve: Serve immediately with your favorite dipping sauce like marinara, pesto, or Sriracha aioli.

- 1. Preheat for Crispiness: Always preheat your air fryer. This ensures the gnocchi starts cooking immediately and evenly, leading to a crispier exterior.
- 2. Don't Overcrowd: Cook gnocchi in a single layer without overcrowding the basket. This prevents them from steaming and encourages maximum crispiness. Cook in batches if necessary.
- 3. Shake Halfway: Giving the basket a good shake or stirring the gnocchi about halfway through cooking is crucial for even browning and achieving that perfect crunch on all sides.

# Recipe 76: Caprese Pasta Salad

# Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Pasta	8 oz.	Orecchiette or similar shape
Cherry Tomatoes	2 cups	Halved or quartered
Mozzarella Balls (Pearls)	8 oz.	Whole milk preferred for richer flavor
Fresh Basil Sprigs	10	Leaves torn
Extra Virgin Olive Oil	2 tablespoons	Plus more for coating pasta
Salt	To taste	
Black Pepper	To taste	Freshly ground
Balsamic Glaze	To garnish	
Optional Ingredients:		
Garlic Clove	1	Minced
Dried Oregano	1/2 teaspoon	
Pesto	2 tablespoons	
Crushed Red Pepper Flakes	A pinch	

Step-by-Step Instructions

- 1. Cook Pasta: Cook the pasta according to package instructions until al dente.
- 2. Prepare Ingredients: While the pasta is cooking, wash and halve or quarter the cherry tomatoes. If mozzarella balls are large, you can halve them. Gently tear the fresh basil leaves.
- 3. Combine: Once the pasta is cooked, drain the excess water. Immediately coat the warm pasta with a little olive oil to prevent sticking.
- 4. In a large serving bowl, add the cooked pasta. Add the prepared cherry tomatoes, mozzarella balls, and torn basil leaves.
- 5. Dress the Salad: Drizzle with 2 tablespoons of extra virgin olive oil. Season with salt and freshly ground black pepper to taste. If using optional minced garlic or dried oregano, add them now.
- 6. Mix Gently: Toss all the ingredients together gently to combine.
- 7. Garnish and Serve: Just before serving, drizzle with balsamic glaze. If using optional pesto or crushed red pepper flakes, you can incorporate them during the mixing stage or as part of the garnish. Serve immediately or chilled.

- 1. Fresh is Best: Use the freshest ingredients possible, especially ripe cherry tomatoes, fresh mozzarella pearls (whole milk for best flavor), and fresh basil, for the most vibrant taste.
- 2. Balance Flavors: Taste the salad as you go and adjust seasonings. The sweetness of balsamic, creaminess of mozzarella, and freshness of basil should be balanced with enough salt and pepper to make the flavors pop.
- Make Ahead: You can cook the pasta ahead of time; rinse and coat with oil to prevent sticking.
   Combine most ingredients, but add the balsamic glaze and fresh basil just before serving to maintain their freshness and prevent the basil from wilting too much.

# Recipe 77: Italian Focaccia

# Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For the Dough:		
Lukewarm Water	1 cup	Approx. 100°F
All-Purpose Flour	2 and 1/3 cups	Bread flour can also be used
Sugar	1 teaspoon	
Instant Yeast	1/2 teaspoon	
Salt	1/2 teaspoon	
Olive Oil	2 tablespoons	
For the Topping:		
Olive Oil	3 tablespoons	Extra virgin recommended
Lukewarm Water	3 tablespoons	
Garlic Cloves	5	Minced or crushed
Fresh Rosemary Leaves	1 tablespoon	Chopped
Coarse Salt Flakes	To taste	Sea salt recommended

Step-by-Step Instructions

- Activate Yeast: In a bowl, add the yeast and 1 cup of lukewarm water. Allow it to rest for 5 to 10
  minutes, or until the mixture is frothy. If it doesn't froth, the yeast may not be active, and you
  should start over with fresh yeast.
- Mix Dough: In the bowl of a stand mixer with a dough hook attachment (or a large bowl if kneading by hand), add the all-purpose flour, sugar, salt, and 2 tablespoons of olive oil. Give it a brief stir with a fork.
- 3. Add the activated yeast mixture to the flour mixture.
- 4. Knead Dough: Start kneading at a low speed with the dough hook. Once all the flour has incorporated, increase the speed slightly and knead for about 10 minutes, or until the dough comes together around the dough hook and becomes smooth and elastic. If kneading by hand, turn the dough out onto a lightly floured surface and knead for 10-15 minutes.
- 5. First Rise: Lightly oil a large bowl. Place the dough in the bowl, turning it once to coat with oil.

  Cover the bowl with plastic wrap or a damp cloth. Let the dough rise in a warm place for about 1 to 1.5 hours, or until it has doubled in size.
- 6. Prepare for Baking: Preheat your oven to 400°F (200°C). Generously oil a baking sheet (approx. 9x13 inch or similar).
- 7. Shape Dough: Gently punch down the risen dough. Transfer it to the oiled baking sheet. Gently stretch and press the dough to fit the pan. If it resists, let it rest for 5-10 minutes and try again.
- 8. Prepare Topping: While the dough rests briefly (or during the end of its rise), prepare the topping. In a small bowl, mix together 3 tablespoons of olive oil, 3 tablespoons of lukewarm water, minced garlic, and chopped fresh rosemary.
- 9. Dimple and Top: Once the dough is in the pan, pour the prepared topping evenly over the dough. Grease your hands with olive oil and use your fingertips to press down into the dough, creating characteristic dimples all over the surface. Sprinkle generously with coarse salt flakes.
- 10. Bake: Bake in the preheated oven for 20-25 minutes, or until the focaccia is golden brown and cooked through.
- 11. Cool: Let the focaccia cool on the baking sheet for a few minutes before transferring it to a wire rack to cool further. Slice and serve warm or at room temperature.

- 1. Lukewarm Water is Crucial: Ensure the water for activating the yeast is lukewarm (around 100-110°F). Water that is too hot can kill the yeast, and too cold won't activate it properly.
- 2. Generous Oiling: Don't be shy with the olive oil for the pan and the topping. It contributes to the focaccia's signature flavor, crispy bottom, and moist interior.

3.	Dimpling Technique: Press your fingers firmly into the dough to create deep dimples. These wells will catch the olive oil topping and help create the focaccia's characteristic texture.	

# Recipe 78: Pasta Primavera

# Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Pasta	8 oz	Penne, Rotini, or Farfalle recommended
Water (for IP)	2 cups	Or vegetable broth
Salt (for pasta water)	To taste	
Olive Oil	1 tablespoon	
Garlic	2 cloves	Minced
Onion	1/2 medium	Chopped
Cherry Tomatoes	1 cup	Halved
Asparagus	1 cup	Trimmed and cut into 1-inch pieces
Zucchini	1 medium	Diced
Yellow Squash	1 medium	Diced
Red Bell Pepper	1/2 medium	Diced
Green Peas	1/2 cup	Fresh or frozen
Lemon Juice	2 tablespoons	Freshly squeezed
Fresh Parsley	1/4 cup	Chopped

Fresh Basil	1/4 cup	Chopped or torn
Parmesan Cheese (optional)	For garnish	Grated
Red Pepper Flakes (optional)	Pinch	For a little heat

Step-by-Step Instructions

#### Instant Pot Method:

- 1. Prepare Vegetables: Wash and chop/dice all vegetables (onion, garlic, cherry tomatoes, asparagus, zucchini, yellow squash, red bell pepper).
- 2. Sauté Aromatics: Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Add olive oil. Once hot, add chopped onion and minced garlic. Sauté for 1-2 minutes until fragrant and onions are translucent.
- 3. Add Pasta and Liquid: Add the uncooked pasta, water (or vegetable broth), and salt to taste to the Instant Pot. Stir gently to combine and ensure pasta is mostly submerged.
- 4. Layer Vegetables (Do Not Stir): Layer the diced zucchini, yellow squash, red bell pepper, and asparagus pieces on top of the pasta. Add the halved cherry tomatoes on the very top. Do not stir after adding the vegetables.
- 5. Pressure Cook: Cancel "Sauté" mode. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the steam release valve to "Sealing." Select "Pressure Cook" (or "Manual") mode and cook on High pressure for 4 minutes (or half the pasta's recommended stovetop cooking time, minus 1 minute for al dente).
- 6. Quick Release: Once the cooking cycle is complete, perform a Quick Release of the pressure.
- 7. Finish and Serve: Carefully open the lid. Stir in the green peas (if frozen, the residual heat will cook them), fresh lemon juice, chopped fresh parsley, and fresh basil.
- 8. Taste and adjust salt or pepper if needed. If desired, stir in a pinch of red pepper flakes.
- 9. Serve immediately, garnished with grated Parmesan cheese if using.

- 1. Al Dente Pasta: For perfectly al dente pasta in the Instant Pot, cook for half the time recommended on the pasta package, then subtract one more minute. Perform a quick release.
- 2. Layering is Key: When adding ingredients to the Instant Pot, layer the harder vegetables and tomatoes on top of the pasta and liquid. Do not stir them in before pressure cooking to help prevent the "Burn" notice and ensure even cooking.
- 3. Fresh Herbs at the End: Add fresh herbs like parsley and basil after pressure cooking to preserve their vibrant color and fresh flavor.

# Recipe 79: Copycat Olive Garden Gnocchi Soup

# Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Olive Oil	1 tablespoon	
Onion	1 medium	Chopped
Celery	2 stalks	Chopped
Carrots	2 medium	Shredded or finely diced
Garlic	3 cloves	Minced
Vegetable Broth	6 cups	Low sodium recommended
Potato Gnocchi	1 package (16-17.6 oz)	Shelf-stable or refrigerated
Half-and-Half or Heavy Cream	1 cup	For creaminess
Fresh Spinach	5 oz (about 5 cups)	Roughly chopped
Salt	To taste	
Black Pepper	To taste	Freshly ground
Dried Thyme (optional)	1/2 teaspoon	
Parmesan Cheese (optional)	For garnish	Grated

Step-by-Step Instructions

Instant Pot Method:

- 1. Sauté Vegetables: Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Add olive oil. Once hot, add chopped onion, celery, and shredded/diced carrots. Sauté for 3-5 minutes, until vegetables begin to soften. Add minced garlic and dried thyme (if using); sauté for another minute until fragrant.
- 2. Add Broth and (if using): Pour in the vegetable broth. Stir to combine.
- 3. Pressure Cook (Soup Base): Cancel "Sauté" mode. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the steam release valve to "Sealing." Select "Pressure Cook" (or "Manual") mode and cook on High pressure for 5 minutes.
- 4. Quick Release: Once the cooking cycle is complete, perform a Quick Release of the pressure.
- 5. Cook Gnocchi and Finish: Carefully open the lid. Set the Instant Pot back to "Sauté" mode. Bring the soup to a gentle simmer. Add the potato gnocchi. Cook according to package directions, usually for 2-4 minutes, or until the gnocchi float to the surface and are tender.
- 6. Reduce heat (or turn off "Sauté" mode if soup is simmering too vigorously). Slowly stir in the half-and-half or heavy cream.
- 7. Add the roughly chopped fresh spinach and stir until it wilts, about 1-2 minutes.
- 8. Season with salt and freshly ground black pepper to taste.
- 9. Serve: Ladle the creamy gnocchi soup into bowls. Garnish with grated Parmesan cheese, if desired. Serve hot with breadsticks.

- 1. Don't Overcook Gnocchi: Add gnocchi towards the end of the cooking process and cook only until they float and are tender. Overcooked gnocchi can become mushy.
- 2. Creaminess Control: Use heavy cream for a richer, creamier soup, or half-and-half for a slightly lighter version. Stir it in gently at the end over low heat to prevent curdling.

# Recipe 80: Copycat Olive Garden Minestrone Soup

# Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Olive Oil	2 tablespoons	
Onion	1 cup	Finely chopped
Carrots	1/2 cup	Chopped
Celery	1/2 cup	Chopped
Zucchini	1	Chopped
Garlic Cloves	2	Minced
Petite Diced Tomatoes	1 can (14 oz)	Do not drain
Kidney Beans	1 can (14 oz)	Drained & rinsed
Tomato Sauce	1 can (14 oz)	
Low Sodium Vegetable Broth	7 cups	
Italian Seasoning	1 tablespoon	
Salt	To taste	More or less to preference
Black Pepper	1/2 teaspoon	

Spinach Leaves	1 1/2 cups	Baby spinach
Shell Pasta (small)	1/2 cup	Uncooked

Step-by-Step Instructions

#### Instant Pot Method:

- 1. Sauté Vegetables: Heat olive oil in the Instant Pot on "Sauté" (high) mode. Add the chopped onion and minced garlic. Sauté until lightly caramelized, about 3 minutes.
- 2. Add chopped zucchini, carrots, and celery. Sauté for an additional minute.
- 3. Add Remaining Ingredients: Stir in the petite diced tomatoes (undrained) and tomato sauce. Press the "Keep Warm/Cancel" button.
- 4. Add the drained and rinsed kidney beans, vegetable broth, Italian seasoning, salt, black pepper, baby spinach leaves, and uncooked shell pasta. Give it a good stir.
- 5. Pressure Cook: Securely lock the Instant Pot's lid and set the steam release valve to "Sealing." Select "Pressure Cook" (or "Manual") mode and set for 6 minutes on High pressure.
- 6. Quick Release: Once the cooking is complete, perform a "Quick Release" to release the pressure.
- 7. Serve: Carefully open the lid. Stir the soup. Serve hot, optionally with garlic bread.

#### Stovetop Method:

- 1. Sauté Vegetables: Heat olive oil in a large pot over medium heat. Add chopped onions, carrots, minced garlic, celery, and zucchini. Cook for 5-6 minutes until tender, stirring occasionally.
- 2. Add Liquids and Seasonings: Stir in the petite diced tomatoes (undrained), drained and rinsed kidney beans, tomato sauce, vegetable broth, Italian seasoning, salt, and pepper.
- 3. Simmer: Bring the soup to a low boil. Reduce heat to medium and let it simmer for 10-15 minutes.
- 4. Add Pasta and Spinach: Add the uncooked shell pasta and spinach leaves. Let cook until the pasta is done according to package directions (usually 8-10 minutes).
- 5. Serve: Serve hot.

#### Expert Tips & Tricks

1. Freezing Tip: If you plan to freeze the soup, it's best to leave the pasta out. Cook the pasta separately and add it when reheating the soup to prevent it from becoming mushy.

- 2. Vegetable Prep: Chop all your vegetables the day before and store them in an airtight container or sealable bags in the fridge to save time on cooking day.
- 3. Customizable Add-ins: Feel free to add other vegetables like butternut squash or green beans, or different beans like cannellini. You can also substitute pasta with quinoa or millet for a variation.

Recipe 81: Instant Pot Buttered Noodles (Inspired by Tik Tok Ramen)
Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Instant Ramen Noodles	1 pack	Spice packet not needed
Butter	1 tablespoon	
Garlic	1 tablespoon	Minced
Soy Sauce	1 tablespoon	
Brown Sugar	1 tablespoon	
Thecha Chutney or Chili Flakes	1-2 teaspoons	Adjust to taste (Thecha is very spicy)
Starchy Water from cooked noodles	1/4 cup	Reserved
Optional Garnish:		
Scallions	1 tablespoon	Diced
Everything But Bagel Seasoning or Toasted Sesame Seeds	1 teaspoon	
Sesame Oil	Drizzle	
Egg	1	Optional, for scrambling with noodles

Step-by-Step Instructions

- 1. Cook Noodles: Cook the ramen noodles according to the package directions until al dente. Do not overcook. Reserve about 1/4 cup of the starchy cooking water before draining the noodles.
- 2. Prepare Sauce: While noodles are cooking, or immediately after, melt butter in a medium pan over low to medium heat.
- 3. Add minced garlic and sauté for about 30 seconds until fragrant. Be careful not to brown or burn the garlic.
- 4. Add the soy sauce, Thecha chutney (or chili flakes), and brown sugar to the pan. Mix well and cook on low heat for about 30 seconds.
- 5. Combine: Add the cooked and drained noodles to the pan with the sauce. Add the reserved 1/4 cup of starchy noodle water. Toss everything well with tongs to coat the noodles evenly.
- 6. Cook for 2 to 3 minutes, or until most of the water has evaporated and the sauce has thickened and clings to the noodles.
- 7. Optional Egg: If adding an egg, move the noodles to one side of the pan. Add the egg to the empty side, scramble it as it cooks, and then mix it into the noodles.
- 8. Serve: Turn off the heat. Serve the buttered noodles hot. Garnish with diced scallions, Everything But Bagel seasoning or toasted sesame seeds, and a drizzle of sesame oil if desired.

- 1. Al Dente Noodles: Cook the ramen noodles just until al dente, as they will cook a little more when tossed with the sauce. Overcooked noodles can become mushy.
- 2. Don't Burn Garlic: Sauté the garlic gently only until fragrant. Burnt garlic will make the dish bitter.
- 3. Starchy Water is Key: The reserved starchy water from cooking the noodles is important as it helps the sauce emulsify and cling to the noodles, creating a creamier texture.

# Recipe 82: Gigi Hadid Pasta

# Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Pasta (Mezzi Rigatoni or similar short pasta)	8 oz	
Water (for cooking pasta in IP)	2 1/2 cups	
Salt (for pasta water)	To taste	
Olive Oil	3 tablespoons	
Shallots or Small Onion	2 shallots or 1 small onion	Chopped
Garlic Cloves	5-6	Finely chopped
Tomato Paste	1/2 cup	
Vodka (optional)	2 tablespoons	Can substitute with lemon/lime juice
Heavy Cream	1.5 cups	
Red Chili Flakes	2 teaspoons	Adjust to taste
Black Pepper	1/2 teaspoon	Or to taste
Salt (for sauce)	To taste	

Parmesan Cheese	1/2 cup	Grated, plus more for garnish
Butter	2 tablespoons	
Fresh Parsley	1 tablespoon	Chopped, for garnish
Reserved Pasta Water	As needed	If cooking pasta on stovetop

Step-by-Step Instructions

Instant Pot Method (for pasta, sauce on stovetop as described in source):

Cook Pasta in Instant Pot: Add 2 1/2 cups of water, salt to taste, and 8 oz of pasta to the Instant
Pot's inner pot. Stir gently. Secure the lid with the vent knob turned to the sealing position.
Select "Pressure Cook" (or "Manual") on High pressure for 4 minutes. Once done, perform a
quick release of pressure. Drain pasta, reserving some pasta water if desired for the sauce.

Sauce Preparation (Stovetop - as per source for Gigi Hadid Pasta):

- 2. Sauté Aromatics: In a large skillet, heat olive oil over medium-high heat. Add chopped shallots (or onion) and sauté until they start to change color.
- 3. Add finely chopped garlic and sauté for another minute until fragrant.
- 4. Cook Tomato Paste: Stir in tomato paste and cook for 5 minutes, stirring frequently, until it darkens slightly.
- 5. Add Vodka (Optional): If using vodka, add it to the skillet and cook for 2-3 minutes, allowing the alcohol to cook off. (If substituting with lemon/lime juice, add it with the cream).
- 6. Make Creamy Sauce: Stir in the heavy cream, red chili flakes, salt to taste, and black pepper. Stir until the sauce is smooth.
- 7. Add the grated Parmesan cheese and cook for another minute, stirring until the cheese is melted and the sauce is creamy. If the sauce is too thick, add a splash of reserved pasta water (from stovetop pasta cooking, or plain hot water if IP pasta water wasn't reserved).
- 8. Combine and Finish: Add the cooked pasta to the sauce. Stir in the butter until it melts and is incorporated.
- 9. Serve immediately, garnished with fresh chopped parsley and extra Parmesan cheese.

- 1. Tomato Paste is Key: Cooking the tomato paste well until it darkens slightly is important for developing a deep, rich flavor in the sauce.
- 2. Heavy Cream for Richness: Don't skip the heavy cream, as it's essential for the characteristic creamy and thick texture of this pasta sauce.
- 3. Adjust Spice Level: The amount of red chili flakes can be adjusted to make the pasta milder or spicier according to your preference.

# Recipe 83: Homemade Italian Bread

## Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
All-Purpose Flour or Bread Flour	5 cups	
Lukewarm Water	1 ¾ cups	Approx. 100°F
Instant Yeast	1 teaspoon	
Light Brown Sugar	1 tablespoon	
Salt	2 teaspoons	
Olive Oil	2 tablespoons	
Cooking Spray	For greasing	
Milk (optional)	For coating	Gives a nice color

Step-by-Step Instructions

## 1. Prepare Dough:

- o In the bowl of an electric stand mixer with a dough hook attachment (or a large bowl if kneading by hand), add the flour, light brown sugar, salt, and olive oil.
- $\circ\quad$  Attach the dough hook and start mixing on the lowest setting.
- o Add the instant yeast. Gradually add the lukewarm water while the mixer is running.
- Continue to knead on a low setting (e.g., speed 2 on a KitchenAid) for approximately 7 minutes, or until the dough comes together and is firm and elastic.
- If kneading by hand, combine dry ingredients, then add yeast and wet ingredients. Mix until a shaggy dough forms, then turn out onto a lightly floured surface and knead for 10-15 minutes until smooth and elastic.

#### 2. First Rise (Instant Pot Option):

- Spray the inner pot of the Instant Pot with cooking spray. Transfer the dough into the pot and coat the dough with a little oil.
- Close the lid (it doesn't need to seal for yogurt mode). Set the Instant Pot to "Yogurt" mode (low pressure if applicable, or normal yogurt setting) and allow the dough to rise for 2 hours, or until it has doubled in size.
- Alternatively, place the dough in a lightly oiled bowl, cover with plastic wrap or a damp cloth, and let it rise in a warm place for 1-2 hours, or until doubled.

#### 3. Shape Loaves:

- o Once risen, punch the dough down. Transfer it onto a lightly floured surface.
- o Form the dough into a ball, then divide it into two equal parts.
- Take one ball and, using the heel of your hand, flatten it. Carefully roll the flattened dough into a tight, elongated roll with rounded ends (typical Italian loaf shape).
- o Repeat with the second ball of dough.
- o Place both loaves on a baking sheet lined with parchment paper or lightly greased.

#### 4. Second Rise (Proofing):

 Cover the shaped loaves with a kitchen towel and allow them to proof in a warm place for another 30 minutes.

## 5. Prepare for Baking:

- o After the loaves have proofed for about 15 minutes, preheat your oven to 400°F (200°C).
- Place an oven-safe bowl filled with about 1 cup of water on the bottom rack of the oven.
   This creates steam for a crispier crust.

#### 6. Bake:

- If using, lightly brush the tops of the proofed loaves with milk for a nice color.
- Using a sharp knife or a razor blade, make 3-4 diagonal slashes about ¼ inch deep across the top of each loaf, holding the blade at a 45-degree angle.
- Place the baking sheet with the loaves on the middle rack of the preheated oven.
- Bake for 20-25 minutes, or until the bread is golden brown and sounds hollow when tapped on the bottom.

7. Cool: Immediately transfer the baked loaves to a wire rack to cool completely. This helps maintain a crispy crust.

- 1. Steam for Crust: Placing a cup of water in an oven-safe bowl on the bottom rack of the oven while baking creates steam, which is essential for achieving a wonderfully crispy crust on your Italian bread.
- 2. Cool on Wire Rack: Always allow the bread to cool completely on a wire rack. This prevents the bottom from becoming soggy and helps keep the crust crispy.
- 3. Instant Pot for Rising: Using the "Yogurt" mode on an Instant Pot provides a consistent, warm environment, perfect for dough rising, especially if your kitchen is cool.

# Recipe 84: Air Fryer Garlic Bread

## Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Baguette (French)	1/2 loaf	Or sourdough or other preferred sturdy bread
Butter	5 tablespoons	Softened to room temperature
Garlic Cloves	4	Minced or crushed
Dried Parsley	1 1/2 tablespoons	
Red Pepper Flakes	Small pinch	Optional
Parmesan Cheese	1/2 cup	Grated
Mozzarella Cheese	1/2 cup	Shredded

Step-by-Step Instructions

- 1. Prepare Bread: Cut the baguette into ½-inch thick slices.
- 2. Make Garlic Butter Cheese Spread:
  - o Ensure the butter is softened to room temperature for easy mixing.
  - o In a small bowl, combine the softened butter, minced/crushed garlic, dried parsley, Parmesan cheese, shredded mozzarella cheese, and red pepper flakes (if using).
  - o Stir well until all ingredients are thoroughly combined into a spread.
- 3. Baste Bread: Generously spread the garlic butter cheese mixture on top of each bread slice.
- 4. Air Fry:
  - Preheat your air fryer to 325-360°F (160-180°C) according to your air fryer's performance..<sup>3</sup>

- Arrange the basted bread slices in a single layer in the air fryer basket. Do not overcrowd; cook in batches if necessary.
- Air fry for about 3 to 4 minutes, or until the cheese is melted and bubbly, and the bread is golden brown and crispy. Check after 3 minutes and adjust time as needed, as air fryers vary.
- 5. Serve: Serve immediately while hot and cheesy.

- 1. Softened Butter is Key: Use butter that is properly softened to room temperature. This makes it much easier to mix the spread ingredients evenly and to spread it smoothly on the bread slices.
- 2. Uniform Slices: Cut the bread slices to a consistent ½-inch thickness. This ensures that all pieces cook evenly in the air fryer.
- 3. Watch Closely: Air fryers cook quickly. Check the garlic bread after about 3 minutes to ensure it's not browning too fast. Adjust the cooking time as needed for your specific air fryer model to achieve a perfect golden brown.

# Recipe 85: Bruschetta

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For the Toast:		
Bread Loaf	1	French baguette or Ciabatta recommended
Extra Virgin Olive Oil	For brushing	
Garlic Cloves	2	Halved, for rubbing (optional)
For the Tomato Topping:		
Olive Oil	Not specified (e.g., 1-2 tbsp)	For sautéing garlic & mixing
Garlic	Not specified (e.g., 2-3 cloves)	Thinly sliced
Tomatoes	Not specified (e.g., 2-3 large Roma)	Diced, ripe
Fresh Basil	Handful	Sliced or torn
Balsamic Vinegar	Drizzle	Or red wine vinegar
Salt	To taste	

Red Pepper Flakes (optional)	
------------------------------	--

#### 1. Prepare Bread:

- o Preheat your air fryer to 360°F (180°C) or oven to 400°F (200°C).
- $\circ$  Slice the baguette or ciabatta bread diagonally into approximately ¼ to ½-inch thick slices.
- o Using a pastry brush, lightly brush one side of each bread slice with extra virgin olive oil.
- Place the oiled slices in the air fryer basket (oil side down if preferred, or up) or on a baking sheet for the oven.
- o Air Fryer: Cook for 3-4 minutes, or until golden brown and toasted.
- o Oven: Bake for 12-15 minutes, or until golden brown and crisp.
- Once toasted, if desired, rub the warm toasts with the cut side of a halved garlic clove for extra flavor.

#### 2. Prepare Tomato Topping:

- o While the bread is toasting (or before), prepare the topping.
- Heat a small amount of olive oil in a skillet over medium-low heat. Add thinly sliced garlic and cook until lightly golden (about 2-4 minutes). Remove from heat and let the garlic and oil cool.
- o In a small bowl, combine the diced ripe tomatoes, sliced fresh basil, balsamic vinegar, salt to taste, and red pepper flakes (if using).
- o Add the cooled sautéed garlic and its oil to the tomato mixture. Toss gently to combine.
- Let the tomato mixture marinate in the refrigerator for at least 15 minutes to allow flavors to meld.

#### 3. Assemble and Serve:

- Spoon a generous amount of the marinated tomato topping onto each piece of toasted bread.
- o Serve immediately.

- 1. Best Bread Choice: Use a good quality, crusty bread like a French baguette or ciabatta. Slicing it on the bias (diagonally) provides more surface area for toppings.
- 2. Marinate Topping: Allowing the tomato topping to marinate for at least 15 minutes in the refrigerator helps the flavors meld together beautifully.
- 3. Serve Freshly Assembled: Bruschetta is best when assembled just before serving to prevent the toast from becoming soggy from the tomato mixture.

# Recipe 86: Crostini Bread

#### Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Baguette	1 large	Thin French baguette recommended
Extra Virgin Olive Oil	For brushing	
Garlic Cloves (optional)	2	Halved, for rubbing

#### Step-by-Step Instructions

- 1. Preheat: Preheat your air fryer to 360°F (180°C) or oven to 400°F (200°C).
- 2. Slice Bread: Slice the baguette diagonally (on the bias) into approximately ¼-inch thick slices. This diagonal cut gives more surface area.
- 3. Oil Bread: Using a pastry brush, lightly coat one side of each bread slice with extra virgin olive oil.

#### 4. Toast:

- Air Fryer: Arrange the oiled slices in a single layer in the air fryer basket (oil side down or up). Air fry for 3 to 4 minutes, or until golden brown and crisp. You may need to do this in batches depending on the size of your air fryer.
- Oven: Arrange the oiled slices on a baking sheet. Bake for 12 to 15 minutes, or until golden brown and crisp. You might want to flip them halfway through for even toasting.
- Rub with Garlic (Optional): Once the crostini are toasted and while they are still warm, gently
  rub one side of each toast with the cut side of a halved garlic clove. This imparts a subtle garlic
  flavor.
- 6. Cool and Serve: Allow the crostini to cool slightly. They can be served plain or with your favorite toppings, spreads, or dips.

## **Expert Tips & Tricks**

1. Bread Choice: Traditionally, crostini are made with a thin French baguette. This type of bread provides small, round, and sturdy toasts perfect for appetizers.

- 2. Day-Old Bread Works Well: If you have day-old bread that's slightly stale, it's perfect for making crostini as it will toast up even crispier.
- 3. Watch Closely: Whether using an air fryer or oven, keep a close eye on the bread slices as they toast quickly, especially thinner slices, to prevent them from burning.

# Recipe 87: White Bean Soup (Pasta e Fagioli)

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Olive Oil	1 tablespoon	
Carrots	1 cup	Diced small
Celery	1 cup	Diced small
Garlic	2-3 cloves	Minced
Potatoes	1 medium	Peeled and diced small
Tomato Sauce / Marinara Sauce	1 (15 oz) can	Or your favorite jarred tomato sauce
Cannellini Beans	1 (15 oz) can	Rinsed and drained
Ditalini Pasta (or other small pasta)	1 cup	Uncooked
Dried Parsley	1 teaspoon	Or 1 tbsp fresh, chopped
Crushed Red Pepper Flakes (optional)	1/2 teaspoon	Adjust to taste
Vegetable Broth	4 cups	Low sodium recommended
Baby Spinach or Baby Kale (optional)	2 cups	Roughly chopped
Salt	To taste	

Black Pepper	To taste	

#### Instant Pot Method:

- 1. Sauté Aromatics: Turn the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Add olive oil. Once hot, add diced carrots, celery, and minced garlic. Sauté for about a minute until fragrant.
- 2. Add Ingredients: Add diced potatoes, tomato sauce/marinara, rinsed and drained cannellini beans, uncooked ditalini pasta, dried parsley, and crushed red pepper flakes (if using). Pour in the vegetable broth. Mix well.
- 3. Pressure Cook: Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the pressure release valve to "Sealing." Cancel "Sauté" mode. Cook on "Pressure Cook" (or "Manual") mode on High pressure for 4 minutes. (Note: Pressure cook time is typically half the stovetop cook time suggested on the pasta packaging).
- 4. Quick Release: Once the cooking cycle is complete, perform a Quick Release of the pressure.
- 5. Finish and Serve: Carefully open the lid. Season with salt and black pepper to taste. If using, stir in the roughly chopped baby spinach or kale until wilted. Serve the Pasta e Fagioli hot, perhaps with crusty bread.

- 1. Small Vegetable Dice: Cut the carrots, celery, and potatoes into small, uniform pieces. This ensures they cook evenly and become tender within the short pressure cooking time.
- 2. Pasta Cooking Time: The Instant Pot pressure cooking time for pasta is generally half the time recommended on the pasta package for stovetop cooking. For all dente, you might reduce it by another minute.
- Thickening on Cooling: The soup will continue to thicken as it cools due to the starches from the pasta and beans. If reheating leftovers, you may need to add a little more broth or water to reach the desired consistency.

# Recipe 88: Garlic Knots

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For the Dough:		
Warm Water	1 cup	105-110°F (a few more tbsp if needed)
Instant Yeast	2 ¼ teaspoons	Or active dry yeast
Granulated Sugar	1 teaspoon	
Olive Oil	2 tablespoons	
Salt	1 teaspoon	
All-Purpose Flour	3 cups	Plus more as needed for dusting/kneading
For the Garlic Butter Topping:		
Unsalted Butter	4 tablespoons	Melted
Italian Seasoning	1 teaspoon	
Garlic Powder	1/2 teaspoon	Or 3 cloves fresh garlic, minced
Salt (for topping)	1/8 teaspoon	

Grated Parmesan Cheese (optional)	For sprinkling	
Chopped Fresh Parsley (optional)	For sprinkling	

1. Activate Yeast: In a small bowl, combine warm water, yeast, and granulated sugar. Let it sit for about 5 minutes, or until the mixture is foamy.

### 2. Make the Dough:

- Pour the yeast mixture into the bowl of an electric stand mixer fitted with a dough hook (or a large bowl if kneading by hand).
- o Add the olive oil, salt, and all-purpose flour to the bowl.
- Knead on low speed for 5-7 minutes, or until the dough is soft and slightly sticky. If kneading by hand, mix ingredients until a shaggy dough forms, then turn out onto a lightly floured surface and knead for 7-10 minutes.

## 3. First Rise (Instant Pot Option):

- Lightly oil the inner pot of an Instant Pot. Place the dough inside, turning to coat with oil.
- Cover with a glass lid or the Instant Pot lid (venting). Select "Yogurt" mode (low pressure/normal setting) for 30 minutes, or until the dough has roughly doubled in size.
- Alternatively, place dough in a lightly oiled bowl, cover, and let rise in a warm place for
   1-1.5 hours, or until doubled.

## 4. Shape Knots:

- o Gently punch down the risen dough. Transfer to a lightly floured surface.
- o Divide the dough into 12-16 equal pieces (about the size of a golf ball).
- Roll each piece into a long rope, about 1/2 inch thick and 9-12 inches long.
- o Tie each rope into a simple knot. Tuck the ends under if desired.
- Place the formed knots on a baking sheet lined with parchment paper, leaving some space between them as they will rise again.
- 5. Second Rise: Cover the knots with a kitchen towel and let them rise in a warm place for about 30 minutes, or until puffy and nearly doubled.

#### 6. Bake:

- o Towards the end of the second rise, preheat your oven to 375°F (190°C).
- Oven Method: Bake the risen knots for 12-15 minutes, or until golden brown.
- Air Fryer Method: Preheat air fryer to 325°F (160°C). Bake in batches for 11-12 minutes, or until golden. No need to turn.

## 7. Prepare Topping and Serve:

- While the knots are baking, melt the butter in a small bowl. In another small bowl, mix the Italian seasoning, garlic powder, and 1/8 teaspoon salt.
- As soon as the knots come out of the oven/air fryer, brush them generously with the melted butter, then sprinkle with the seasoning mixture.
- o If desired, sprinkle with grated Parmesan cheese and/or chopped fresh parsley.
- o Serve immediately, perhaps with marinara sauce for dipping.

- 1. Instant Pot for Dough Rising: Using the "Yogurt" function on your Instant Pot creates a perfectly controlled warm environment, which can significantly help the dough rise consistently, especially in cooler kitchens.
- 2. Proof the Yeast: Always ensure your yeast is active by proofing it in warm water with sugar. If it doesn't get foamy after 5-10 minutes, the yeast may be old, and your dough won't rise properly.
- 3. Consistent Knot Size: Try to make the dough ropes and the resulting knots as uniform in size as possible. This ensures they bake evenly. Don't stress too much about perfect shapes; rustic charm is part of their appeal!

# Recipe 89: Copycat Olive Garden Breadsticks

# Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For the Dough:		
	Warm Water	1 cup (105-110°F)
	Sugar	1 teaspoon
	Instant Yeast	2 ¼ teaspoons (1 packet)
	All-Purpose Flour	3 cups
	Salt	1 teaspoon
	Olive Oil	2 tablespoons
For the Topping:		
	Butter	4 tablespoons
	Garlic Salt (or Garlic Powder + Salt)	1 teaspoon
	Dried Oregano or Italian Seasoning (optional)	1/2 teaspoon

# Step-by-Step Instructions

1. Activate Yeast: In a small bowl, combine warm water and sugar. Sprinkle the yeast over the top. Let it sit for 5-10 minutes until the mixture is foamy. This indicates the yeast is active.

# 2. Make the Dough:

o In the bowl of a stand mixer fitted with a dough hook (or a large bowl if kneading by hand), combine the all-purpose flour and salt.

- Add the olive oil and the foamy yeast mixture to the flour.
- Knead on low speed for 5-7 minutes, or until a soft, slightly sticky dough forms. If kneading by hand, mix ingredients until a shaggy dough forms, then turn out onto a lightly floured surface and knead for 7-10 minutes until smooth and elastic. Add a little more flour if the dough is too sticky to handle, but it should remain soft.

## 3. First Rise:

- o Lightly oil a large bowl. Place the dough in the bowl, turning it once to coat with oil.
- Cover the bowl with plastic wrap or a damp kitchen towel. Let the dough rise in a warm place for 1 to 1.5 hours, or until it has doubled in size. (The Instant Pot "Yogurt" mode on low can be used for a consistent warm environment).

#### 4. Shape Breadsticks:

- o Gently punch down the risen dough. Transfer it to a lightly floured surface.
- Divide the dough into 12 equal pieces.
- o Roll each piece into a rope about 6-7 inches long and about 1/2 to 3/4 inch thick.
- Place the shaped breadsticks on a baking sheet lined with parchment paper, leaving some space between them.

#### 5. Second Rise (Proofing):

 Cover the breadsticks loosely with a kitchen towel and let them rise in a warm place for another 30-45 minutes, or until they look puffy.

#### 6. Bake:

- o Towards the end of the second rise, preheat your oven to 400°F (200°C).
- Bake the proofed breadsticks for 12-15 minutes, or until they are golden brown.

## 7. Prepare Topping and Serve:

- While the breadsticks are baking (or immediately after they come out of the oven), melt the butter. Stir in the garlic salt (or garlic powder and a pinch of salt) and optional oregano/Italian seasoning.
- As soon as the breadsticks are out of the oven, brush them generously with the garlic butter mixture.
- o Serve warm.

# **Expert Tips & Tricks**

1. Soft Dough for Soft Breadsticks: The key to soft Olive Garden-style breadsticks is a soft, slightly tacky dough. Don't add too much extra flour during kneading.

- 2. Warm Rise Environment: Ensure the dough rises in a consistently warm, draft-free place for both the first and second rise to achieve the best texture.
- 3. Brush While Hot: Brush the breadsticks with the garlic butter topping immediately after they come out of the oven so they can absorb the flavors beautifully.

# Recipe 90: Ciabatta Bread

## Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Bread Flour or All-Purpose Flour	3 cups	Bread flour preferred for higher protein
Yeast	½ teaspoon	Active dry or instant
Salt	1 teaspoon	
Warm Tap Water	1½ cups	Approx. 125-130°F
Extra Flour (for shaping)	About 1 cup	

Step-by-Step Instructions

No-Knead Method (Instant Pot Rise Option):

- 1. Mix Dough: In the inner pot of an Instant Pot (or a large mixing bowl), combine the flour, salt, and yeast. Mix well.
- 2. Gradually add the warm tap water and use a wooden spoon to combine everything until a wet, sticky dough forms. Ensure all flour is incorporated.
- 3. First Rise (Instant Pot):
  - Cover the Instant Pot with a glass lid or its regular lid (venting). Select "Yogurt" mode (normal setting) and let the dough rise for 1.5 to 2 hours, or until it's puffy and has risen significantly.
  - During this rise, perform a "stretch and fold" at least once (around the 1-hour mark if possible): Wet your hands, gently pull a portion of the dough up from the side, and fold it over the center. Rotate the pot and repeat 3-4 times. This helps develop gluten.
- 4. Second Rise (Instant Pot): After the initial rise and fold, place the lid back on and allow the dough to rest on "Yogurt" mode for another 30 minutes. The dough should be puffy but still wet and sticky.
- 5. Prepare for Baking:

- o While the dough is in its final proofing, preheat your oven to 450°F (230°C).
- Place a shallow baking pan (like a broiler pan or any oven-safe pan) on the bottom rack of the oven. You will add water/ice to this later to create steam.
- o Generously flour a large piece of parchment paper on your work surface.

## 6. Shape Loaves:

- Carefully tip the very wet and sticky dough out onto the heavily floured parchment paper. Generously flour the top of the dough as well.
- Using a floured bench scraper or floured hands, gently shape the dough into a rough rectangle. Be careful not to deflate the air pockets too much.
- Divide the dough into two portions using the scraper. Gently stretch or shape each
  portion into an elongated, somewhat flat ciabatta loaf shape. Use plenty of flour on your
  hands and the scraper to prevent sticking.

#### 7. Transfer and Bake:

- o Carefully slide the parchment paper with the shaped loaves onto a baking sheet.
- Just before placing the bread in the oven, pour about 1 cup of hot water or throw a few ice cubes into the preheated shallow pan on the bottom oven rack to create steam.
- o Quickly place the baking sheet with the ciabatta onto the middle rack of the oven.
- Bake for 25-30 minutes, or until the crust is golden brown and the loaves sound hollow when tapped on the bottom.
- 8. Cool: Transfer the baked ciabatta loaves to a wire rack to cool completely before slicing.

- 1. Steam is Essential: Creating steam in the oven (by adding water or ice cubes to a hot pan on the bottom rack) is crucial for ciabatta. It helps the bread achieve its characteristic crispy crust and open crumb.
- 2. Handle Dough Gently: Ciabatta dough is very wet and sticky. Use plenty of flour on your hands and work surface when shaping, and handle the dough gently to preserve the air bubbles that create its airy interior.
- 3. Don't Skip Folding: The "stretch and fold" technique during the first rise helps develop gluten structure in this no-knead dough, contributing to the bread's texture.

Recipe 91: Black Bean Pasta (Vegetarian Spicy Taco Pasta)

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Oil	1 tablespoon	
Yellow Onion	1 large	Diced
Jalapeño (optional)	1	Diced, for spice
Black Beans	1 can (15 oz)	Rinsed and drained
Mushrooms (optional)	1 cup	Diced
Red Bell Pepper (optional)	1/2 cup	Diced
Corn (fresh or frozen, optional)	1 cup	
Pasta Shells (or similar)	1 pound	
Taco Seasoning Mix	2 tablespoons	(e.g., Trader Joe's or Primal Palate)
Salsa	2 cups	
Low Sodium Vegetable Broth	4 cups	
Garnish:		
Cilantro	1/2 cup	Chopped

Pepper Jack Cheese (or cheddar)	1 cup	Grated (use vegan cheese for vegan)
Avocado (optional)	1	Diced

#### Instant Pot Method:

- 1. Sauté Aromatics and Veggies: Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Add oil. Once hot, add diced yellow onion and diced jalapeño (if using). Sauté for 2-3 minutes until onions soften.
- 2. Add rinsed and drained black beans, diced mushrooms, diced red bell pepper, and corn (if using). Stir in the taco seasoning mix. Mix everything together well.
- 3. Add Pasta and Liquids: Add the uncooked pasta shells to the pot. Pour in the vegetable broth, ensuring the pasta is mostly submerged. Layer the salsa on top of the pasta. Do not mix after adding the salsa.
- 4. Pressure Cook: Cancel "Sauté" mode. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the valve to "Sealing." Select "Pressure Cook" (or "Manual") mode and cook on High pressure. The cooking time should be half the time stated on the pasta box (e.g., if box says 10 mins, cook for 5 mins; for all dente, cook for half time minus 1 minute).
- 5. Quick Release: Once the cooking cycle is complete, perform a Quick Release of the pressure.
- 6. Finish and Serve: Carefully open the lid. Give the pasta a good stir. Stir in half of the grated Pepper Jack cheese (or cheddar) until melted and creamy.
- 7. Garnish with chopped cilantro and diced avocado (if using). Serve hot, with extra cheese on the side if desired.

- 1. Pasta Cooking Time: For perfectly cooked pasta in the Instant Pot, pressure cook for half the time recommended on the pasta package. For all dente, subtract an additional minute.
- 2. Layering is Key: When adding ingredients to the Instant Pot, layer the salsa on top and do not stir it in before pressure cooking. This helps prevent the "Burn" notice.
- 3. Vegan Option: To make this dish vegan, use a vegan cheese alternative or omit the cheese altogether. Ensure your taco seasoning and salsa are also vegan.

# Recipe 92: Cacio E Pepe Pasta

## Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Spaghetti	8 oz	Bucatini or tonnarelli also recommended
Low Sodium Vegetable Broth	2 cups	For Instant Pot method
Butter	4 tablespoons	Salted preferred, divided (2 tbsp + 2 tbsp)
Pecorino Romano Cheese	1/4 cup	Freshly grated
Parmesan Cheese	1/4 cup	Freshly grated
Black Pepper Powder	1 teaspoon	Freshly cracked, fine (adjust to taste)
Water	For boiling pasta	Stovetop method
Salt (optional)	For pasta water	Stovetop method

Step-by-Step Instructions

#### Instant Pot Method:

- 1. Prepare Pasta: Pour the vegetable broth into the inner pot of your Instant Pot.
- 2. Break the spaghetti strands in half. Place half the noodles in the broth, then add the second half on top in a crisscross pattern (this helps prevent sticking).
- 3. Gently press down on the noodles with a spoon or spatula to ensure they are mostly wet by the broth. They don't need to be fully submerged.
- 4. Add 2 tablespoons of the butter on top of the noodles. Do not stir.
- 5. Pressure Cook: Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the valve to "Sealing." Select "Manual" or "Pressure Cook" mode and cook on High pressure for 5 minutes.

- 6. Quick Release and Finish: Once the cooking cycle is complete, perform a Quick Release of the pressure.
- Carefully open the lid. Turn off the Instant Pot (even the "Keep Warm" setting).
- 8. Stir the spaghetti well with tongs, separating any pieces that may have stuck together.
- 9. Add the remaining 2 tablespoons of butter, the grated Pecorino Romano cheese, and the grated Parmesan cheese. Stir continuously and vigorously until the butter and cheeses melt and combine with the residual broth to form a creamy sauce that coats the noodles. The sauce will thicken as you stir.
- 10. Add the freshly cracked black pepper and give it a quick stir.
- 11. Serve immediately, garnished with more grated cheese if desired.

#### Stovetop Method:

- 1. Cook Pasta: In a large pot, bring water to a boil. Add salt if desired. Add spaghetti and cook according to package directions until al dente.
- Reserve Pasta Water: Before draining the pasta, reserve about 1 cup of the starchy pasta water.Drain the pasta.
- 3. Make Sauce: Return the drained pasta to the pot (off the heat or on very low heat). Add the butter (all 4 tablespoons), grated Pecorino Romano, and grated Parmesan cheese.
- 4. Add a splash (about 1/4 to 1/2 cup) of the reserved hot pasta water. Stir or toss vigorously until the butter and cheeses melt into a creamy sauce that coats the pasta. Add more pasta water, a little at a time, if needed to reach desired consistency.
- 5. Stir in the freshly cracked black pepper.
- 6. Serve immediately.

- Freshly Grated Cheese is Best: Use freshly grated Pecorino Romano and Parmesan cheese for the best melting quality and flavor. Pre-grated cheeses often contain anti-caking agents that can prevent smooth melting.
- 2. Turn Off Heat for Cheese (Instant Pot): When using the Instant Pot, ensure it's turned off (even "Keep Warm") before adding the cheeses. The residual heat is enough to melt them and create a creamy sauce without making it stringy.
- 3. Freshly Cracked Pepper: The "Pepe" (pepper) is a star in this dish. Using freshly cracked black pepper makes a significant difference in aroma and taste compared to pre-ground pepper.

# Recipe 93: Pizza Rolls

# Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Pizza Dough	14 oz	Ready-made, or homemade (e.g., 2-ingredient dough)
Mozzarella Cheese	2 cups	Shredded
Marinara Sauce	1 cup	Or your favorite pizza sauce
Butter	2 tablespoons	Melted
Garlic Powder	1 teaspoon	
Fresh Basil or Parsley (optional)	Few leaves	Chopped, for garnish
Optional Fillings (minced):		
Mushrooms	Small amount	Finely diced
Bell Peppers	Small amount	Finely diced
Onions	Small amount	Finely diced

Step-by-Step Instructions

- 1. Prepare Dough: If using ready-made dough, let it come to room temperature if needed. Lightly flour your work surface. Knock any air out of the dough.
- 2. Using a rolling pin, roll out the pizza dough into a rectangle, about 1/4 of an inch thick.
- 3. Add Filling: Spoon the marinara sauce evenly over the dough, leaving about a 1/2-inch border along the edges.
- 4. Sprinkle the shredded mozzarella cheese over the sauce.
- 5. If adding optional minced vegetables (mushrooms, peppers, onions), sprinkle them very thinly over the cheese. Be careful not to overstuff.
- 6. Roll and Cut: Starting from one of the longer sides, tightly roll up the dough into a log. Pinch the seam and the ends to seal completely.
- 7. Using a sharp knife, cut the log into 10-12 equal pieces (rolls).
- 8. Prepare for Cooking:
  - o Air Fryer: Preheat the air fryer to 325°F (160°C). Line the air fryer tray or basket with parchment paper if desired (ensure it doesn't block airflow).
  - Oven: Preheat the oven to 425°F (220°C). Line a baking sheet with parchment paper.
- 9. Arrange Rolls: Place the pizza rolls on the prepared air fryer tray or baking sheet, leaving about 3-4 inches of space between them as they will expand during cooking.
- 10. Garlic Butter Topping: In a small bowl, combine the melted butter and garlic powder. Brush this garlic butter mixture on the tops and sides of each pizza roll.

#### 11. Cook:

- Air Fryer: Cook for about 12-15 minutes, or until golden brown and the cheese is bubbly.
   Check for desired crispness.
- Oven: Bake for 12-15 minutes on the middle rack, or until golden brown and cheese is bubbly.
- 12. Garnish and Serve: Once done, garnish with chopped fresh basil or parsley if desired. Serve warm with extra marinara sauce for dipping.

#### **Expert Tips & Tricks**

1. Don't Overstuff: Use a thin layer of sauce and cheese, and any additional fillings should be minced and used sparingly. Overstuffing will make the rolls difficult to roll and can cause them to burst open during cooking.

- 2. Leave Space: Ensure you leave enough space (3-4 inches) between the rolls on the baking tray or in the air fryer basket, as they will expand significantly while cooking.
- 3. Check for Doneness: Cooking times can vary. Keep an eye on the pizza rolls, especially in an air fryer, as they can go from crispy to burned quickly. Adjust time as needed for your appliance.

# Recipe 94: Pizza Dough (No Yeast)

# Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Self-Rising Flour	2 cups	Or make your own (see tips)
Greek Yogurt (Plain)	2 cups	Regular plain yogurt can be used, may need less
To Make Self-Rising Flour (if needed):		
All-Purpose Flour	1 cup	
Baking Powder	1 1/2 teaspoons	
Salt	1/4 teaspoon	

## Step-by-Step Instructions

1. Prepare Self-Rising Flour (if not using store-bought): If making your own, whisk together 1 cup of all-purpose flour, 1 1/2 teaspoons of baking powder, and 1/4 teaspoon of salt for each cup of self-rising flour needed. For this recipe, you'd need to double this if making from scratch.

#### 2. Mix Dough:

- o In a large mixing bowl (or the bowl of a stand mixer with a dough hook attachment), add the self-rising flour and the Greek yogurt.
- If using a stand mixer, mix slowly with the kneading hook until the dough comes together. Continue to knead for about 2 minutes.
- If mixing by hand, use a wooden spoon or your hands to combine the ingredients until a shaggy dough forms. Then, turn out onto a lightly floured surface and knead for 2-3 minutes until it forms a cohesive ball. The dough will be a bit sticky.

- 3. Rest Dough (Instant Pot Option):
  - Spray the inner pot of an Instant Pot with non-stick spray. Add the dough to the pot.
  - o Cover with a glass lid or the Instant Pot lid (venting).
  - Select the "Yogurt" function (normal setting) and set the timer for 30 minutes. This
    provides a warm environment for the dough to rest and become more pliable. (This is a
    resting period, not a traditional yeast rise).
  - Alternatively, cover the bowl of dough and let it rest at room temperature for 20-30 minutes.
- 4. Prepare for Baking: Preheat your oven to 400°F (200°C). Prepare your pizza pan or baking sheet by lightly greasing it or lining it with parchment paper.
- 5. Shape Dough: After resting, the dough should be easier to handle. Divide the dough in half if making two smaller pizzas, or keep as one for a larger pizza.
- 6. On a lightly floured surface, roll out the dough to your desired thickness and shape.
- 7. Carefully transfer the shaped dough to your prepared pizza pan or baking sheet.
- 8. Add Toppings and Bake: Add your favorite marinara sauce, cheese, and toppings.
- 9. Bake in the preheated oven for 15-18 minutes, or until the crust is golden brown and the cheese is bubbly and melted.
- 10. Serve: Let the pizza cool for a few minutes before slicing and serving.

- 1. Yogurt Consistency: If using regular plain yogurt instead of Greek yogurt, you might need to use slightly less, as it has a higher water content. Add it gradually until the dough comes together.
- 2. Instant Pot for Resting: The "Yogurt" function on the Instant Pot provides a gentle, consistent warmth that helps the dough relax and become easier to work with, even though this is a no-yeast dough.
- 3. Don't Overwork: This dough doesn't require extensive kneading like yeast doughs. Just mix and knead until it comes together and is relatively smooth.

# Recipe 95: Wild Rice Soup

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For the Soup Base:		
Carrots	3 medium	Chopped
Celery Stalks	2	Chopped
Onion (white or yellow)	1	Chopped
Garlic Cloves	3	Minced
Uncooked Wild Rice	1 cup	Rinsed
Fresh Mushrooms	4 ounces	Sliced
Vegetable Broth	3 cups	Color of soup may vary with broth color
Salt	1 teaspoon	Or to taste
Italian Herb Mix	1 teaspoon	
Spinach or Kale	Handful	Fresh
For the Roux (Thickener):		
Butter	6 tablespoons	Use olive or canola oil for vegan

All-Purpose Flour	1/4 cup	Use 1.5 tbsp cornstarch for gluten-free
Milk	1 cup	Use unsweetened plant-based milk for vegan
Optional for Serving:		
Crunchy Artisan Bread Slices	8	

#### Instant Pot Method:

- 1. Combine Soup Base Ingredients: To the inner pot of your Instant Pot, add the chopped carrots, celery, onion, minced garlic, rinsed uncooked wild rice, sliced fresh mushrooms, vegetable broth, salt, and Italian herb mix. Stir to combine.
- 2. Pressure Cook: Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the valve to "Sealing." Select "Pressure Cook" (or "Manual") mode and cook on High pressure for 45 minutes.
- 3. Natural Release (Partial): Once the cooking cycle is complete, allow the pressure to release naturally for about 10-15 minutes, then perform a quick release of any remaining pressure.
- 4. Prepare Roux: While the soup is pressure cooking or during the natural release, prepare the roux. In a separate saucepan over medium heat, melt the butter (or heat oil).
- 5. Whisk in the all-purpose flour (or cornstarch for gluten-free, mixed with a little cold milk/water first to prevent lumps) and cook for 1-2 minutes, whisking constantly, until it forms a smooth paste.
- 6. Gradually whisk in the milk (or plant-based milk) until the mixture is smooth and slightly thickened. Cook for another 1-2 minutes, whisking, until the roux is creamy.
- 7. Combine and Finish: Carefully open the Instant Pot lid. Stir the soup.
- 8. Pour the prepared roux into the soup in the Instant Pot. Stir well to combine.
- 9. Stir in the fresh spinach or kale until wilted.
- 10. Taste and adjust seasoning (salt, herbs) if necessary.
- 11. Serve hot, optionally with crunchy artisan bread slices.

#### Slow Cooker Method:

- 1. Add all soup base ingredients (carrots, celery, onion, garlic, wild rice, mushrooms, broth, salt, Italian herbs, spinach/kale) to the slow cooker.
- 2. Cover and cook on LOW for 4-6 hours, or until the wild rice is tender.
- 3. In the last 30 minutes of cooking, prepare the roux in a saucepan as described in steps 4-6 above.
- 4. Stir the prepared roux into the slow cooker. Mix well. Cover and cook for the remaining time. Serve hot.

- 1. Roux for Creaminess: The roux made with butter, flour, and milk is what gives this soup its creamy texture. For a vegan version, use olive oil, plant-based milk, and flour (or cornstarch for gluten-free).
- 2. Wild Rice Cooking Time: Wild rice takes a significant amount of time to cook until tender and "burst" open. Ensure it's fully cooked before adding the roux.
- 3. Vegetable Broth Color: The color of your vegetable broth can affect the final color of the soup. A darker broth will result in a darker soup.

# Recipe 96: Cavatappi Pasta (Pesto Cavatappi)

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For Pesto Sauce (Homemade):		
Fresh Basil Leaves	1 1/2 cups	
Parmesan or Romano Cheese	1/2 cup	Freshly grated
Extra Virgin Olive Oil	1/4 cup	
Pine Nuts	1/3 cup	
Garlic Cloves (for pesto)	3	Minced
Salt (for pesto)	1/4 teaspoon	
Freshly Ground Black Pepper (for pesto)	1/4 teaspoon	
For Pasta Dish:		
Prepared Pesto Sauce	1/2 cup	From above, or store-bought
Water	2 cups	For Instant Pot
Cavatappi Pasta	8 oz	Or similar spiral/macaroni shape
Fresh White Mushrooms	1 1/2 cups	Sliced thickly
Olive Oil (for sautéing)	1 tablespoon	

Cherry Tomatoes	1 cup	Sliced in half
Garlic Cloves (for pasta)	2	Roughly chopped
Heavy Whipping Cream or Milk (optional)	1/4 cup	For creaminess
Shredded Parmesan Cheese (optional)	For garnish	
Salt (for pasta)	To taste	

- 1. Prepare Pesto Sauce (if making homemade):
  - o Rinse fresh basil leaves and shake dry.
  - In a high-power blender or food processor, combine basil leaves, grated
     Parmesan/Romano cheese, pine nuts, minced garlic (for pesto), 1/4 tsp salt, and 1/4 tsp black pepper.
  - Pulse a few times, then blend on high, gradually adding 1/4 cup extra virgin olive oil, until a smooth sauce is formed. Scrape down the sides as needed. Set aside.
- 2. Sauté Tomatoes and Mushrooms (Instant Pot Method):
  - o Set your Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Add 1 tablespoon of olive oil.
  - Once hot, add the halved cherry tomatoes. Sauté for about 30 seconds, or until they
    just start to wilt. Remove the tomatoes from the pot and set them aside.
  - Add the roughly chopped garlic (for pasta) and thickly sliced mushrooms to the inner pot. Sauté for about 1 minute, or until the garlic is fragrant and mushrooms soften slightly.

#### 3. Cook Pasta:

- $\circ\quad$  Add 1/2 cup of pesto sauce to the mushrooms in the pot and mix well.
- Add the uncooked cavatappi pasta, 2 cups of water, and salt to taste. Do not stir the noodles at this point. Gently press them down if needed to ensure they are mostly covered by liquid.
- o Cancel "Sauté" mode. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the valve to "Sealing."

o Select "Manual" or "Pressure Cook" mode and cook on High pressure for 5 minutes.

#### 4. Finish and Serve:

- Once the cooking cycle is complete, allow the pressure to release naturally for 5 minutes, then perform a quick release of any remaining pressure.
- Carefully open the lid. If using, pour in the heavy whipping cream or milk and give everything a good stir.
- If the sauce needs thickening, turn on "Sauté" mode for a few minutes, stirring gently, until it reaches desired consistency.
- o Stir in the previously sautéed cherry tomatoes.
- o Serve the Pesto Cavatappi hot, garnished with shredded Parmesan cheese if desired.

- 1. Don't Pressure Cook Tomatoes or Cream: Sauté tomatoes briefly and add them at the end. Similarly, add cream or milk after pressure cooking to prevent curdling or mushiness.
- 2. Homemade Pesto Enhances Flavor: While store-bought pesto can be used, making fresh homemade pesto sauce will significantly elevate the taste of the dish.
- Cavatappi Noodles: Cavatappi noodles, with their spiral macaroni-like shape, are excellent for holding onto the pesto sauce. If unavailable, other medium-sized pasta shapes like fusilli or rotini can be used.

# Recipe 97: Homemade Pesto Sauce

## Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Fresh Basil Leaves	1 1/2 cups	Packed
Parmesan or Romano Cheese	1/2 cup	Freshly grated
Extra Virgin Olive Oil	1/4 cup	Good quality
Pine Nuts	1/3 cup	Can be lightly toasted for deeper flavor (optional)
Garlic Cloves	3	Minced
Salt	1/4 teaspoon	Or to taste
Freshly Ground Black Pepper	1/4 teaspoon	Or to taste

## Step-by-Step Instructions

- 1. Prepare Basil: Rinse the fresh basil leaves under cool water and gently pat them dry or use a salad spinner. Ensure they are thoroughly dry.
- 2. Combine Ingredients: In a high-power blender or food processor, add the prepared basil leaves, freshly grated Parmesan or Romano cheese, pine nuts, minced garlic, salt, and freshly ground black pepper.
- 3. Blend: Pulse the ingredients a few times to roughly chop and combine them.
- 4. Add Olive Oil: With the blender or food processor running on low (or by stopping and starting to pulse), gradually drizzle in the extra virgin olive oil.

- Process until Smooth: Continue to blend until the pesto reaches a smooth, consistent paste.
   You may need to stop and scrape down the sides of the blender or food processor a few times to ensure all ingredients are well incorporated.
- 6. Taste and Adjust: Taste the pesto and adjust seasoning (salt, pepper, or a little more garlic/cheese) if necessary, according to your preference.
- 7. Serve or Store: The homemade pesto sauce is ready to be used immediately with pasta, as a spread, or in other recipes. To store, transfer it to an airtight container. You can pour a thin layer of olive oil on top to help preserve its color and freshness before sealing and refrigerating.

- 1. Fresh Ingredients are Key: For the best tasting pesto, use the freshest possible basil, good quality extra virgin olive oil, and freshly grated hard cheese (Parmesan or Pecorino Romano).
- 2. Toasted Pine Nuts (Optional): Lightly toasting the pine nuts in a dry skillet over medium heat until fragrant (about 2-3 minutes) before adding them to the blender can enhance their nutty flavor and add depth to the pesto. Let them cool before blending.
- 3. Prevent Browning: Basil can oxidize and turn dark if over-processed or exposed to air for too long. Blend until just smooth. If storing, a thin layer of olive oil on top of the pesto in its container can help minimize browning.

# Recipe 98: Creamy Pesto Pasta (Pesto Cavatappi)

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For Pesto Sauce (if homemade):		
Fresh Basil Leaves	1 1/2 cups	
Parmesan or Romano Cheese	1/2 cup	Freshly grated
Extra Virgin Olive Oil	1/4 cup	
Pine Nuts	1/3 cup	
Garlic Cloves (for pesto)	3	Minced
Salt (for pesto)	1/4 teaspoon	
Freshly Ground Black Pepper (for pesto)	1/4 teaspoon	
For Pasta Dish:		
Prepared Pesto Sauce	1/2 cup	Homemade (from above) or store- bought
Water	2 cups	For Instant Pot
Cavatappi Pasta	8 oz	Or similar spiral/macaroni shape

Fresh White Mushrooms	1 1/2 cups	Sliced thickly
Olive Oil (for sautéing)	1 tablespoon	
Cherry Tomatoes	1 cup	Sliced in half
Garlic Cloves (for pasta)	2	Roughly chopped
Heavy Whipping Cream or Milk	1/4 cup	Optional, for extra creaminess
Shredded Parmesan Cheese (optional)	For garnish	
Salt (for pasta)	To taste	

- 1. Prepare Pesto Sauce (if making homemade):
  - o Follow Recipe 98 for Homemade Pesto Sauce.
- 2. Sauté Tomatoes and Mushrooms (Instant Pot Method):
  - o Set your Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Add 1 tablespoon of olive oil.
  - Once hot, add the halved cherry tomatoes. Sauté for about 30 seconds, or until they
    just start to wilt. Remove the tomatoes from the pot and set them aside.
  - Add the roughly chopped garlic (for pasta) and thickly sliced mushrooms to the inner pot. Sauté for about 1 minute, or until the garlic is fragrant and mushrooms soften slightly.

#### 3. Cook Pasta:

- o Add 1/2 cup of pesto sauce to the mushrooms in the pot and mix well.
- Add the uncooked cavatappi pasta, 2 cups of water, and salt to taste. Do not stir the noodles at this point. Gently press them down if needed to ensure they are mostly covered by liquid.
- o Cancel "Sauté" mode. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the valve to "Sealing."

o Select "Manual" or "Pressure Cook" mode and cook on High pressure for 5 minutes.

#### 4. Finish and Serve:

- Once the cooking cycle is complete, allow the pressure to release naturally for 5 minutes, then perform a quick release of any remaining pressure.
- Carefully open the lid. If using, pour in the heavy whipping cream or milk and give everything a good stir. The cream makes it extra "creamy pesto pasta."
- If the sauce needs thickening, turn on "Sauté" mode for a few minutes, stirring gently, until it reaches desired consistency.
- o Stir in the previously sautéed cherry tomatoes.
- Serve the Creamy Pesto Pasta hot, garnished with shredded Parmesan cheese if desired.

- Don't Pressure Cook Tomatoes or Cream: Sauté tomatoes briefly and add them at the end.
   Similarly, add cream or milk after pressure cooking to prevent curdling or undesirable texture changes.
- 2. Homemade Pesto for Best Flavor: Using fresh homemade pesto sauce will significantly elevate the taste of your creamy pesto pasta.
- 3. Pasta Water (Stovetop): If cooking pasta on the stovetop, reserve about a cup of the starchy pasta water before draining. This water can be added to the pesto sauce to help it emulsify and create a creamier consistency.

# Recipe 99: Homemade Spaghetti Sauce (Marinara Sauce)

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Tomatoes	1 lb	Fresh, diced (e.g., Roma or plum)
Onion	1 large	Diced
Garlic Cloves	8	Minced
Dried Basil	1 tablespoon	
Dried Oregano	1 tablespoon	
Carrot	1	Diced (optional, for sweetness & thickness)
Fresh Basil (optional)	2 tablespoons	Chopped
Fresh Parsley (optional)	2 tablespoons	Chopped
Water or Vegetable Broth	4 oz (1/2 cup)	
Olive Oil	2 tablespoons	
Salt	To taste	

Tomato Paste (optional)	Small can	For richer flavor (mentioned in a comment on source)
Red Wine (optional)	3/4 cup	For richer flavor (mentioned in a comment on source)

Step-by-Step Instructions

#### Instant Pot Method:

- 1. Prepare Ingredients: Dice the tomatoes and onion. Mince the garlic. If using, dice the carrot and chop the fresh herbs.
- 2. Sauté Aromatics: Press the "Sauté" button on the Instant Pot. Once hot, add the olive oil to the inner pot.
- 3. Add the minced garlic. Cook for about a minute until fragrant.
- 4. Add the dried basil, dried oregano, and diced onions. Sauté for a couple of minutes until you get the aroma of garlic and herbs, and onions soften slightly.
- 5. Add Remaining Ingredients: Add the diced tomatoes, diced carrot (if using), chopped fresh basil and parsley (if using), and water or vegetable broth. Add salt to taste. If using optional tomato paste or red wine, add them now. Stir well.
- 6. Pressure Cook: Cancel "Sauté" mode. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the valve to "Sealing."
- 7. Select "Manual" or "Pressure Cook" mode and cook on High pressure for 15 minutes.
- 8. Natural Release and Blend: Once the cooking cycle is complete, allow the pressure to release naturally for 10 minutes. Then, perform a quick release of any

## Chapter 13: Mexican Fiesta

Mexican cuisine, a vibrant explosion of colors, flavors, and textures, is a globally adored culinary tradition that tells a rich story of history, culture, and community. From the sun-drenched coasts to the bustling city streets and ancient highlands, the food of Mexico is as diverse as its landscape, offering an incredible array of dishes that tantalize the taste buds and warm the soul. It's a cuisine built on foundational ingredients like corn, beans, chilies, and avocados, transformed through generations of culinary wisdom into comforting staples and festive feasts alike.

The heart of Mexican cooking lies in its fresh ingredients, bold spices, and the artful balance of contrasting elements – the heat of chilies tempered by creamy avocado, the zest of lime cutting through rich sauces, and the earthy depth of beans paired with bright salsas. It's a cuisine that invites sharing and celebration, where meals are often a communal affair, bringing people together around tables laden with tacos, enchiladas, quesadillas, and an endless variety of flavorful accompaniments. This chapter aims to capture the spirit and essence of this beloved food culture.

Prepare to embark on a delicious journey as we explore a collection of Mexican favorites, adapted for your home kitchen. From quick and easy Tortilla Pizzas and delightful Cheesecake Chimichangas to savory Elote Dip and hearty Black Bean Quesadillas, these recipes are designed to be both approachable and authentic. You'll discover how to create the iconic flavors of Mexico, whether you're planning a festive gathering or simply craving a vibrant and satisfying meal. Get ready to spice up your cooking repertoire with these delightful Mexican dishes!

# Recipe 100: Tortilla Pizza

## Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Flour Tortilla	2	
Marinara / Pizza Sauce	1/4 cup	
Mozzarella cheese	1/4 cup	Shredded
Optional Toppings:		
Parmesan Cheese	To taste	Grated
Goat Cheese	To taste	Crumbled
Crushed Red Pepper Flakes	A dash	
Italian Seasoning	A whisper	
Black Beans	As desired	For a Taco Tuesday twist
Cheddar Cheese	As desired	For a Taco Tuesday twist
Shredded Lettuce	For garnish	For a Taco Tuesday twist
Diced Tomatoes	For garnish	For a Taco Tuesday twist
Sour Cream	Dollop	For a Taco Tuesday twist

Sweet Chili Sauce	As base	For Sweet & Spicy Asian twist
Tofu	As desired	For Sweet & Spicy Asian twist
Bell Peppers (colored)	As desired	For Sweet & Spicy Asian twist
Spring Onions	For garnish	For Sweet & Spicy Asian twist
Sriracha	Drizzle	For Sweet & Spicy Asian twist
Buffalo Sauce	As base	For Buffalo Tempest twist
Blue Cheese	As desired	For Buffalo Tempest twist
Paneer or Tofu	As desired	For Buffalo Tempest twist
Diced Celery	For garnish	For Buffalo Tempest twist
Blue Cheese or Ranch Dressing	Drizzle	For Buffalo Tempest twist

#### Step-by-Step Instructions

- 1. Prep Your Tortilla: Place your tortilla in the air fryer basket or on a baking sheet if using an oven.
- 2. Apply Your Sauce Tactfully: Spread a thin layer of pizza sauce (or your chosen sauce for variations), leaving about an inch from the edge clear to mimic a crust and prevent sauce from spilling.
- 3. Layer Your Toppings: Add your cheese evenly over the sauce and then arrange your optional additional toppings.

#### 4. Cook:

- Air Fryer: Cook in a preheated air fryer according to your appliance's instructions, typically a few minutes until cheese is bubbly and tortilla is crisp.
- Oven/Skillet: Preheat skillet or baking sheet (with pizza stone if you have one). Cook until tortilla is crisp and toppings are heated through.

- 1. Thinner is Better: Choose a thin, quality tortilla as your base; this will ensure it crisps up nicely without becoming too thick or bread-like.
- 2. Watch the Wetness: Your sauce should be thick and spread thinly to avoid seeping into the tortilla and making it soggy. Let the toppings, not the sauce, lead the flavor parade.
- 3. Pre-Cook Weightier Toppings: If using denser ingredients like raw vegetables or meats (not listed in base recipe but for variations), give them a quick pre-cook before adding to the tortilla

## Recipe 101: Cheesecake Chimichanga

#### Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Cream Cheese	8 oz	Softened
Sour Cream	1/4 cup	
Granulated Sugar	1/4 cup	For filling
Flour Tortillas	8 medium-sized	
Melted Butter	2 tablespoons	For brushing
Granulated Sugar (for topping)	2 tablespoons	
Ground Cinnamon (for topping)	1/2 teaspoon	
Ground Cinnamon (for filling)	Pinch	Adjust to taste
Oil (for traditional frying)	As needed	For deep frying

Step-by-Step Instructions

#### 1. Prepare the Cheesecake Filling:

- In a large bowl, mix softened cream cheese, sour cream, and 1/4 cup granulated sugar until smooth and airy.
- Sprinkle in a pinch of ground cinnamon (for filling). Adjust the amount according to your taste preference.
- o Chill the mixture in the refrigerator for at least 20 minutes. This helps the filling firm up.

#### 2. Assemble the Chimichangas:

- Spoon a generous amount of the chilled cheesecake mixture into the center of each tortilla.
- Fold the sides of the tortilla toward the center and then roll up from the bottom to ensure a tight wrap. This step ensures that the filling won't leak out during frying/air frying.

#### 3. Cook the Chimichangas (Choose one method):

- Air Fryer Method:
  - Preheat your air fryer to 375°F (190°C).
  - Lightly brush the chimichangas with melted butter.
  - Place them in the air fryer basket, seam-side down.
  - Cook for 10-12 minutes, until golden and crispy.
- Traditional Frying Method:
  - Heat oil in a deep fryer or large pot to 350°F (175°C).
  - Carefully place the chimichangas in the hot oil, seam-side down.
  - Fry for 2-3 minutes on each side until golden brown and crispy.
  - Remove from oil and drain on paper towels.

#### 4. Cinnamon Sugar Topping:

- o In a separate bowl, mix 2 tablespoons of granulated sugar with 1/2 teaspoon of ground cinnamon for the topping.
- o Roll the hot chimichangas (immediately after air frying or traditional frying) in the cinnamon-sugar mixture until evenly coated.
- 5. Serve: Serve warm.

- 1. Chill the Filling: Chilling the cheesecake filling before wrapping helps it firm up, making it easier to handle and less likely to ooze out during cooking.
- 2. Secure Wrapping: Ensure tortillas are wrapped tightly and securely to prevent the cheesecake filling from leaking out, especially during traditional frying.
- 3. Serve Warm: Cheesecake chimichangas are best enjoyed warm when the outside is crispy and the inside is creamy and melted.

# Recipe 102: Elote Dip (Mexican Street Corn Dip)

## Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For Elote Seasoning:		
Chili Powder	1 teaspoon	
Smoked Paprika	1/2 teaspoon	
Garlic Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
Onion Powder	1/4 teaspoon	
Ground Cumin	1/4 teaspoon	
Salt	1/4 teaspoon	
Lime Zest	Zest of 1 lime	
For Elote Dip:		
Corn Cobs	4	Or 2 cups frozen/canned corn

Sour Cream or Greek Yogurt	1 cup	Whisked (if using mayo, 1/2 cup mayo + 1/2 cup cream/yogurt)
Cotija Cheese	1/2 cup	Crumbled, divided
Jalapeno	1	Finely chopped (seeds removed for less heat)
Cilantro	1/4 cup	Chopped
Elote Seasoning (from above)	1 teaspoon	Or to taste
Lime Juice	From 1/2 lime	Or to taste
Salt (for dip)	To taste	Additional, if needed

#### Step-by-Step Instructions

1. Make the Elote Seasoning: In a small mixing bowl, combine chili powder, smoked paprika, garlic powder, onion powder, ground cumin, 1/4 teaspoon salt, and lime zest. Mix well. Adjust taste as per your liking. Set aside.

#### 2. Prep Corn:

- Fresh Corn: Remove husks and silk. Fire roast, air fry, or grill the corn for 5-7 minutes until slightly charred. Once cool enough to handle, place the cob vertically in a pie dish or large bowl and using a sharp knife, scrape downward to remove kernels.
- Canned/Frozen Corn: Sauté in a pan over medium heat for 5 minutes until slightly charred.
- 3. Prep Jalapeno: To finely chop, you can hold the stem of the jalapeno vertically and using a knife, gently scrape through the skin in a downward direction. Then slice the jalapeno in half, deseed if you prefer less heat, and finely chop.
- 4. Combine Dip: In a large bowl, mix the sour cream (or Greek yogurt), finely chopped jalapeno, 1 teaspoon of the prepared Elote seasoning, half of the crumbled cotija cheese, and chopped cilantro. Mix well.
- 5. Add Corn: Add the charred corn kernels to the sour cream mixture. Stir well to combine.

6. Adjust and Serve: Season with additional salt and fresh lime juice according to your preference. Garnish with the remaining Elote seasoning, the rest of the crumbled cotija cheese, more chopped cilantro, and a lime wedge. Serve with tortilla chips.

- 1. Char the Corn: For the most authentic smoky flavor, fire roast or grill fresh corn cobs until they are slightly charred. If using canned or frozen, sautéing them to get some char also works well.
- 2. Cotija Cheese is Key: Cotija cheese is a traditional Mexican cheese that adds a distinct salty and crumbly texture. If unavailable, feta cheese can be a substitute, though the flavor will differ.
- 3. Balance Flavors: Taste the dip before serving and adjust the lime juice, salt, and chili powder/Elote seasoning to achieve your perfect balance of tangy, spicy, and savory.

## Recipe 103: Black Bean Quesadillas

#### Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Black Beans	1 can (15 oz)	Rinsed and drained, or homemade cooked black beans
Corn	1 pack	Frozen, or fresh
Jalapeno	1	Finely diced
Tomato	1	Finely diced
Spices for filling	To taste	e.g., cumin, chili powder
Oil	For frying pan/greasing	
Tortillas	4 (8-inch flour)	Or corn tortillas for gluten-free
Cheese	As desired	Shredded Mexican blend, cheddar, Monterey Jack etc.
Toothpicks (for air fryer)	Optional	To prevent flipping open

Step-by-Step Instructions

### 1. Prepare Filling:

- o If using canned black beans, rinse and drain them. If making from scratch, ensure they are cooked.
- $\circ$  Finely dice the jalapeno and tomato.

- o In a non-stick frying pan, heat a little oil over medium heat. Add the diced jalapeno and your chosen spices (e.g., cumin, chili powder). Sauté until aromatic.
- Add the black beans, corn, and diced tomato. Cook together for about 5 minutes, stirring occasionally. Set this mixture aside. You can make a large batch and freeze it for later once cooled.

#### 2. Assemble Quesadillas:

- o Lay a tortilla flat.
- Skillet/Oven Method: Spread a portion of the black bean and corn mixture onto one half of each tortilla in an even layer. Sprinkle generously with your preferred shredded cheese. Fold the other half of the tortilla over the filling, pressing gently to seal.
- Air Fryer Method: Brush or spray one side of a tortilla with oil. Place it (oiled side down if preferred) in the air fryer basket. Spread a layer of cheese, then the black bean corn mixture, another layer of cheese. Fold the tortilla in half over the mixture. You can insert a couple of toothpicks to prevent the tortilla from flipping open during air frying.

#### 3. Cook Quesadillas (Choose one method):

- Skillet: Heat a couple of teaspoons of oil on a skillet over medium heat. Place the folded quesadilla on the hot skillet. Cook for a few minutes on each side until golden brown and the cheese is melted.
- Air Fryer: Preheat air fryer if recommended by your model. Place the assembled and secured quesadilla in the air fryer basket. Cook at around 350-375°F (175-190°C) for 5-8 minutes, or until golden and crispy, flipping halfway if your air fryer requires it.
- Oven: Preheat your oven to 400°F (200°C). Place a baking sheet in the oven to get hot.
   Remove the hot baking sheet, arrange the filled and folded tortillas in a single layer.
   Bake for approximately 8-10 minutes, flipping halfway through, until crispy and golden brown.
- 4. Serve: Cut into wedges and serve hot with your favorite toppings like sour cream, salsa, or guacamole.

- 1. Don't Overstuff: While it's tempting to load up on fillings, overstuffing can make the quesadillas messy and difficult to flip or handle. A moderate, even layer works best.
- 2. Preheat for Crispiness: Whether using a skillet, oven, or air fryer, preheating your cooking surface (pan, baking sheet) helps achieve a crispier tortilla.

3.	Cheese as Glue: Placing a layer of cheese both below and above the black bean filling can help "glue" the quesadilla together as it melts.

### Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For Potato Filling:		
	Potatoes	2 large (e.g., Russet)
	Salt	To taste
	Black Pepper	To taste
	Garlic Powder (optional)	1/2 teaspoon
	Onion Powder (optional)	1/2 teaspoon
	Milk or Cream (optional)	1-2 tablespoons
For Tacos:		
	Corn Tortillas	12-16
	Oil	For brushing/spraying tortillas
Suggested Toppings:		
	Shredded Lettuce	As needed
	Salsa	Your favorite kind
	Sour Cream or Mexican Crema	Dollops

Crumbled Cotija Cheese or Queso Fresco	As needed
Diced Tomatoes	As needed
Chopped Cilantro	As needed
Guacamole or Sliced Avocado	As needed

#### Step-by-Step Instructions

#### 1. Prepare Potato Filling:

- Boil the potatoes until tender. Peel them while still warm (if desired, or leave skin on for some varieties).
- o In a bowl, mash the cooked potatoes thoroughly.
- Season the mashed potatoes with salt, black pepper, and optional garlic powder and onion powder. If you like creamier potatoes, stir in a tablespoon or two of milk or cream. Mix well. Set aside to cool slightly.

#### 2. Warm Tortillas:

Warm the corn tortillas slightly to make them pliable. You can do this by wrapping them
in a damp paper towel and microwaving for 20-30 seconds, or quickly warming them on
a dry skillet.

#### 3. Assemble Tacos:

- Lay a warmed tortilla flat. Place a spoonful (about 1-2 tablespoons) of the mashed potato filling on one half of the tortilla, spreading it out slightly.
- Fold the other half of the tortilla over the filling to create a half-moon shape. Press down gently.
- Repeat with the remaining tortillas and potato filling.

#### 4. Cook Tacos in Air Fryer:

- o Preheat your air fryer to 375-400°F (190-200°C). The exact temperature can depend on your air fryer model.
- o Lightly brush or spray both sides of each assembled potato taco with oil.

- Arrange the tacos in the air fryer basket in a single layer. Do not overcrowd; cook in batches if necessary. You might need to use toothpicks to hold the tacos closed if they tend to open.
- Air fry for 6-10 minutes, flipping the tacos halfway through, until they are golden brown and crispy. Cooking time will vary depending on your air fryer and the desired crispiness.

#### 5. Serve:

- o Carefully remove the crispy potato tacos from the air fryer.
- Serve immediately with your favorite toppings such as shredded lettuce, salsa, sour cream or crema, crumbled cotija cheese, diced tomatoes, cilantro, and guacamole.

- 1. Warm Tortillas for Pliability: Slightly warming the corn tortillas before filling makes them more flexible and less likely to crack when folded.
- 2. Don't Overfill Tacos: Use a moderate amount of potato filling. Overfilling can cause the tacos to burst open during air frying and make them difficult to handle.
- 3. Single Layer for Crispiness: For the crispiest results, arrange the tacos in a single layer in the air fryer basket, ensuring hot air can circulate around them. Cook in batches if needed.

## Recipe 105: 2 Ingredient Mazapan

#### Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Roasted Unsalted Peanuts	1½ cups	Whole or halved
Powdered Sugar	1 cup	Confectioners' sugar

#### Step-by-Step Instructions

- 1. Grind Peanuts: Add the roasted unsalted peanuts to a food processor. Blend them until they reach a fine and powdery texture. You may need to stop and scrape the sides of the food processor bowl a couple of times to ensure all peanuts are evenly ground.
- 2. Add Powdered Sugar: Once the peanuts are finely ground, add the powdered sugar to the food processor.
- 3. Blend to Combine: Blend the peanut powder and powdered sugar together until they are well combined and form a smooth, slightly crumbly mixture.

#### 4. Mold Mazapan:

- Using a round cookie cutter (a 2 14/25-inch round cookie cutter is suggested) or a small spoon, scoop the ground peanut mixture out of the food processor.
- Pack the mixture tightly into the mold. Use your hand or a spatula to press very hard, as the more compact the mixture is, the better it will hold its shape.
- o Carefully unmold the Mazapan. When removing from the mold, try to push from the sides rather than the center to avoid breaking it. Do this a little bit at a time.
- 5. Serve or Store: The Mazapan is ready to eat. To store, wrap each piece individually in cling film or parchment paper and place them in an airtight container.

- 1. Fine Peanut Powder: Ensure the peanuts are blended into a very fine powder before adding the sugar. This is crucial for the traditional crumbly yet cohesive texture of Mazapan.
- 2. Pack Tightly: When molding the Mazapan, press the mixture into the mold as firmly as possible. This helps the candy hold its shape and prevents it from crumbling too easily.

3.	Storage: Wrap individual Mazapan pieces in plastic wrap or parchment paper before storing in an airtight container to maintain freshness and prevent them from drying out or sticking together.

## Recipe 106: Patacones (Air Fryer Tostones)

#### Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Green Plantains	2	Underripe
Water	4 cups	For soaking
Salt	To taste	For soaking water and for seasoning
Cooking Oil Spray	As needed	
Black Pepper (optional)	To taste	For seasoning

Step-by-Step Instructions

#### 1. Prepare Plantains:

- Remove the ends of the green plantains. Peel them using a knife (green plantain skin is tougher than banana skin).
- o Cut the peeled plantains into 1 ½ inch thick slices.

#### 2. Soak Plantains:

 Place the plantain slices in a bowl with 4 cups of water and salt to taste. Let them soak for 20 minutes. This step helps prevent browning and can make them tender.

#### 3. First Air Fry:

- o Preheat the air fryer to 350°F (175°C).
- o Remove the plantain slices from the water and pat each one dry with a paper towel.
- o Spray the plantain slices with cooking oil.
- o Transfer them into the air fryer basket in a single layer, leaving about ½ inch space between them. Cook in batches if necessary.
- o Air fry for 5 minutes.

#### 4. Smash Plantains:

- o Carefully remove the partially cooked plantain slices from the air fryer.
- Place each slice between two pieces of parchment paper or on a cutting board and use the bottom of a glass or a tostonera (plantain press) to flatten them into discs, about ¼ to ½ inch thick.

#### 5. Second Air Fry:

- o Spray the smashed plantain discs with cooking oil again.
- o Return them to the air fryer basket in a single layer.
- o Air fry for another 6 minutes at 350°F (175°C), or until crispy on the outside and golden.

#### 6. Season and Serve:

- o Remove the tostones (patacones) from the air fryer.
- o Season immediately with salt and black pepper (if using) to taste.
- Serve hot with your favorite dipping sauce.

- 1. Use Green Plantains: Ensure you are using green, underripe plantains. Ripe (yellow or black) plantains are sweeter and will result in maduros, not tostones.
- 2. Don't Skip Soaking: Soaking the plantain slices in salt water helps them cook better, prevents them from drying out too much, and adds a bit of flavor.
- 3. Single Layer for Crispiness: For the crispiest tostones, arrange them in a single layer in the air fryer basket during both frying stages. This allows hot air to circulate evenly.

## Recipe 107: Avocado Salsa

#### Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Avocados	2 large	Ripe but firm
Jalapeño	1	Seeded and finely diced (adjust to taste)
Red Onion	1/4 cup	Finely diced
Cilantro	1/2 cup	Fresh, chopped
Lime Juice	Juice of 1-2 limes	Freshly squeezed (to taste)
Salt	To taste	
Olive Oil (optional)	1 teaspoon	For added richness
Garlic (optional)	1 clove	Minced

#### Step-by-Step Instructions

- 1. Prepare Avocado: Cut the avocados in half, remove the pits, and scoop out the flesh into a medium mixing bowl. Gently dice the avocado into small, uniform pieces.
- 2. Prepare Other Ingredients: Finely dice the red onion. Seed and finely dice the jalapeño (wear gloves if sensitive to chili oils). Chop the fresh cilantro. Mince garlic if using.
- 3. Combine Salsa: To the bowl with the diced avocado, add the diced red onion, diced jalapeño, and chopped cilantro.
- 4. Dress and Season: Squeeze fresh lime juice over the mixture. Start with the juice of one lime, then add more to taste. If using, drizzle with olive oil and add minced garlic. Season with salt to taste.
- 5. Mix Gently: Gently toss all the ingredients together until just combined. Be careful not to overmix or mash the avocado; you want to maintain its diced texture.

- 6. Taste and Adjust: Taste the salsa and adjust seasonings if necessary more lime juice for tang, more salt, or more jalapeño for heat.
- 7. Serve: Serve the Green Avocado Salsa immediately with tortilla chips, as a topping for tacos, grilled chicken or fish, or alongside your favorite Mexican dishes.

- 1. Ripe but Firm Avocados: Use avocados that are ripe enough to be flavorful but still firm enough to hold their shape when diced. Overly soft avocados will turn mushy.
- 2. Gentle Mixing: Mix the salsa ingredients very gently to avoid mashing the avocado. The goal is a chunky salsa with distinct pieces of avocado.
- 3. Serve Fresh: Avocado salsa is best enjoyed fresh, shortly after it's made, as avocados can brown over time, even with lime juice. If making slightly ahead, press plastic wrap directly onto the surface of the salsa to minimize air exposure.

# Recipe 108: Arroz Verde – Mexican Green Rice

## Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For Green Puree:		
Fresh Cilantro Sprigs	1 cup, tightly packed	
Fresh Stemmed Spinach Leaves	1 cup, tightly packed (approx. 1.5 oz)	
Poblano Peppers	2	Stemmed and seeded
Jalapeño Pepper(s)	1-2 (to taste)	Stemmed and seeded for less heat
Onion	1/2 medium	Roughly chopped
Garlic Cloves	2-3	
Salt (for puree)	To taste	
For Rice:		
Long-Grain White Rice (e.g., Basmati)	1 cup	
Olive Oil	1 tablespoon	
Vegetable Broth or Water	1 - 1.25 cups	For Instant Pot (adjust based on rice type if needed)

Salt (for cooking rice)	To taste	
Lime Juice	To taste	Freshly squeezed, for finishing

#### Step-by-Step Instructions

1. Rinse Rice: Rinse 1 cup of long-grain white rice thoroughly under cold water 3 times, or until the water runs relatively clear. Drain well. This helps remove excess starch.

#### 2. Make Green Puree:

- o Stem and remove seeds from the poblano peppers and jalapeño pepper(s).
- In a food processor, combine the tightly packed fresh cilantro sprigs, tightly packed fresh stemmed spinach leaves, prepared poblano and jalapeño peppers, roughly chopped onion, garlic cloves, and salt (for puree) to taste.
- o Process until a smooth puree is formed.

#### 3. Sauté Rice (Instant Pot Method):

- o Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Once the display reads "HOT," add the olive oil.
- Add the rinsed and drained rice to the pot. Sauté, stirring constantly, for 2 minutes, or until the rice grains start to change color slightly or become fragrant. Be careful not to let the rice burn.

#### 4. Pressure Cook:

- To the Instant Pot, add the vegetable broth or water, salt (for cooking rice) to taste, and the prepared green puree. Stir well to combine all ingredients.
- Press "Cancel" to turn off Sauté mode.
- Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and ensure the steam release valve is in the "Sealing" position.
- Select "Pressure Cook" (or "Manual") mode and cook on High pressure for 5 minutes.

#### 5. Natural Release:

- Once the cooking cycle is complete, allow the pressure to release naturally for 5-10 minutes.
- After the natural release period, carefully turn the steam release valve to the "Venting" position to release any remaining pressure.

#### 6. Finish and Serve:

- o Carefully open the lid. Fluff the Arroz Verde gently with a fork.
- o Stir in fresh lime juice to taste.
- Serve warm as a side dish with your favorite Mexican meals, such as black beans or charro beans.

- 1. Rinse Rice Thoroughly: Don't skip rinsing the rice; it removes excess starch and helps prevent the rice from becoming sticky, ensuring a fluffier result.
- 2. Sauté Rice Carefully: When sautéing the rice, stir constantly to prevent it from burning. Have your broth and puree ready to add as soon as the rice is lightly toasted. This step enhances the nutty flavor of the rice.
- 3. Adjust Spice Level: The heat from the jalapeños can vary. Start with one if you prefer milder rice, or add more if you like it spicier. Always remove seeds and membranes for less heat.

## Recipe 109: Creamy Jalapeno Sauce (Copycat)

#### Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Ranch Dressing	1 cup	Your favorite brand
Fresh Jalapeño Pepper	1/2	Seeded for less heat, or use pickled
Ground Cayenne Pepper	1 teaspoon	Adjust to taste
Paprika	1/2 teaspoon	Smoked or sweet
Unsweetened Cocoa Powder	1/4 teaspoon	For depth of flavor
Granulated Sugar	2 teaspoons	To balance heat
Sriracha Sauce	3 teaspoons	Adjust to taste
Onion Salt	1/2 teaspoon	
Garlic Salt or Garlic Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
Ground Cumin	1 1/2 teaspoons	
Sour Cream (optional)	1/2 cup	For thicker sauce, use with 1/2 cup ranch
Lime Juice (optional)	Squeeze	For extra zest

Step-by-Step Instructions

1. Prepare Jalapeño: Wash the fresh jalapeño. If you prefer less heat, remove the seeds and membranes. Chop roughly. If using pickled jalapeños, you can use them directly.

- Combine Ingredients: Measure out all the ingredients: ranch dressing, prepared jalapeño, ground cayenne pepper, paprika, unsweetened cocoa powder, granulated sugar, Sriracha sauce, onion salt, garlic salt (or powder), and ground cumin.
- 3. Blend: Add all the ingredients to a blender or food processor.
- 4. Blend until the sauce is smooth and creamy. Scrape down the sides of the blender if necessary to ensure everything is well incorporated.
- 5. Chill (Recommended): For best flavor, transfer the sauce to an airtight container and refrigerate for at least 1 hour before using. This allows the flavors to meld together.
- 6. Serve: Serve as a dip for tortilla chips, a topping for tacos or burrito bowls, or as a salad dressing.

- Adjust Heat Level: The spiciness can be easily customized. For less heat, use only a small amount of jalapeño (and ensure seeds are removed) and reduce the Sriracha/cayenne. For more heat, add more jalapeño (with seeds) or increase the chili sauces.
- 2. Fresh vs. Pickled Jalapeños: Fresh jalapeños offer a brighter, fresher flavor. Pickled jalapeños will add a tangy, vinegary note and might be slightly less spicy depending on the brand.
- 3. Chill for Flavor Meld: Allowing the sauce to chill in the refrigerator for at least an hour before serving significantly improves the flavor as it gives time for all the spices and ingredients to meld together.

# Recipe 110: Air Fryer Tortilla Chips

## Ingredients

Category	Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Base:			
	Corn or Flour Tortillas	6-8	Small or medium size
	Oil	1-2 tablespoons	Olive oil, avocado oil, or cooking spray
	Salt	To taste	For basic chips
Flavor Variations (apply before/after air frying as noted):			
	1. Lime & Chili:		
		Lime Zest	Zest of 1 lime
		Chili Powder	1 teaspoon
		Salt	To taste
	2. Cinnamon Sugar:		
		Granulated Sugar	2 tablespoons

	Ground Cinnamon	1 teaspoon
3. Ranch:		
	Ranch Seasoning Powder	1-2 tablespoons
4. Nacho Cheese:		
	Nacho Cheese Seasoning Powder	1-2 tablespoons
5. Everything Bagel:		
	Everything Bagel Seasoning	1-2 tablespoons
6. Garlic Parmesan:		
	Garlic Powder	1 teaspoon
	Grated Parmesan Cheese	2 tablespoons
	Dried Parsley (optional)	1/2 teaspoon

Step-by-Step Instructions

1. Preheat Air Fryer: Preheat your air fryer to 350°F (175°C).

### 2. Prepare Tortillas:

 $\circ\quad$  Lightly brush or spray both sides of each tortilla with a thin layer of oil.

- Stack the oiled tortillas and cut them into wedges (usually 6-8 wedges per tortilla, like a pizza) or desired chip shapes.
- 3. Season Tortillas (for savory flavors applied before frying):
  - o If making Lime & Chili, Ranch, Nacho Cheese, Everything Bagel, or Garlic Parmesan (without cheese yet), place the cut tortilla pieces in a bowl.
  - Add your chosen seasoning blend (e.g., lime zest + chili powder + salt for Lime & Chili;
     Ranch powder; Nacho Cheese powder; Everything Bagel seasoning; Garlic powder + parsley for Garlic Parmesan).
  - Toss gently to ensure the pieces are evenly coated. If making Garlic Parmesan, add the Parmesan cheese after air frying.

#### 4. Air Fry:

- Arrange the seasoned tortilla pieces in a single layer in the air fryer basket. Avoid overcrowding; cook in batches if necessary for even crisping.
- Air fry at 350°F (175°C) for 5-8 minutes. Shake the basket or flip the chips halfway through the cooking time.
- Cook until the chips are golden brown and crispy. Cooking time may vary depending on your air fryer and the thickness of the tortillas.
- 5. Season Tortillas (for sweet flavors or cheese applied after frying):
  - Cinnamon Sugar: Once the chips are cooked and still warm, transfer them to a bowl. In a separate small bowl, mix granulated sugar and ground cinnamon. Sprinkle the cinnamon-sugar mixture over the warm chips and toss to coat.
  - o Garlic Parmesan: After air frying, while the chips are hot, sprinkle with grated Parmesan cheese (the heat will help it adhere).
  - o Basic Salted: If you only oiled the tortillas, sprinkle with salt immediately after removing them from the air fryer while they are still warm.
- 6. Cool and Serve: Let the tortilla chips cool for a few minutes; they will become crispier as they cool. Serve with your favorite salsa, guacamole, dip, or enjoy them plain.

- 1. Single Layer for Crispiness: For the crispiest chips, arrange tortilla pieces in a single, even layer in the air fryer basket. This allows hot air to circulate properly around each chip.
- 2. Watch Closely: Tortilla chips can go from perfectly crispy to burnt very quickly in an air fryer. Keep a close eye on them, especially during the last few minutes of cooking.

3.	. Seasoning Timing: For dry spice rubs (like chili-lime, ranch), season before air frying. For sugar-based coatings (like cinnamon sugar) or fresh cheese (like Parmesan), it's often best to apply them while the chips are still warm after frying so the coating adheres well.		

### Recipe 111: Cucumber Salsa

#### Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
English Cucumber	1 large	Or 2-3 smaller Persian cucumbers
Red Onion	1/2 medium	Finely diced
Jalapeño Pepper	1	Seeded and minced (optional, for heat)
Fresh Cilantro	1/2 cup	Chopped
Lime Juice	Juice of 1-2 limes	Freshly squeezed (to taste)
Salt	To taste	
Black Pepper (optional)	Pinch	Freshly ground
Corn Kernels (optional)	1/2 cup	Fresh, frozen (thawed), or canned (drained)
Cherry Tomatoes (optional)	1/2 cup	Halved or quartered

#### Step-by-Step Instructions

- 1. Prepare Cucumber: Wash the cucumber thoroughly. If using English cucumber, you can leave the skin on or peel it partially/fully based on preference. Dice the cucumber into small, uniform pieces (about 1/4 to 1/2 inch).
- 2. Prepare Other Vegetables: Finely dice the red onion. Seed and mince the jalapeño pepper (if using). Chop the fresh cilantro. If using corn or cherry tomatoes, prepare them as well.
- 3. Combine Ingredients: In a medium mixing bowl, combine the diced cucumber, finely diced red onion, minced jalapeño (if using), chopped cilantro, and optional corn kernels or cherry tomatoes.
- 4. Dress and Season: Squeeze fresh lime juice over the vegetable mixture. Start with the juice of one lime and add more if needed for desired tanginess. Season with salt and a pinch of black pepper (if using) to taste.

- 5. Mix Gently: Gently toss all the ingredients together until well combined. Be careful not to overmix, especially if you want the cucumber to remain very crisp.
- 6. Chill (Optional but Recommended): For the best flavor, cover the salsa and chill in the refrigerator for at least 15-30 minutes before serving. This allows the flavors to meld.
- 7. Serve: Serve the cucumber salsa chilled with tortilla chips, as a topping for grilled fish or chicken, or as a refreshing side dish.

- 1. Use Crisp Cucumbers: English or Persian cucumbers are great choices as they have thin skin and fewer seeds, contributing to a crispier salsa.
- 2. Dice Uniformly: Try to dice all the vegetables into small, relatively uniform pieces for the best texture and visual appeal.
- 3. Serve Fresh: Cucumber salsa is best enjoyed fresh or within a few hours of making it, as cucumbers can release water over time, potentially making the salsa a bit watery if stored for too long (though still tasty!).

## Recipe 112: Arroz Con Leche (Mexican Rice Pudding)

#### Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Milk	2 cups	Whole milk preferred
Water	1 1/4 cups	
Salt	1/4 teaspoon	Helps bring out flavors
Long-Grain White Rice	1 cup	Basmati or Jasmine, rinsed
Vanilla Extract	1 teaspoon	Real vanilla preferred
Sweetened Condensed Milk	1 can (14-ounce)	Room temperature

Step-by-Step Instructions

#### Instant Pot Method:

- 1. Prepare Rice: Rinse the long-grain white rice thoroughly under cold water until the water runs relatively clear. This removes excess starch and prevents stickiness.
- 2. Combine Ingredients: Pour the water, milk, and salt into the inner pot of the Instant Pot. Add the rinsed rice. Let the rice sit in the liquid for a moment.
- 3. Pressure Cook: Close and lock the lid of the Instant Pot. Ensure the steam release valve is set to the "Sealing" position. Press the "Porridge" button (this setting is often used for creamy rice dishes). If your Instant Pot doesn't have a "Porridge" button, you can use "Manual" or "Pressure Cook" mode on High pressure for a similar duration (typically around 20 minutes for rice pudding, but the source specifically mentions using the Porridge preset).
- 4. Natural Release: Once the cooking cycle is complete, allow the pressure to release naturally for 10 minutes. This is important for the creamy texture. After 10 minutes of natural release, carefully turn the steam release valve to "Venting" to release any remaining pressure.
- 5. Add Sweetness and Flavor: Carefully open the lid. Stir in the vanilla extract and the sweetened condensed milk until well combined.

6. Serve: The Arroz con Leche can be served warm or cold. If it's too thick upon cooling, you can stir in a small amount of milk to reach your desired consistency when reheating or serving.

- 1. Rinse Rice Well: Thoroughly rinsing the rice is crucial to remove excess starch, which prevents the pudding from becoming overly dense or sticky and contributes to a creamier texture.
- 2. Natural Pressure Release is Key: Allowing a 10-minute natural pressure release after cooking is very important for achieving the perfect creamy consistency of Arroz con Leche in the Instant Pot.
- 3. Milk Choice: Whole milk is preferred for the richest and creamiest result, but reduced-fat milk can be used, though the pudding might be slightly less creamy.

## Recipe 113: Tostadas

## Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For Tostada Shells:		
Corn Tortillas	8	Small size
Cooking Oil Spray	As needed	Or olive oil for brushing
Salt	To taste	For seasoning shells
For Toppings (Suggestions):		
Refried Beans	1 (15-ounce) can	Homemade or store-bought, warmed
Corn Kernels	1 cup	Frozen or fresh, cooked/warmed
Cheese	As desired	Shredded Mexican blend, queso fresco, cotija
Avocado	1	Chopped, peeled, and pitted, or sliced
Tomatoes	1 medium	Chopped
Jalapeño (optional)	1	Sliced or diced, for heat
Sour Cream or Greek Yogurt	Dollops	

Lettuce or Purple Cabbage	1/2 head	Thinly sliced/shredded
Fresh Cilantro	Handful	Chopped
Lime Juice	Squeeze	Fresh

- 1. Prepare Tostada Shells (Air Fryer Method):
  - Preheat your air fryer to 380°F (193°C).
  - Spray the corn tortillas on each side with cooking oil spray (or lightly brush with olive oil). Season with salt to taste.
  - Place the tortillas in the air fryer basket in a single layer (you may need to do this in batches).
  - Cook at 380°F for 3 minutes. Open the basket, flip the tortillas, spray again with cooking oil, and add more salt if desired.
  - Cook for another 2-3 minutes, or until the tortillas are browned and crispy. They will become crispier as they cool. Remove from the basket and let cool.
- 2. Prepare Tostada Shells (Oven Method):
  - Preheat your oven to 350°F (175°C).
  - o Spray or brush tortillas with oil on both sides and season with salt.
  - o Place tortillas directly on the oven rack or on a baking sheet.
  - Bake for about 11 minutes, flipping halfway through, or until brown and crispy.
- 3. Warm Refried Beans: While the shells are cooking or cooling, warm the refried beans in a frying pan over medium heat for a few minutes, or in the microwave, until warmed through.
- 4. Assemble Tostadas:
  - Once the tostada shells are crisp and cooled slightly, start layering your toppings.
  - o Spread a layer of warmed refried beans onto each crispy shell.
  - Add your desired toppings, such as corn, cheese, chopped avocado, diced tomatoes, jalapeño slices, sour cream (or Greek yogurt), shredded lettuce/cabbage, and fresh cilantro.

- o Finish with a squeeze of fresh lime juice, if desired.
- 5. Serve: Serve immediately.

- 1. Crispy Shells are Key: Ensure your tortilla shells are cooked until properly crispy, whether in the air fryer or oven. They will continue to crisp up a bit as they cool.
- 2. Don't Overload Toppings: While it's tempting to pile on the toppings, overdoing it can make the tostada difficult to eat and can cause the shell to break or become soggy quickly.
- 3. Serve Immediately After Assembling: Tostadas are best enjoyed right after they are assembled, as the toppings (especially moist ones like beans and salsa) can make the crispy shell soggy over time.

# Recipe 114: Vegetable Fajitas

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For the Vegetables:		
	Bell Peppers	3 large (assorted colors like red, yellow, green, orange)
	Onion	1 large
	Mushrooms (optional)	8 oz
	Zucchini or Yellow Squash (optional)	1 medium
	Olive Oil	2-3 tablespoons
For the Fajita Seasoning:		
	Chili Powder	1 tablespoon
	Cumin Powder	1 teaspoon
	Smoked Paprika	1 teaspoon
	Garlic Powder	1/2 teaspoon
	Onion Powder	1/2 teaspoon
	Dried Oregano	1/2 teaspoon

	Salt	To taste
	Black Pepper	To taste
	Cayenne Pepper (optional)	Pinch
For Serving:		
	Flour or Corn Tortillas	8-12
	Suggested Toppings:	
		Salsa
		Guacamole or Sliced Avocado
		Sour Cream or Greek Yogurt
		Shredded Lettuce
		Shredded Cheese (Mexican blend, cheddar)
		Fresh Cilantro
		Lime Wedges

- 1. Prepare Vegetables: Wash and slice all the bell peppers and onion into strips of similar thickness. If using mushrooms, zucchini, or yellow squash, slice them as well.
- 2. Make Fajita Seasoning: In a small bowl, combine all the fajita seasoning ingredients: chili powder, cumin powder, smoked paprika, garlic powder, onion powder, dried oregano, salt, black pepper, and optional cayenne pepper. Mix well.
- 3. Cook Vegetables:

- o Heat olive oil in a large skillet, cast iron pan, or wok over medium-high heat.
- Once the oil is hot, add the sliced onions and bell peppers (and other optional vegetables like mushrooms or zucchini).
- Cook, stirring occasionally, for 5-7 minutes, or until the vegetables are tender-crisp and slightly charred in spots. You want them softened but still with a bit of a bite.
- Sprinkle the prepared fajita seasoning over the vegetables. Stir well to ensure all vegetables are evenly coated with the spices. Cook for another 1-2 minutes, allowing the spices to become fragrant.
- 4. Warm Tortillas: While the vegetables are cooking, warm your tortillas. You can do this by:
  - Wrapping them in a slightly damp paper towel and microwaving for 20-30 seconds.
  - Warming them one by one in a dry skillet over medium heat for about 15-30 seconds per side.
  - Wrapping them in foil and warming in a low oven (around 250°F or 120°C) for a few minutes.

# 5. Serve:

- o Serve the sizzling hot vegetable fajita mixture immediately with the warm tortillas.
- Set out bowls of your favorite toppings like salsa, guacamole, sour cream, shredded lettuce, cheese, cilantro, and lime wedges, so everyone can build their own fajitas.

- 1. High Heat for Char: Cook the vegetables over medium-high to high heat to get a nice char and smoky flavor, similar to restaurant-style fajitas. Don't overcrowd the pan; cook in batches if necessary.
- 2. Don't Overcook Veggies: The vegetables should be tender-crisp, meaning they are cooked through but still retain some of their crunch and vibrant color. Avoid cooking them until they are completely soft or mushy.
- 3. Fresh Lime Juice Finish: A squeeze of fresh lime juice over the cooked vegetables just before serving can brighten up the flavors wonderfully.

# Recipe 115: Sopa de Lentejas (Mexican Lentil Soup)

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Dry Lentils	1 cup	Brown or green
Vegetable Broth or Water	As needed for puree + for soup	Low sodium broth recommended
Onion	1 medium	Roughly chopped for puree
Roma Tomatoes	2	Fresh, roughly chopped for puree
Garlic Cloves	2-3	For puree
Olive Oil	1 tablespoon	For sautéing
Carrots	1	Diced
Salt	To taste	
Dried Oregano	1 teaspoon	
Bay Leaf	1	
Fresh Cilantro	Handful with stems	For cooking in soup
For Garnish (Optional):		
Fresh Cilantro	More for garnish	Chopped

Lime Wedges	For serving	
Queso Fresco	Crumbled	
Diced Avocado		
Air Fryer Tortilla Chips	For serving	

# 1. Prepare Lentils and Puree:

- o Rinse the dried lentils thoroughly under cold water and set aside.
- o In a blender, add the roughly chopped tomatoes, onion, and garlic cloves. Blend until it becomes a smooth puree. Add a little water if needed to help blend.

# 2. Sauté and Cook (Instant Pot Method):

- Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Once it displays "HOT," add the olive oil to the inner pot.
- o Carefully pour in the onion-tomato-garlic puree. Sauté for 1-3 minutes, or until fragrant.
- o Add the rinsed lentils and diced carrots to the pot.
- Season with salt to taste and dried oregano. Add the bay leaf.
- Pour in vegetable broth or water (enough to cover lentils and vegetables, typically 3-4 cups for 1 cup of lentils for soup consistency).
- o Add the bunch of fresh cilantro (with stems).
- o Press "Cancel" to stop Sauté mode.

# 3. Pressure Cook:

- Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and ensure the steam release valve is in the "Sealing" position.
- Select "Pressure Cook" (or "Manual") mode and cook on High pressure for 10 minutes.

# 4. Release Pressure and Serve:

- Once the cooking cycle is complete, perform a Quick Release of the pressure.
- Carefully open the lid. Remove the cilantro bunch and the bay leaf. Give the soup a stir.

 Serve the Sopa de Lentejas hot. Garnish with more fresh cilantro, a squeeze of fresh lime juice, crumbled queso fresco, diced avocado, and/or air fryer tortilla chips, if desired.

### Stovetop Instructions:

- 1. Rinse lentils and soak for at least 1 hour (optional, but reduces cooking time). Prepare tomatoonion-garlic puree.
- 2. Heat oil in a large pot over medium-high heat. Add the puree and sauté for 1-3 minutes until fragrant.
- 3. Add lentils, carrots, salt, oregano, bay leaf, water/broth, and cilantro bunch. Bring to a boil.
- 4. Reduce heat, cover, and simmer until lentils are tender (about 30-45 minutes if unsoaked, less if soaked).
- 5. Remove cilantro and bay leaf. Serve with garnishes.

- 1. Rinse Lentils: Always rinse your lentils thoroughly before cooking to remove any dust or debris.
- 2. Fresh Ingredients for Puree: Using fresh tomatoes, onion, and garlic for the blended puree forms a flavorful base for the soup.
- 3. Adjust Consistency: If the soup is too thick after cooking, you can add a little more hot vegetable broth or water until it reaches your desired consistency.

# Recipe 116: Sopa de Fideo (Mexican Noodle Soup)

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Fideo Noodles or Vermicelli Pasta	7 oz	Broken into smaller pieces if long
Oil	1 tablespoon	For toasting noodles
For Tomato Base:		
Roma or Plum Tomatoes	3	Diced
White Onion	1/2 medium	Roughly chopped
Garlic Cloves	2	
For Soup:		
Vegetable Stock	4 cups	Low sodium recommended
Salt	To taste	
Cumin Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
Paprika	1/2 teaspoon	Smoked or sweet
Fresh Cilantro	Handful	For cooking in soup + more for garnish
Lime Juice	For garnish	Freshly squeezed

Optional Toppings:		
Avocado	Diced	
Queso Fresco	Crumbled	
Air Fryer Tortilla Chips	Crushed	

# 1. Prepare Tomato Base:

 In a blender, combine the diced Roma/plum tomatoes, roughly chopped white onion, and garlic cloves. Blend until smooth.

# 2. Toast Noodles (Instant Pot Method):

- o Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Once it displays "HOT," add the oil to the inner pot.
- Add the fideo noodles (or broken vermicelli). Stir constantly and toast for about 3-5 minutes, or until they turn a golden or light brown color. Be careful not to burn them.

# 3. Combine and Cook:

- o Pour the blended tomato-onion-garlic mixture over the toasted noodles. Stir and let it come to a slight boil, cooking for about a minute.
- Add the vegetable stock, salt to taste, cumin powder, and paprika. Add a handful of fresh cilantro (stems are fine too). Stir everything together.
- o Press "Cancel" to stop Sauté mode.

#### 4. Pressure Cook:

- Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and ensure the steam release valve is in the "Sealing" position.
- Select "Pressure Cook" (or "Manual") mode and cook on High pressure for 4 minutes.

#### 5. Release Pressure and Serve:

- Once the cooking cycle is complete, allow the pressure to release naturally for 5 minutes. Then, perform a Quick Release of any remaining pressure.
- o Carefully open the lid. Remove the cilantro bunch if desired.

- Ladle the Sopa de Fideo into bowls. Squeeze fresh lime juice over the soup and garnish with more fresh cilantro.
- Serve hot with optional toppings like diced avocado, crumbled queso fresco, or crushed tortilla chips.

# Stovetop Instructions:

- 1. Prepare tomato base as in Step 1.
- 2. Heat oil in a large pot over medium-high heat. Add noodles and toast, stirring constantly, for 3-5 minutes until golden brown.
- 3. Pour in the tomato mixture and vegetable broth. Add salt, cumin, paprika, and cilantro. Stir and bring to a light boil.
- 4. Reduce heat to medium-low, partially cover, and simmer for about 30 minutes (or as per noodle package, typically less for fideo), or until noodles are soft and the soup has reduced slightly.
- 5. Serve with garnishes.

- 1. Toast the Noodles: Don't skip toasting the fideo noodles. This step is crucial for developing their nutty flavor and characteristic golden color, which defines Sopa de Fideo.
- 2. Use Roma or Plum Tomatoes: These tomato varieties are recommended for their meatiness and lower water content, which contributes to a better consistency and taste for the soup base.
- 3. Adjust Seasoning: Taste the soup before serving and adjust salt or spices as needed. A final squeeze of lime juice brightens all the flavors.

# Recipe 117: Pinto Beans (Instant Pot)

# Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Dry Pinto Beans	1 pound	Rinsed and picked over
Olive Oil	1 tablespoon	
Garlic Cloves	6	Minced
Yellow Onion	1	Minced
Vegetable Stock	3 cups	Low sodium recommended
Water	3 cups	
Ground Cumin	2 teaspoons	
Chili Powder	2 teaspoons	
Dried Oregano	1 teaspoon	
Bay Leaf	1	
Salt	To taste	Add after cooking or as per preference
Black Pepper (optional)	To taste	
Cayenne Pepper (optional)	Pinch	For extra heat

Step-by-Step Instructions

- 1. Prepare Beans: Pick over the dry pinto beans to remove any small stones or debris. Rinse the beans thoroughly under cold water and drain. (Soaking is optional; see tips).
- 2. Sauté Aromatics: Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Once it displays "HOT," add the olive oil.
- 3. Add the minced garlic and minced yellow onion. Sauté for about 2 minutes, or until fragrant and onions start to soften.
- 4. Add Seasonings and Liquids: Add ground cumin, chili powder, dried oregano, salt (if adding now, otherwise add after cooking), black pepper (if using), and cayenne pepper (if using). Stir well with the onions and garlic.
- 5. Pour in the vegetable stock and water. Add the bay leaf.
- 6. Deglaze: Use a wooden spoon or spatula to scrape up any browned bits from the bottom of the inner pot. This helps prevent the "Burn" notice.
- 7. Add Beans: Stir in the rinsed and drained pinto beans.
- 8. Pressure Cook: Press "Cancel" to stop Sauté mode. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and ensure the steam release valve is in the "Sealing" position.
- 9. Select "Pressure Cook" (or "Manual") mode and cook on High pressure for 45 minutes (for unsoaked beans). If beans were soaked overnight, reduce cook time to 20-25 minutes.
- 10. Natural Release: Once the cooking cycle is complete, allow the pressure to release naturally. This can take 20-30 minutes.
- 11. Serve: Carefully open the lid. Remove the bay leaf. Taste and adjust salt and seasonings if needed. The beans can be served as is, or mashed for refried beans.

- 1. Soaking Optional but Recommended: While this recipe works for unsoaked beans, soaking pinto beans overnight (or for at least 6-8 hours) can reduce cooking time to about 20-25 minutes in the Instant Pot and may make them easier to digest for some people.
- 2. Rinse Beans Thoroughly: Always rinse dry beans well before cooking to remove any dirt, debris, or excess starch.
- 3. Deglaze the Pot: After sautéing aromatics, always deglaze the bottom of the Instant Pot by scraping up any stuck-on bits when you add the liquid. This is crucial to prevent the "Burn" error during pressure cooking.

# Recipe 118: Sopapilla Cheesecake

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For Cheesecake Filling:		
Cream Cheese	16 oz (2 blocks)	Softened to room temperature
Sweetened Condensed Milk	3/4 cup	Room temperature
Heavy Whipping Cream	1/4 cup	Room temperature
Cornstarch	2 tablespoons	
Vanilla Extract	2 teaspoons	
Cinnamon Powder	1 teaspoon	
For Crust:		
Graham Cracker Crumbs	1 cup	
Granulated Sugar	2 tablespoons	
Butter	4 tablespoons	Unsalted, melted
Equipment:		
Springform Pan	7-inch	

Parchment Paper	For lining pan	
Aluminum Foil	For wrapping pan	
Trivet	For Instant Pot	
Water (for Instant Pot)	1 cup	

Step-by-Step Instructions

# 1. Prepare Crust:

- Finely grind graham crackers in a food processor to make crumbs, or use pre-made crumbs.
- o In a small bowl, add the melted butter and granulated sugar to the graham cracker crumbs. Mix well until combined.
- Trace the bottom of your 7-inch springform pan on parchment paper and cut out the circle to line the bottom. Grease the interior sides of the pan well with butter.
- o Pour the crumb mixture into the lined springform pan. Press the crust very firmly onto the bottom using a measuring cup or ramekin to create an even layer.

### 2. Make Cheesecake Filling:

- o Ensure cream cheese and heavy cream are at room temperature.
- o In a medium bowl, add the room temperature cream cheese. Using a hand mixer on low speed, mix for about 15 seconds until soft and creamy. (If cream cheese is not fully softened, microwave for about 15 seconds, being careful not to overheat).
- o Add the sweetened condensed milk and mix for another 10 seconds.
- Next, add the vanilla extract, cornstarch, heavy whipping cream, and cinnamon powder.
   Mix on low speed until just combined and smooth. Avoid overmixing.

### 3. Prepare for Instant Pot:

- o Pour the cheesecake filling over the prepared crust in the springform pan.
- Cover the top of the pan with a paper towel (it should not touch the cheesecake batter). Then, wrap the entire pan tightly with two layers of aluminum foil – one piece over the top, sealed tightly, and another piece from the bottom wrapping up towards the top. This prevents condensation from dripping onto the cheesecake.

o Pour 1 cup of water into the inner pot of the Instant Pot. Place a trivet inside.

#### 4. Pressure Cook:

- Carefully lower the wrapped springform pan onto the trivet in the Instant Pot.
- Secure the Instant Pot lid and set the steam release valve to "Sealing."
- o Select "Pressure Cook" (or "Manual") mode and cook on High pressure for 30 minutes.

# 5. Natural Release and Cooling:

- Once the cooking cycle is complete, allow the pressure to release naturally for 10-15 minutes. Then, perform a quick release of any remaining pressure.
- Carefully open the lid and remove the cheesecake pan. Remove the foil and paper towel.
- Let the cheesecake cool on a wire rack for about an hour. Then, cover it loosely with plastic wrap and refrigerate for at least 3 hours, or preferably overnight, until completely chilled and firm.
- 6. Serve: Once chilled, carefully remove the sides of the springform pan. Slice and serve. You can top with cinnamon sugar or fruit if desired (traditional sopapillas are often served with honey or cinnamon sugar).

- 1. Room Temperature Ingredients: Ensure your cream cheese, sweetened condensed milk, and heavy cream are at room temperature for the smoothest, lump-free cheesecake filling.
- 2. Avoid Overmixing: Mix the cheesecake batter on low speed and only until the ingredients are just combined. Overmixing can incorporate too much air, leading to cracks.
- 3. Properly Wrap Pan: Tightly wrapping the springform pan with a paper towel and two layers of aluminum foil is crucial to prevent steam and condensation from getting into the cheesecake while it cooks in the Instant Pot.

# Recipe 119: Chalupa Supreme (Taco Bell Copycat)

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For Chalupa Shells (Dough):		
All-Purpose Flour	2 cups	
Baking Powder	1 tablespoon	Essential for puffiness
Salt	To taste	For dough
Oil (for dough)	1 tablespoon	
Milk	3/4 cup + up to 1/4 cup more	As needed for dough consistency
Oil (for frying shells)	Approx. 2 inches deep in skillet	
Suggested Toppings:		
Refried Beans	As needed	Warmed
Guacamole	As needed	
Pico de Gallo or Salsa	As needed	
Chopped Lettuce	As needed	

Shredded Cheese	As needed	Mexican blend, cheddar, etc.
Olives (optional)	Sliced	
Sour Cream or Greek Yogurt	Dollop	

# 1. Make Chalupa Dough:

- o In a large bowl, mix together the all-purpose flour, baking powder, and salt.
- Add 1 tablespoon of oil and mix it into the dry ingredients.
- Gradually add 3/4 cup of milk while kneading the dough. If the dough feels too tough or dry, add the remaining 1/4 cup of milk (or water), a little at a time, until it all comes together and feels soft.
- Knead for a few minutes until smooth.

# 2. Shape Chalupa Shells:

- o Divide the dough into 8 equal parts.
- o Roll each part between your palms to make a ball.
- On a lightly floured surface, roll out each ball using a rolling pin into a disc about 7-8
  inches in diameter and fairly thin.
- You can prick the rolled-out discs with a fork a few times; this can help prevent them from puffing up too much in one spot.

### 3. Fry Chalupa Shells:

- Heat about 2 inches of oil in a thick-bottomed skillet or pot over medium heat. The oil should be hot enough but not smoking.
- Carefully slide one rolled-out dough disc into the hot oil. It will float and start to puff up slightly.
- Cook the first side for about 30 seconds to a minute, or until it's golden and slightly crispy.
- o Using tongs, carefully flip the disc to cook the other side.

- o Immediately after flipping, pinch one side of the disc with the tongs and gently fold it in half to create the boat shape. Hold it in this shape while it fries.
- Cook this folded shell for another minute or so, ensuring both sides of the fold become golden and crunchy.
- o Remove the fried chalupa shell from the oil and drain it on paper towels.
- Repeat the frying process with the remaining dough discs.

# 4. Assemble Chalupas:

- o Once the shells are fried and drained, place a piece of the fried bread on a plate.
- Fill with your desired toppings: warmed refried beans, guacamole, pico de gallo or salsa, chopped lettuce, shredded cheese, olives, and a dollop of sour cream or Greek yogurt.
- 5. Serve: Serve immediately while the shells are warm and crispy.

- 1. Dough Consistency: The dough should be soft and pliable, not too sticky or too dry. Adjust the amount of milk or a little water as needed.
- 2. Oil Temperature: Ensure the oil is hot enough before adding the dough (a small piece should sizzle and float) but not so hot that it burns the shells quickly. Medium heat is usually best.
- 3. Shaping in Oil: Be cautious when folding the shell in the hot oil. Use long tongs and work carefully to create the boat shape without splashing.

# Recipe 120: Refried Beans (Instant Pot)

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Dry Pinto Beans	1 pound	Rinsed and picked over
Olive Oil	1 tablespoon	Can be skipped for oil-free
Garlic Cloves	6	Minced
Yellow Onion	1	Minced
Vegetable Stock	3 cups	Low sodium recommended
Water	3 cups	
Ground Cumin	2 teaspoons	
Chili Powder	2 teaspoons	
Dried Oregano	1 teaspoon	
Bay Leaf	1	
Salt	To taste	Add after cooking or as per preference
Cayenne Pepper (optional)	Pinch	For extra heat
Black Pepper (optional)	To taste	

For Garnish (Optional):		
Chopped Tomatoes	As needed	

- 1. Prepare Beans: Pick over the dry pinto beans to remove any debris. Rinse them thoroughly under cold water and drain. (Soaking is optional; see tips).
- 2. Sauté Aromatics: Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Once it displays "HOT," add the olive oil (if using).
- 3. Add the minced garlic and minced yellow onion. Sauté for about 2 minutes, or until fragrant and onions start to soften.
- 4. Add Seasonings and Liquids: Add ground cumin, chili powder, dried oregano, salt (if adding now), black pepper (if using), and cayenne pepper (if using). Stir well with the onions and garlic.
- 5. Pour in the vegetable stock and water. Add the bay leaf.
- 6. Deglaze: Use a wooden spoon or spatula to scrape up any browned bits from the bottom of the inner pot. This is important to prevent the "Burn" notice.
- 7. Add Beans: Stir in the rinsed and drained pinto beans.
- 8. Pressure Cook: Press "Cancel" to stop Sauté mode. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and ensure the steam release valve is in the "Sealing" position.
- 9. Select "Pressure Cook" (or "Manual") mode and cook on High pressure for 45 minutes (for unsoaked beans).
- 10. Natural Release: Once the cooking cycle is complete, allow the pressure to release naturally. This can take 20-30 minutes.
- 11. Mash Beans: Carefully open the lid. Remove and discard the bay leaf. Drain the beans, reserving about 1/2 cup (or more) of the cooking liquid.
- 12. Use a potato masher or an immersion blender to mash the cooked beans until they are mostly smooth but can still have some texture, or to your desired consistency. Add some of the reserved cooking liquid, a little at a time, while mashing to achieve a creamy texture.
- 13. Serve: Taste and adjust salt if needed. Serve the refried beans warm as a side dish, a dip, or a filling for tacos, burritos, or tostadas. Garnish with chopped tomatoes if desired.

- 1. Soaking Optional: For this Instant Pot recipe, soaking the pinto beans overnight is not strictly necessary, but if you do soak them, you can reduce the pressure cooking time to about 20-25 minutes.
- 2. Deglaze Pot: Always scrape the bottom of the Instant Pot after sautéing and before pressure cooking to remove any stuck-on bits, which helps prevent the "Burn" error.
- 3. Control Consistency: Reserve the cooking liquid from the beans. When mashing, add this liquid back a little at a time until you reach your preferred consistency for the refried beans some like them thicker, others smoother.

# Recipe 121: Spanish Rice (Mexican Rice/Arroz Rojo)

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Long Grain Rice	1 cup	Uncooked (Basmati or Jasmine recommended)
Oil	1 tablespoon	Canola or vegetable oil work best
Garlic Cloves	2	Minced
Salt	To taste	
Cumin Powder	2 teaspoons	
Red Chili Powder	1 teaspoon	
Vegetable Stock or Water	1 cup	For Instant Pot
Fresh Salsa or Cantina Style Salsa	1 cup	Mild or medium
Optional Garnishes:		
Fresh Cilantro	Chopped	
Jalapeños	Sliced	_
Shredded Mexican Blend Cheese		

Avocado Slices	
Lime Wedges	
Greek Yogurt or Sour Cream	

#### Instant Pot Method:

- 1. Rinse Rice: Rinse 1 cup of long-grain rice thoroughly under cold water until the water runs relatively clear. This removes excess starch and helps make the rice fluffy. Drain well.
- 2. Sauté Rice and Aromatics: Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Once it displays "HOT," add the oil.
- Add the rinsed and drained rice to the pot. Sauté for about 3 minutes, stirring frequently, until
  the rice grains begin to turn a light golden color or become fragrant. Be careful not to burn the
  rice.
- 4. Add the minced garlic, salt to taste, cumin powder, and red chili powder. Stir well with the rice.
- 5. Pour in 1 cup of vegetable stock or water. Stir the mixture well, ensuring you scrape any rice stuck to the bottom of the inner pot. This helps prevent the "Burn" notice.
- 6. Layer Salsa (Do Not Stir): Add the salsa on top of the rice and liquid mixture. Do not stir at this point. Layering the salsa on top helps prevent burning.
- 7. Pressure Cook: Cancel "Sauté" mode. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the steam release valve to "Sealing."
- 8. Select "Pressure Cook" (or "Manual") mode and cook on High pressure for 5 minutes.
- 9. Natural Release (Partial): Once the cooking cycle is complete, allow the pot to sit and the pressure to release naturally for 5 minutes. Then, perform a Quick Release of any remaining pressure.
- 10. Serve: Carefully open the lid. Lightly fluff the Spanish rice with a fork. Garnish with chopped fresh cilantro and sliced jalapeños (if using), or any of your other favorite toppings like shredded cheese, avocado, or a dollop of sour cream. Serve immediately.

# Expert Tips & Tricks

1. Toast the Rice: Sautéing the rice in oil until it's lightly golden before adding liquids is a key step that enhances its nutty flavor and helps keep the grains separate.

- 2. Don't Stir Salsa Before Cooking: When using the Instant Pot, layer the salsa on top of the rice and liquid and do not stir it in before pressure cooking. This helps prevent the salsa from sticking to the bottom and causing a "Burn" error.
- 3. Rinse Rice Well: Thoroughly rinsing the rice removes excess surface starch, which is crucial for achieving fluffy, non-sticky Spanish rice.

# Recipe 122: Roasted Salsa

# Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Tomatoes	4 medium	Ripe (e.g., Roma, on-the-vine)
Onion	1/2 medium	Red or white, roughly chopped
Jalapeño Pepper	1	Seeded for less heat (adjust to taste)
Garlic Cloves	2-3	
Fresh Cilantro	1/2 cup	Loosely packed, stems and leaves
Lime Juice	Juice of 1-2 limes	Freshly squeezed
Salt	To taste	
Cumin Powder (optional)	1/4 teaspoon	For earthy depth
Sugar (optional)	Pinch	To balance acidity if tomatoes are very tart

Step-by-Step Instructions

# 1. Prepare Vegetables:

- Wash the tomatoes. You can roughly chop them. If you prefer a smoother salsa without skins, you can quickly blanch and peel them, but it's not strictly necessary for a rustic homemade salsa.
- o Peel and roughly chop the onion and garlic cloves.
- Wash the jalapeño. Remove the stem. For less heat, remove the seeds and white membranes. Roughly chop.
- Wash the cilantro.

# 2. Combine in Food Processor (or Blender):

- Add the chopped tomatoes, onion, garlic, jalapeño, and fresh cilantro to a food processor or blender.
- Add the fresh lime juice (start with juice of 1 lime), salt to taste, and optional cumin powder and pinch of sugar.

# 3. Pulse to Desired Consistency:

- Pulse the ingredients in the food processor or blender a few times until the salsa reaches your desired consistency.
- For a chunkier salsa, pulse only a few times. For a smoother, restaurant-style salsa, process for longer. Be careful not to over-process into a completely smooth liquid unless that's your preference.

# 4. Taste and Adjust:

 Transfer the salsa to a bowl. Taste it and adjust seasonings as needed. You might want to add more salt, lime juice for tanginess, or more jalapeño (or a pinch of cayenne) for heat.

#### 5. Chill (Recommended):

- For the best flavor, cover the salsa and refrigerate for at least 30 minutes to an hour before serving. This allows the flavors to meld and develop.
- 6. Serve: Serve the fresh homemade salsa with tortilla chips, tacos, quesadillas, or as an accompaniment to any Mexican-inspired meal.

- 1. Quality Tomatoes are Key: Use ripe, flavorful tomatoes for the best-tasting salsa. Roma tomatoes are a good choice as they are meaty and have fewer seeds.
- 2. Control the Heat: The spiciness of the salsa can be easily controlled by the amount of jalapeño used and whether you include the seeds and membranes (which hold most of the heat). Start with less and add more if desired.
- 3. Don't Over-Process: For a salsa with good texture, pulse the ingredients in the food processor rather than blending continuously. This helps maintain some chunkiness. If you prefer a very smooth salsa, then blend longer.

# Recipe 123: Cilantro Rice

# Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Basmati Rice	1 cup	Or other long-grain white rice
Water or Vegetable Broth	1 cup	For Instant Pot (1:1 ratio with rice)
Olive Oil or Butter	1 tablespoon	Use oil for vegan
Garlic (optional)	1-2 cloves	Minced
Salt	To taste	
Fresh Cilantro	1/2 cup	Chopped, loosely packed
Lime Juice	Juice of 1-2 limes	Freshly squeezed (to taste)
Lime Zest (optional)	Zest of 1/2 lime	For extra lime flavor

Step-by-Step Instructions

1. Rinse Rice: Rinse the Basmati rice thoroughly under cold water until the water runs relatively clear. This removes excess starch and helps the rice cook up fluffy. Drain well.

# 2. Sauté Aromatics (Optional):

- o Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Add olive oil or butter.
- If using, add minced garlic and sauté for about 30 seconds until fragrant. Be careful not to burn it.
- Add the rinsed and drained rice to the pot. Sauté for 1-2 minutes, stirring gently, to lightly toast the rice. This step is optional but enhances flavor.

### 3. Pressure Cook:

o Pour in 1 cup of water or vegetable broth. Add salt to taste. Stir gently to combine.

- Cancel "Sauté" mode. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the steam release valve to "Sealing."
- Select "Pressure Cook" (or "Manual") mode and cook on High pressure for 4-5 minutes.
   (TheBellyRulesTheMind often suggests 5 minutes for Basmati rice in similar preparations).

### 4. Natural Release (Partial):

- Once the cooking cycle is complete, allow the pressure to release naturally for 5-10 minutes. This helps the rice finish cooking and absorb moisture evenly.
- o After the natural release period, perform a Quick Release of any remaining pressure.

### 5. Add Cilantro and Lime:

- Carefully open the lid.
- Add the freshly squeezed lime juice, chopped fresh cilantro, and optional lime zest to the cooked rice.
- o Gently fluff the rice with a fork, incorporating the cilantro and lime evenly.
- 6. Serve: Serve the Cilantro Lime Rice warm as a side dish for Mexican, Indian, or Thai meals, or use it as a base for burrito bowls.

- 1. Rinse Rice Well: This is crucial for fluffy, non-sticky rice. Rinse until the water is mostly clear.
- 2. Fresh Lime and Cilantro: Use freshly squeezed lime juice and fresh cilantro for the best, most vibrant flavor. Add them after pressure cooking to preserve their freshness.
- 3. Don't Over-Stir Cooked Rice: Fluff the rice gently with a fork after adding the cilantro and lime. Over-stirring can make the rice mushy.

# Recipe 124: Instant Pot Rice and Beans

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Oil	1 tablespoon	
Garlic Cloves	4	Minced
Onion	1	Chopped
Chipotle Salsa	1/2 cup	Add more if needed, or use mild salsa
Salt	To taste	
Cumin Powder	2 teaspoons	
Long Grain Brown Rice	2 cups	Uncooked
Water	2 cups	Or vegetable broth
Diced Tomatoes	1 can (14 oz)	Do not stir in after adding
Black Beans	1 can (15 oz)	Rinsed and drained (add after pressure cooking)
Cilantro	For garnish	Chopped
Optional Toppings:		
Lime Wedges		

Sour Cream or Greek Yogurt	
Tortilla Chips or Strips	
Shredded Cheese	
Sliced Avocado	

- 1. Sauté Aromatics: Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Once it displays "HOT," add the oil.
- 2. Add the minced garlic and chopped onions. Sauté until the onions are soft and fragrant.
- 3. Add Salsa and Spices: Stir in the chipotle salsa (or your preferred salsa), salt to taste, and cumin powder. Give it a good stir.
- 4. Add Rice and Water: Add the uncooked long grain brown rice and water (or vegetable broth). Stir everything well.
- 5. Layer Tomatoes (Do Not Stir): Add the diced tomatoes on top of the rice mixture. Do not stir after adding the tomatoes; leave them as a top layer.
- 6. Pressure Cook: Cancel "Sauté" mode. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the steam release valve to "Sealing."
- 7. Select "Pressure Cook" (or "Manual") mode and cook on High pressure for 20 minutes.
- 8. Natural Release: Once the cooking cycle is complete, allow the pressure to release naturally for 10 minutes. After 10 minutes, perform a Quick Release of any remaining pressure.
- 9. Add Beans and Cilantro: Carefully open the lid. Add the rinsed and drained black beans and chopped cilantro. Mix everything well.
- 10. Serve: Serve hot with your choice of toppings like lime wedges, sour cream, tortilla chips, shredded cheese, or sliced avocado.

### **Expert Tips & Tricks**

Brown Rice for Texture: This recipe specifically calls for long-grain brown rice, which provides a
nice chewy bite and extra fiber. If using white rice (Basmati or Jasmine), cooking times and
water ratios will need to be significantly adjusted (typically 1:1 rice to water, 5 minutes High
Pressure, 5-10 min NPR).

- 2. Don't Stir Tomatoes Before Cooking: Layering the diced tomatoes on top without stirring helps prevent them from sticking to the bottom of the pot and potentially causing a "Burn" notice during pressure cooking.
- 3. Salsa for Flavor: The chipotle salsa is key for the smoky spiciness. If you prefer a milder dish, substitute with a mild salsa.

# Recipe 125: Tortilla Quinoa Soup

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For the Soup:		
	Olive Oil	1 tablespoon
	Onion	1 medium
	Garlic	2-3 cloves
	Bell Pepper (any color)	1
	Jalapeño (optional)	1
	Quinoa	1/2 cup
	Diced Tomatoes	1 can (14.5 oz)
	Black Beans	1 can (15 oz)
	Corn Kernels	1 cup
	Vegetable Broth	4 cups
	Chili Powder	1 tablespoon
	Cumin Powder	1 teaspoon
	Smoked Paprika (optional)	1/2 teaspoon

	Salt	To taste
	Black Pepper	To taste
For Garnish (Toppings):		
	Avocado	1
	Fresh Cilantro	1/4 cup
	Lime Wedges	For serving
	Tortilla Strips or Crushed Tortilla Chips	As needed
	Shredded Cheese (optional)	Mexican blend, cheddar
	Sour Cream or Greek Yogurt (optional)	Dollop

- 1. Prepare Ingredients: Rinse the quinoa thoroughly under cold water. Chop the onion, garlic, bell pepper, and jalapeño (if using). Rinse and drain the canned black beans.
- 2. Sauté Aromatics: Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Add olive oil. Once hot, add the chopped onion, bell pepper, and jalapeño (if using). Sauté for 3-5 minutes, until the vegetables begin to soften. Add the minced garlic and cook for another minute until fragrant.
- 3. Add Spices and Quinoa: Stir in the chili powder, cumin powder, and smoked paprika (if using). Cook for about 30 seconds, stirring, until the spices are fragrant. Add the rinsed quinoa to the pot and stir to coat it with the spices and vegetables.
- 4. Add Remaining Soup Ingredients: Pour in the diced tomatoes (undrained), rinsed black beans, corn kernels, and vegetable broth. Season with salt and black pepper to taste. Stir everything well to combine.
- 5. Pressure Cook: Cancel "Sauté" mode. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the steam release valve to "Sealing." Select "Pressure Cook" (or "Manual") mode and cook on High pressure for 1 minute. (Quinoa cooks very quickly under pressure).

- 6. Natural Release: Once the cooking cycle is complete, allow the pressure to release naturally for 10-15 minutes. This helps the quinoa to fully cook and absorb the flavors. After the natural release period, perform a Quick Release of any remaining pressure.
- 7. Serve: Carefully open the lid. Stir the soup. Ladle the Tortilla Quinoa Soup into bowls.
- 8. Garnish generously with your favorite toppings such as diced avocado, chopped fresh cilantro, tortilla strips or crushed chips, shredded cheese (if using), and a dollop of sour cream or Greek yogurt. Serve with lime wedges on the side for squeezing.

- 1. Rinse Quinoa: Always rinse quinoa before cooking to remove its natural coating (saponin), which can impart a bitter taste.
- 2. Short Pressure Cook Time: Quinoa cooks very quickly in the Instant Pot. A 1-minute pressure cook time followed by a natural release is usually sufficient.
- 3. Toppings Make it Fun: The toppings are a big part of what makes tortilla soup delicious and customizable. Offer a variety so everyone can personalize their bowl.

# Recipe 126: Mexican Fiesta Rice

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Basmati Rice	1 cup	Or other long grain rice
Olive Oil	1 tablespoon	Optional
Red Bell Pepper	1/2	Diced
Green Bell Pepper	1/2	Diced
Onion	1 cup	Chopped
Corn Kernels	1 cup	Fresh or frozen
Jalapeño (optional)	1-2	Chopped, adjust to taste
Black Beans	1 can (15 oz)	Drained and rinsed (or kidney/cannellini beans)
Taco Seasoning	2 tablespoons	
Salt	To taste	
Water	1 1/2 cups	For Instant Pot
Tomato Puree	1 can	Or 4 fresh tomatoes, pureed

For Garnish (Optional):		
Shredded Four Cheese Blend	1/2 cup	Or your preferred cheese
Fresh Cilantro	1/4 cup	Chopped
Sour Cream or Greek Yogurt	Dollop	
Avocado Slices		

### Instant Pot Method (Dump and Push Start):

- 1. Prepare Ingredients: Rinse the Basmati rice. Chop/dice the onion and bell peppers. If using fresh jalapeño, chop it. Drain and rinse the canned black beans.
- 2. Combine Ingredients in Pot: Add the rinsed rice, olive oil (if using), chopped onion, diced red and green bell peppers, corn kernels, chopped jalapeño (if using), and drained black beans to the inner pot of your Instant Pot.
- 3. Pour in 1 1/2 cups of water.
- 4. Add the tomato puree, taco seasoning, and salt to taste.
- 5. Stir and Cook: Stir all the ingredients together well to combine.
- 6. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the steam release valve to "Sealing."
- 7. Select "Pressure Cook" (or "Manual") mode and cook on High pressure for 5 minutes.
- 8. Quick Release: Once the cooking cycle is complete, perform a Quick Pressure Release by carefully turning the valve to "Venting."
- 9. Serve: Carefully open the lid. Gently fluff the rice with a fork.
- 10. Sprinkle the top with shredded cheese (if using) and chopped fresh cilantro. Serve hot with optional toppings like sour cream or avocado slices.

### Stovetop Version:

1. Cook rice according to package instructions.

- 2. Heat oil in a pan. Add onion, bell peppers, jalapeño, and corn; cook until soft (about 2-3 minutes).
- 3. Add rinsed and drained black beans, taco seasoning, and salt. Mix and cook for a few minutes.
- 4. Add tomato puree and mix well.
- 5. Stir the bean and veggie mixture into the cooked rice. Add cilantro and mix. Serve with toppings.

- 1. Basmati Rice Recommended: Using Basmati rice is recommended for this recipe as it tends to cook up fluffy and is considered fail-proof by the source for this type of dish.
- 2. Versatile Vegetable Additions: Feel free to add other vegetables you have on hand. Ensure they are chopped to a size that will cook through in the short pressure cooking time.
- 3. Adjust Spice: The heat level can be easily adjusted by adding more or less jalapeño, or by choosing a spicier taco seasoning.

# Recipe 127: Tomatillo Salsa

# Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Tomatillos	1 pound (approx. 8-10 medium)	Husks removed, rinsed
Onion	1/2 medium	White or yellow, roughly chopped
Jalapeño Pepper(s)	1-2	Stemmed (seeded for less heat, adjust to taste)
Garlic Cloves	2-3	Peeled
Fresh Cilantro	1/2 cup	Loosely packed, stems and leaves
Water	1/4 cup (approx.)	Or as needed for blending
Salt	To taste	
Lime Juice (optional)	Juice of 1/2 lime	For extra tang

Step-by-Step Instructions

# 1. Prepare Tomatillos and Aromatics:

- Remove the papery husks from the tomatillos. Rinse the tomatillos well under cool water to remove any sticky residue.
- o Roughly chop the onion. Stem the jalapeño(s); if you prefer a milder salsa, remove the seeds and white membranes. Peel the garlic cloves.

# 2. Cook Tomatillos (Choose one method):

Boiling Method (Common): Place the husked and rinsed tomatillos, chopped onion, jalapeño(s), and garlic cloves in a saucepan. Add just enough water to barely cover them (about 1/4 to 1/2 cup, depending on pot size). Bring to a boil, then reduce heat and simmer for 5-10 minutes, or until the tomatillos soften and turn a dull, olive-green color. Do not overcook, or they might burst.

 Roasting Method (For smoky flavor): Preheat broiler or oven to 400°F (200°C). Place tomatillos, onion chunks, jalapeños, and garlic (can leave skin on garlic for roasting) on a baking sheet. Broil for 5-7 minutes, or roast for 15-20 minutes, turning occasionally, until they are softened and slightly charred in spots. If roasted, peel garlic after cooling slightly.

## 3. Blend the Salsa:

- Carefully transfer the cooked tomatillos, onion, jalapeño, and garlic, along with any cooking liquid (if boiled, use about 1/4 cup of it) to a blender or food processor.
- o Add the fresh cilantro and salt to taste. If using, add fresh lime juice.
- Blend until the salsa reaches your desired consistency. For a chunkier salsa, pulse a
  few times. For a smoother salsa, blend for longer. Be careful not to over-blend into a
  completely thin liquid.

# 4. Taste and Adjust:

o Pour the salsa into a bowl. Taste and adjust seasonings if necessary. You might want to add more salt, lime juice, or even a pinch of sugar if the tomatillos are very tart.

#### 5. Cool and Serve:

- Let the Tomatillo Salsa Verde cool to room temperature, or chill in the refrigerator for at least 30 minutes before serving. The flavors will meld and intensify as it cools.
- o Serve with tortilla chips, tacos, enchiladas, grilled meats, or eggs.

- 1. Choosing Tomatillos: Select firm tomatillos that have filled out their husks. The husks should be relatively fresh-looking, not dried out or shriveled.
- 2. Don't Overcook Tomatillos (if boiling): When boiling tomatillos, cook them only until they soften and change color. Overcooking can make them burst and lose too much of their tart flavor.
- 3. Roasting for Depth: Roasting or broiling the tomatillos, onions, and peppers before blending adds a wonderful smoky depth to the salsa.

# Recipe 128: Mexican Street Corn (Air Fryer Elote)

# Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Corn on the Cob	4	Fresh
Cooking Oil Spray	As needed	
For Spice Rub:		
Salt	1 teaspoon	
Smoked Paprika	1 teaspoon	
Chili Powder	1 teaspoon	
Adobo Powder	1 teaspoon	
For Serving:		
Lime Wedges	1-2	
Fresh Cilantro	1/4 cup	Chopped
Avocado Cilantro Dressing (optional)	2 tablespoons	Or your preferred creamy topping
Cheese (optional)	As desired	Cotija or other grated cheese

Step-by-Step Instructions

1. Prepare Corn: Shuck the corn, removing all husks and silk.

2. Prepare Spice Rub: In a small bowl, mix together the salt, smoked paprika, chili powder, and adobo powder.

### 3. Air Fry Corn:

- o Spray the corn cobs lightly with cooking oil.
- Place the corn in a single layer in the air fryer basket. You may need to cook in batches depending on the size of your air fryer.
- Air fry at 400°F (200°C) for 14 minutes, turning the corn halfway through the cooking time. The corn should be tender and nicely charred in spots.

### 4. Season Corn:

- o Once the corn is cooked and nicely charred, remove it from the air fryer.
- o While the corn is still hot, rub it all over with a lime wedge.
- Immediately sprinkle or rub the prepared dry spice mixture all over each cob, ensuring it's evenly coated.

#### 5. Garnish and Serve:

- o Sprinkle with fresh chopped cilantro.
- o If desired, drizzle with Avocado Cilantro Dressing or sprinkle with cheese.
- o Serve immediately while hot.

- 1. Char for Flavor: The charring of the corn in the air fryer is key to achieving that authentic street corn smoky flavor. Don't be afraid to let it get some dark spots.
- 2. Season While Hot: Apply the lime juice and spice rub to the corn while it's still hot from the air fryer. This helps the seasonings adhere better and meld with the corn.
- 3. Customize Spices: Feel free to adjust the spice rub ingredients to your liking. You can add more chili powder for extra heat or other spices like cumin or onion powder.

# Recipe 129: Cauliflower Rice Bowl (Mexican Style)

Category	Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For Cauliflower Rice Base:			
	Cauliflower	1 medium head	Riced (approx. 4 cups)
	Olive Oil	1 tablespoon	
	Onion	1/2 medium	Finely chopped
	Garlic	1-2 cloves	Minced
	Cumin Powder	1 teaspoon	
	Chili Powder	1/2 teaspoon	Adjust to taste
	Salt	To taste	
	Lime Juice	Juice of 1/2 lime	
	Fresh Cilantro	1/4 cup	Chopped
Bowl Toppings (Suggestions):			
	Black Beans	1 can (15 oz)	Rinsed and drained, warmed

Corn Kernels	1 cup	Fresh, frozen (thawed), or roasted
Avocado or Guacamole	1	Sliced or mashed
Salsa	Your favorite	Pico de gallo, roasted salsa, etc.
Shredded Lettuce or Cabbage	1 cup	
Cotija Cheese or Queso Fresco (optional)	1/4 cup	Crumbled (use vegan cheese for vegan)
Pickled Jalapeños (optional)	Few slices	
Sour Cream or Greek Yogurt (optional)	Dollop	Use vegan alternative if needed

# 1. Prepare Cauliflower Rice:

- o Wash and dry the cauliflower head. Remove the core and leaves.
- Cut the cauliflower into florets.
- Working in batches, pulse the cauliflower florets in a food processor until they resemble the texture of rice grains. Be careful not to over-process into a puree. Alternatively, you can use a box grater.

# 2. Cook Mexican Cauliflower Rice (Instant Pot Sauté Method):

- o Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode (Normal or More). Add olive oil.
- Once hot, add the finely chopped onion and minced garlic. Sauté for 1-2 minutes until fragrant and onions are translucent.
- Add the riced cauliflower to the pot. Stir in the cumin powder, chili powder, and salt to taste.
- Cook, stirring frequently, for 5-7 minutes, or until the cauliflower rice is tender-crisp. It should not be mushy.

- o Turn off "Sauté" mode. Stir in the fresh lime juice and chopped fresh cilantro.
- 3. Prepare Toppings: While the cauliflower rice is cooking (or before), prepare all your desired toppings: warm the black beans, prepare corn, dice/slice avocado, chop lettuce, crumble cheese, etc.

### 4. Assemble the Bowls:

- o Divide the cooked Mexican cauliflower rice among serving bowls.
- Arrange your chosen toppings over the cauliflower rice base. Examples include black beans, corn, avocado or guacamole, salsa, shredded lettuce, and crumbled cheese.
- Add any optional garnishes like pickled jalapeños or a dollop of sour cream/Greek yogurt.
- 5. Serve: Serve the Mexican Cauliflower Rice Bowls immediately.

- 1. Don't Over-Process Cauliflower: When making cauliflower rice, pulse it in the food processor until it reaches a rice-like consistency. Over-processing will turn it into a mash.
- 2. Cook Cauliflower Rice Until Tender-Crisp: Sauté the cauliflower rice just until it's tender but still has a slight bite. Overcooking will make it soggy.
- Customize Your Bowl: The beauty of a rice bowl is its versatility. Feel free to add or substitute toppings based on your preferences and what you have on hand. Grilled chicken, shrimp, or seasoned tofu can be added for extra protein.

# Recipe 130: Vegetarian 3 Bean Chili (Instant Pot)

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Oil	1 tablespoon	
Garlic	1 teaspoon	Minced or finely chopped
Onion	1 large	Chopped
Carrot	1	Diced
Zucchini	1	Diced
Corn	1 cup	Fresh or frozen
Sweet Potato	1/2	Diced, with skin if desired
Chunky Roasted Salsa	1 cup	Or homemade salsa
Garbanzo Beans (Chickpeas)	1/2 cup	Cooked or canned, rinsed & drained
Black Beans	1/2 cup	Cooked or canned, rinsed & drained
Kidney Beans	1/2 cup	Cooked or canned, rinsed & drained
Vegetable Broth	2 cups	Low sodium recommended
Black Pepper	1 teaspoon	

Cumin Powder	1 teaspoon	
Paprika	1/2 teaspoon	Smoked or sweet
Chili Powder	1 teaspoon	Adjust to taste
Salt	To taste	
Optional Toppings:		
Cilantro	Chopped	
Avocado	Chopped	
Jalapeño Slices		
Tortilla Strips		
Lime Slices		
Sour Cream or Greek Yogurt		
Shredded Cheese		

- 1. Prepare Ingredients: Chop/dice all vegetables (onion, carrot, zucchini, sweet potato). Mince garlic. If using canned beans, rinse and drain them.
- 2. Sauté Aromatics: Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" (high setting if available). Add oil.
- 3. Once hot, add minced garlic and sauté until fragrant. Then add chopped onion and stir.
- 4. Add Vegetables and Beans: Add diced carrot, zucchini, corn, diced sweet potato, and the three types of beans (garbanzo, black, kidney).

- Add Spices and Liquids: Stir in the chunky roasted salsa. Add black pepper, cumin powder, paprika, chili powder, and salt to taste. Pour in the vegetable broth. Stir everything well to combine.
- 6. Pressure Cook: Cancel "Sauté" mode. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the steam release valve to "Sealing."
- 7. Select "Pressure Cook" (or "Manual") mode and cook on High pressure for 10 minutes.
- 8. Natural Release: Once the cooking cycle is complete, allow the pressure to release naturally.
- 9. Serve: Carefully open the lid. Stir the chili. Garnish with your favorite toppings like chopped cilantro, avocado, jalapeño slices, tortilla strips, lime slices, sour cream, or shredded cheese. Serve immediately.

- 1. Bean Variety: While the recipe calls for garbanzo, black, and kidney beans, feel free to use any combination of your favorite beans.
- 2. Salsa for Flavor: Using a chunky roasted salsa adds significant depth and smoky flavor to the chili. If you don't have roasted salsa, a good quality regular salsa will also work.
- 3. Sweet Potato for Thickness: The diced sweet potato not only adds nutrients and a touch of sweetness but also helps to naturally thicken the chili as it cooks down.

# Recipe 131: Churro Bites (Muffins)

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For Churro Bites Batter:		
Coconut Sugar (Organic)	1/3 cup	Or regular granulated sugar
Unsalted Butter or Vegan Butter	1/3 cup	Melted
Cinnamon Powder	1 teaspoon	For batter
Milk or Dairy-Free Milk	1/2 cup	Add more by tablespoon if needed
Baking Powder	1 teaspoon	
Gluten-Free Baking Flour	1 cup	Or whole wheat/all-purpose flour (may need more milk)
For Coating:		
Butter	1/4 cup	Melted
White Sugar (Pure Cane)	1/2 cup	
Ground Cinnamon	1-2 teaspoons	For coating
Equipment:		

Egg Bite Molds (for Instant Pot)		Or mini muffin tray for oven
Trivet (for Instant Pot)		
Water (for Instant Pot)	1 cup	

Instant Pot Method (using Egg Bite Molds):

### 1. Prepare Batter:

- o In a mixing bowl, add the melted butter (for batter), coconut sugar (or regular sugar), milk (or dairy-free milk), and 1 teaspoon of cinnamon powder. Stir well.
- Add the gluten-free baking flour (or other flour) and baking powder. Stir until just combined. Do not overmix. If using whole wheat flour, you might need to add a bit more milk if the batter is too thick.

#### 2. Fill Molds:

- o Grease your Instant Pot egg bite molds.
- o Fill each cavity of the prepared molds about half full with the batter.

# 3. Cook in Instant Pot:

- Pour 1 cup of water into the inner pot of the Instant Pot. Place a trivet inside.
- o Cover the egg bite mold(s) with aluminum foil. Place the mold(s) on the trivet.
- o Secure the Instant Pot lid and set the steam release valve to "Sealing."
- Select the "Cake" setting (if available) for 10 minutes, or "Pressure Cook" (Manual) on High pressure for a similar duration (check your IP model for cake/baking times, typically 10-12 minutes).
- Once the cooking cycle is complete, allow a natural pressure release for 5 minutes,
   then perform a quick release of any remaining pressure.

### 4. Cool and Coat:

- Carefully remove the egg bite molds from the Instant Pot. Remove the foil.
- Let the churro bites cool in the molds for a few minutes, then invert onto a plate. They should slide out easily.

- While the bites are still warm, prepare the coating. Melt 1/4 cup of butter in one bowl. In a separate bowl, mix 1/2 cup of white sugar with 1-2 teaspoons of ground cinnamon.
- Dip each churro bite first into the melted butter, ensuring it's coated, and then immediately roll it in the cinnamon-sugar mixture until well covered.
- 5. Serve: Let cool slightly and serve warm.

## Oven Method (Mini Muffin Tray):

- 1. Preheat oven to 375°F (190°C). Grease a 12-cup mini muffin tray.
- 2. Prepare batter as in Step 1.
- 3. Fill prepared mini muffin cups about half full.
- 4. Bake for 11-12 minutes, or until the tops are lightly golden and a toothpick inserted comes out clean.
- 5. Cool slightly, then dip in melted butter and roll in cinnamon-sugar as in Step 4.

- 1. Flour Choice: While the source recipe mentions gluten-free baking flour, it also notes that whole wheat or all-purpose flour can be used. If using these, you might need to adjust the liquid slightly as they absorb differently.
- 2. Don't Overfill Molds: Fill the egg bite molds or mini muffin cups only about half full, as the batter will rise during cooking.
- 3. Coat While Warm: For the best cinnamon-sugar coating, dip the churro bites in melted butter and then roll them in the cinnamon-sugar mixture while they are still warm.

# Recipe 132: Stuffed Peppers

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Sweet Bell Peppers	3	Various colors, halved and seeded
Green Giant Riced Veggies Kohlrabi	1 pack (or approx. 2 cups riced kohlrabi)	Or other riced veggies like cauliflower
Green Chilies (canned, optional)	Small amount	Diced, for flavor
Corn (optional)	Handful	Fresh or frozen
Black Beans (optional)	Handful	Cooked or canned, rinsed
Fresh Cilantro	Handful	Chopped
Tex-Mex Seasoning (or use store-bought):		
Cumin Powder	1 teaspoon	
Garlic Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
Onion Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
Chili Powder	1/2 teaspoon	Or more to taste
Kosher Salt	To taste	

Freshly Ground Black Pepper	To taste	
For Instant Pot (if using):		
Water	1 cup	For bottom of Instant Pot
Trivet	1	For Instant Pot

# 1. Prepare Riced Veggies:

- If using Green Giant Riced Veggies Kohlrabi (or similar microwavable riced veggies),
   microwave according to package instructions (e.g., 6 minutes).
- Transfer the steamed riced veggies to a sieve to remove any excess water. You can also gently squeeze out excess water by hand once cool enough.

# 2. Prepare Filling:

- o In a mixing bowl, combine the cooked and drained riced kohlrabi (or other riced veggies), diced green chilies (if using), corn (if using), black beans (if using), and chopped fresh cilantro.
- Add the Tex-Mex seasonings: cumin powder, garlic powder, onion powder, chili powder, kosher salt, and black pepper to taste. Mix everything well until combined.

# 3. Stuff Peppers:

Spoon the prepared filling generously into each bell pepper half (cavity side up).

# 4. Cook Stuffed Peppers (Choose one method):

# o Oven Method:

- Preheat oven to 350°F (175°C).
- Place the stuffed peppers, cavity side up, on a prepared baking dish.
- Bake for 15-20 minutes, or until the peppers are tender and the filling is heated through.

#### Instant Pot Method:

Pour 1 cup of water into the inner liner of the Instant Pot. Place a trivet inside.

- Arrange the stuffed peppers on the trivet.
- Secure the lid and set the steam release valve to "Sealing."
- Press "Pressure Cook" (or "Manual") and cook on High pressure for 6 minutes.
- Allow a natural pressure release for about 4 minutes, then perform a quick release of any remaining pressure.

# Air Fryer Method:

- Preheat air fryer to 355°F (179°C) if recommended by your model.
- Place stuffed peppers in the air fryer basket (you may need to do this in batches).
- Cook for 10 minutes. Check for tenderness. If needed, cook for an additional 5 minutes, or until peppers are slightly soft and filling is heated.
- 5. Serve: Serve immediately. These can be enjoyed with a side of avocado cilantro dressing or your favorite salsa.

- Drain Riced Veggies Well: After steaming or microwaving the riced kohlrabi (or cauliflower), ensure you drain it thoroughly to remove excess moisture. This prevents the filling from being watery.
- 2. Adjust Seasoning: Taste the filling mixture before stuffing the peppers and adjust the Tex-Mex seasonings, salt, and pepper to your preference.
- 3. Pepper Tenderness: Cooking times may vary depending on the size and thickness of your bell peppers. Cook until they are tender to your liking some prefer them softer, others with a bit more crunch.

# Recipe 133: Vegetarian Quesadillas (with Broccoli and Corn)

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Tortillas	6-8	Small, gluten-free or regular flour/corn
Broccoli	1 cup	Finely chopped
Corn	1/2 cup	Fresh or frozen
Cheese	1 cup	Shredded Mexican blend, cheddar, or Monterey Jack
Salt	To taste	
Coriander Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
Cumin Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
Garlic Powder (optional)	1/4 teaspoon	
Olive Oil	2 tablespoons	For cooking
Optional for Serving:		
Lite Sour Cream or Greek Yogurt		
Lettuce	Shredded	

Salsa	
Guacamole	

# 1. Prepare Filling:

- o Wash and finely chop the broccoli. If using frozen corn, thaw it.
- o In a mixing bowl, combine the chopped broccoli, corn, shredded cheese, salt to taste, coriander powder, cumin powder, and optional garlic powder. Mix well.

# 2. Assemble Quesadillas:

- o Lay a tortilla flat.
- Spread a portion of the broccoli, corn, and cheese mixture evenly over one half of the tortilla.
- Fold the other half of the tortilla over the filling to create a half-moon shape. Press down gently.
- o Repeat for all tortillas.

### 3. Cook Quesadillas:

- o Heat a cast iron pan, griddle, or non-stick skillet over medium heat.
- o Spray or lightly brush the pan with olive oil.
- o Carefully place one or two assembled quesadillas onto the hot pan (do not overcrowd).
- Cook for a few minutes on each side, until the tortilla is golden brown and crispy, and the cheese inside is melted and gooey. Press down gently with a spatula while cooking.

#### 4. Serve:

- o Remove the cooked quesadillas from the pan and place them on a cutting board.
- o Cut each quesadilla into wedges.
- Serve immediately with lite sour cream, shredded lettuce, salsa, or guacamole on the side.

## **Expert Tips & Tricks**

1. Finely Chop Broccoli: Ensure the broccoli is chopped into small, fine pieces. This helps it cook through quickly and integrate well with the melted cheese and corn.

- 2. Don't Overfill: Avoid overstuffing the quesadillas, as this can cause the filling to spill out during cooking and make them difficult to flip.
- 3. Medium Heat for Even Cooking: Cook the quesadillas over medium heat. This allows the cheese to melt thoroughly and the tortilla to become golden and crispy without burning before the filling is heated through.

# Chapter 14: Indo-Chinese Specials

Indo-Chinese cuisine is a fascinating and incredibly popular culinary fusion that originated from the Chinese community settled in Kolkata, India, over a century ago. It masterfully blends the wok-style cooking, sauces, and certain ingredients of Chinese cuisine with the bold spices, vibrant flavors, and local produce favored in India. This unique amalgamation has given rise to a distinct genre of dishes that are fiery, tangy, savory, and utterly addictive, capturing the hearts and palates of people across India and now, increasingly, around the world.

The hallmark of Indo-Chinese food lies in its explosive flavor profiles and unique textures. Key ingredients like soy sauce, vinegar, chili sauce, and MSG (though often substituted with other umamirich elements in home cooking) meet Indian staples such as ginger, garlic, green chilies, and a host of vegetables like cabbage, carrots, and bell peppers. Techniques like stir-frying at high heat are central, ensuring vegetables remain crisp and flavors meld quickly. From street-side stalls serving piping hot noodles to fine-dining restaurants offering elaborate Manchurian dishes, Indo-Chinese cuisine is a dynamic and ever-evolving culinary landscape.

In this chapter, we will explore some of the most cherished Indo-Chinese specials that you can recreate in your own kitchen. Get ready to whip up comforting bowls of Vegetable Manchow Soup and Sweet Corn Soup, toss together flavorful Hakka Noodles and Garlic Noodles, and create show-stopping main courses like Orange Cauliflower, Kung Pao Tofu, and Vegetable Manchurian. These recipes are designed to bring the excitement and unique taste of Indo-Chinese cooking home, offering dishes that are perfect for a weeknight treat or a weekend feast.

# Recipe 134: Vegetable Manchow Soup

```
| Category | Ingredient | Quantity | Notes / Comments |
|:-----|
| For Air-Fried Noodles: | | |
| Boiled Noodles | 2 cups | Follow package instructions |
| Cornstarch | 2 tablespoons | |
| Oil (optional) | 1 teaspoon | Helps them crisp up |
| Salt | To taste | For noodles |
| For Veg Manchow Soup: | | |
| Oil | 1 tablespoon | |
| Garlic | 1.5 tablespoons | Finely chopped |
| Ginger | 1 tablespoon | Finely chopped |
| Green Chilies | 1 teaspoon | Chopped or crushed |
| Coriander Stems or Celery | 2 tablespoons | Chopped |
| Cabbage | 1/2 cup | Shredded |
| Carrot | 1/4 cup | Finely chopped |
| Green Beans | 1/4 cup | Chopped |
| Green Bell Pepper | 1/4 cup | Chopped |
| Paneer or Tofu (optional) | 1/4 cup | Small cubes |
| Dark Soy Sauce | 1 tablespoon | |
| Green Chili Sauce | 1 teaspoon | |
| Vinegar | 1 teaspoon | |
| Salt | To taste | For soup |
| Pepper | To taste | Freshly ground |
| Water or Vegetable Stock | 4 cups | Homemade veg stock recommended |
```

| Cornstarch (for slurry) | 2 tablespoons | |

| Water (for slurry) | 3 tablespoons | |

| Fresh Coriander Leaves | 2 tablespoons | Chopped, for garnish |

| Spring Onion Greens | 2 tablespoons | Chopped, for garnish |

Step-by-Step Instructions

Step 1: Air-Fry the Noodles (for Garnish)

- 1. Cook noodles according to package instructions. Drain and rinse under cold water.
- 2. Spread the boiled noodles on a plate and let them dry out a little for 15 to 20 minutes.
- 3. Combine the dried noodles with cornstarch, salt, and optional 1 teaspoon of oil. Toss well to coat.
- 4. Preheat your air fryer to 390°F (200°C).
- 5. Place the coated noodles in the air fryer basket in a single layer (cook in batches if necessary).
- 6. Air fry for 10-12 minutes, shaking the basket halfway through, until the noodles are golden brown and crispy.
- 7. Let them cool and then lightly crush them for topping the soup.

# Step 2: Make the Soup

- 1. Heat 1 tablespoon of oil in a deep pan, pot, or wok over medium flame.
- 2. Add finely chopped garlic, finely chopped ginger, chopped green chilies, and chopped coriander stems (or celery). Sauté for about 1 minute until fragrant.
- 3. Add shredded cabbage, finely chopped carrot, chopped green beans, and chopped green bell pepper. Stir-fry for 1 minute do not overcook; the vegetables should remain crunchy.
- 4. Pour in 4 cups of water or vegetable stock. Bring the mixture to a boil.
- 5. Stir in dark soy sauce, green chili sauce, vinegar, salt, and pepper to taste.
- 6. In a small bowl, combine 2 tablespoons of cornstarch with 3 tablespoons of water to make a smooth slurry.
- 7. Slowly add the cornstarch slurry to the boiling soup while stirring continuously. Keep stirring and cook until the soup has thickened, which usually takes around 1-2 minutes.
- 8. If using, add the small cubes of paneer or tofu. Cook on low heat for 1 more minute.
- 9. Turn off the heat. Stir in fresh chopped coriander leaves and spring onion greens.

# Step 3: Serve

- 1. Pour the hot Vegetable Manchow Soup into bowls.
- 2. Garnish generously with the crushed air-fried noodles. Serve immediately.

- 1. Crispy Noodle Garnish: The air-fried noodles are a signature element of Manchow Soup. Ensure they are properly dried after boiling and coated well with cornstarch for maximum crispiness.
- 2. Keep Veggies Crunchy: Stir-fry the vegetables for a very short time on high heat. They should retain their crunch to provide a good texture contrast to the soup.
- 3. Balancing Flavors: Manchow soup is known for its spicy and tangy notes. Adjust the amount of green chilies, chili sauce, and vinegar to suit your taste preference.

# Recipe 135: Sweet Corn Soup

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Water	5 Cups	
Organic Corn Kernels	2 cups	Frozen or fresh
Carrots	2	Peeled & finely chopped
Cauliflower	1 cup	Finely chopped
Bell Peppers (optional)	1/2 cup	Finely chopped
Zucchini (optional)	1/2 cup	Finely chopped
French Beans (optional)	1/2 cup	Finely chopped
Salt	To taste	
Black Pepper Powder	1 teaspoon	Freshly ground
Sugar	1 teaspoon	
Vinegar	2 tablespoons	Adjust to taste
Cornstarch	2 tablespoons	
Water (for cornstarch slurry)	1/2 cup	

Green Onions (optional)	Few	Chopped, for garnish

- 1. Prepare Corn Paste: Take 1 cup of the corn kernels and add them to a food processor. Blend to make a paste. Set aside.
- 2. Boil Water and Vegetables: In a large pot, add 5 cups of water and bring it to a boil.
- 3. Once the water is boiling, add the finely chopped carrots, cauliflower, bell peppers (if using), zucchini (if using), French beans (if using), the remaining 1 cup of whole corn kernels, and the prepared corn kernel paste. Stir well.
- 4. Cook on medium flame for 5 minutes, or until the mixture starts to boil and vegetables are slightly tender.
- 5. Season the Soup: Add salt to taste and sugar to the simmering soup. Cook for another 3-4 minutes.
- 6. Add freshly ground black pepper powder and mix.
- 7. Thicken the Soup: In a small bowl, mix the cornstarch with 1/2 cup of water to make a smooth slurry, ensuring there are no lumps.
- 8. Gradually add the cornstarch slurry to the simmering soup, stirring continuously until the soup thickens to your desired consistency.
- 9. Add Vinegar: Stir in the vinegar. Taste and adjust the amount of vinegar if needed.
- 10. Serve: Turn off the heat. Pour the Sweet Corn Soup into soup bowls. Garnish with chopped green onions, if desired. Serve hot.

- 1. Corn Paste for Creaminess: Blending a portion of the corn kernels into a paste helps to naturally thicken the soup and gives it a creamier texture without adding actual cream.
- 2. Finely Chopped Vegetables: Ensure all vegetables are finely chopped so they cook quickly and evenly, and their flavors meld well into the soup.
- 3. Adjust Sweetness and Tang: The amount of sugar and vinegar can be adjusted according to your preference to achieve the perfect balance of sweet and tangy flavors characteristic of this soup.

# Recipe 136: Hakka Noodles

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For Noodles:		
Hakka Noodles	7 oz (200 g)	
Water (for boiling)	5 cups	
Oil (for noodles)	1 tablespoon	To prevent sticking after boiling
For Stir-Fry:		
Oil (for stir-fry)	2 tablespoons	
Garlic	1 tablespoon	Minced
Ginger	1 tablespoon	Minced
Green Chilies	2	Chopped
Onion	1 medium	Thinly sliced
Scallion Greens (Spring Onion Greens)	2 tablespoons	Chopped (plus 2 tbsp for garnish)
Green Cabbage	1 cup	Shredded
Carrots	1/2 cup	Julienne

Green Bell Pepper	1	Thinly sliced
Dark Soy Sauce	2 teaspoons	
White Vinegar	2 teaspoons	
Red Chili Sauce	2 teaspoons	
Green Chili Sauce	1 teaspoon	
Salt	1/2 teaspoon	Adjust to taste
Black Pepper Powder	1/4 teaspoon	

#### 1. Cook the Noodles:

- o In a large pot, bring 5 cups of water to a rolling boil.
- Add the Hakka noodles. Cook for 2–3 minutes or until just all dente (cooked through but still firm to the bite). Be careful not to overcook.
- Drain the noodles immediately in a colander. Rinse under running cold water to stop the cooking process.
- Toss the drained noodles with 1 tablespoon of oil to prevent them from sticking together. Set aside.
- 2. Prepare Vegetables: While the noodles are cooking or cooling, prepare all your vegetables: mince garlic and ginger, chop green chilies, thinly slice onion, shred cabbage, julienne carrots, and thinly slice green bell pepper. Chop scallion greens.
- 3. Stir-fry Vegetables and Sauces:
  - o Heat 2 tablespoons of oil in a large wok or cast iron pan over high heat.
  - Add minced garlic, minced ginger, and chopped green chilies. Sauté for 4–5 seconds until fragrant.
  - Add thinly sliced onions and cook for 5–8 seconds more.

- Add the shredded cabbage, julienned carrots, and sliced green bell pepper. Stir-fry over high heat for about 30 seconds. The vegetables should remain crisp.
- Add dark soy sauce, white vinegar, red chili sauce, green chili sauce, salt, and black pepper powder. Mix well.

#### 4. Add Noodles and Finish:

- o Add the cooked noodles to the wok with the vegetables and sauces.
- Using tongs or two spatulas, toss everything together gently but thoroughly until the noodles are well coated with the sauces and mixed with the vegetables.
- Continue to cook on high heat for another minute or two until everything is heated through.
- o Taste and adjust seasoning if necessary (salt, soy sauce, or chili sauce).
- Sprinkle with 2 tablespoons of chopped scallion greens.
- 5. Serve: Serve the Hakka Noodles hot, garnished with more chopped scallion greens if desired.

- Al Dente Noodles: Cook the noodles only until al dente. Rinsing them under cold water immediately after draining is crucial to stop the cooking process and prevent them from becoming mushy.
- 2. High Heat Stir-Frying: Authentic Hakka Noodles are stir-fried quickly on high heat. This keeps the vegetables crunchy and imparts a slight smoky flavor. Have all your ingredients prepped and ready before you start.
- 3. Don't Overcrowd the Wok: If making a large batch, cook in portions. Overcrowding the wok will lower the temperature, causing the ingredients to steam rather than stir-fry, resulting in soggy noodles and vegetables.

# Recipe 137: Garlic Noodles

# Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Spaghetti	8 oz	Or linguine, thin spaghetti, angel hair pasta
Garlic Cloves	4-6	Minced (approx. 2 tablespoons)
Unsalted Butter or Olive Oil	2 tablespoons	Use olive oil for vegan
Garlic Salt or Garlic Powder	2 teaspoons	
Hoisin Sauce or Vegetarian Oyster Sauce	4 tablespoons	Use Hoisin for vegan if oyster sauce contains fish
Water	2 cups	For Instant Pot method
Parmigiano Reggiano Cheese (Optional)	1/4 cup	Grated, for garnish
Optional Add-ins/Garnish:		
Sautéed/Steamed Vegetables	As desired	e.g., broccoli, zucchini, mushrooms

Step-by-Step Instructions

# Instant Pot Method:

- 1. Prepare Garlic: Mince the garlic cloves.
- 2. Sauté Garlic and Sauce Base: Set the Instant Pot to "Sauté" mode. Once it displays "HOT," add the butter (or olive oil).

- 3. Add the minced garlic and stir-fry for 1-2 minutes until it turns a light golden brown and fragrant. Be careful not to burn the garlic.
- 4. Add the Hoisin sauce (or vegetarian oyster sauce) and stir it in with the garlic.
- 5. Add Noodles and Water (Do Not Stir): Break the spagnetti strands in half. Spread them in one or two layers in the pot, using a crisscross pattern if layering to prevent sticking.
- 6. Add the garlic salt (or garlic powder) and 2 cups of water. Do not stir at this point. Gently press the noodles down with a spatula if needed to ensure they are mostly wet by the liquid, but avoid stirring.
- 7. Pressure Cook: Cancel "Sauté" mode. Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the pressure valve to "Sealing."
- 8. Select "Manual" or "Pressure Cook" mode and cook on High pressure for 5 minutes.
- 9. Release Pressure and Finish: Once the cooking cycle is complete, allow a natural pressure release for 2 minutes, then perform a quick release of any remaining pressure.
- 10. Carefully open the lid. Use tongs to stir the noodles well, separating any strands that may have stuck together. The sauce will thicken as you stir.
- Serve: Serve the Garlic Noodles hot. Garnish with grated Parmigiano Reggiano cheese, if desired. You can also toss in sautéed or steamed vegetables like broccoli, zucchini, or mushrooms.

### Stovetop Method:

- 1. Cook spaghetti or your chosen noodles according to package directions until al dente. Drain, reserving about 1/2 cup of pasta water.
- 2. While pasta is cooking, melt butter (or heat oil) in a large skillet over medium heat. Add minced garlic and cook until light golden brown (1-2 minutes).
- 3. Stir in Hoisin sauce (or vegetarian oyster sauce) and garlic salt/powder.
- 4. Add the cooked noodles to the skillet along with a splash of the reserved pasta water. Toss well to coat the noodles with the sauce. Add more pasta water if needed to reach desired consistency.
- 5. Serve hot, garnished with Parmesan cheese if desired.

#### **Expert Tips & Tricks**

1. Don't Burn Garlic: Sauté the garlic until it's light golden brown and fragrant. Burnt garlic will make the noodles bitter.

- 2. No Stirring Before Pressure Cooking (Instant Pot): When making pasta in the Instant Pot, especially long noodles like spaghetti, avoid stirring after adding the noodles and liquid before pressure cooking. This helps prevent clumping and potential "Burn" notices.
- 3. Vegan Adaptation: Easily make this dish vegan by using olive oil instead of butter and ensuring your Hoisin sauce or vegetarian oyster sauce is vegan-friendly.

# Recipe 138: Orange Cauliflower

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For Battered Cauliflower:		
Cauliflower	1 medium head	Cut into florets
All-Purpose Flour	1 cup	
Water or Milk	1 cup	Use plant-based milk for vegan
Salt	1/2 teaspoon	
Garlic Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
Black Pepper	1/4 teaspoon	
Panko Breadcrumbs	1 cup	
For the Orange Sauce:		
Oil (neutral)	2 teaspoons	Canola or vegetable
Dried Red Chilies	2-3	Broken into pieces (adjust to taste)
Garlic	2 cloves	Minced
Ginger	1-inch piece	Grated

Fresh Orange Juice	1 cup	
Soy Sauce or Tamari	2 tablespoons	Use Tamari for gluten-free
Rice Vinegar	1 tablespoon	
Sugar (Brown or Coconut)	1/4 cup	Adjust to taste
Cornstarch	1 tablespoon	
Water (for cornstarch slurry)	2 tablespoons	
Sesame Oil (optional)	1 teaspoon	For finishing sauce
For Garnish (Optional):		
Sliced Scallions	As needed	
Sesame Seeds	As needed	

- 1. Prepare the Batter and Cauliflower:
  - o Wash and cut the cauliflower into bite-sized florets.
  - o In a large bowl, whisk together the all-purpose flour, water (or milk), salt, garlic powder, and black pepper until a smooth batter is formed.
  - Add the cauliflower florets to the batter and toss gently to ensure all florets are completely coated.
  - o Place the panko breadcrumbs in a separate shallow bowl or plate.
  - One by one, take each battered cauliflower floret, let any excess batter drip off, and then roll it in the panko breadcrumbs until fully coated. Place the coated florets on a plate.
- 2. Cook the Cauliflower (Choose one method):

### Air Fryer Method:

- Preheat your air fryer to 400°F (200°C).
- Arrange the panko-coated cauliflower florets in a single layer in the air fryer basket (work in batches if necessary to avoid overcrowding). Lightly spray the tops with oil if desired for extra crispiness.
- Air fry for 12–15 minutes, shaking the basket or flipping the florets halfway through, until they are golden brown and crispy.

# Oven Method:

- Preheat your oven to 425°F (220°C). Line a baking sheet with parchment paper or lightly grease a wire rack placed on a baking sheet.
- Arrange the coated florets in a single layer on the prepared baking sheet/rack.
- Bake for 25–30 minutes, flipping halfway through, until golden brown and crispy.

### 3. Make the Orange Sauce:

- While the cauliflower is cooking, prepare the orange sauce. In a small saucepan, heat 2 teaspoons of neutral oil over medium heat.
- Add the broken dried red chilies and sauté for about 20 seconds until fragrant (be careful not to burn them).
- o Add the minced garlic and grated ginger. Sauté for another 30 seconds until aromatic.
- Pour in the fresh orange juice, soy sauce (or tamari), rice vinegar, and sugar. Bring the mixture to a light boil, stirring occasionally.
- In a small separate bowl, mix the cornstarch with 2 tablespoons of water to create a smooth slurry.
- Stir the cornstarch slurry into the boiling orange sauce. Continue to cook, stirring constantly, for 1–2 minutes, until the sauce thickens into a glossy, sticky glaze.
- o If using, stir in the sesame oil. Turn off the heat.

### 4. Combine and Serve:

- Once the cauliflower is crispy and cooked, immediately transfer the hot florets to a large bowl.
- o Pour the prepared orange sauce over the cauliflower and toss gently until all the florets are well coated.

- o Garnish with sliced scallions and sesame seeds, if desired.
- o Serve immediately for the best crispy-sticky texture, often with rice or noodles.

- 1. Fresh Orange Juice is Best: Using freshly squeezed orange juice makes a significant difference in the flavor of the sauce compared to bottled juice.
- 2. Panko for Crunch: Panko breadcrumbs provide a superior crunch compared to regular breadcrumbs. Ensure the cauliflower is well-coated for maximum crispiness.
- 3. Serve Immediately: Orange Cauliflower is best enjoyed as soon as it's tossed in the sauce. The crispy coating will start to soften over time as it absorbs the sauce.

# Recipe 139: Kung Pao Tofu

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments	
Extra Firm Tofu	14 oz	Pressed and cut into 3/4 inch cubes	
Cornstarch (for tofu coating)	2 tablespoons		
Oil (for frying/air frying tofu)	3 tablespoons	Or cooking spray if air frying	
For the Sauce:			
Soy Sauce or Tamari	2 tablespoons	Use Tamari for gluten-free	
Hoisin Sauce	2 tablespoons		
Rice Vinegar	2 tablespoons		
Water	1/4 cup	For sauce	
Cornstarch (for sauce)	2 tablespoons		
For Stir-Fry:			
Oil (for stir-fry)	1 tablespoon		
Sichuan Peppercorns (optional)	1 teaspoon	Or 3-4 Thai green chilies, slit	
Dried Whole Red Chilies	3		

Green Onions (Scallions)	2	Chopped; white and green parts separated	
Garlic Cloves	5	Minced	
Fresh Ginger	1 inch piece	Finely chopped	
Red Bell Pepper	1	Cut into 3/4 inch pieces	
Green Bell Pepper	1	Cut into 3/4 inch pieces	
Roasted Unsalted Peanuts	1/2 cup		
Garnish (Optional):			
Green parts of Scallions	Reserved		
Fresh Cilantro	Chopped	_	

#### 1. Press and Prepare Tofu:

- Press the extra firm tofu for at least 15 minutes to remove excess moisture. Cut the pressed tofu into 3/4 inch cubes.
- o In a bowl, add the tofu cubes and sprinkle with 2 tablespoons of cornstarch. Gently toss the cubes to coat them evenly with cornstarch.

#### 2. Crisp the Tofu (Choose one method):

- Shallow Fry: Heat 3 tablespoons of oil in a wok or large skillet over medium-high heat.
   Once hot, add the cornstarch-coated tofu cubes. Fry, turning occasionally, until all sides are golden brown and crispy. Remove from wok and set aside on a paper towellined plate.
- Air Fry: Preheat air fryer to 400°F (200°C). Lightly spray the tofu cubes with oil or cooking spray. Arrange in a single layer in the air fryer basket. Air fry for 10-15 minutes, shaking the basket halfway, until golden and crispy.

#### 3. Prepare the Sauce:

 While the tofu is cooking (or before), in a small bowl, whisk together soy sauce (or tamari), hoisin sauce, rice vinegar, 1/4 cup water, and 2 tablespoons of cornstarch.
 Ensure there are no lumps. Set aside.

#### 4. Prepare Aromatics and Vegetables:

Finely chop the white and green parts of the spring onions (keeping them separate),
 mince the garlic, and finely chop the ginger. Cut the bell peppers into 3/4 inch pieces.

#### 5. Stir-Fry:

- o Heat 1 tablespoon of oil in the same wok or a large skillet over medium-high heat.
- Add Sichuan peppercorns (if using) or slit Thai green chilies, and the dried whole red chilies. Stir-fry for about 30 seconds until fragrant.
- Add the white parts of the chopped green onions, minced garlic, and chopped ginger.
   Cook for about a minute until aromatic.
- Add the diced red and green bell peppers. Stir-fry for 1-2 minutes until they are tendercrisp (they should still have some crunch).

#### 6. Combine and Thicken:

- o Add the crisped tofu back to the wok.
- Give the prepared sauce mixture a final whisk and pour it into the wok over the tofu and vegetables.
- Stir gently to coat everything evenly with the sauce. Cook, stirring, until the sauce thickens to a glossy consistency (about 1-2 minutes).
- Lastly, stir in the roasted unsalted peanuts.

#### 7. Serve:

- Garnish with the reserved green parts of the scallions and fresh chopped cilantro, if desired.
- Serve immediately with steamed Jasmine rice or noodles.

- 1. Press Tofu Thoroughly: Removing excess water by pressing the tofu is crucial for achieving a crispy texture when fried or air-fried.
- 2. Cornstarch Coating for Tofu: Coating the tofu cubes in cornstarch before frying/air frying helps create a wonderfully crispy exterior.

3.	Don't Overcook Bell Peppers: Stir-fry the bell peppers briefly so they retain their vibrant color and satisfying crunch. They should be tender-crisp, not mushy.

# Recipe 140: Burnt Garlic Noodles

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Noodles	1 pack	Eggless recommended, e.g., Ching's or similar
Olive Oil	1 tablespoon	
Garlic	1 big pod	Peeled
Green Chilies	2	Adjust to taste
Cilantro	1 medium bunch	Fresh
Green Onion (Scallions)	1 bunch	
Cabbage (Purple or Green)	2 cups	Sliced
Green Bell Pepper	1	Julienned
Carrot	1	Julienned
Onion	1	Thinly sliced
Vinegar	1 tablespoon	White or rice vinegar
Black Pepper	1 tablespoon	Freshly crushed

Salt	To taste	

- 1. Cook Noodles: In a large pot of boiling water, cook the noodles according to package instructions until al dente. Drain well, rinse with cold water to stop the cooking process, and toss with a little oil to prevent sticking. Set aside.
- 2. Prepare Garlic-Chili-Cilantro Paste:
  - Peel the garlic cloves from the big pod.
  - In a food processor, combine the peeled garlic cloves, green chilies (adjust quantity to your spice preference), and the fresh cilantro (stems and leaves).
  - o Process to make a coarse paste. Set aside.
- 3. Prepare Vegetables: Slice the cabbage, julienne the bell pepper and carrot, and thinly slice the onion. Chop the green onions.
- 4. Stir-Fry (Burnt Garlic Technique):
  - o Heat 1 tablespoon of olive oil in a large skillet or wok over medium-high heat.
  - Add the prepared garlic-chili-cilantro paste. Cook, stirring frequently, until the garlic in the paste starts to turn light golden brown and becomes very fragrant. This is the "burnt garlic" step, but be careful not to actually burn it to bitterness – aim for a deep golden hue.
- 5. Add Vegetables: Add the sliced cabbage, julienned green bell pepper, julienned carrot, and thinly sliced onion to the wok.
- 6. Stir-fry the vegetables with the burnt garlic paste for 3-4 minutes, or until they are tender-crisp. They should still have some crunch.
- 7. Combine with Noodles: Add the cooked noodles to the wok with the vegetables.
- 8. Pour in the vinegar. Season with salt to taste and freshly crushed black pepper.
- 9. Toss everything together gently but thoroughly to combine and ensure the noodles are well coated with the flavors. Cook for another 1-2 minutes until heated through.
- 10. Serve: Garnish with chopped green onions. Serve the Burnt Garlic Noodles hot.

- 1. Control Garlic Browning: The "burnt garlic" flavor is key, but it's a fine line. Cook the garlic-cilantro-chili paste until the garlic is a deep golden brown and very aromatic. If it actually burns black, it will taste bitter.
- 2. Noodle Choice: While the recipe suggests eggless noodles like Ching's, you can use other types of long noodles like spaghetti or linguine if Hakka-style noodles aren't available. Adjust cooking time accordingly.
- 3. Freshly Crushed Black Pepper: Using freshly crushed black pepper will provide a more pungent and aromatic flavor compared to pre-ground pepper.

## Recipe 141: Vegetable Manchurian

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For Manchurian Balls:		
Cabbage	1 cup	Grated
Carrot	1 medium	Grated
Spring Onions	2-3	Finely chopped (greens and whites separated)
Ginger-Garlic Paste	1 tablespoon	
Soy Sauce (for balls)	1 tablespoon	
All-Purpose Flour (Maida)	3/4 cup	
Cornflour (Cornstarch)	1/2 cup	
Salt	To taste	For balls
Black Pepper Powder	To taste	For balls
Oil	For deep frying or air frying	
For the Gravy:		
Oil (for gravy)	2 tablespoons	

Garlic	1 tablespoon	Finely chopped
Ginger	1 tablespoon	Finely chopped
Green Chilies	2	Slit or chopped
Spring Onion Whites	2 tablespoons	Chopped
Red Onion (optional)	1/4 cup	Diced
Red Bell Pepper (optional)	1/4 cup	Diced
Green Bell Pepper (optional)	1/4 cup	Diced
Soy Sauce (for gravy)	1 tablespoon	
Red Chili Sauce	1 tablespoon	
Tomato Ketchup	2 tablespoons	
Vinegar	1 teaspoon	
Salt (for gravy)	To taste	
Black Pepper Powder (for gravy)	1/4 teaspoon	
Water	1 cup	
Cornflour Slurry (optional)	1 tablespoon cornflour + 2 tbsp water	For thickening gravy

Spring Onion Greens (for garnish)	2 tablespoons	Chopped

#### 1. Make the Manchurian Balls:

- o In a large bowl, combine the grated cabbage, grated carrot, finely chopped spring onion whites (reserve greens for garnish), ginger-garlic paste, 1 tablespoon soy sauce, salt to taste, and black pepper powder to taste.
- o Add the all-purpose flour (maida) and cornflour to the vegetable mixture.
- Mix everything well to form a firm dough-like consistency. If the mixture is too wet, add a little more cornflour. Avoid adding extra water as the vegetables will release moisture.
- Grease your palms lightly with oil. Take small portions of the mixture and roll them into smooth, small balls (about 1-1.5 inches in diameter).

#### 2. Cook the Manchurian Balls (Choose one method):

- Deep Frying: Heat oil for deep frying in a kadai or deep pan over medium heat. Once the
  oil is hot, gently drop the Manchurian balls in batches. Fry them, turning occasionally,
  until they are golden brown and crisp. Remove with a slotted spoon and drain on paper
  towels.
- Air Frying: Preheat your air fryer to 400°F (200°C). Lightly spray the Manchurian balls with oil. Arrange them in a single layer in the air fryer basket. Air fry for 10–12 minutes, shaking the basket or flipping the balls halfway through, until they are golden brown and crispy.

#### 3. Make the Gravy:

- Heat 2 tablespoons of oil in a separate large pan or wok over medium-high heat.
- Add finely chopped garlic, finely chopped ginger, and slit/chopped green chilies. Sauté for about 30 seconds until fragrant.
- Add 2 tablespoons of chopped spring onion whites (and optional diced red onion/bell peppers if using). Stir-fry for 1-2 minutes until slightly softened.
- Pour in 1 tablespoon soy sauce, red chili sauce, tomato ketchup, and vinegar. Add salt to taste and 1/4 teaspoon black pepper powder. Stir well.
- Add 1 cup of water and bring the sauce to a boil.

o If you prefer a thicker gravy, mix 1 tablespoon of cornflour with 2 tablespoons of water to make a smooth slurry. Gradually add the cornflour slurry to the boiling sauce, stirring continuously, until the gravy thickens to your desired consistency. Cook for another 1-2 minutes.

#### 4. Combine and Serve:

- o Add the fried or air-fried Manchurian balls to the prepared gravy.
- Toss gently to coat the balls evenly with the sauce. Be careful not to break the balls.
   Simmer for just a minute or two to allow the balls to absorb some of the sauce.
- o Garnish with chopped spring onion greens.
- Serve Vegetable Manchurian hot with fried rice, Hakka noodles, or as an appetizer.

- 1. Don't Add Water to Ball Mixture: Avoid adding water when making the Manchurian ball mixture. The moisture from the vegetables and soy sauce should be sufficient. If it's too dry, add a tiny bit of water; if too wet, add a bit more cornflour.
- 2. Crispy Balls: For crispy Manchurian balls, ensure they are fried or air-fried until nicely golden and crisp. Adding them to the gravy just before serving helps retain some of Atheir crispness.
- 3. Sauce Consistency: Adjust the thickness of the gravy by using more or less cornflour slurry. For a "dry" Manchurian (less gravy), reduce the amount of water and skip or use less cornflour slurry.

## Chapter 15: Indian Breads & Accompaniments

No Indian meal feels truly complete without the presence of freshly made breads and thoughtfully paired accompaniments. Indian breads, in their delightful diversity, are the perfect vehicles for scooping up rich curries, flavorful dals, and spicy sabjis, each type offering a unique texture and taste experience. From the fluffy, oven-baked Naan to the deep-fried, puffy Puri, these breads are an integral part of the culinary tapestry, varying wonderfully from region to region and household to household. They are not just side dishes but essential components that enhance the entire dining experience.

The world of Indian breads is vast, encompassing unleavened flatbreads cooked on a griddle like roti and paratha, leavened breads like naan and kulcha often traditionally cooked in a tandoor, and deepfried delights like puri and bhatura that puff up into golden orbs. These breads can be plain, allowing the flavors of the main dishes to shine, or they can be an adventure in themselves, stuffed with spiced potatoes, paneer, or lentils. Alongside these breads, accompaniments like Raita – a cooling yogurt-based dish – provide a refreshing contrast, balancing the heat and richness of the meal, cleansing the palate, and aiding digestion.

In this chapter, we will explore the art of making some of the most beloved Indian breads and a classic accompaniment. You'll learn to create versatile Naan with various flavorings, the delightful deep-fried Puri, the ever-popular Paratha with its potential for delicious stuffings, wholesome Whole Wheat Kulcha, and the cooling Raita. We'll also cover the famous Bhatura, often paired with spicy chole. Mastering these recipes will bring the authentic experience of an Indian feast right into your home kitchen, allowing you to savor the joy of freshly made breads that perfectly complement your culinary creations.

# Recipe 142: Naan Variations

Category	Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For the Dough:			
	All-Purpose Flour or Maida	2 cups	
	Salt	½ tsp	
	Sugar	2 tsp	
	Instant Yeast	2 ¼ tsp	
	Oil	3 tbsp	Olive oil or any preferred neutral oil
	Warm Milk	¾ cup	Use soy or other non-dairy milk for vegan
For Garnishing (Variations):			
	Butter or Ghee	As needed	For basting (use oil for vegan)
	Garlic	2 tbsp	Finely chopped (for Garlic Naan)
	Nigella Seeds (Kalonji) or Black Sesame Seeds	1 tbsp	Optional

Fresh Cilantro	¼ cup	Chopped (for Garlic- Cilantro Naan)
Other Fresh Herbs (optional)	As desired	e.g., rosemary, mint
Cheese (optional)	As desired	Shredded, for topping

1. Activate Yeast: If using active dry yeast instead of instant, dissolve sugar in warm milk, add yeast, and let it sit for 5-10 minutes until frothy. If using instant yeast, you can mix it directly with the dry ingredients.

#### 2. Knead the Dough:

- In a large bowl or the bowl of a stand mixer, combine flour, salt, and sugar. If using instant yeast, add it here.
- o Add oil and the warm milk (with activated yeast if using that method).
- Knead for 6-8 minutes (by hand or with a dough hook) until a soft, smooth, and elastic dough forms. The dough should be slightly sticky.

#### 3. First Rise:

- Lightly grease a bowl. Place the dough in the bowl, turning it to coat with oil.
- Cover with a damp cloth or plastic wrap. Let it rise in a warm place for about 1 hour, or until doubled in size. (Alternatively, use the Instant Pot "Yogurt" mode for proofing).

#### 4. Shape the Naan:

- Gently punch down the risen dough. Divide it into 8 equal portions and roll each into a ball.
- On a lightly floured surface, take one dough ball and roll it into an oval shape, about 10 inches long and 6 inches wide, and about 1/8 inch thick.

#### 5. Cook the Naan:

 Heat a tawa (Indian griddle) or a heavy-bottomed skillet (cast iron works well) over medium-high heat until very hot.

- You can cook naan by placing it directly on the hot tawa. Cook one side for 1-2 minutes until bubbles start to form and the underside has golden brown spots.
- Flip the naan and cook the other side for another 1-2 minutes until it's cooked through and has characteristic charred spots. (Traditionally, one side is moistened with water and stuck to the side of a tandoor, and the other side is exposed to direct heat, which can be mimicked by holding the naan with tongs over a direct gas flame for a few seconds after tawa cooking, but be very careful).

#### 6. Apply Variations & Serve:

- o Plain Naan: Once cooked, brush immediately with melted butter or ghee.
- Garlic Naan: Brush with melted butter and sprinkle generously with finely chopped fresh garlic and chopped cilantro. You can also press some garlic and cilantro onto the rolled dough before cooking.
- o Butter Naan: Simply brush generously with melted butter.
- Herb Naan: Brush with butter and sprinkle with other fresh herbs like chopped rosemary or mint.
- Kalonji/Sesame Naan: Sprinkle nigella seeds or sesame seeds on the rolled dough and press them in gently before cooking.
- Cheese Naan: Sprinkle shredded cheese on one half of the rolled dough, fold it over, seal the edges, and then roll it out gently again before cooking. Or, sprinkle cheese on top during the last minute of cooking on the tawa.
- Serve hot with your favorite Indian curries or dals.

- 1. Dough Consistency: Ensure the dough is soft and slightly sticky. This helps in achieving soft and fluffy naan. Don't skip the kneading process as it develops the gluten.
- High Heat for Cooking: Naan is traditionally cooked at very high temperatures in a tandoor.
   Mimic this by using a very hot tawa or cast-iron skillet. This helps the naan puff up and get those characteristic charred spots quickly.
- 3. Even Rolling: Roll the dough evenly to ensure consistent cooking. If it's too thick in some places and too thin in others, it won't cook uniformly.

## Recipe 143: Puri

#### Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments	
Whole Wheat Flour (Atta)	3 cups	Do not use all-purpose flour	
Oil (for dough)	1 teaspoon	Light olive oil, canola, or vegetable oil	
Salt	1 tsp		
Caraway Seeds (Ajwain)	1 tsp	Optional, for flavor	
Water	1 1/4 cup (approx.)	Adjust as needed	
Oil	For deep frying		

Step-by-Step Instructions

#### 1. Prepare the Dough:

- In a large mixing bowl, combine the whole wheat flour, salt, and caraway seeds (if using).
- o Add 1 teaspoon of oil to the flour mixture.
- Gradually add water, a little at a time, and begin to knead. The goal is to form a firm and stiff dough, but it should still be smooth. Add just enough water to bring the dough together.
- o Knead the dough for 5-7 minutes until it is smooth and firm.
- Cover the dough with a damp cloth or plastic wrap and let it rest for at least 15-20 minutes. This allows the gluten to relax, making the puris easier to roll.

#### 2. Roll Out the Puris:

o After resting, knead the dough again for a minute.

- Divide the dough into small, equal-sized balls (about the size of a small lime or golf ball).
- Take one dough ball and roll it between your palms to make it smooth.
- You can lightly grease your rolling surface and rolling pin with a drop of oil, or lightly dust the dough ball with flour to prevent sticking.
- o Roll out the dough ball into a thin, round disc, about 3-4 inches in diameter. Try to roll it evenly and not too thin, as very thin puris might not puff up well.

#### 3. Fry the Puris:

- Heat oil for deep frying in a kadai (Indian wok) or a deep, heavy-bottomed pan over medium-high heat. The oil should be sufficiently hot but not smoking. To test if the oil is ready, drop a tiny piece of dough into it; if it sizzles and rises to the surface quickly without browning too fast, the oil is at the right temperature.
- o Carefully slide one rolled-out puri into the hot oil.
- Using a slotted spoon, gently press the puri down into the oil. This helps it to puff up. It should puff up almost immediately if the oil temperature and dough are correct.
- Once it puffs up and the bottom side is light golden (this happens quickly, in about 30-60 seconds), gently flip it over.
- o Fry the other side for another 30-60 seconds until it's also light golden brown.
- Remove the puffed puri with the slotted spoon, allowing excess oil to drain back into the pan.
- o Place the fried puri on a plate lined with paper towels to absorb any extra oil.
- o Repeat the rolling and frying process for the remaining dough balls.
- 4. Serve: Serve puris hot with your favorite Indian curries like Aloo Matar, Chole, or with sweet dishes like Kheer or Shrikhand.

- 1. Firm Dough is Key: The dough for puris must be firm and stiff, not soft like chapati dough. This prevents the puris from absorbing too much oil and helps them puff up properly.
- 2. Hot Oil, Quick Fry: Ensure the oil is adequately hot before you start frying. Puris cook very quickly. If the oil isn't hot enough, they will soak up oil and become greasy; if it's too hot, they will brown too fast and might not puff.
- 3. Gentle Pressing for Puffing: When the puri is in the hot oil, gently press it down with the back of a slotted spoon. This encourages it to puff up into a beautiful sphere.

# Recipe 144: Paratha (Stuffed Options)

Category	Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For the Dough:			
	Whole wheat flour	2 cups	
	Water	0.75 cup	
	Salt	1 teaspoon	
	Ghee or oil	2 tablespoons	
For the Stuffing (Potato - Aloo Paratha example):			
	Boiled potatoes	3 medium	Mashed
	Cumin seeds	0.5 teaspoon	
	Coriander powder	1 teaspoon	
	Red chili powder	0.5 teaspoon	
	Garam masala	0.5 teaspoon	
	Chopped green chilies	1 tablespoon	

Chopped fresh coriander leaves	2 tablespoons	
Salt (for stuffing)	1 teaspoon	
Oil (for sautéing stuffing spices)	2 tablespoons	Optional, can mix spices directly

#### 1. Prepare the Dough:

- o In a mixing bowl, combine whole wheat flour and 1 teaspoon of salt.
- Gradually add water and 2 tablespoons of ghee or oil. Knead the mixture until it forms a smooth and soft dough.
- Cover the dough and let it rest for at least 15-20 minutes.

#### 2. Prepare the Stuffing (Example: Aloo Paratha):

- While the dough is resting, prepare the stuffing. Peel the boiled potatoes and mash them thoroughly in a large mixing bowl.
- You can either mix the spices directly into the mashed potatoes or lightly sauté them first. For sautéing: Heat 2 tablespoons of oil in a small pan, add cumin seeds. Once they splutter, add coriander powder, red chili powder, and garam masala. Sauté for a few seconds.
- Add the sautéed spices (or dry spices directly), chopped green chilies, chopped fresh coriander leaves, and 1 teaspoon of salt to the mashed potatoes. Mix all the ingredients well until they are evenly incorporated. Let the stuffing cool completely.

#### 3. Portion and Stuff the Dough:

- Divide the rested dough into 8 equal portions. Shape each portion into a smooth ball.
- Take one dough ball and lightly dust it with flour. Using a rolling pin, roll it out into a small circle, approximately 4-5 inches in diameter.
- o Place 2 to 3 tablespoons of the potato filling in the center of the rolled-out dough circle.
- Carefully gather the edges of the dough towards the center over the filling. Pinch the
  edges together to seal the dough completely, ensuring the filling is fully enclosed.
   Gently flatten the stuffed ball.

#### 4. Roll Out Stuffed Paratha:

- Lightly dust the stuffed dough ball with flour again.
- Carefully roll it out again into a larger circle, about 6-7 inches in diameter. Be gentle during this step to avoid tearing the dough and exposing the filling.

#### 5. Cook the Paratha:

- o Heat a tawa (griddle) or a flat skillet over medium heat.
- Place the rolled paratha onto the hot tawa. Cook for about a minute, or until small bubbles begin to appear on the surface and the underside has light golden spots.
- Flip the paratha over. Apply a light drizzle of ghee or oil around the edges and over the surface of the paratha. Cook until golden brown spots appear on the underside.
- Flip the paratha again and repeat the process of applying ghee/oil and cooking until the other side is also golden brown and cooked through. Press gently with a spatula for even cooking.

#### 6. Serve:

- o Remove the cooked paratha from the tawa.
- o Repeat the process with the remaining dough portions and potato filling.
- Serve the freshly prepared stuffed parathas hot with creamy yogurt, tangy pickle, or your favorite curry.

- Dough Consistency: The dough should be soft but not too sticky, making it easy to roll and stuff.
   If it's too dry, the parathas might be hard; if too wet, they'll be difficult to handle.
- 2. Cool Stuffing: Ensure the stuffing is completely cool before you start filling the parathas. Warm stuffing can make the dough sticky and cause it to tear while rolling.
- 3. Even Rolling: Roll the stuffed paratha gently and evenly from the center outwards to distribute the filling uniformly and prevent tearing.

# Recipe 145: Whole Wheat Kulcha

## Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Whole Wheat Flour (Chapathi atta)	2 cups	
Baking Powder	3/4 teaspoon	
Baking Soda	1/4 teaspoon	
Garlic	3 tablespoons	Minced, or as per taste
Sugar	1 tablespoon	
Olive Oil / Canola Oil / Ghee	1 tablespoon	For dough
Yogurt	1/2 cup	Plain
Cilantro	As needed	Chopped, for dough and garnish
Salt	To taste	
Sesame Seeds (Til)	For sprinkling	Optional
Black Seeds (Kalonji)	For sprinkling	Optional
Butter	For brushing	After cooking
Garlic Powder (optional)	For sprinkling	With butter

Step-by-Step Instructions

#### 1. Prepare the Dough:

- In a large mixing bowl, combine the whole wheat flour, baking powder, baking soda, sugar, and salt. Mix these dry ingredients well.
- Add the minced garlic, chopped cilantro (for dough), yogurt, and 1 tablespoon of oil (or ghee) to the dry mixture.
- Begin to knead the dough, adding a spoonful of water at a time if necessary, until it comes together to form a soft and pliable dough. Be careful not to add too much water at once.
- Transfer the dough to a lightly floured surface and knead well for a few minutes until it's smooth.

#### 2. Rest the Dough:

 Place the kneaded dough back into the bowl. Cover the bowl with a damp cloth or plastic wrap and let it rest in a warm place for 15-20 minutes. This allows the leavening agents to work and the gluten to relax.

#### 3. Shape and Roll Kulchas:

- After resting, gently punch down the dough. Divide the dough into small, equal-sized balls.
- o Take one ball of dough. Lightly dust your rolling surface and rolling pin with whole wheat flour.
- Roll the dough ball into a small oval or round shape, about 4-5 inches in diameter and not too thin.

#### 4. Cook the Kulchas:

- Heat a non-stick pan or tawa (griddle) over medium heat. Grease it lightly with a little oil or ghee.
- o Carefully place the rolled kulcha on the hot pan.
- Cook for about 1-2 minutes on one side, or until you see bubbles starting to form on the surface and the underside has light golden spots.
- Flip the kulcha and cook the other side for another 1-2 minutes until it puffs up slightly and is cooked through with golden brown spots. You can gently press the kulcha with a flat spatula to help it cook evenly.

#### 5. Garnish and Serve:

o Once cooked, remove the kulcha from the pan.

- o Immediately brush the hot kulcha generously with melted butter.
- Sprinkle with sesame seeds, black seeds (kalonji), more chopped cilantro, and a pinch of garlic powder (if using). You can gently press these onto the buttered surface.
- Serve the Whole Wheat Kulchas hot with your favorite rich gravy dishes like Chole, Dal Makhani, or Paneer curries.

- 1. Soft Dough: Ensure your dough is soft and pliable. If it's too stiff, the kulchas might turn out hard. Add water gradually while kneading.
- 2. Medium Heat Cooking: Cook the kulchas on a medium flame. If the heat is too high, they might cook too quickly on the outside and remain raw inside. If too low, they might become hard.
- 3. Resting is Important: Don't skip the resting time for the dough. It helps the kulchas become softer and fluffier.

# Recipe 146: Raita

## Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Plain Yogurt	1 cup	Greek yogurt can be used for thicker raita
Cucumber (optional)	1/4 cup	Grated or finely diced
Fresh Mint (optional)	1 tablespoon	Finely chopped
Roasted Cumin Powder	1/4 teaspoon	
Ground Coriander (optional)	1/4 teaspoon	
Salt	To taste	
Black Pepper (optional)	To taste	
Black Salt (Kala Namak, optional)	Pinch	For a tangy flavor
Fresh Cilantro (optional)	For garnish	Chopped
Boondi (optional)	1/4 cup	Soaked in warm water for 5 mins then squeezed, or added directly for crunch

Step-by-Step Instructions

- 1. Prepare Yogurt: In a mixing bowl, add the plain yogurt. Whisk it well until it's smooth and creamy. If using Greek yogurt and you prefer a thinner consistency, you can whisk in a tablespoon or two of water or milk.
- 2. Add Vegetables/Boondi (Optional):
  - If using cucumber, grate it and gently squeeze out any excess water. Add it to the whisked yogurt.
  - o If using fresh mint, finely chop it and add to the yogurt.
  - If using boondi, you can either soak it in warm water for 5 minutes, gently squeeze out the water, and then add it for softer boondi, or add it directly to the yogurt just before serving for a crunchy texture.
- 3. Add Spices: Add the roasted cumin powder, ground coriander (if using), salt to taste, black pepper (if using), and a pinch of black salt (if using) to the yogurt mixture.
- 4. Mix Well: Stir all the ingredients together gently until everything is well combined.
- 5. Chill (Recommended): For the best flavor, cover the raita and chill it in the refrigerator for at least 15-30 minutes before serving. This allows the flavors to meld.
- 6. Garnish and Serve: Garnish with chopped fresh cilantro if desired. Serve the raita chilled as an accompaniment to Indian meals like biryani, pulao, curries, or with parathas.

- 1. Roasted Cumin Powder: Using freshly roasted and ground cumin seeds (or good quality store-bought roasted cumin powder) significantly enhances the flavor of the raita.
- Squeeze Cucumber: If adding cucumber, grating it and then squeezing out the excess water prevents the raita from becoming too watery.
- 3. Chill Before Serving: Raita tastes best when served chilled. Chilling allows the flavors to develop and meld together.

## Recipe 147: Bhatura

## Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
All-Purpose Flour (Maida)	2 cups	
Fine Semolina (Sooji)	1 tablespoon	Optional, bread flour can be a substitute
Sugar	1/2 teaspoon	
Salt	1/2 teaspoon	
Baking Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
Baking Soda	1/2 teaspoon	
Plain Yogurt	4 tablespoons	Greek yogurt or any non-flavored, full-fat yogurt preferred
Water	1/2 cup (approx.)	Adjust as needed
Oil (for dough)	2 tablespoons	Olive oil or canola oil
Oil	For deep frying	

Step-by-Step Instructions

## 1. Prepare the Dough:

o In a large mixing bowl (or the bowl of a stand mixer with a dough hook), combine the all-purpose flour, fine semolina (if using), sugar, salt, baking powder, and baking soda. Mix the dry ingredients well.

- Add 2 tablespoons of oil and the yogurt to the dry mixture.
- Gradually add water while kneading. Start with about 1/2 cup and add more, a little at a time, if needed. Knead until you form a dough that is neither too hard nor too soft – it should be pliable.
- o If using a stand mixer, knead on low speed for 5-6 minutes. If kneading by hand, knead for 7-8 minutes on a lightly floured surface until the dough is smooth and soft.

#### 2. Rest the Dough:

- o Cover the dough with a wet cloth or plastic wrap to prevent it from drying out.
- Let the dough rest in a warm, dark place for at least 1 hour. For best results, the source suggests placing it in an Instant Pot on "Yogurt" mode (Normal Heat) for 1 hour. This helps the dough to ferment slightly and become airy.

#### 3. Roll the Bhaturas:

- o After the resting period, gently punch down the dough.
- Divide the dough into 10 equal portions and roll each portion into a smooth ball.
- Take one dough ball. You can lightly grease your rolling surface or the dough ball with a tiny bit of oil to make rolling easier and prevent sticking.
- Roll the dough ball into an oval shape, approximately 10 inches long and 6 inches wide.
   Try to roll it evenly.

#### 4. Fry the Bhaturas:

- Heat enough oil for deep frying in a heavy-bottomed wok (kadai) or a deep pan over medium-high heat. The oil should be hot but not smoking. To test, drop a small piece of dough into the oil; it should sizzle and rise to the surface quickly.
- o Once the oil is hot, reduce the heat to medium.
- Carefully slide one rolled-out bhatura into the hot oil.
- Using a mesh ladle or slotted spoon, gently press the bhatura down into the oil. This helps it to puff up.
- Once the bhatura puffs up and the underside turns golden brown (this happens quickly),
   flip it over and cook the other side until it's also golden brown.
- Remove the fried bhatura with the slotted spoon, allowing excess oil to drain back into the wok.
- o Place the bhatura on a plate lined with paper towels to absorb any extra oil.

- Repeat the rolling and frying process for the remaining dough balls. Fry one bhatura at a time for best results.
- 5. Serve: Serve Bhaturas hot with Chole (chickpea curry), Chana Masala, or Pindi Chole.

- 1. Dough Consistency: The key to soft and puffy bhaturas is a well-kneaded, soft, and pliable dough. It shouldn't be too stiff or too sticky.
- 2. Oil Temperature for Frying: Ensure the oil is sufficiently hot before you start frying. If the oil is not hot enough, the bhaturas will absorb too much oil and become greasy. If it's too hot, they will brown too quickly and might not cook through or puff properly.
- 3. Resting the Dough: Allowing the dough to rest for at least an hour is important for the leavening agents to work and for the gluten to relax, resulting in softer, puffier bhaturas.

## Chapter 16: Sweet Endings (Desserts)

No culinary journey through India is truly complete without indulging in its rich and diverse array of desserts, locally known as "mithai." Indian sweets are far more than just a way to end a meal; they are an integral part of celebrations, festivals, religious ceremonies, and everyday expressions of hospitality and joy. Each sweet tells a story, reflecting regional traditions, seasonal bounties, and the artistry of Indian confectioners. From melt-in-your-mouth milk-based delicacies to rich, ghee-laden halwas and syrupy delights, the world of Indian desserts is a realm of exquisite sweetness and captivating aromas.

The sheer variety of Indian desserts is astounding, showcasing a creative use of ingredients like milk, lentils, grains, fruits, vegetables, nuts, and fragrant spices such as cardamom, saffron, and rose water. Techniques vary from slow-cooking milk for hours to create rich, condensed textures, to frying doughs that are then soaked in fragrant syrups, or patiently stirring ingredients to achieve the perfect consistency. These sweets are often adorned with edible silver leaf (vark), slivered nuts, or rose petals, making them as visually appealing as they are delicious.

In this chapter, we will explore how to create some of the most iconic and beloved Indian desserts in your own kitchen. We'll guide you through making classic Gulab Jamun, the comforting Gajar Halwa (carrot pudding), and the timeless Kheer (rice pudding). These recipes are designed to bring the authentic flavors and textures of traditional Indian sweets to your home, allowing you to share these delightful "sweet endings" with your loved ones on special occasions or simply as a heartwarming treat.

# Recipe 148: Gulab Jamun

Category	Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For Gulab Jamun Balls:			
	Full Fat Milk Powder	1/4 cup	
	All-Purpose Flour	1/4 cup	
	Baking Soda	1/8 tsp	
	Ghee or Oil	1 tbsp	For dough
	Milk	2-3 tbsp	
	Oil	For frying	
For Sugar Syrup:			
	Sugar	1 cup	White granulated
	Green Cardamom Pods	3	
	Water	1 ½ cup	
	Fresh Lemon Juice	½ tsp	
Garnish:			
	Crushed Pistachios	1 tbsp	

Dried Rose Petals	1 tbsp	

#### 1. Prep the Syrup:

- Heat a deep pot or pan over medium heat. Add the sugar, green cardamom pods, water, and lemon juice.
- Cook the syrup for about 10 minutes, or until it reaches a sticky consistency. Turn the
  heat off and allow the syrup to rest. The lemon juice helps prevent the syrup from
  solidifying as it cools.

#### 2. Prepare the Dough:

- Next, prepare the dough for the Gulab Jamun balls. (Detailed dough mixing steps are not fully provided in the snippet, but typically involves combining milk powder, all-purpose flour, baking soda, ghee/oil, and just enough milk to form a soft, smooth dough).
- Once the dough is ready, form it into small, smooth balls without any cracks.

#### 3. Fry the Dough Balls:

- Heat enough oil in a heavy-bottomed wok or fryer to submerge the balls. Set your burner to high heat to get the oil hot.
- When the oil is hot, reduce the heat from high to medium. Test the oil temperature: if a small piece of dough comes upward immediately without changing color, the temperature is correct. If it browns too quickly, the oil is too hot.
- Carefully slide 3 to 4 dough balls into the hot oil and then reduce the heat to low. It's
  important that the oil is hot when you drop the balls, but they need to be cooked on low
  heat to ensure the entire ball is cooked through.
- As they are cooking, use a mesh ladle to give the balls a gentle stir. Fry the balls until golden brown, which takes about 6 to 7 minutes.
- Carefully transfer the fried balls to the prepared sugar syrup. Allow them to soak for at least 2 hours.
- Repeat the frying process for the remaining balls, remembering to reheat the oil (then reduce to low) each time before adding new balls.

#### 4. Air Fry Gulab Jamun (Alternative Method):

- Follow the steps above to create the dough balls.
- o Preheat your air fryer to 350°F (175°C).
- o Transfer the balls to the air fryer basket, leaving some space between them, and spray the balls with cooking spray.

- Cook the balls for 5 minutes, then increase the heat to 400°F (200°C) and cook until golden brown (about 10-12 minutes more).
- Transfer to sugar syrup as above.
- 5. Garnish and Serve: Garnish with crushed pistachios and dried rose petals before serving.

- 1. Dough Ball Size: Make sure you don't make the dough balls too big, as they will double in size during frying and soaking.
- 2. Low Heat Frying: Once the oil is hot, reduce the heat to low when frying the Gulab Jamuns. This prevents burning and ensures they cook all the way through.
- 3. Lemon Juice in Syrup: Don't skip adding lemon juice to the sugar syrup; this is important to prevent the syrup from crystallizing as it cools.

## Recipe 149: Gajar Halwa

#### Ingredients

Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
Ghee	1/2 cup	Or coconut oil for vegan
Carrots	2 lb (approx. 8 cups)	Peeled and grated (Red carrots traditional, orange okay)
Milk	1 cup	Plain whole or low-fat; non-dairy for vegan (except coconut)
Sugar	3/4 cup	Regular/granulated
Milk Powder	1/2 cup	Or almond flour for vegan
Cardamom Powder	2 teaspoons	For richer taste and aroma
Sliced Almonds, Cashews, or Pistachios	10-12	For garnish
Golden Raisins	2 tbsp	Adds sweetness

Step-by-Step Instructions

#### Instant Pot Method:

- 1. Sauté Ghee, Raisins, and Cashews:
  - Turn your Instant Pot to Sauté mode. Once the screen displays "HOT," add the ghee (or coconut oil/vegan butter), golden raisins, and cashews (if using almonds/pistachios for garnish, you might add them at the end or toast separately).
  - o Sauté them for about 1 minute, then remove them from the Instant Pot and set aside.

#### 2. Cook Carrots:

 Next, add the grated carrots to the Instant Pot and cook for about 5 minutes, stirring frequently, until the carrots have started to wilt.

#### 3. Add Milk and Cardamom:

o Once the carrots have started to wilt, add the milk and cardamom powder.

#### 4. Pressure Cook:

- Close the lid of the Instant Pot, ensuring the pressure valve is set to sealing.
- o Set the Instant Pot to manual pressure and pressure cook on high for 5 minutes.

#### 5. Quick Release:

• When the timer goes off, perform a quick release of the pressure.

#### 6. Add Sugar and Milk Powder:

- o Remove the lid from the Instant Pot and press Sauté mode again.
- Add the sugar and milk powder (or almond flour for vegan). Mix well.

#### 7. Evaporate Liquid:

- Continue stirring and cook the mixture for about 10 to 12 minutes, or until all the liquid has evaporated and the halwa thickens.
- o As you stir, make sure the gajar ka halwa does not stick to the bottom of the pot.

#### 8. Garnish and Serve:

- o Once it has thickened and the liquid is gone, turn off Sauté mode.
- o Stir in the previously sautéed raisins and cashews.
- Use a spoon to transfer the gajar ka halwa to individual bowls and garnish with the sliced almonds/pistachios if using.
- Serve warm or place it in the refrigerator and serve it cold.

- 1. Freshly Grate Carrots: Avoid using pre-grated carrots as they are usually too thick. Use whole, peeled carrots that you freshly grate for the best texture.
- 2. Stir Frequently: In the final stages of cooking (after adding sugar and milk powder), stir the halwa frequently to prevent it from sticking to the bottom of the pot and burning.
- 3. Vegan Adaptation: For a vegan version, use coconut oil or vegan butter instead of ghee, a non-dairy milk (avoiding coconut milk if you don't want that flavor profile to dominate), and almond flour instead of milk powder.

# Recipe 150: Kheer – Rice Pudding

Category	Ingredient	Quantity	Notes / Comments
For the Pudding:			
	Basmati Rice	1/4 cup	Or other preferred rice for pudding
	Brown Rice (optional)	1/4 cup	Can use 1/2 cup total of one rice type
	Lite Coconut Milk	1 can (13.66oz)	Or whole milk/other plant- based milk (adjust liquid)
	Water	1 cup	May need more if using dairy milk for Kheer consistency
	Cinnamon Powder	1/2 teaspoon	
	Vanilla Extract	1/2 teaspoon	
	Dates	5	Chopped, for natural sweetness
Optional Sweeteners/Flavorings for Kheer:			

	Sugar or Maple Syrup	To taste	If dates are not sweet enough or for traditional Kheer
	Cardamom Powder	1/4 - 1/2 teaspoon	Classic Kheer flavoring
	Saffron Strands (optional)	Few	Soaked in warm milk, for color and aroma
Toppings/Garnish (Optional):			
	Slivered Almonds	1/4 cup	
	Golden Raisins	1/4 cup	
	Pistachios	Chopped	
	Rose Water (optional)	Few drops	For traditional Kheer aroma

Instant Pot Method (Adapted for Kheer):

- 1. Prepare Rice: Rinse the rice thoroughly under cold water until the water runs clear. Drain well.
- 2. Combine Ingredients for Cooking:
  - In the inner pot of your Instant Pot, combine the rinsed rice, lite coconut milk, 1 cup of water, chopped dates, cinnamon powder, and vanilla extract.
  - If aiming for a more traditional Kheer and not relying solely on dates for sweetness, you
    can add sugar or maple syrup at this stage. For Kheer, also add cardamom powder now.

#### 3. Pressure Cook:

o Secure the lid of the Instant Pot and set the steam release valve to "Sealing."

 Select the "Porridge" mode (typically a 20-minute preset). If your Instant Pot doesn't have a "Porridge" mode, you can use "Manual" or "Pressure Cook" on High pressure for 15-20 minutes (cooking time might vary slightly based on rice type).

#### 4. Natural Release:

- Once the cooking cycle is complete, allow the pressure to release naturally for at least
   10-15 minutes. This helps the Kheer develop a creamier texture.
- After the natural release period, carefully turn the steam release valve to "Venting" to release any remaining pressure.

#### 5. Finish and Adjust Consistency:

- o Carefully open the lid. Stir the Kheer well.
- Check the consistency. Kheer is typically a flowing, slightly thickened rice pudding. If it's too thick for your liking (especially as it cools), stir in some warm milk (dairy or plant-based) or a little more water until you reach the desired consistency. You can turn on the "Sauté" mode on low for a couple of minutes while stirring in extra liquid if needed.
- If you added saffron soaked in milk, stir it in now for color and aroma. A few drops of rose water can also be added at this stage for a traditional fragrance.
- Taste and adjust sweetness if necessary by adding more sugar or maple syrup.

#### 6. Serve:

- o Ladle the Kheer into serving bowls.
- Garnish with slivered almonds, golden raisins, chopped pistachios, or a sprinkle of cinnamon/cardamom powder.
- o Kheer can be served warm or chilled. It will thicken further as it cools.

- 1. Rice Choice: Basmati rice is commonly used for Kheer due to its aroma. Short-grain rice can also be used for a creamier texture. Ensure to rinse the rice well.
- 2. Adjust Sweetness: The sweetness can be adjusted to your preference. Traditional Kheer uses sugar, but dates or maple syrup offer natural alternatives. Taste and adjust after cooking.
- 3. Consistency is Key for Kheer: Kheer should be creamy and pourable, not overly thick like a set pudding. Adjust with warm milk or water after pressure cooking to achieve the right consistency. It thickens as it cools.